
 
Cabinet  Agenda 
Date: Thursday 17 November 2022 

Time: 6.30 pm 

Venue: Council Chamber, Harrow Civic Centre, 
Station Road, Harrow, HA1 2XY 

Membership:  

Chair: Councillor Paul Osborn (Leader of the Council and 
Portfolio Holder for Strategy)  

Portfolio Holders: Portfolio: 

Councillor Marilyn Ashton Deputy Leader of the Council and Portfolio Holder for 
Planning & Regeneration 

Councillor David Ashton Finance & Human Resources 
Councillor Stephen Greek Performance, Communications & Customer Experience 
Councillor Hitesh Karia Children’s Services 
Councillor Jean Lammiman Community & Culture 
Councillor Mina Parmar Housing 
Councillor Anjana Patel  Environment & Community Safety 
Councillor Pritesh Patel Adult Services & Public Health 
Councillor Norman Stevenson Business, Employment & Property 

Non-Executive Members: Role: 

Councillor Thaya Idaikkadar Non-Executive Cabinet Member 
Councillor Ameet Jogia MBE Non-Executive Cabinet Member 
Councillor Kanti Rabadia Non-Executive Cabinet Member 
John Higgins Non-Executive Voluntary Sector Representative 

Quorum 3, including the Leader and/or Deputy Leader) 

Contact:  Nikoleta Kemp, Senior Democratic & Electoral Services Officer 
Tel:  07761 405898 E-mail: nikoleta.kemp@harrow.gov.uk 

Scan this code for the electronic agenda: 

 
 



Cabinet - Thursday 17 November 2022 2 

Useful Information 

Joining the Meeting virtually 

The meeting is open to the public and can be viewed online at 
www.harrow.gov.uk/virtualmeeting  
 

Attending the Meeting in person 

Directions to the Civic Centre can be found at: www.harrow.gov.uk/contact.  It is accessible 
to people with special needs, with accessible toilets and lifts to the meeting rooms.  If you 
have specific requirements, please contact the officer listed on the front page of this 
agenda. 
 
You will be admitted on a first-come-first basis and directed to seats. 

Please:  

(1) Take a Covid 19 test before travelling and do not attend in person if you test positive. 
(2) Wear a face covering and use the provided hand sanitiser. 
(3) Stay seated.  
(4) Access the meeting agenda online at Browse meetings - Cabinet – Harrow Council 
(5) Put mobile devices on silent.  
(6) Follow instructions of the Security Officers. 
(7) Advise Security on your arrival if you are a registered speaker. 

Filming / recording  

This meeting may be recorded or filmed, and if you choose to attend, you will be deemed to 
have consented to this.  Any recording may be published on the Council website. 
 

Agenda publication date:  Wednesday 9 November 2022 

http://www.harrow.gov.uk/virtualmeeting
http://www.harrow.gov.uk/contact
https://moderngov.harrow.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=249&Year=0


 
  Agenda - Part I   

  
 1. Apologies for Absence   

 
  To receive apologies for absence (if any). 

  
 2. Declarations of Interest   

 
  To receive declarations of disclosable pecuniary or non pecuniary interests, 

arising from business to be transacted at this meeting, from: 
 
(a) all Members of the Committee, Sub-Committee or Panel; 
(b) all other Members present in any part of the room or chamber. 
  

 3. Petitions   
 

  To receive any petitions submitted by members of the public or Councillors. 
  

 4. Public Questions   
 

  To receive any public questions received in accordance with paragraph 16 
of the Executive Procedure Rules. 
  
Questions will be asked in the order in which they were received.  There will 
be a time limit of 15 minutes for the asking and answering of public 
questions. 
  
[The deadline for receipt of public questions is 3.00 pm, 14 November 
2022.  Questions should be sent to publicquestions@harrow.gov.uk 
No person may submit more than one question]. 
  

 5. Councillor Questions   
 

  To receive any Councillor questions received in accordance with 
paragraph 17 of the Executive Procedure Rules. 
  
Questions will be asked in the order agreed with the relevant Group Leader 
by the deadline for submission and there be a time limit of 15 minutes. 
  
[The deadline for receipt of Councillor questions is 3.00 pm, 14 
November 2022]. 
  

 6. Key Decision Schedule December 2022 - January 2023  (Pages 7 - 10) 
  

 7. Progress on Scrutiny Projects  (Pages 11 - 12) 
 

  For consideration 
  

KEY 8. Council Vision and Priorities  (Pages 13 - 20) 
 

  Report of the Chief Executive. 
  

mailto:publicquestions@harrow.gov.uk


Cabinet - Thursday 17 November 2022 4 

  Place   
  

KEY 9. Harrow Strategic Development Partnership (HSDP) - Review and 
Progress  (Pages 21 - 126) 

 
  Report of the Corporate Director of Place. 

  
 10. Investment into Harrow's Tennis Infrastructure - Update  (Pages 127 - 

168) 
 

  Report of the Corporate Director of Place and the Director of Inclusive 
Economy, Leisure and Culture. 
  

KEY 11. Authority to Enter into High Value Leases  (Pages 169 - 174) 
 

  Report of the Corporate Director of Place. 
  

  People   
  

KEY 12. School Organisation Update and School Capital Programme  (Pages 
175 - 294) 

 
  Report of the Corporate Director of People and the Director of Children’s 

Services. 
  

 13. Any Other Urgent Business   
 

  Which cannot otherwise be dealt with. 
  

 14. Exclusion of the Press and Public   
 

  To resolve that the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the 
following items of business, on the grounds that they involve the likely 
disclosure of confidential information in breach of an obligation of 
confidence, or of exempt information as defined in Part I of Schedule 12A to 
the Local Government Act 1972: 
  
Agenda 
Item No 
  

Title Description of Exempt Information 

15 Harrow Strategic 
Development 
Partnership – Review 
and Progress  - 
Appendix 1 

16 Authority to Enter Into 
High Value Leases – 
Appendix 1 

Information under paragraph 3 of 
Part I of Schedule 12A to the Local 
Government Act 1972, relating to 
the financial or business affairs of 

any particular person (including the 
authority holding that information). 

  

  
  

   
 



Cabinet - Thursday 17 November 2022 5 

Agenda - Part II   
  

 15. Harrow Strategic Development Partnership (HSDP) - Review and 
Progress  (Pages 295 - 418) 

 
  Appendix 1 to the report of the Corporate Director of Place.  

  
 16. Authority to Enter into High Value Leases  (Pages 419 - 420) 

 
  Appendix 1 to the report of the Corporate Director of Place. 

  
  Data Protection Act Notice   

 
  The Council will record the meeting and will place the recording on the 

Council’s website. 
  
[Note:  The questions and answers will not be reproduced in the minutes.] 
 

 
Deadline for questions 
 

3.00 pm on 14 November 2022 
 

Publication of decisions 
 

18 November 2022 
 

Deadline for Call in 
 

5.00 pm on 25 November 2022 
 

Decisions implemented if not Called in 
 

26 November 2022 
  

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

- 1 of 4 - 

                                 
London Borough of Harrow 

Key Decision Schedule ( December - January 2023 ) 

 
 
This is a list of Key Decisions which the Authority proposes to take at the above Cabinet meeting. The Cabinet agenda containing all the 
reports being considered will be published 5 clear days before the meeting. 

A Key Decision is one which is likely to: 

(i) result in the Council incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are, significant having regard to its budget for the 
service or function to which the decision relates.  A decision is significant if it involves expenditure or the making of savings of an 
amount in excess of £1m of capital or £500,000 of revenue or where savings or expenditure are less than these amounts but they 
constitute more than 50% of the budget attributable to the service in question; or 

 
(ii) be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in an area of two or more wards of the Borough.  
 
Decisions which the Cabinet intends to make in private 

The Cabinet may meet in private to consider reports which contain confidential information.  A private meeting of the Cabinet is open only to 
Members of the Cabinet, other Councillors and Council officers.  This Schedule also contains non-Key Decisions which involve Cabinet 
meeting in private.  Any person can make representations to the Cabinet if they believe the decision should instead be made in the public 
Cabinet meeting by emailing democratic.services@harrow.gov.uk.  
  

7

A
genda Item

 6
P

ages 7 to 10

mailto:democratic.services@harrow.gov.uk


 

- 2 of 4 - 

The membership of the Cabinet is: 
 
Councillor Paul Osborn (Leader; Strategy) 
Councillor Marilyn Ashton (Deputy Leader, Planning & Regeneration) 
Councillor David Ashton (Finance & Human Resources) 
Councillor Stephen Greek (Performance, Communications & Customer Experience) 
Councillor Hitesh Karia (Children’s Services) 
Councillor Jean Lammiman (Community & Culture) 
Councillor Mina Parmar (Housing) 
Councillor Anjana Patel (Environment & Community Safety) 
Councillor Pritesh Patel (Adult Services & Public Health) 
Councillor Norman Stevenson (Business, Employment & Property) 
 
 

8

https://moderngov.harrow.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=44
https://moderngov.harrow.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=31
https://moderngov.harrow.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=28
https://moderngov.harrow.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=10242
https://moderngov.harrow.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=12554
https://moderngov.harrow.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=75
https://moderngov.harrow.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=10266
https://moderngov.harrow.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=43
https://moderngov.harrow.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=10891
https://moderngov.harrow.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=10311


Subject Nature of Decision Cabinet Member / 
Lead officer 

Open or Private 
Meeting 

Additional 
Documents to be 

submitted and any 
Consultation to be 

undertaken 
 

- 3 of 4 - 

 
DECEMBER 2022 
 
 
Calculation of Council Tax 
Base for 2023-2024 
 

 
To approve the Council’s Council Tax Base 
for 2023-24. 
  
 

 
Councillor David Ashton 
 
Director of Finance 
fern.silverio@harrow.go
v.uk, tel. 020 8736 6818 

 
Open 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Estimated Surplus / (Deficit) 
on the Collection Fund 2022-
2023 
 

 
To agree the Councils collection fund position 
and to allow the appropriate transfers to the 
general or collection fund to clear surplus or 
deficit. 
 

 
Councillor David Ashton 
 
Director of Finance 
fern.silverio@harrow.go
v.uk, tel. 020 8736 6818 
 

 
Open 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Improving the Customer 
Experience 
 

 
To update Cabinet on the progress made and 
future plans on improving the Customer 
Experience. 
 

 
Councillor Stephen 
Greek 
 
Acting Corporate 
Director, Resources 
jonathan.milbourn@harr
ow.gov.uk, tel. 020 8763 
6711 
 

 
Open 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
"Kodak" Wealdstone 
Footbridge 
 

 
To obtain Cabinet approval to authorise the 
Corporate Director of Place to decide on the 
options for the Wealdstone ‘Kodak’ footbridge 
project following the recent review. 

 
Councillor Paul Osborn; 
Councillor Marilyn 
Ashton; Councillor 
Anjana Patel 

 
Open 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

9



Subject Nature of Decision Cabinet Member / 
Lead officer 

Open or Private 
Meeting 

Additional 
Documents to be 

submitted and any 
Consultation to be 

undertaken 
 

- 4 of 4 - 

  
 

 
Interim Director of 
Environment 
Manzoor.Hussain@harr
ow.gov.uk, tel. 07731 
591792 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
JANUARY 2023 
 
 
Housing Asset Management 
Strategy and 3-year Capital 
Programme 
 

 
To agree the revised Housing Asset 
Management Strategy and authorise the 
procurement of a Capital Programme within 
the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) for a 3-
year period to 2024/25 valued at £31m. This 
will include any individual projects to 
commence within that time period to a value 
of £500,000. 
 

 
Councillor Mina Parmar; 
Councillor David Ashton 
 
 
Interim Director of 
Housing 
andrew.campion@harro
w.gov.uk, tel. 07961 
104793 
 

 
Part exempt 
 
 
 
Information relating 
to the financial or 
business affairs of 
any particular 
person (including 
the authority 
holding that 
information)  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Calculation of Business 
Rates Tax Base for 2023-
2024 
 

 
To approve the Council’s Business Rates 
Retention amount for 2023-24. 
 

 
Councillor David Ashton 
 
Director of Finance 
fern.silverio@harrow.go
v.uk, tel. 020 8736 6818 
 

 
Open 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

10



CABINET – November 2022 

PROGRESS ON SCRUTINY PROJECTS 

Review Methodology Type of report Expected 
date for 
report to 
Cabinet 

Comments 

Joint 
Overview & 
Scrutiny 
Committee 
(JHOSC) for 
Shaping a 
Healthier 
Future 
Programme  

Joint 
Committee  

Update reports 
provided to 
Health & 
Social Care 
Scrutiny Sub- 
Committee (for 
information)  

As required  The JHOSC met on 12 October 
(hosted by Richmond Council) and 
considered primary care 
performance and strategy, A&E 
pathways and performance, and the 
palliative care review. 

There are regular update reports on 
the JHOSC to Harrow’s Health and 
Social Care Scrutiny Sub-Committee 
so that there is a formal feedback 
loop between regional and local 
health scrutiny.  Councillor Chetna 
Halai is Harrow’s member on the 
JHOSC. 

 

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 8 November 2022 considered the scrutiny draft 
work programme for 2022-26 and identified scrutiny projects for the current year. 

 

 

Contact: Nahreen Matlib, Senior Policy Officer  Email:  nahreen.matlib@harrow.gov.uk 

11

Agenda Item 7
Pages 11 to 12



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Report for: Cabinet 

Date of Meeting:         17th November 2022  

 Subject:                       Council Vision and Priorities  

Key Decision: Yes - it affects the whole Borough  
 
 

Responsible Officer: Pat Flaherty – Chief Executive 
 

Portfolio Holder: Councillor Paul Osborn – Leader of the Council  
 

Exempt: No 

Decision subject to 
Call-in: 

Yes 
 

Wards affected: All 

Enclosures: None 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

13

Agenda Item 8
Pages 13 to 20



 

 

Section 1 – Summary and Recommendations 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Section 2 – Report 

Introductory paragraph 
 
Following the local elections in 2022 the new Administration have reviewed 
the Council’s vision and priorities in order to set a clear policy framework for 
the council over the next 3 years that reflects their ambitions and priorities.  
 
The new vision being recommended is: Restoring Pride in Harrow.  
 
And the three new Council priorities are: 
- A council that puts residents first 
- A borough that is clean and safe 
- A place where those in need are supported 

Following approval of the new Vision and Priorities a new Corporate Plan will 
be recommended to Cabinet and Council in February 2023. 

Options considered   
 
1. Continue with existing vision and priorities 
 
This option was rejected because it did not reflect the ambition and direction 
of the new Administration following the local elections. 
 
2. Create a new overarching vision, with three priorities underneath  
 
This is the recommended option. 
 
 
A New Vision and Priorities 
 
The following sets out the new vision and priorities: 
 
 

Recommendations:
Cabinet is requested to:

1) Note the new Vision and Priorities.

2) Recommend the Vision and Priorities to Council for approval 
and to authorise the Leader to make any minor amendments to 
the vision and priorities as necessary prior to the matter going 
to Council.

Reason for recommendations: To set the policy framework for 
the council.

14



 

 

Vision - Restoring Pride in Harrow  
 
In order to restore the pride in Harrow, the Council will start by putting residents 
first. We will seek to deliver a well-run Council providing good value for money 
for all. We will work with partners and businesses to create a clean and safe 
borough, where residents can be confident to settle, make roots and raise a 
family. 
 
Priority 1 – A council that puts residents first 
 
In treating residents and businesses as valued customers, the Council will 
prioritise the improvements in the customer experience. We will aim to put the 
pride back into Harrow Council by offering a high standard of service delivery, 
accepting that we won’t get everything right first time. Where residents do 
need to contact the Council (either to request a service or on the basis that we 
haven’t delivered to expectations) they will be treated with respect by an 
organisation that cares and wants to provide a positive response. We will 
ensure that we reduce bureaucracy, make processes simple and straight 
forward, and when we say we will do something we will do it in a timely, 
quality manner. 
 
We will look to get the basics right and improve services where we can within 
financial constraints, with a keener eye on quality as well as improved 
planning and good financial management. Value for money will be critical as 
we look to minimise the cost of the Councils’ services on our residents, and 
where we do make an additional specific charge, we will deliver a premium 
service. 
 
Through improved and streamlined communications and clarity of service 
standards, we will throughout the next four years reduce the need for 
residents to contact the council but when a resident does contact us, we will: 
Listen, Act and Deliver. Individual staff will treat residents as they themselves 
would wish to be treated. 
 
All our services will be accessible and responsive, be they front line or back-
office services, and we will innovatively use technology to improve the 
customer experience, ensuring residents are first satisfied, and then 
delighted, with our service offer and the way we treat them. 
 
Priority 2 – A borough that is clean and safe 
 
With a focus on improving the cleanliness and state of the local environment, 
including air quality, we will create a better sense of community and greater 
sense of pride for residents living in the Borough. Be it fixing potholes and 
road surfacing or making people feel safer on their way home from work or a 
night out, we will improve the quality of life of Harrow residents so they can 
feel proud to live in Harrow. We will work with our partners such as the police 
to increase their visibility and the targeting of those crimes that matter most to 
our residents, as well as ensuring all victims get an empathetic and supportive 
service, recognising that there are limits to what the Council can do alone. 
 

15



 

 

We will step up our enforcement approach against illegal Houses of Multiple 
Occupation (HMOs), fly tippers, and reduce all types of anti-social behaviour 
recognising that these are the things that our residents tell us have the most 
negative impact on their quality of life. We will protect the ‘village’ feel of a 
number of parts of the borough, recognising Harrow’s place as an outer 
London borough and stopping the over-development and creation of unsightly 
and tall buildings in the borough. Where we do need to build upwards we’ll do 
it in the right place and at the right quality. We will also look to develop more 
community facilities and amenities that residents want, so Harrow becomes 
the place they want to spend their time and money, creating a thriving local 
economy and supporting our local businesses. 
 
Priority 3 – A place where those in need are supported 
 
The Council will be there when residents most need us, especially where 
residents or their families are vulnerable. Services we provide for vulnerable 
residents and families will be easily accessible to contact, replicating our 
customer experience approach to other services, be that through Adults, 
Children’s or Housing Needs services.  
 
Harrow’s diversity will be celebrated, and we will build on the strong levels of 
community cohesion we already have whilst taking a strong stance on any 
forms of discrimination. The Council will enable and empower communities 
and residents to support one another, be that through better use of our 
buildings and assets or using them to deliver services as they are better 
placed to do so, trusting people to do the right thing and not needlessly 
getting in the way where there is no good reason for us to do so. However, 
where we need to lead and take a role, we will. 
 
We will focus on the broader determinants of health, welfare and wellbeing 
and refer people into those services that help them seek and gain 
independence whether through upskilling into relevant sectors of the economy 
or giving advice to help people stay in their own home. We will make 
education a key driver for individual and local prosperity, working with 
schools, colleges and our local university to create a knowledge economy with 
better career opportunities. We will work with our voluntary sector partners, 
recognising that where they are best placed to deliver services they should be 
enabled to do so, be it with Council or other partner support.  
 
Following adoption of the new vision and priorities a new Corporate Plan will 
be developed for February 2023, setting out the plan to deliver against these 
new priorities and how they will be measured and monitored. 
 

Ward Councillors’ comments  

Not applicable. 
 
Performance Issues 
  

16



 

 

Performance will be tracked through the new Corporate Plan and Corporate 
Performance Scorecard that will be recommended to Cabinet and Council in 
February 2023.  
 
Environmental Implications 
 
There are none. 
  
Data Protection Implications 
 
There are none 
 
Risk Management Implications 
 
Risks included on corporate or directorate risk register? No  
   
Separate risk register in place? No  
 
The relevant risks contained in the register are attached/summarised below. 
No 
  
The following key risks should be taken onto account when agreeing the 
recommendations in this report: 
 
Risk Description  Mitigations  RAG Status  
N/A   

The Vision and Priorities 
are not appropriate for or 
shared by the residents of 
Harrow 

• Residents are at the 
heart of the proposed 
Vision and Priorities 

• Vision & Priorities 
reflect the new 
Administrations 
Manifesto on which 
they were elected 
 

Green 

The Vision and Objectives 
are unachievable 

• Following adoption of 
the new vision and 
priorities a new 
Corporate Plan will be 
developed for February 
2023, setting out the 
plan to deliver against 
these new priorities 
and how they will be 
measured and 
monitored. 

• New Corporate Plan 
will be aligned to MTFS 

Green 

17



 

 

Procurement Implications 

There are none.  

Legal Implications 

The Council’s policy framework is set by the approval of a set of Corporate 
Priorities through Council. 
 
Financial Implications 
 
The new Vision and Corporate Priorities will be used to guide the decisions 
taken through the budget setting process but will be delivered within the 
Council’s available financial resources. 
 
Equalities implications / Public Sector Equality Duty 
 
There are none specifically attached the new vision and priorities. 

Section 3 - Statutory Officer Clearance 

Statutory Officer:  Dawn Calvert 
Signed by the Chief Financial Officer 
Date:  07/11/2022 

Statutory Officer:  Hugh Peart 
Signed by the Monitoring Officer 
Date:  07/11/2022 

Statutory Officer:  Alex Dewsnap 
Signed by the Acting Corporate Director 
Date:  31/10/2022 

Statutory Officer:  Nimesh Mehta 
Signed by the Head of Procurement 
Date:  04/11/2022 

Statutory Officer:  Susan Dixson 
Signed by the Head of Internal Audit 
Date:  03/11/2022 

Mandatory Checks 

18



 

 

Ward Councillors notified: NO, as it impacts on all Wards 

EqIA carried out: No 

EqIA cleared by: Head of Equality, Diversity and Inclusion (EDI)  

Section 4 - Contact Details and Background 
Papers 

Contact: Rachel Gapp - Rachel.Gapp@harrow.gov.uk.  
 
Background Papers: None 
 
Call-in waived by the Chair of Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
N/A 

19

mailto:Rachel.Gapp@harrow.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Report for: Cabinet 

Date of Meeting: 17th November 2022 

Subject: Harrow Strategic Development Partnership 
– Review and Progress 
 

Key Decision: Yes - the matter is key by virtue of 
 

i. Financial/ Budget considerations 
because it will involve capital 
expenditure in excess of £1m 

ii. It will be significant in terms of its 
effects on all wards of the 
Borough 

 
Responsible Officer: Dipti Patel - Corporate Director - Place 

 

Portfolio Holder: Councillor Marilyn Ashton - Deputy Leader 
and Portfolio Holder for Planning and 
Regeneration 
 
Councillor David Ashton - Portfolio Holder 
for Finance and Human Resources 
 
Councillor Mina Parmar - Portfolio Holder 
for Housing 
 

Exempt: Part Exempt - Appendix 1 is confidential 
under paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government Act 1972 (as amended) 
because it contains information relating to 
the financial and business affairs of the 
Council and Wates.  
 

Decision subject to 
Call-in: 

Yes  

Wards affected: All  
 

Enclosures: Exempt Appendix 1 – Grange Farm 
Business Plan 
Appendix 2 – Public Grange Farm Business 
Plan 

21

Agenda Item 9
Pages 21 to 126



 

 
Section 1 – Summary and Recommendations 

This report updates Cabinet on the review of the sites in the Harrow Strategic 
Development Partnership (HSDP) and sets out the direction of travel and next 
steps. It also seeks the approval of the initial Business Plan for Grange Farm 
and its incorporation into the HSDP 

Recommendations:  
 
Cabinet is requested to: 
 

i. Note the outcome of the review of the HSDP sites. 
ii. Authorise and agree to receive further reports on the phase 

Business Plans for each scheme.  
iii. Approve Greenhill Way as the preferred location for the Town Hall.  
iv. Approve the initial Business Plan for Grange Farm (Phase 2). 
v. Agree to incorporate the Grange Farm scheme into the HSDP and 

the development of a planning application for Phases 2 and 3. 
vi. Confirm the decision to revise the HSDP schemes and authorise 

officers to commission appropriate professional services and to 
carry out preparatory and enabling works as appropriate 

 
Reason: (for recommendations) For Cabinet to understand the outcomes of 
the review of the HSDP sites, authorise preparation of business plans for the 
revised schemes, to allow further works required to provide a new Town Hall 
to be carried out and to agree the business plan and way forward for Grange 
Farm in order that high quality new housing can be developed for the 
Council’s tenants and residents. 

Section 2 – Report 

2. Introductory paragraph 
The HSDP was established in August 2021 following a procurement process 
under the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 from which Wates Residential 
emerged as the Council’s partner. 
 
Following the set -up of the partnership, progress was made on the 
development of the schemes and the production of detailed Business Plans. A 
report to Cabinet in March 2022 advised of progress and set out the 
challenges that the partnership was currently facing, particularly in terms of 
viability as a result of the ongoing impact of build cost inflation. 
 
A report on the options for the delivery of phases 2 and 3 of the Grange Farm 
estate regeneration scheme was considered by Cabinet in November 2021. 

Appendix 3 - Best Consideration Letter – 
Avison Young 
Appendix 4 – Equalities Impact Assessment 
 

22



 
As a result of that report, the HSDP was requested to produce a Business 
Plan to incorporate the Grange Farm scheme into the HSDP. 

2.1 Options considered  

For the HSDP sites as a whole the review has considered a wide range of 
options including do nothing. This last option would not meet the Council’s 
objectives of providing much needed housing including affordable housing for 
its residents and would leave the sites undeveloped and of limited value. 
 
The options selected will, subject to further business planning, be the most 
deliverable, viable and acceptable solutions. 
 
For Grange Farm there were three key options at this stage: 
 
Do nothing – This would not be acceptable given the need to replace the 
existing housing and the advanced consultation with residents 
 
Build out the originally consented scheme – for reasons set out in the report 
this is no longer the optimum scheme and would not be viable. 
 
Seek planning permission and look to develop a scheme for phase 2 based 
on the parameters set out in the report. 

2.2 Background  
 
The table below sets out the position about each of the sites in April 2022. 

 
 
At that time the challenges of building cost inflation were already becoming 
apparent, particularly about Byron Quarter and Peel Road, although at the 
time more optimism prevailed with regard to the other sites, in part because of 
the early stage of design. 
 
 

HSDP Sites (Apr- 22) 
Summary

Site Units
Nos

AH % Non- Resi Heights/
Massing

Planning Status Key
Challenges

Delivery

Milton Road 39 100% Retail/Community 7/4/3 
storeys 

Permission 
granted 

Ensuring 
value for 
money 

CWA 

Byron Quarter 352 50% NA 3 -10 storeys Allocated Site/ 
Application 
Targeted Mar - 22 
(delayed) 

Viability DA 

Peel Road 191 40% Civic Centre (circa 
3000m2) 

4 -17 storeys Full planning 
application 
Targeted Sep - 22 

Viability DA & CWA 

Poet’s Corner 1,034 40% Retail/ commercial 3 -15 storeys
(reduced 
from 17) 

Hybrid App with 
Detailed Ph1 

Viability DA 

*Grange Farm 485 38% Community Building 4 - 7 storey Outline 2019 Viability 
Design 

DA & CWA

23



 
2.3 The review of the schemes 
Following the election in May 2022 the HSDP was asked to review all its 
schemes. 
 
The areas for consideration included: 
 

• Height and density 
• Design 
• Tenure and typology – particularly seeking more houses and family 

housing where possible 
• Location of the Town Hall, which was not to be located at Peel Road, 

together with consideration of appropriate sizing for the building. 
 
No changes were proposed to Grange Farm as part of the review, but the 
development of the Business Plan was to continue. 
 
2.4 The outcome of the review 
 

a) Byron Quarter 
 
The principal outcomes of the review are the reduction of the height of the 
buildings on the eastern Belmont Trail boundary of the site, which is closer to 
residents, and the addition of some units of terraced housing on the south-
eastern corner. 

The challenges of build costs remain, and the partners are working through 
this including in discussion with the GLA. Pre application discussions following 
the changes have resumed both with the local planning teams and the GLA. 
Partnership colleagues and advisers continue to explore the most appropriate 
ways of tackling the viability issue. It is aimed to bring back the detailed Phase 
Business Plan in January 2023. 

b) Peel Road 

The Civic Centre has been removed, and two and three block residential 
options are being considered. Given the fact that this is within the Opportunity 
Area for Harrow, a level of height is being retained, although this will not 
exceed the height of existing consented buildings. Here, as elsewhere, the 
Council and the partnership will also be concentrating on achieving exemplar 
design. 

Currently feasibility discussions are ongoing with the planning officers and 
financial due diligence is being undertaken, particularly around the most 
appropriate tenures. Discussions are also underway with regard to attracting 
GLA grant for this scheme. The challenges of financial viability will apply here 
too, but at this much earlier stage, there is considerable opportunity to resolve 
these. 

c) Greenhill Way 

As the Town Hall will no longer be sited at Peel Road, the partnership was 
asked to review the existing Civic Centre site at Poets Corner and Greenhill 

24



 
Way car park as to the most suitable location for a new Town Hall. Council 
officers and advisers also examined the optimum size for the Town Hall, given 
that the Council’s prime focus for collaborative and in-office working is now 
the Harrow Council Hub at Forward Drive (HCH). 

The sizing process concluded that a building of approximately 1,500 m2 will 
meet the Council’s requirements comprising of: 

 
• Council Chamber 
• Space for gallery 
• Mayors Parlour 
• Two committee rooms 
• Entrance and waiting area 
• Toilets and changing room 
• Storage and kitchen 
• Cycle Storage 
• Server room 
• Car Parking – 60 spaces 
• Total Area 1,500 sqm 

 
The HSDP review concluded that Greenhill Way was the better of the two 
sites, as easier to develop, and presented opportunity for a good potential 
mixed use development site with a strong town centre presence. In addition, 
this would enable a better land value at Poets Corner, where the scheme was 
already facing challenges of viability and it was important not to make this 
more difficult.  
 
The HSDP review concluded that Greenhill Way was the better of the two 
sites, as it was more easily developable; would form a good potential mixed 
use development site and in addition would enable a better land value at 
Poets Corner, where the scheme was already facing challenges of viability 
and it was important not to make this more difficult.  
 
The HSDP has carried out initial feasibility and has produced a scheme 
indicating that the Town Hall can be accommodated within the footprint of the 
car park and additional residential development can be delivered at the same 
time. 
 
The opportunity exists for mixed use including leisure and residential with 
further discussions required. 
 
Currently the HSDP is conducting more detailed feasibility studies and 
ascertaining a realistic cost estimate to enable a formal decision in the near 
future. 

d) Poets Corner 

Following the review, a new scheme is under production which incorporates 
better use of space, preservation of the existing trees, improved public realm 
and an effective route through the site to the station. The maximum height is 

25



 
now 10 storeys rather than 17. This scheme is in development, and it is 
expected that the Business Plan for this will come forward in the early 2023.  

e) Milton Road 

Milton Road was incorporated into the HSDP in November 2021 and planning 
consent was granted for a seven -storey building comprising 29 flats and 10 
associated town houses.  

The review considered the height of the building and as a result has removed 
one story with a reduction of three units. Consideration of the tenure mix 
found that a switch from shared ownership to private sale brought no benefits 
in viability terms and would have resulted in a loss of grant. 

The scheme now comprises 36 units of which 10 are houses for rent, 2 are 
wheelchair flats and 24 are shared ownership flats. Civic 9 has been 
demolished and the site is largely development ready. A new application 
varying the existing planning consent will be submitted shortly. 

The changes to Milton Road were approved by Cabinet on the 13th October 
2022. 

Agreeing the final cost plan with Wates Construction Ltd has proved 
extremely challenging, particularly as a result of the current build cost 
inflation. The final cost plan is due imminently and it is anticipated that this 
should be reported at the next Cabinet meeting. 

2.5 Next steps 

Cabinet will be asked to consider the Business Plan reports for Byron Quarter 
and Peel Road in January 2023 and Poets Corner shortly thereafter. It is 
expected that a report on the approach to the Town Hall and Greenhill Way 
site will also be available in early 2023 but it may be possible to bring this 
forward. Final cost plan details on Milton Road should be available for the 
December Cabinet. 

2.6  Grange Farm 

The regeneration of the Grange Farm estate enables the replacement of the 
existing poor quality social housing with a high -quality mixed tenure 
development that provides a better mix of social housing to meet the needs of 
existing and future households as well as shared ownership and market 
housing for sale. 

The Grange Farm estate covers 3.6 hectares in South Harrow within the 
Harrow on the Hill ward. It received a hybrid planning consent for 574 new 
homes – 274 affordable and 300 private sale – to be delivered in 3 phases. 
The overall level of affordable housing provided in that consent is 48%. 

Phase 1 consisting of 89 new homes – 69 for rent and 20 for shared 
ownership has been developed by the council and is due for completion in 
Spring 2023.  In November 2021 the Council considered its options for 
phases 2 and 3 and approved the principle of appointing the HSDP to take 

26



 
forward the redevelopment of Phase 2 and 3 of Grange Farm and invited the 
partnership to develop an initial Business Plan. 

The HSDP has produced an initial Business Plan, and this is attached as 
Exempt Appendix 1. A publicly available version is attached at Appendix 2. 

The HSDP Business Plan proposes that the remaining phases deliver 532 
new homes. Phase 2 will be taken forward first and would include 256 homes, 
83 of which will be affordable, constituting 39% by habitable room. The 83 
affordable homes will enable the remaining existing secure tenants on the 
estate to be rehoused in new homes. There will be a greater proportion of 
family sized homes than the extant outline consent. 

Phase 3 will deliver the remaining 276 new homes, of which 93 would be 
affordable, as well as a new Community Centre which will be larger and offer 
better facilities than the current one. 

Although there is an existing outline planning permission for phase 2 and 3, 
the HSDP recommends a new planning application is taken forward for 
Phases 2 and 3 as there has been significant change since 2019 with regard 
to carbon reduction requirements and to capture the improvements and 
optimisation identified during the review and business plan process.  

These include the provision of additional housing, a greater proportion of 
family sized homes, improved layout with more efficient design, energy 
performance and place making. In the latter case, this particularly includes the 
green space and streetscape. The Grange Farm Steering group, estate 
residents and the wider community will be involved in developing revised 
plans, taking into account their vision already incorporated in Phase 1. 

Currently the heights of the buildings remain as per the existing planning 
permission at a maximum of seven storeys. 

Within the Business Plan there is a draft social value plan, but it is important 
that the detail of this is worked up in partnership with local residents and the 
voluntary sector partners that provide support and services to residents, and 
this will develop over time. 

At present phase 2 of the scheme has a positive land value, meaning that the 
scheme is viable and that for the Council’s land, a sum of £1.03m would be 
received. This will potentially improve when the funding sources are confirmed 
and result in a higher land value when this is crystallised at land draw down. 
Following development each partner receives a projected profit of £6.23m. 

The scheme is estimated to cost £85.55m to build, receiving an estimated 
£83.12m in revenue from private sale and the Council housing costs £37.23m. 
The partnership has modelled a number of inflation scenarios and the 
Business plan adopts that which both the partnership and the Council’s 
commercial advisers deem the most likely. The Council’s commercial advisers 
Avison Young advise that the Business Plan is based on acceptable 
commercial and market parameters, and build costs are comparable with 
assessments already provided by Arcadis, the joint venture supervisor. This is 
covered in more detail in the financial implications. 

27



 
Phase 3 at the moment is not viable currently having a negative land value. 
However, work on development of phase 3 would not be scheduled to start 
until November 2026, and this means that the figures as currently assumed 
are subject to considerable change, particularly in terms of sales values and 
build cost inflation both of which remain uncertain over the time period. 
Viability by the time of funding commitment is therefore anticipated. Existing 
residents will be rehoused in the new Phase 2, therefore no permanent 
residents living on the estate would be left waiting for a new home if Phase 3 
was delayed. Ongoing review of the phase viability will take place and no 
commitment is required prior to Quarter 3 of 2025. Planning and design costs 
will be incurred, however, to enable the submission of the planning application 
and capture the improvements to the design and layout that have been made 
during the course of the Business Plan period and to ensure a cohesive 
approach to the site. 
 
There are key milestones within the project which are effectively natural 
‘Gateways’ or ‘Hold Points’ in the project timeline, where an up- to- date 
assessment on viability, cost expenditure to date and future costs budget can 
be made prior to further commitment. The project is treated as two phases to 
allow risk to be managed accordingly.  
 
Within the Business Plan the financial section sets out Forecast Costs for the 
following ‘Hold Points’:  
 

- Prior to submission of Planning application  
- Prior to the instruction of the Pre-Contract Services Agreement for Phase 
2 which effectively brings the Building Contractor into play for final design 
and contract establishment. 
- Prior to ‘unconditional’ land draw- down and construction contract for 
phase 2 

 
These will be replicated for phase 3, but there will need to be approval of a 
viable phase 3 Business Plan and a ‘go’ decision for phase 3 design and 
development before that applies. 
 

a) The process for the addition of the Grange Farm estate to the 
HSDP 

This process is governed by Schedule 8 of the HSDP Members Agreement. 
At Cabinet in November 2021 Cabinet acknowledged that the HSDP had 
brought forward a development proposal and requested it to prepare a 
Business Plan. Approval of this plan will incorporate the site into the HSDP 
and trigger the start of the development process. 

The recommendation of the HSDP board and the recommendation to Cabinet 
is to proceed at this point to incorporate the schemes into the HSDP and 
proceed with the development of phase 2. This will be consistent with the 
approach previously adopted when Phase 1 was commenced independently 
to allow time for the Council to consider the options for achieving viability for 
Phases 2 and 3. 

28



 
Approval of Business Plans is subject to the approval of both member parties 
within the partnership. The appropriate Boards within Wates have approved 
the business plans for Phase 2 and sanctioned expenditure to the point of the 
scheme becoming unconditional and ready for development. 

b) The legal documents and development routes 

For the market sale housing, the core approach of the HSDP will apply. There 
will be a development agreement specifying the nature of the development 
and the HSDP’s obligations under that agreement. The costs of development 
which are shared on a 50/ 50 basis are met through the Council’s land and 
any additional cash required being matched by Wates resources up to circa 
35% of the development cost. The rest is met by borrowing on behalf of the 
HSDP. The returns are split on a 50/50 basis. 

For the affordable housing, a Community Works Agreement (CWA) will be in 
place. This is the form of agreement used when the Council directly 
commissions work from the HSDP. The housing is purchased at cost, in this 
case funded from the Housing Revenue Account. It has always been the case 
that the Council would own the replacement housing at Grange Farm because 
of the tenants who are moving into new homes on the estate and wish to 
remain secure tenants. That being the case the Community Works Agreement 
is the appropriate legal mechanism. This is also true of the Community 
Facilities planned for Phase 3 

2.7 Way forward 

For phase 2 it is proposed that subject to Cabinet approval the scheme is 
developed and planning permission sought in September 2023. Demolition of 
the existing homes in Phase 2 are planned for September 2023 as these 
homes will be vacant following the rehousing of tenants in the new Phase 1 
homes.  Other enabling works follow with development of housing to start in 
October 2024. It may be that these timescales can be improved upon. 

Continued review of the Business Plan will take place and financial decision 
making reviewed in accordance with the ‘hold points’ listed above. 

Both the legal documents described above will be negotiated and finalised 
during the development period. 

When the design and development process is progressed, taking into account 
the gateway, or holding points described above, Cabinet will receive an 
update Business Plan for approval prior to commencing development. 

a) S123 Best Consideration 

The Council’s commercial advisers Avison Young have confirmed that at this 
stage the inclusion of Grange Farm takes place within the structure set out in 
the Members agreement. At this stage no report on s123 Best Consideration 
is required. This confirmation is attached as Appendix 3. A further report on 
s123 Best Consideration will be made at drawdown when the conditions 
precedent are satisfied, land value is crystallised, and development is ready to 
commence. 

29



 
b) Subsidy Control 

 
Since the previous advice taken by the Council, the Subsidy Control Act 2022 
has received the Royal Assent on 28 April this year.  The Government has 
recently announced that the Act will enter fully into force on 4 January 
2023.  Until then, UK subsidy control law will continue to exist in the interim 
form described in the Legal Annex to the Cabinet Report dated 15th July 2021. 
  
Accordingly, advice received from external solicitors remains that, provided 
that the financial arrangements between the Council and HDSP are on 
commercial terms (i.e., satisfy what is now to be known as the “Commercial 
Market Operator Principle”) then there should be no subsidy to either HDSP 
or Wates.  This will require that the Council’s land is transferred to HDSP at a 
market value (as supported by a suitable valuation) and that the financial 
rewards to the Council are commensurate to its contribution to HDSP. 

c) Ward Councillors’ comments  

At this stage the report on the HSDP schemes relates to the direction of the 
travel of the HSDP, and thus to the whole Borough. No specific ward 
Councillor consultation has been carried out. At the detailed phase Business 
Plan stage this will be required. 

For Grange Farm the relevant ward members have been consulted and no 
comments received to date. 
 
2.8 Environmental Implications 
 
All new homes must meet high standards of energy efficiency to reduce CO2 
emissions as well as reduce fuel poverty. Phases 2 and 3 of Grange Farm will 
need to meet the Future Homes Standard and aspire to be net zero carbon in 
operation. 
 
In recent times planning and Building Regulation requirements have moved to 
require ground or air sourced heat pumps, provision of green roofs, solar 
thermal hot water systems and photovoltaics, improved biodiversity resulting 
in increased tree planting and landscaped communal open spaces, provision 
of Sustainable Urban Drainage systems and green travel plans to encourage 
active travel with use of public transport and walking. 
 
The HSDP is developing an energy and heating strategy, together with an 
overall sustainability approach to meet those needs. The estimated costs for 
the business plan at this stage reflect this. 

2.9 Risk Management Implications 

Risk included on Directorate risk register?  Yes 
Separate risk register in place?  Yes (for the whole project) 
 
The relevant risks contained in the register are attached/summarised below. 
Yes 

30



 
The following key risks should be taken into account when agreeing the 
recommendations in this report: 
 
Risk Description Mitigations RAG Status 
Business Plan for Grange 
Farm (Phase 2) does not 
meet the Council’s 
requirements/ is 
unachievable/ 
unaffordable 

• Assessment by the 
Council’s financial 
and commercial 
advisers 

• Business plan 
review and update 

• Continued viability 
review and gateway/ 
hold points 

• Achievable 
mitigation 

• Amber 

Lack of financial viability 
for Phase 2 

• Continued inflation 
• Cost risk 
• Market risk to 

revenue 
• Land Value 
• Changing 

requirements of 
building regulations 
including 
sustainability and 
fire safety 

• Continued 
monitoring and 
viability review 

• Sensitivity testing 
and value at risk 
carried out 

• Option to consider 
changes to design – 
massing and density 

• Discussions with 
Ministry of Defence 

• Value Engineering 
• Programme phasing 

or delay 
• Cost management 

pre and post 
construction using 
all available 
mitigations 

• Financial model 
indicates Phase 2 
viability at present 

• Amber 

Failure to achieve financial 
profile leading to burden 
on Council finances 

• Partner finance 
teams meeting 
continue 

• Client-side 
monitoring and 
reporting 

• Financial model 
indicates achievable 
at present 

• Amber 

Lack of Satisfaction with 
procurement process and 
assessment of best value 

• Independent legal 
advice has been 
received with regard 
to the procurement 
of the HSDP and the 

• Green 

31



 
ability for the 
Council to use the 
HSDP for the 
development of sites 
other than the Core 
Sites 

• The procurement 
policy for the HSDP 
requires open book 
evaluation 
monitored by the 
HSDP supervisor to 
ensure best value. 
All direct works 
packages are 
treated the same. All 
sub- contract 
packages are 
market tendered. 

• Council will appoint 
appropriate advisers 
on CWA works. 

• Council’s 
commercial adviser 
provides direct 
advice to Council on 
viability 

Grange Farm Phase 3 
continues to remain 
unviable 

• Monitoring at hold 
/gateway points and 
Business Plan 
review 

• Go/ no go date in 
2025 

• Retain units for 
temporary 
accommodation 

• Minimisation of 
expenditure on 
phase 3 

• Amber 

Failure to obtain 
successful planning 
permission for Phases 2 
and 3 of Grange Farm 

• Pre application 
discussions with 
planning and with 
GLA 

• Monitoring of 
legislative proposals 

• Political group 
briefings to continue 

• Risk allowance for 
climate change and 
energy strategy 
changes 

• Amber 

32



 
Inadequate skills on the 
Client side to monitor 
HSDP performance and 
control risks 

• Council to appoint 
permanent ‘client 
side’ structure to 
ensure the 
necessary skills and 
abilities are 
available 

• Amber 

Inadequate governance 
and assurance over HSDP 

• All formal decisions 
made by the Council 
are subject to the 
Council’s normal 
decision- making 
process 

• Decision making is 
supported by the 
Council’s corporate 
strategy board 

• Delegations’ policy 
• Partnership 

Structure 
• Cabinet and 

Overview and 
Scrutiny oversight 

• GARMS 
involvement as 
appropriate 

• Green 

The Council does not 
receive best consideration 
for its assets in 
accordance with s123LG 
Act 1972 

• The letter from the 
Council’s 
commercial advisers 
Avison Young, 
included at 
Appendix 3 confirms 
that the approach 
remains within the 
parameters of best 
consideration set out 
in its assessment of 
the report in July 
2021. A further 
assessment will be 
carried out at the 
time of proposed 
land draw down. 

• Green 

Greenhill way is not the 
best site for the Town Hall 

• The HSDP review 
concluded of the two 
sites to develop this 
on, it is: more easily 
developable; would 
form a good 
potential mixed use 
development site 

• Green  

33



 
and in addition 
would enable a 
better land value at 
Poets Corner, the 
Town Hall can be 
accommodated 
within the footprint of 
the car park and 
additional residential 
development can be 
delivered at the 
same time. 

 
 

2.10 Procurement Implications  

The procurement implications with regard to Grange Farm came to Cabinet in 
November 2021 when the HSDP were requested to submit a business plan. 
There are no further implications at this time. 

The procurement implications associated with recommendation 3 of this 
report (Greenhill Way) will be considered in detail in a further report that will 
come to Cabinet in due course.  
 

2.11 Legal Implications 

The Council has power under section 123 of the Local Government Act 1972 
(“Section 123 LGA 1972”) to dispose of land in any manner it wishes, provided 
the disposal is at the best consideration reasonably obtainable. Any disposal at 
less than best consideration requires Secretary of State consent.  
When considering the duty under section 123 LGA 1972, what is reasonable in 
any particular case depends on the facts of the transaction. Any independent 
valuation obtained to demonstrate compliance with the s.123 duty should be up 
to date and that there should not have been any material and significant 
changes in circumstances since it was obtained.  The Council’s plan to obtain 
a further valuation report at drawdown of the Grange Farm land when the land 
value is crystallised, is therefore appropriate. In addition, obtaining proper 
professional advice throughout the process on how to maximise receipts is a 
material consideration and the Council should limit itself to taking account of 
those elements of a transaction which are of commercial or monetary value 
when assessing whether it is obtaining the best consideration reasonably 
obtainable.  
Section 12 of the Local Government Act 2003 gives the Council power to invest 
for any purpose relevant to its functions under any enactment, or for the 
purposes of the prudent management of its financial affairs. The Council, 
however, has a general fiduciary duty to its rate payers to get best value for 
money and needs to have regard to this duty when making decisions relating 
to spending, including when reviewing the HSDP schemes. 

34



 
 
Legal advice has been sought on incorporating the Grange Farm Phase 2 and 
3 works into the HSDP. 
 
Legal advice will be sought in relation to the legal agreements and all related 
legal matters. 

2.12 Financial Implications 

The recommendations to approve the initial Business Plan for Grange Farm 
(Phase 2) and agree to incorporate the Grange Farm into the HSDP, have 
financial implications for both the Councils Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 
and General Fund.  
 
Phase 2 of the Grange Farm Scheme will deliver 256 homes, of which 83 will 
be affordable and the remaining 173 will be for private sale.  The affordable 
housing will be built under a Community Works Agreement within the HSDP. 
The costs will be fully funded by HRA resources and Council borrowing, with 
no external grant contributions, and the capital financing costs will be fully 
funded by the HRA.  
 
a) Affordable Homes – Grange Farm Phase 2 
The total cost of the 83 affordable homes is £37.234m with the spend being 
profiled over the five-year period 2022/23 to 2027/28. The Council’s current 
Capital Programme (2022/23 to 2024/25) includes a sum of £25.046m 
therefore a further £12.188m of council borrowing will have to be added into 
the programme during the annual refresh process. The existing provision in 
the programme requires re-profiling and this will again be done during the 
annual refresh process to both the draft Capital Programme (December 
Cabinet) and the HRA Business Plan (January Cabinet (estimate)). The table 
below summarises the capital requirements for the 83 affordable units: 
 

 
 
The total scheme cost of £37.234m: 
- Includes a developer contingency of £1.08m (39% of the total developer’s 

contingency of £2.7m for Grange Farm Phase 2 
- Assumes build cost inflation of 11.41% between today and the incurrence 

of the costs. 
- Is affordable within the HRA business plan.  Any variation in cost, which is 

not contained within the contingency sum of £1.08m, will have to be 
contained, and be affordable, within the HRA business plan. An 
earmarked reserve has been set up for unforeseen financial risks to 
mitigate against the financial risk associated with the new build 
programme within the HRA. The level of this reserve will be reviewed as 
part of the annual refresh of the HRA business plan. 

Current HRA  Capital Programme22/23 23/24 24/25 25/26 26/27 27/28 TOTAL
£2,268,549 £10,021,813 £12,755,523 £9,297,217 £496,222 £0 £34,839,324

reprofile -£1,829,304 -£8,297,713 £739,957 £9,051,188 £335,873 £0 £0

Addition £0 £0 £0 £0 £2,215,474 £179,959 £2,395,433

£439,245 £1,724,100 £13,495,480 £18,348,405 £3,047,569 £179,959 £37,234,757

Grange  Farm Phase 2-

REVISED TOTAL  NET 

35



 
 
In terms of governance arrangements for the CWA, the HSDP will manage 
the scheme on behalf of the Council’s Housing function. The Councils 
Housing function will be responsible for liaising with the HSDP to ensure the 
scheme is delivered to the specification, price and timetable agreed.  
 
b) Homes for Private Sale 
The Financial Viability Model encompasses the financial implications of the 
Harrow Strategic Development Partnership allocated over the various sites.  
The original model covered Peel Road, Bryon Quarter and Poets Corner) and 
the new Harrow Civic Centre (HNC) including basement parking. Following 
the ‘pause’ in the Regeneration Programme, as thinking now moves forward 
on sites, the model is being refreshed on a site by site based on the planned 
activity within the site Business Plan.  The first Business Plan and financial   
model is for Grange Farm Phase 2 and the 173 homes for private sale which 
will be managed as part of the ‘50/50’ arrangement within the HSDP.  The 
Business Plan will be subject to review which could lead to changes in the 
model and this will be managed and reported through the governance 
arrangements supporting the development partnership.   
 
The model covers a 7 -year period from 2022 to 2028. The values quoted for 
the Councils capital requirements and investment returns are in line with the 
model at the point of agreeing the Business Plan. The summary model for the 
173 homes is detailed below: 

 

HSDP, Grange Farm Private Sales - Capital Investment

Year Year
Gross Capital 
Investment Funded by Capital Receipts:

HSDP-GF Private Sales
Total Capital 
Investment Investments  Land

Council 
Borrowing 
Requirement

1 2022 £0 £0
2 2023 £0 £0
3 2024 £9,905,509 £9,905,509 £9,905,509
4 2025 £0 £0
5 2026 £0 -£9,844,453 -£1,025,862 -£10,870,315
6 2027 £0 -£61,055 -£61,055
7 2028 £0 £0

TOTAL £9,905,509 £9,905,509 -£9,905,509 -£1,025,862 -£1,025,862

Harrow Strategy Development Partnership - REVENUE

Year Year
CLN A1 - Land 
Value

CLN A2 - 
Capital JV Dividend

Interest Interest Payment
1 2022 0 0 0
2 2023 £0 £0 £0
3 2024 £0 £0 £0
4 2025 £0 £0 £0
5 2026 £147,421 £1,430,102 £0
6 2027 £0 £4,687 £6,234,032
7 2028 £0

TOTAL £147,421 £1,434,788 £6,234,032

36



 
The Councils total capital investment into the HSDP over the 7-year period 
will be £9.905m. This cost includes a developer’s contingency of £1.695m.  
The financial model assumes 2% inflation per annum on sales and build costs 
are inflated by 11.41% between today and the incurrence of the costs. The 
total capital investment figure of £9.905m is the investment required by the 
Council and therefore excludes the Council owned land which is required to 
be transferred into the partnership. The land on which the private market sale 
homes are to be built on is owed by the Council’s HRA. The land has a 
residual value of £1.025m based on the assumptions within the Business 
Plan. This will change at the point of drawdown. 
 
The capital investment requirement will be funded by a total of £10.931m 
capital receipts received from the partnership as properties are completed and 
sold, as detailed:  
  

o £9.905m – capital receipts in repayment for the £9.905m capital 
investment in the HSDP  

 
o £1.025m – capital receipts in repayment for the £1.025m land 

value  
 
Upon repayment of the £1.025m capital receipt for land value, there will be an 
adjustment between the debt financing arrangements between the General 
Fund and the HRA to reflect HRA ownership of the land.  
 
The model profile shows that there is a 2-year gap between the capital 
investment into the HSDP and the capital receipt being returned to the 
Council.  Rather than borrowing the capital investment on a short-term basis, 
which would incur additional capital financing costs, it is proposed to use 
capital budget already included in the Councils Capital Programme.  The 
current Capital Programme includes a budget of £10.198m in 2022/23 and 
£1.915m in 2023/24 for the scheme ‘Regeneration – Investment in 3 Core 
Sites.’ There are no commitments against this £12.113m budget and it will be 
sufficient to fund the £9,905m capital investment profiled for 2024 and the 
cost of taking Grange Farm – Phase 3 (private sale homes) to planning and 
design stage, as detailed later in the financial implications section.  
 
It is accepted that Grange Farm was not one of the three core sites as part of 
the original HSDP arrangement but using capital budget already in the Capital 
Programme is thought more prudent: 
- To prevent additional capital financing costs becoming a pressure to the 

Medium -Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) 
- To provide the Council more flexibility when receiving the capital receipt 

and revenue returns from the HDSP 
 
In terms of revenue implications, the model calculates interest payments due 
to the Council at £1.582m: 
  

£147k interest on the land value of £1.025m  
£1.435m interest on the £9.905m investment in the HSDP.   

  

37



 
As these revenue returns are due to be received beyond the time frame of the 
updated MTFS (2023/24 to 2025/26) coming to December Cabinet, they will 
be built into the MTFS refresh process for Cabinet in December 2023.  
  
In addition, the model calculates that JV dividends of £6.234m will be received 
over the 7-year period.  Again, these are profiled to be received beyond the 
updated MTFS and will be built into future iterations.  
 
The homes for private sale element of Grange Farm will be managed within 
the existing governance arrangements for the HSDP.  
 

c) Grange Farm – Phase 3 
This Cabinet report recommends Phase 3 being taken to the design and 
planning stage for both affordable homes and those for private market sale.  
The estimated cost of this stage for the affordable homes is £466k.  Within the 
current 3-year Capital Programme there is a budget of £1.052m in respect of 
Grange Farm – Phase 3 and this budget can be used to fund the £466k 
required. This capital financing costs of this budget is funded within the HRA. 
No further funding for this scheme will be included in the refresh of the Capital 
Programme until a viable Business Plan has been agreed. The table below 
summarises the capital requirements: 
 

 

In respect of planning and design fees for those homes for private market 
sale, the fees are estimated at £830k. This will be funded from the budget 
already in the Capital Programme – Regeneration – ‘Investment in 3 core 
sites.’ 

If Phase 3 should not progress the £1.296m of design and planning fees will 
be at risk of being classed as abortive. This could be dealt with by a reduction 
on the Council’s return on other schemes or in the final analysis could be 
subject to write back to revenue (HRA and General Fund) if Phase 3 does not 
progress.  

2.13 Equalities implications / Public Sector Equality Duty 

An Equalities Impact assessment was undertaken at the start of the Grange 
Farm regeneration project in 2016, based on a housing needs assessment 
carried out in 2014. The assessment concluded that while there was a risk 
that the regeneration of the estate could potentially have a disproportionate 
adverse impact on those existing residents who share the protected 
characteristics of age and disability due to the disruption of having to move, 
the evidence showed that the greater likelihood was that the impact on these 
protected characteristics would be positive because the regeneration project 
will result in a better mix of affordable rented dwellings than currently exist 
including one, two, three and four bedroom homes, 10% of which would be 
wheelchair accessible. Additional assistance would be provided to vulnerable 

Current HRA  Capital Programme22/23 23/24 24/25 25/26 26/27 27/28 TOTAL
£311,846 £311,846 £428,422 £6,008,017 £16,588,596 £0 £23,648,727

Reduction -£57,148 -£99,597 -£428,422 -£6,008,017 -£16,588,596 0 -£23,181,780

£254,698 £212,249 £0 £0 £0 £0 £466,947

Grange Farm Phase 3- 

REVISED TOTAL  NET 

38



 
residents including older people and people with disabilities to help them with 
the moving process.  
 
A new and updated Equalities Impact assessment has been carried out at this 
time and is attached as Appendix ‘4‘. This reaches the same conclusion. 
Negative impacts are related to the moving process and are mitigated through 
the additional assistance, including financial compensation, provided by the 
council. The provision of new, energy efficient affordable housing has a 
positive impact for a number of protected characteristics both for existing 
residents and for future residents. The scheme also meets the Public Sector 
Equality duty. Modern housing and amenities will support equality of 
opportunity and better outcomes for residents of the estate and the local area. 
The resident engagement and involvement on this project foster good 
relations between residents from different groups. The council is working with 
voluntary sector partners to support them providing community activities 
particularly aimed at supporting children of all ages as well as providing 
services to assist with food poverty and engaging teenagers. The resident 
community is very diverse and cohesive and their vision for the new 
community is to continue being open and inclusive to all. 
 
For the rest of the HSDP schemes a further detailed and updated Equalities 
Impact Assessment will be completed and will accompany each phase 
Business Plan as they return to Cabinet. 

Section 3 - Statutory Officer Clearance 

Statutory Officer:  Dawn Calvert 
Signed by the Chief Financial Officer 
Date:  31/10/2022 

Statutory Officer:  Stephen Dorrian 
Signed on behalf of the Monitoring Officer 
Date:  31/10/2022 

Statutory Officer:  Nimesh Mehta 
Signed by the Head of Procurement 
Date:  31/10/2022 

Statutory Officer:  Dipti Patel 
Signed by the Corporate Director 
Date:  31/10/2022 

Statutory Officer:  Susan Dixon 
Signed by the Head of Internal Audit 
Date:  31/10/2022 

39



 
Mandatory Checks 

Ward Councillors notified:  YES – for Grange Farm  
  

EqIA carried out:  YES 
An EqIA has been carried out for the Grange Farm estate regeneration and 
its’ proposed inclusion in the sites of the HSDP. It is attached as Appendix ‘4’ 
 
EqIAs for the other sites will be carried out when these are brought back to 
consider the detailed Phase Business Plans. 

EqIA cleared by:  Dipti Patel 

Section 4 - Contact Details and Background 
Papers 

Contact:   Julian Wain Interim Director of Commercial 
Development – julian.wain@harrow.gov.uk  

Background Papers:   

• Harrow Strategic Development Partnership – Contract Close 
and Establishment - Cabinet 15th July 2021 
 

• Milton Road Development – Transfer to HSDP - Cabinet 18th 
November 2021 
 

• Grange Farm Regeneration Phases 2 and 3 - Cabinet 18th 
November 2021 
 

• Harrow Strategic Development Partnership- Progress 
Update - Cabinet 10th March 2022 

• Milton Road Development – Review and Progress - Cabinet 
13th October 2022 

Call-in waived by the Chair of Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee - NO  

40

mailto:julian.wain@harrow.gov.uk
https://moderngov.harrow.gov.uk/documents/s172561/Harrow%20Strategic%20Development%20Partnership%20Contract%20Close%20and%20Establishment.pdf
https://moderngov.harrow.gov.uk/documents/s172561/Harrow%20Strategic%20Development%20Partnership%20Contract%20Close%20and%20Establishment.pdf
https://moderngov.harrow.gov.uk/documents/s174190/Cabinet%20Report%20-%20Milton%20Road%20Transfer%20to%20HSDP%20101121%20FINAL.pdf
https://moderngov.harrow.gov.uk/documents/s174200/211109%20Grange%20Farm%20Phase%202%20and%203%20Cabinet%20Report%20November%20FINAL.pdf
https://moderngov.harrow.gov.uk/documents/s176065/Cabinet%20HSDP%20Update%20March%202022%20V8.pdf
https://moderngov.harrow.gov.uk/documents/s176065/Cabinet%20HSDP%20Update%20March%202022%20V8.pdf
https://moderngov.harrow.gov.uk/documents/s178622/Milton%20Road%20September%202022%20-%20v%205.pdf


 

 
HSDP Phase Business Plan, Grange Farm Estate Phases 2&3  
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Revision Date Author  Checked 

v1 7-Oct-22 MB LJ 

v2 24-Oct-22 MB LJ 

v3 28-Oct-22 MB LJ 

    

Harrow Strategic Development Partnership  

Initial Phase Business Plan 

Grange Farm Estate Regeneration phases 2 & 3 

41



 

i 
HSDP Phase Business Plan, Grange Farm Estate Phases 2&3  
 
 

Contents 
 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY VI 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1 INTRODUCTION 1 

2 PROJECT LOCATION, OBJECTIVES AND VISION 2 

  

  

  

  

3 LEGAL 6 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

4 PLANNING: BACKGROUND AND EMERGING CONTEXT 10 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

5 PHYSICAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL CONSTRAINTS 15 

42



 

   

 

  
ii 

HSDP Phase Business Plan, Grange Farm Estate Phases 2&3  
 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

6 PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT 17 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

7 PROGRAMME 25 

  

  

  

  

8 [EXEMPT] 27 

9 RISK MANAGEMENT 27 

10 SALES AND MARKETING STRATEGY 28 

  

  

11 BUILDING AND ESTATE MANAGEMENT 30 

  

12 STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND COMMUNICATIONS PLAN 31 

43



 

   

 

  
iii 

HSDP Phase Business Plan, Grange Farm Estate Phases 2&3  
 

  

  

  

13 SOCIAL VALUE 33 

  

14 EQUALITIES & INCLUSION 33 

  

  

15 CONSULTANT TEAM 34 

  

16 HEALTH AND SAFETY 35 

  

  

  

  

17 REPORTING 36 

18 APPENDICES 1 

 

  

44



 

   

 

  
iv 

HSDP Phase Business Plan, Grange Farm Estate Phases 2&3  
 

Appendices  
 

 

 

Appendix 1 [exempt] 

 

Appendix 2 [exempt] 

 

Appendix 3 Social Value and Community Engagement summary  

 

Appendix 4 Sustainability Strategy  

 

Appendix 5 [exempt] 

 

  

45



 

   

 

  
v 

HSDP Phase Business Plan, Grange Farm Estate Phases 2&3  
 

ACRONYMS 

AY Avison Young KPI Key Performance Indicator 

BCIS Building Cost Information Service LAR London Affordable Rent 

BTR Build to Rent  LBH London Borough of Harrow 

CDM Construction (Design & Management) LPA Local Planning Authority 

CGIs Computer Generated Images NIA Net Internal Area 

CIL Community Infrastructure Levy NIY Net Initial Yield 

CIM Community Investment Manager OMV Open Market Value  

CIP Community Investment Plan PC Practical Completion 

CPS Community Participation Strategy PCSA Pre-Construction Services Agreement  

DA Development Agreement PIR Project Impact Report 

DM Development Manager PPA Planning Performance Agreement 

DMR Discount Market Rent PROW Public Right of Way 

EDM Electronic Direct Mailers PRS Private Rental Scheme 

EIA Environmental Impact Assessment S&M Sales & Marketing  

FVA Financial Viability Assessment SDLT Stamp Duty Land Tax 

GPR Ground Penetrating Radar SO Shared Ownership 

GEA Gross External Area SOA Schedule of Accommodation 

GIA Gross Internal Area SV Social Value 

GLA Greater London Authority SVP Social Value Portal 

HSDP Harrow Strategic Development Partnership STP  Subject to Planning  

HOTs Heads of Terms   

JV Joint Venture    

  

46



 

   

 

  
vi 

HSDP Phase Business Plan, Grange Farm Estate Phases 2&3  
 

Executive Summary  

Introduction 

This document is the Initial Phase Business Plan for the Grange Farm Estate Regeneration Phases 2 and 3. 
It is proposed that the development is brought into the Harrow Strategic Development Partnership (HSDP) 
under the process outlined for ‘Future Sites’. The process for the addition of future opportunities and community 
facilities is set out in Schedule 8 of the HSDP’s Members’ Agreement, and the inclusion of Grange Farm 
phases 2 and 3 to the partnership will effectively add another core site.  

Site Location and Description 

The site is located in South Harrow, HA2 0QA. 

The Phase 2 and 3  land benefits from outline planning permission to build 485 dwellings and community facilities 
building, which was granted in 2019 as part of a comprehensive regeneration application across three phases. 
Phase 1 was permitted in detail and is currently under construction. 

Project Objectives 

The project represents a once in a generation opportunity to transform this part of South Harrow for the better.  
The aim is to design and deliver a high quality, viable scheme in alignment with: 

• The Council’s Priorities 

• The objectives of the HSDP 

• The aspirations, visions and needs of estate residents and the wider community of South Harrow.  

Proposals 

The proposed development consists of a comprehensive regeneration of Phases 2 and 3 of the Grange Farm 
Estate to include a mixture of affordable and private sale housing across a number of buildings designed to be 
‘tenure-blind’. The scheme will feature high quality public realm and a range of landscaped amenity spaces, 
parking provision, plus an energy centre. Environmental improvements will include biodiverse planting and 
ecology enhancements. In addition to the above, a dedicated new Community Facilities building will provide 
further community benefit. 

Key deliverables and Development Structure are shown in the table below: 

Key Deliverables: Grange Farm Phases 2 & 3 

Number of homes 532 

Private homes 352 (61% by Hab Room) (of which 6no. Townhouses) 

Affordable Rent 180 (39% by Hab Room) (of which 26no. Townhouses) 

Shared ownership Number and allocation to be agreed with LBH (does not directly 

affect FVA or the required levels of social rent homes) 

End uses Residential, community use, management offices 

Community Benefit Estate Regeneration. New Community Facility. 

Public amenity 

Delivery strategy Build in two phases to suit residents decant 

Building heights 3-7/8 Storeys 

Development Structure Private sale residential as 50/50 partnership. 

Affordable residential and Community Facilities building to be 

fully funded by the council under a Community Works Agreement 

(CWA). 

  

47



 

   

 

  
vii 

HSDP Phase Business Plan, Grange Farm Estate Phases 2&3  
 

Financial Viability: Headline Position 

The viability model outputs (presented in detail in the Financial section and summarised below) show a positive 
Land Value and positive business case for Phase 2. Currently Phase 3 has a negative Land Value. 

Phase 3 is principally affected by uncertainty and inflation associated with the works not due for site start until 
Q2/3 2026, almost 4 years from now. 

Commitment to Phase 3 costs beyond Planning will not be required until Q3 2025, (estimated point of 
instruction of PCSA) and an updated Phase Business plan will have been produced using up to date inflation 
and sales revenue estimates at that time. 

In addition, finance costs may be reduced across both phases subject to agreement of funding sources, which 
would potentially further improve viability and land value, particularly so for Phase 3, which is currently 
impacted by its longer programme from overall project start and the associated effect of debt costs. 

Key milestones are effectively natural ‘Gateways’ or ‘Hold Points’ in the project timeline, where an up-to-date 
assessment on viability, cost expenditure to date and future costs budget can be made prior to further 
commitment. The project is treated as two phases to allow risk to be managed accordingly. The financial 
section sets out Forecast Costs for each of the following ‘Hold Points’: 

- Prior to submission of Planning application 

- Prior to instruction of PCSA Phase 2 

- Prior to ‘Unconditional’ Land Draw down and construction Contract Phase 2 

- Prior to instruction of PCSA Phase 3 

- Prior to ‘Unconditional’ Land Draw down and construction Contract Phase 3 

 

The Affordable Residential accommodation and the Community Facilities building are to be fully funded by the 
council under a Community Works Agreement (CWA). The incoming funding for the CWA is shown in the model 
within the headings ‘Social Rent revenue’ and ‘Non-housing revenue’. 

 

The summaries that follow set out the Financial Viability for each of the two phases respectively: 

 

PHASE 2 Headline Item 

  

Land Value £1.03 

Returns to Harrow (Margin + Partner Interest) £7.8 

CIL to Harrow £1.8 

 

PHASE 3 Headline Item 

  

Land Value £-9.37 

Returns to Harrow (Margin + Partner Interest) £9.1 

CIL to Harrow £1.9 

  

48



 

   

 

  
viii 

HSDP Phase Business Plan, Grange Farm Estate Phases 2&3  
 

 

Programme 

The table below set-out the key programme milestones and governance dates  

Milestone: Target Date  

Consultant team procurement  Aug-Oct 22 

Project commencement Nov 22 

Pre-planning period and stakeholder consultation Nov 22 – Sept 23 

Submit Planning application (phases 2&3 combined) Sep 23 

Planning determination period including decision and S106 Oct 23 – Jul 24 

Phase 2 demolition and enabling works start Sep 23 

Approval to commence PCSA for Phase 2 Mar 2024 

Phase 2 Unconditional / Land draw down and main works start Oct-Nov 24 

Approval to commence PCSA for Phase 3 Feb 2026 

Approval to enter into Phase 3 Build contract Oct 2026 

Phase 3 Unconditional / Land draw down date Nov 2026 

 

Planning  

The land has the benefit of Planning Permission for the comprehensive phased redevelopment of the estate, 

to provide 274 affordable homes and 300 private sale homes. (Hybrid planning application, LBH reference 

P/3524/16). 

485 of those homes plus a community facility were permitted in outline on land designated as Phases 2&3. 

 

The planning strategy for the project has to factor in the need to optimise and improve the permitted 

proposals in terms of housing provision, energy performance and placemaking. This is to be achieved by the 

submission of a new full application that combines Phase 2 & 3. 

 

Target Planning Dates are shown in summary table below: 

Activity: Target Date-  TBC  

Project commencement and pre-Planning period Nov 22 – Sept 23 

Submit phases 2 & 3 new full application Sept 23 

Resolution to Grant at committee Apr 24 

Complete S106 and issue decision Jul 24 

 

Social Value 

A social value plan is included at Appendix 3.  Social Value benefits will include work and training opportunities 
for local residents, events support, charitable giving, procurement opportunities for local businesses and 
environmental improvements. Priorities for the project will be established through further engagement with the 
Residents Steering Group. 

In addition, significant spend with local SMEs will support the local economy. 

 
 

49



 

1 
HSDP Phase Business Plan, Grange Farm Estate Phases 2&3  
 
 

1 Introduction 

 
This document is the Initial Phase Business Plan for the Grange Farm Estate Regeneration Phases 2 and 3. 
It is proposed that the development is brought into the Harrow Strategic Development Partnership (HSDP) 
under the process outlined for ‘Future Sites’. The process for the addition of future opportunities and community 
facilities is set out in Schedule 8 of the HSDP’s Members’ Agreement, and the inclusion of Grange Farm 
phases 2 and 3 to the partnership will effectively add another core site.  
 

The Initial Phase Business Plan is put forward on the basis of the outputs described in this report and the 
feasibility stage proposals as outlined. 

More detailed Phase business plans are to be produced as the scheme progresses, and regularly updated in 
accordance with the requirements of the HSDP’s founding documents. 

The project represents a once in a generation opportunity to transform this part of South Harrow for the better.  
The aim is to design and deliver a high quality, viable scheme in alignment with: 

• The Council’s Priorities 

• The objectives of the HSDP 

• The aspirations, visions and needs of estate residents and the wider community of South Harrow.  

The HSDP has three core sites, being Byron Quarter, Peel Road, and Poets Corner. All three core sites were 
considered in the HSDP’s initial overall Business Plan and are now subject to detailed design and the drafting of 
detailed phase Business Plans. 

This Initial Phase Business Plan will inform the overarching HSDP Business Plan and the outcomes of the FVA 
will be incorporated at appropriate times. 

The purpose of this Initial Phase Business Plan is to inform a recommendation by the HSDP to Member Partners 
that the scheme should be formally incorporated into the HSDP and the project should commence. 

  

50



 

   

 

  
2 

HSDP Phase Business Plan, Grange Farm Estate Phases 2&3  
 

 

2 Project Location, Objectives and Vision 

   Project Location  

The estate falls within the residential area of South Harrow. The land sits entirely within Harrow on the Hill 

ward. Two ward boundaries are close by: Roxeth ward abuts the boundary to the south and West Harrow 

ward abuts the boundary to the west. 

 

Site location diagrams: 

 
 

The estate covers an area of 4.1 hectares, of which Phases 2 & 3 comprise approximately 3.6 hectares.  The 

land currently comprises a 1960’s housing estate, on part of which redevelopment is already underway 

(Phase 1, due for completion early 2023). 

Main access is via Shaftesbury Avenue, which runs perpendicular to the A312 (Northolt Road), from south-

east to north-west. The postcode of the development site is: HA2 0QB.  

The estate can also be accessed via Dudley Road to the west, and a pedestrian route from Northolt Road to 

the south-east. 

The site benefits from good public transport links, with South Harrow underground station being located 

approximately 0.5 miles to the south. This station provides frequent Piccadilly Line services into central 

London within 40 minutes. 

Alternatively, Harrow-on-the-Hill station provides underground (Metropolitan Line) and National Rail services 

and is located approximately 1 mile to the north. 

The site is also in close proximity to multiple bus routes linking to Harrow & Wealdstone Station which 

provides further services via underground (Bakerloo Line), Overground and National Rail. 

51



 

   

 

  
3 

HSDP Phase Business Plan, Grange Farm Estate Phases 2&3  
 

Adjoining and nearby uses are described in Table and as labelled on image below.

 
Boundary Description 

North Shaftesbury Avenue - rear gardens of post war semi-
detached housing to the N and NE. 
Dudley Road - rear gardens of post war terraced housing 
to the NW. 
 

South Northolt Retail Park and associated car park 
East Croft House residential apartment block  
Shell Petrol Station  
 

East Osmond Close – BT Building  
Harrow Royal British Legion. 
Templar House residential apartment block  
BT Telephone Exchange building. 
 

West Dudley Road - rear gardens of post war terraced housing 
to the W. 

 

The site is located 4.25km northeast of RAF Northolt and approx. 11km from Heathrow Airport and occupies 

aerodrome height, technical and bird-strike statutory safeguarding zones which must be accounted for in the 

design of the scheme. 

 

  

52



 

   

 

  
4 

HSDP Phase Business Plan, Grange Farm Estate Phases 2&3  
 

 Project Objectives – fulfilling the Objectives of the HSDP: 

Deliver wider regeneration across the Borough 

The scheme will deliver additional new housing in a high quality mixed tenure development that provides a 

better mix of social housing as well as shared ownership and market housing for sale to meet the needs of 

existing and future households. In addition, the aim is to provide a fit for purpose, modern community 

facilities building and a vastly improved public realm and sense of place. 

The project would further widen the effect of regeneration across the Borough beyond that anticipated for the 

Core Sites. 

 

Accelerate the pace of housing delivery across the portfolio of Sites 

The regeneration of the Grange Farm estate will replace existing poor quality and energy inefficient 

properties with high quality homes to meet housing delivery and climate change reduction targets. The 

HSDP is well placed to progress the project at pace and in line with the recommendations in this report with 

regard to phasing. 

In addition, opportunities will be taken to improve on the proportion and quantum of family homes and 

substantially increase the number of habitable rooms.  

 

Contribute to the delivery of well designed, high quality places  

The scheme will enable the provision of Lifetime homes and purpose-built wheelchair housing enabling the 

occupants to remain living independently for as long as possible. 

The overall masterplan is to be ‘Placemaking’- and ‘Quality of Environment’ led. Design of public realm, open 

spaces and landscaping will be key to its success. The new community facility will provide opportunities for 

activities that may have a positive health impact. 

 

Secure wider economic and social benefits  

Contribution to a thriving economy by offering opportunities for work and enabling income from those living in 

the additional new homes to be spent in the local South Harrow economy. 

It will tackle poverty and inequality and provide genuinely affordable housing, enable good jobs to be created 

through construction work, including apprenticeships for local people and those already on the Grange Farm 

estate. Dedicated information campaigns as part of the Social Value offering will help to achieve this. 

Potential fuel poverty issues will be addressed through low energy fabric-first approach to sustainable design 

of all buildings and the energy supply strategy. 

 Project Vision – fulfilling the Vision of the local community and residents 

We see the Grange Farm Residents Steering group as one of the most important stakeholders in the project. 

Going forward the project will evolve to respond to engagement with the group and build on the three key 

objectives of the group’s ‘Vision’ and the draft “Neighbourhood Agreement” (headlines set out below).  

 

Place: A beautiful place where people love to live, work and play 

A high quality, tenure blind design. 

Safe, secure, and well managed 

Affordable, sustainable and energy efficient 

Maximise opportunities to integrate into the wider South Harrow community 

 

People: “We before Me”. Working together for the greater community good. 

Empowering people and communities 

Wellbeing and community Cohesion 

Dedicated and measurable Social Value programmes 

 

Partners: Partnerships that help bring the community together.  

Providing a new community ‘Hub’ that will consolidate existing smaller facilities in the area  

Support for residents to control, manage and own projects and services 

53



 

   

 

  
5 

HSDP Phase Business Plan, Grange Farm Estate Phases 2&3  
 

 The Brief: 

The above Objectives and Vision will be achieved through: 

 

- Delivery of circa 530 tenure blind new homes, across two phases which will follow completion of 

Phase 1: 

- To include minimum 38% affordable housing, new landscaped gardens, and outdoor spaces. 

- Improved connections to nearby existing amenities. 

- Up to date Community Hub building and Estate Management rooms. 

- Effective delivery on agreed Social Value commitments 

 

Progression of the scheme design will look at how roads and streets are designed to give space for 
pedestrians and cyclists. We will design out crime and ASB with subtle, passive measures to keep residents 
safe and secure. Such measures will include the physical security of buildings with robust doors, windows 
and locks as well as considered layouts within the plots and landscaping to include increasing natural 
surveillance 

 

  

54



 

   

 

  
6 

HSDP Phase Business Plan, Grange Farm Estate Phases 2&3  
 

3 Legal 

 Ownership 

The development site is comprised of a number of registered Titles. LBH have been freehold owner of the 

majority of the land and buildings in the masterplan for some years but a CPO process (confirmed by the 

secretary of state in July 2021) was necessary to ensure ownership and hence Vacant Possession (VP) can 

be achieved on the remaining freehold/leasehold interests. The latter included a number of houses and flats 

controlled by Notting Hill Genesis (NHG). 

Justification grounds for the serving of the CPO were based on the Planning permission that had been 

secured as a hybrid of Detailed and Outline permission for the whole estate regeneration in 2019. Further 

details of this extant permission are provided in section 5. 

 

LBH have confirmed they served the General Vesting Declaration (GVD) on NHG to gain control of those 

homes by 17th March 2022. 

It is understood that negotiation with other leaseholders/freeholders on the estate is ongoing, and if 

necessary, a GVD can be issued to ensure vacant possession. 

 

 Vacant Possession (VP) dates and Decant Strategy  

LBH have confirmed the following strategy with regard moving dates for existing occupants. 

VP of the Phase 2 land has been prioritised for late 2022/early 2023 to give necessary time. 

Temporary Accommodation households: 

- To be moved off site and relevant notices have been issued to occupiers. After having been vacated, 

these properties will be secured and occupied by ‘Property Guardians’ on a 1-month notice contract. 

 

Secure Tenants currently in Phase 2: 

- Will move into the newly completed homes in Phase 1 and all relevant legal notices have been 

issued. 

 

Any remaining interests in Phase 2 relate to existing leaseholders. Where moves have not been negotiated, 

notices and/or GVDs as required will be issued by LBH, giving the council the option to take possession at 3 

months’ notice. 

 

Phase 3: A similar process to the above will be worked up for Phase 3 depending on a confirmed completion 

date of Phase 2. As yet no notices for vacant possession of properties on phase 3 land have been issued 

because the current programme does not require Phase 3 VP proceedings and notices to begin before 2023. 

  

55



 

   

 

  
7 

HSDP Phase Business Plan, Grange Farm Estate Phases 2&3  
 

 Air Cadets / MOD owned Land 

 

On the south-eastern part of the site is parcel of land containing an existing single storey Air Cadets centre, 

outbuildings, and forecourt. This land is hatched green on the plan below. 

The original masterplan permission (detailed description in following section) envisaged this land to be part 

of the development. If included, it would have allowed a wider landscaped route and improved links to 

Northolt Road. 

During the recent CPO process referred to earlier in this section, the MOD objected to its land being 

purchased. 

It is understood that negotiation for reprovision of the Cadet facility, either on the Grange Farm Estate or 

elsewhere, did not result in any agreement, and MOD insisted that the land be removed from the 

Compulsory Purchase Order.  

On that basis and for the purposes of this Business Plan the development site will exclude this land. 

 

The ability to improve finishes and lighting of the existing pedestrian route to Northolt Road within council 

ownership remains. 

 

  
 

CPO land plan above 

 

 

 

56



 

   

 

  
8 

HSDP Phase Business Plan, Grange Farm Estate Phases 2&3  
 

 Existing Residents and Tenancies 

 

A Housing Needs Assessment undertaken by LBH for households moving into the new homes in Phase 1 

indicated that a new Needs Assessment for phases 2 and 3 residents should be carried out by LBH Housing 

Regeneration department. This is to ensure the proposals take into appropriate consideration the needs of 

households with physical and mental health disabilities, as well as those of growing household sizes. 

 

Harrow intends to complete a new Equalities Impact Assessment in consultation with the Grange Farm 

Steering Group to ensure any relevant issues identified are addressed going forward.  

 

Once the above assessments are undertaken and reviewed by partners, implications on Affordable Housing 

dwelling types and distribution across phases 2&3 can be factored into the proposals and associated 

financial modelling. 

 Access 

A Highways Search provided as part of the Legal Report confirms that access is directly via the existing 

Highways network of roads and footways which extend into the site. Road and footway access is currently 

from Shaftesbury Avenue on the north edge and Dudley Road on the west edge. For the new development 

these access points are to be retained, with the routes on site itself reconfigured to suit the new layouts.  

An existing pedestrian route also passes between the existing cadet centre and Northolt Road as noted 

earlier.  

Indicative access across third-party owned land to the south was indicated as an aspirational link to the 

Retail Park (Waitrose) and beyond as part of the 2019 outline planning permission. 

Two similar indicative links were shown in a reciprocal direction from Northolt Road Retail Park land through 

to Grange Farm as part of that application which was permitted in November 2021 (reference P/2052/20, 

application covered in more detail in section 5). 

It is understood from enquiries with LBH Regeneration and Legal teams that no formal access agreements 

exist between LBH and third-party owners of the above land or owners of the remainder of the Waitrose car 

park. 

 

 Rights of Light 

Specialist consultants GIA were commissioned during the business plan development process to undertake 

a review of Daylight Sunlight and Rights of Light matters. Rights of light risks associated with surrounding 

third-party properties have been assessed and certain neighbouring addresses identified as causing areas of 

potential risk. GIA have since commented on the proposed design and the current proposals make 

allowance for high level GIA advice, which principally refers to heights of proposed buildings closest to the 

rear of properties on Northolt Road.  Further assessment will be required to reduce/eliminate risk as the 

proposals are taken forward in detail. 

 

 Easements and Wayleaves 

The Report on Title includes a search on Statutory bodies and Utilities providers. No major or unusual risks 

were identified or highlighted as major concerns. 

Rights that are identified in the legal report will be looked at in detail when the proposals are progressed and 

the Construction planning team has made a detailed assessment of existing services to be removed or 

diverted. This should establish capacity requirements and logistics of new incoming services connections 

and any associated cost effect not yet allowed for. 

 

57



 

   

 

  
9 

HSDP Phase Business Plan, Grange Farm Estate Phases 2&3  
 

 Public Rights of Way 

Existing Highways on site will be subject to a stopping up order. New main estate roads and paths will be 

adopted as public highway. This process has already been carried out for part of the estate under the Phase 

1 works. 

   Utilities 

A search of Utility providers was undertaken as part of Title report. Wates construction planning / operations 

team have assessed the implications of the existing utilities on site in terms of risk to delivery of the project at 

a high level only. Cost implications in the cost plan estimate are based on figures that were provided in a 

specialist report for the outline planning permission. A full detailed review on costs and a new utilities 

assessment is recommended to be undertaken as the proposals progress as part of the detail design 

progression. 

 Estimated Lease Completion Date / Mechanism for Freehold transfer 

As per the HSDP Development Agreement for the core sites, Phase Conditions are to be satisfied prior to 

Land Drawdown for each of the Grange Farm phases. Project- specific conditions will have to be met. 

The tables on this page set out the Conditions, plus a forecast satisfaction date for each in Phase 2 and 

Phase 3. 

Land will be drawn down for Phase 2 and Phase 3 separately, to suit the build and occupation programme.  

The value of each phase is to be agreed by the HSDP prior to drawdown using the methodology set out in 

the founding documents. 

As per other core sites, it is anticipated that Freehold interest in the land will remain with the council and a 

long Leasehold (250 years) is to be granted to a development subsidiary of the HSDP (other than land 

exclusively demised for CWA works). 

 

Grange Farm Phase 2 Drawdown Conditions (Estimated Lease Completion Date is Oct/Nov 2024 ) 

Condition Description Forecast 
Satisfaction 

Planning 
Condition 

HSDP to secure a Satisfactory Planning Permission clear of 8-week 
judicial review period. 

Aug 2024 

Title 
Condition 

LBH to resolve all Title Matters. Jul 2023 

Funding 
Condition 

HSDP procures, to the satisfaction of LBH, funding with an Approved 
Funder sufficient to cover the HSDP’s obligations in the DA.  

Aug 2024 

Business 
Plan 
Condition 

HSDP has agreed a Business Plan and associated Phase Business 
Plan. 

Oct 2024  

 

Grange Farm Phase 3 Drawdown Conditions (Estimated Lease Completion Date is July/August 2026) 

Condition Description Forecast 
Satisfaction 

Planning 
Condition 

HSDP to secure a Satisfactory Planning Permission clear of 8-week 
judicial review period. 

Aug 2024 

Title 
Condition 

LBH to resolve all Title Matters. Jul 2023 

Funding 
Condition 

HSDP procures, to the satisfaction of LBH, funding with an Approved 
Funder sufficient to cover the HSDP’s obligations in the DA.  

Jun 2026 

Business 
Plan 
Condition 

HSDP has agreed a Business Plan and associated Phase Business 
Plan. 

Jul 2026 

  

58



 

   

 

  
10 

HSDP Phase Business Plan, Grange Farm Estate Phases 2&3  
 

4 Planning: Background and Emerging Context 

 Background to Outline Planning Permission: 

The land has the benefit of Planning Permission granted in 2019 for the comprehensive phased 

redevelopment of the estate, to provide 274 affordable homes and 300 private sale homes. (Hybrid planning 

application, LBH reference P/3524/16). 

 

The permission comprises two elements: Phase 1 was secured as a detail permission and is now under 

construction to provide 89 of the above affordable homes. It is being delivered by Higgins, with occupation 

estimated by early 2023. 

 

Phase 2 and 3 was approved in outline to deliver 181 social rent homes, 4 shared ownership homes and 300 

Private Sale Units, a Community Centre – 1350m2 and a Community Facility – 282m2. 

(It is understood that the community facility mentioned above related to the Air Cadets centre, which for 

reasons noted earlier in this report is no longer to be provided as part of this redevelopment). 

 

Outline permission for phases 2 and 3 consists of 8no. plots of land with 16 buildings up to 7 storeys in 

height as shown on the illustrative masterplan images below: 

   

 

59



 

   

 

  
11 

HSDP Phase Business Plan, Grange Farm Estate Phases 2&3  
 

 Phasing Plan Overlay: 

The plan below shows the existing site overlaid with the zones that the outline planning permission 

designated as phases 1, 2 and 3: 

 
 

 Existing Use 

Grange Farm is a purpose-built housing Estate with 282 properties mainly made up of “Resiform” flats which 

are a particular type of building involving the use of fibreglass panels for external walls. It is understood that 

materials such as asbestos used in their original construction could lead to complex demolition processes. 

 Site Specific Planning Policy Allocation 

As noted above, a hybrid planning application was submitted on behalf of LBH in 2016 and planning consent 

was given in 2019. This was for a comprehensive phased regeneration of the estate. All of the existing 

properties are to be demolished and replaced with new houses and apartments of mixed sizes plus a 

community-use building and associated facilities. 

 Environmental Impact Assessment 

A screening process was undertaken for the outline masterplan under the above regulations. The Council 

issued a scoping response which concluded that the development was considered not to be a development 

that triggered the thresholds. It therefore did not require an Environmental Impact Assessment.   

 Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 

CIL will be charged on new floorspace subject to appropriate rates, indexing and allowable discounts. 

The CIL figures declared in this report and used in the FVA, uses a demolition area estimated at 13,565sqm 

GIA which represents the amount of floorspace currently remaining across Phases 2 & 3 calculated from the 

existing site plan using a GIA:GEA ratio extrapolated at 92%. 

The calculations were also checked by Planning consultants and verified against the LPA online calculator. 

60



 

   

 

  
12 

HSDP Phase Business Plan, Grange Farm Estate Phases 2&3  
 

 Planning Conditions  

Going forwards these are to be determined through the planning process for both Phases 2 and 3. 

Planning consultant Lichfields has advised that condition 6 of the original main hybrid application requires 

the outline element (phases 2 and 3) to be developed in accordance with agreed Parameter plans. This in 

turn informs the recommended application strategy which, as described later in the Planning section, is to 

not progress a Reserved Matters application due to the restrictive nature of those plans. 

 Emerging Context: Northolt Road Retail Park planning permission: 

An application (reference P/2052/20) on the adjacent third party owned land to the south was submitted in 

2019, and full detailed planning permission was granted on 19th November 2021. 

The approved proposals are for 191 New dwellings (39 affordable) in a number of buildings of 4-6 storeys in 

height. Significant built form was approved, and two buildings in particular are designed in close proximity to 

the approved blocks on Grange Farm’s masterplan (plots 5, 6 and 7). 

 

The approved Retail Park design has separation distances of 11m–13,5m between neighbouring buildings 

standing 4-6 storeys in height for the majority of the length of the boundary to Grange Farm (see black 

arrows on image below) In order to reach adequate levels of daylight and sunlight in the affected Grange 

Farm blocks, very limited options for internal space planning are available. In addition, the close proximity to 

facing blocks could have a negative sense of enclosure and poorer quality of outlook.  

 

The landscaping plans approved for this application show an aspiration for pedestrian links into the Grange 

Farm estate (via ramps/steps to deal with the approx. 1 storey level change). They also require development 

to include re-landscaping part of a separate ownership, currently part of the existing Waitrose car park. This 

latter route was also indicated as a future link through to Grange Farm and its community facilities to improve 

connectivity for residents of each site and the local community. We will look to explore connectivity where 

mutually beneficial and agreement can be made with adjoining landowners. 

 

The new proposals for Grange Farm should therefore address the above points. 

 

 
 

Northolt Road Retail Park permitted landscape plan. 

(Black arrows indicate points where separation distances are 11m to 13.5m between 4-6 storey buildings permitted on 

Grange Farm) 

61



 

   

 

  
13 

HSDP Phase Business Plan, Grange Farm Estate Phases 2&3  
 

 Opportunities for optimisation of the outline permission  

 

The feasibility proposals summarised in the Proposed Development section of this report set out to make the 

most of opportunities identified along the way. In addition, dialogue to date with our LBH Housing 

Regeneration and Planning partners and local Stakeholders is factored in. 

The brief is to improve wherever possible on the outline permission whilst taking on board relevant issues 

identified. Key opportunities for improvement identified: 

 
Placemaking: 
 

- More useable open spaces, and more generous public realm 
- Opportunity to add public green space, with more visually open external amenity spaces 
- Consider adjacent existing and emerging context, e.g., residential gardens to west and Retail Park 

permission with associated pedestrian links. 
- Increased levels of biodiversity and soft landscaping 
- Reorganisation of parking on site to offer better streetscape and more pedestrian-friendly 

environment, to reduce the dominance of parked cars on the public realm. 
 
More Homes and a Better level  of Affordable Homes: 
 

- c530 homes overall with a higher proportion of affordable Habitable rooms 
- Over 100 additional affordable Habitable Rooms. 
- More Family Houses 
- Fewer affordable 1 beds and 2 beds: the need tends to be for larger family homes 

 
More efficient and Sustainable buildings: 
 

- Improved efficiencies or building plans (eliminate deck access and reduce corridors) 
- Improve sustainable energy provision on site (e.g. air source heat pumps in energy centre, PV 

panels on roofs etc) 
- Energy performance and building fabric enhanced over permitted scheme 
- Additional massing to same core: explore height within permitted parameters 

 

 Planning Application strategy 

Wates have engaged Lichfields planning consultancy (Nathaniel Lichfield LLP) to advise during the evolution 

of this business plan. It is agreed as a principle that the layout and form of buildings as drawn in the outline 

permission will have to be amended in order to achieve a viable development and to deal with contextual 

issues described above. 

To achieve this, a new full application to cover both Phase 2 and Phase 3 is the recommendation. 

A ‘Reserved Matters Application’ approach was one of the strategies considered but Lichfields advised that 

very limited amendments to the permitted design would be possible, due to the highly prescriptive nature of 

associated Parameter Plans and conditions.  CBRE, planning consultants already engaged on the HSDP 

core sites, were also consulted, and came to the same view.  

LBH Interim Chief Planning Officer confirmed support for this approach. 

 

Target Planning Dates are shown in summary table below: 

Activity: Target Date-  TBC  

Project commencement and pre-Planning period Nov 22 – Sept 23 

Submit phases 2 & 3 new full application Sept 23 

Resolution to Grant at committee Apr 24 

Complete S106 and issue decision Jul 24 

 

62



 

   

 

  
14 

HSDP Phase Business Plan, Grange Farm Estate Phases 2&3  
 

 

Further reasoning for the strategy to work on Phases 2 & 3 combined as a full detailed planning application 

is as follows: 

 

- An overall picture on design quality and a holistic review by both Harrow Planning Department and 

the GLA of the whole estate masterplan can be captured. 

- Consultant fees would not necessarily be significantly lower if submitting phase 2 in detail and phase 

3 in outline, due to the level of information required for the outline part (in fact ultimately, they would 

be considerably higher for reasons noted below) 

- A Hybrid application would require additional work up front such as Design Code and Parameter 

plans. 

- A further reserved matters submission for phase 3 would require new/updated surveys on ecology, 

parking, aviation, plus the full set of consultant drawings, reports and surveys etc.  

- Risk would be introduced on phase 3 due to possible amendments to sustainability or other GLA or 

stakeholder policies in the meantime. 

- Planning risk and programme would be increased by the nature of having to submit an additional 

reserved matters application, in turn having its own consultation process. 

- Consultant costs would have to factor in two separate applications.  

 

 Planning Risks and Mitigation strategies 

Planning Consultants and the HSDP have together established the following key risks and mitigations: 

 

Potential Risk Mitigation Strategy 

Height, scale, and massing – in particular in 

relation to Aviation Safeguarding. 

MOD is a statutory consultee (see further 

detail in following ‘Constraints’ section  

 

Early dialogue strategy. 

Height for proposals set no higher than original 

permission however advice is that regulations 

have since been relaxed. 

GLA: potential to reconsider level of 

affordable across the entire Estate 

 

Early dialogue to justify, combined with 

statement on additional quantum of 

accommodation proposed 

Protracted consultation period – either with 

MOD, GLA or LPA 

 

Strategy for early consultation with MOD begun.   

Planning consultant to set out clear and early 

plan for GLA and LPA consultation and dialogue 

Biodiversity enhancements under new 

policies 

Careful design of masterplan and maximise 

opportunities for planting and landscaping 

Transport, highways, and public realm – 

conflicting aspirations of GLA and local 

groups on levels of car parking 

 

Layout allows for parking levels achieved on 

outline permission, with options to improve 

placemaking and streetscapes through 

consultation to reduce parking levels where 

possible 

  

63



 

   

 

  
15 

HSDP Phase Business Plan, Grange Farm Estate Phases 2&3  
 

5 Physical and Environmental Constraints 

 Aviation Safeguarding constraints 

The site is located 4.25km northeast of RAF Northolt and is situated within aerodrome height, technical and 

bird-strike statutory safeguarding zones which must be accounted for in the design of the scheme. A detailed 

assessment was carried out by specialist consultants on the proposals permitted in outline in 2019.  

The HSDP has been made aware by LBH of the sensitivity of restrictions across the site and as such, the 

proposed design has been tested to fall under or be no higher than heights permitted. 

The outline planning consent sets a maximum height for development to Phases 2 and 3. We will engage 

with the Civil Aviation Authority (CAA) Ministry of Defence (MOD) and NATS (air traffic control services) early 

in the pre-application process with a view to mitigating the risk of any objections on aviation grounds. 

 

Reports on the above issues were sourced by Wates from two separate Aviation Safeguarding specialist 

consultants, Lichfields and Pager Power. The latter also reported on the original outline permission and 

informed those negotiations with MOD. 

Both consultants indicate that significant extra built form, i.e. alternative massing or extra height, may be 

possible across the whole of the site due to MOD guidance having changed in the interim.  

The associated guidance document, Regulatory Article (RA) 3512, sets out a less onerous restriction on 

take-off and landing from runways. 

 

It should be noted that the proposals as assessed for this Business Plan have been designed to comply with 

the aviation height restrictions as originally permitted. Both aviation consultants have confirmed that this is 

the case for the currently proposed massing, having reviewed the heights. As the scheme progresses, if 

additional massing and/or height are deemed beneficial, this may be explored subject to consultation. 

 Boundaries and neighbours 

The site is bounded by gardens of residential dwellings on the north and west, Northolt Road retail park to 

the southern boundary and civic / commercial / community buildings to the east.  

Logistics of construction and enabling works will need to have particular regard to the sensitivities and 

ongoing operation of existing dwellings on site, newly built Phase 1 as well as surrounding neighbours. 

Wates Operations/programme planning team produced a Logistics plan at early bid stage and this will be 

worked up to factor in further detail as the project progresses. 

 Land contamination risk  

A detailed Phase 1 and 2 Geo-Environmental Assessment was submitted at the time of the masterplan 

application. The report concluded that the development site has a very low geo-environmental risk to future 

occupiers, and also to future construction workers on the site. 

New specialist environmental and technical reports at Stage 2 pre-planning stage will be commissioned to 

ensure information is up to date, relevant and appropriately integrated into the design and reported on as 

part of the planning pack, and to inform pre-construction design development and cost planning. 

 Flood Risk: 

The site is in Flood Zone 1 but due to its size, a specialist Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) was undertaken for 

the original application. 

The report found the majority of the site is considered as being at a ‘Very Low’ susceptibility to surface water 

flooding but some areas located along the eastern boundary were considered as having a higher 

susceptibility to surface water flooding. 

Recommendations of the FRA included SUDS and surface water flooding mitigation measures including 

biodiverse planting. 

A new updated FRA will be commissioned for Phases 2 and 3 to ensure up to date strategies are in place. 

 

64



 

   

 

  
16 

HSDP Phase Business Plan, Grange Farm Estate Phases 2&3  
 

 Party Wall matters: 

Party Wall Surveyor, Consil (engaged by HSDP for core sites) has provided initial advice and a fee estimate.  

At this stage an allowance will be made to provide awards and surveyors work for 15 neighbouring 

properties.  

Access agreements for construction may also be required across certain properties adjacent to boundaries 

and surveyor’s fees are budgeted. Any financial consideration due to neighbours (if applicable) is yet to be 

determined. 

 Asbestos: 

It is understood that significant levels of asbestos were found during demolition of the existing phase 1 

buildings. The Contractor will be responsible for undertaking a Refurbishment and Demolition Survey (‘R&D 

Survey’). This will establish accurately the locations and type of asbestos within the phases 2 and 3 site. An 

Asbestos Management Plan will be prepared by the Contractor and removal will be undertaken by a 

specialist contractor. Allowances have been made within the Demolition Programme and Cost Plan for 

‘notifiable’ asbestos to be encountered.   

 Existing Trees: 

An up to date arboriculture survey and report will be commissioned to accompany the planning application. 

The vast majority of existing trees were marked for removal in the outline planning permission of March 

2019.  The new brief will be for more good quality existing trees to be retained and integrated into the new 

proposals than the permitted scheme wherever possible. 

  

65



 

   

 

  
17 

HSDP Phase Business Plan, Grange Farm Estate Phases 2&3  
 

6 Proposed Development 

 Summary 

The proposed development consists of a comprehensive Regeneration of Phases 2 and 3 of the Grange Farm 
Estate to include a mixture of affordable and private sale housing across a number of buildings designed to be 
‘tenure-blind’. The scheme will feature high quality public realm and a range of landscaped amenity spaces, 
parking provision, plus an energy centre. Environmental improvements will include biodiverse planting and 
ecology enhancements. In addition to the above, a dedicated new Community Facilities building will provide 
further community benefit. 

 Key deliverables 

 

Key Deliverables: Grange Farm Phases 2 & 3 

Number of homes 532 

Private homes 352 (61% by Hab Room) (of which 6no. Townhouses) 

Affordable Rent 180 (39% by Hab Room) (of which 26no. Townhouses) 

Shared ownership Number and allocation to be agreed with LBH (does not directly 

affect FVA or minimum level of Social rent homes) 

End uses Residential, community use, management offices 

Community Benefit Estate Regeneration. New Community Facility. 

Public amenity 

Delivery strategy Build in two phases to suit residents decant 

Building heights 3-7/8 Storeys 

Development Structure Private sale residential as 50/50 partnership. 

Affordable residential and Community Facilities building to be 

fully funded by the council under a Community Works Agreement 

(CWA). 

 

 

 Target Metrics and Accommodation Schedule – combined Phases 2&3 

“Base scheme” 532 units:  

GIA  - total Residential including energy centre 
c 48,400sqm  

NIA – Apartments and Townhouses total 
c 37,575sqm  

Residential Net to Gross Ratio 
75-76% Flats 

78%+ including 
townhouses 

GIA Community use 
1,350sqm  

Proportion Affordable: Private 
(by Habitable Room) 

39% Affordable 61% Private 

 

 

66



 

   

 

  
18 

HSDP Phase Business Plan, Grange Farm Estate Phases 2&3  
 

 Area Schedule, SOA Summary and Unit Mix combined Phases 2&3 

 

 

  

  

Development Total

Type Total of Type %mix by unit Total Hab Rooms %mix by Hab Rooms

1 bed 2p 146 27% 292 18%

2 bed 3p 113 21% 339 21%

2 bed 4p 132 25% 396 24%

3 bed 4p 109 20% 436 27%

3 bed 5p house 26 5% 130 8%

4 bed 6p house 6 1% 36 2%

Totals 532 1629

Total Affordable Private

GIA- Resi sqm 48,397                        18,063               30,334                             

NIA - Resi sqm 37,573                        14,325               23,248                             

Community  sqm 1,350                          

Affordable Housing

Type Total of Type %mix by unit Total Hab Rooms %mix by Hab Rooms

1 bed 2p 20 11% 40 6%

2 bed 3p 26 14% 78 12%

2 bed 4p 49 27% 147 23%

3 bed 4p 59 33% 236 37%

3 bed 5p house 20 11% 100 16%

4 bed 6p house 6 3% 36 6%

Totals 180 637

% of dev total 34% 39%

Private Sale

Type Total of Type %mix by unit Total Hab Rooms %mix by Hab Rooms

1 bed 2p 126 36% 252 25%

2 bed 3p 87 25% 261 26%

2 bed 4p 83 24% 249 25%

3 bed 4p 50 14% 200 20%

3 bed 5p house 6 2% 30 3%

4 bed 6p house 0 0% 0 0%

Totals 352 992

% of dev total 66% 61%

67



 

   

 

  
19 

HSDP Phase Business Plan, Grange Farm Estate Phases 2&3  
 

 Target Metrics and Accommodation Schedule – Phase 2 only 

“Base scheme”  256 units:  

GIA  - total Residential including energy centre  c  23,039 sqm  

NIA – Apartments and Townhouses total c  18,080sqm  

Residential Net to Gross Ratio 75-76% Flats 78%+ including 
townhouses 

GIA Community use n/a  

Proportion Affordable: Private within Phase  
(by Habitable Room) 

39% Affordable 61% Private 

 

 Area Schedule, SOA Summary and Unit Mix Phase 2 only 

 

 

 

Total Affordable Private

GIA- Resi sqm 23,029                        8,236                  14,793                             

NIA - Resi sqm 18,081                        6,717                  11,364                             

Community  sqm 0

Phase 2 Affordable Housing

Type Total of Type %mix by unit Total Hab Rooms %mix by Hab Rooms

1 bed 2p 10 12.0% 20 7%

2 bed 3p 12 14.5% 36 12%

2 bed 4p 17 20.5% 51 17%

3 bed 4p 26 31.3% 104 34%

3 bed 5p house 12 14.5% 60 20%

4 bed 6p house 6 7.2% 36 12%

Phase Totals 83 307

% of PHASE total 32% 39%

68



 

   

 

  
20 

HSDP Phase Business Plan, Grange Farm Estate Phases 2&3  
 

 

  

69



 

   

 

  
21 

HSDP Phase Business Plan, Grange Farm Estate Phases 2&3  
 

 Target Metrics and Accommodation Schedule – Phase 3 only 

“Base scheme”  276 units:  

GIA  - total Residential including energy 
centre 

 c   25,370 sqm  

NIA – Apartments and Townhouses total c   19,490sqm  

Residential Net to Gross Ratio 75-76% Flats 78%+ including 
townhouses 

GIA Community use n/a  

Proportion Affordable : Private within Phase  
(by Habitable Room) 

40% Affordable 60% Private 

  

  Area Schedule, SOA Summary and Unit Mix Phase 3 only 

 

 

 

Total Affordable Private

GIA- Resi sqm 25,368                        9,827                  15,541                             

NIA - Resi sqm 19,492                        7,608                  11,884                             

Community  sqm 1350

Phase 3 Affordable Housing

Type Total of Type %mix by unit Total Hab Rooms %mix by Hab Rooms

1 bed 2p 10 10.3% 20 6%

2 bed 3p 14 14.4% 42 13%

2 bed 4p 32 33.0% 96 29%

3 bed 4p 33 34.0% 132 40%

3 bed 5p house 8 8.2% 40 12%

4 bed 6p house 0 0.0% 0 0%

Phase Totals 97 330

% of PHASE total 35% 40%

70



 

   

 

  
22 

HSDP Phase Business Plan, Grange Farm Estate Phases 2&3  
 

 

 

 Parking Spaces 

New parking areas are to be provided on-site either under ‘podium’ gardens at ground level between blocks 

or around the streets and landscaping at ground level. 

A new CPZ will be implemented across the estate such that publicly accessible parking spaces will require 

residents permits. 

In line with agreed ratios for the scheme permitted in outline, it is proposed to provide parking spaces for 

residents of the affordable housing at a ratio of 0.47 space per dwelling.  

This would equate to a minimum of 85 spaces spread proportionally across phases 2 & 3. 

In addition, an allocation of 54 designated parking spaces for sale to owners of private apartments is 

currently allowed for in the viability modelling. 

Further residents permit parking spaces may be provided subject to landscape and architectural design and 

planning policy requirements. 

 

 Proposed Massing 

Accommodation is to be distributed across the site as both rows of terraced Townhouse and apartment 

building typologies.   

Storey heights will range from 3 to 8 subject to planning and MOD review. 

 

 Tenure Distribution 

A visually ‘tenure blind’ appearance is the driver for design in terms of tenure distribution. 

Both Townhouse and apartment building typologies are to have affordable and private sale homes. The 

current distribution separates tenures in apartment buildings either by entire building or by vertical core for 

management and legal / ownership reasons. 

 

 Planning Requirements 

The Planning strategy is to submit a new full ‘drop in’ application for the whole of Phases 2 &3, to achieve a 

satisfactory full detailed planning permission to enable both phases to be delivered to the required quality 

and programme. This is described in further detail in the dedicated Planning section of this report. 

This strategy has been endorsed by independent planning consultants and was supported by Harrow’s 

Interim Chief Planning Officer during the early working stages of this business plan. 

  

Phase 3 Private Sale

Type Total of Type %mix by unit Total Hab Rooms %mix by Hab Rooms

1 bed 2p 62 35% 124 25%

2 bed 3p 39 22% 117 23%

2 bed 4p 52 29% 156 31%

3 bed 4p 24 13% 96 19%

3 bed 5p house 2 1% 10 2%

4 bed 6p house 0 0% 0 0%

Phase Totals 179 503

% of PHASE total 65% 60%

71



 

   

 

  
23 

HSDP Phase Business Plan, Grange Farm Estate Phases 2&3  
 

 Proposed Design: feasibility sketch options: 

Feasibility studies were undertaken during the early working stages of this business plan. 

The overall masterplan has been worked on to address the previously mentioned opportunities for optimisation 

whilst being guided by the Project Objectives and Project Vision. 

More family houses are proposed along the west and northwest boundaries of the site. This will result in a 

better aspect when seen from rear gardens of neighbouring houses along Shaftesbury Avenue and Dudley 

Road (the previous permission had flatted blocks up to 4 storeys along part of those boundaries). 

 

An indicative Masterplan and 3d view images are shown below for illustrative purposes: 

 

 
 

 

72



 

   

 

  
24 

HSDP Phase Business Plan, Grange Farm Estate Phases 2&3  
 

 

 Potential for further improvement and options for consideration 

The following points identify further opportunities for consideration as the design progresses with a view to 
improving on and optimising the site’s full potential. It should be noted that none of the suggestions below have 
been included in any financial modelling presented in this report. 

- Additional height: subject to urban design and aviation constraints. Specialist consultants have been 

engaged to begin early consultation with MOD in advance of pre-Planning stage. This will be within 

the criteria currently set by the LBH. 

 

- Additional Shared Ownership Homes: this could help to create a more balanced community through 

a greater mix of tenures. Note this would not be in place of any Affordable Rent Homes that are 

allocated for reprovision of existing housing.  

Advice will also be sought from agents as to their view on tenure mixes to create the most successful 

outcomes for all. 

 

- Improved sustainability performance over and above Building Regulations requirements: The HSDP 

and the council may wish to have the proposed townhouses built to Low or Zero carbon standards. 

This could be a way for Harrow to fulfil its intention to move towards zero carbon homes, and to 

future-proof its residential assets against fuel poverty and against the need for early retro-fit of 

technologies or refurbishment of building fabric. 

Appendix 4 includes a ‘menu’ of further Sustainability measures that could be introduced subject to 

more detailed design to understand cost and management implications. 

 Sustainability Requirements 

Wates has prepared a Sustainability Strategy document for HSDP. This addresses wider sustainability and 

Environmental and Social Governance (ESG) issues in the round, in addition to carbon and energy use, 

taking as a cue the ‘7 Themes’ in Harrow’s Climate and Ecological Emergency Interim Strategy Action plan. 

The Design Team will be required to drive achievement of the goals of the Sustainability and ESG Strategy. 

A Sustainability Strategy document specific to Grange Farm is included in Appendix 4 

 

Further sustainability targets and potential enhancements for discussion and consideration as also presented 

in Appendix 4. This includes a menu of Grange Farm specific options to consider. A clear early aspiration 

would be to target all townhouses as ‘Zero Carbon ready’. Wates has experience of delivering a number of 

award-winning homes to these standards with other Local Authority Partners. 

Options for Sustainability Uplift are to be assessed in terms of design and cost implications as the design 

and project evolves in early stages of pre-planning.   

 Affordable Housing Units 

Approximate quantum and mixes to be as per accommodation schedule, detailed specification to be 

established in due course. Both of the above will be worked through in consultation with LBH, who will need 

to be satisfied that the new affordable accommodation they will purchase meets their requirements. 

All dwellings to meet or exceed London Plan and National Space standards floorspace areas.  

Mobility needs of existing and future residents will be allowed for including a minimum 10% of dwellings to be 

wheelchair user compliant, meeting Building Regulations Part M4(3). 

 

 Detailed specifications and drawings 

Not applicable to this Initial Phase Business Plan. To be provided in due course 

  

73



 

   

 

  
25 

HSDP Phase Business Plan, Grange Farm Estate Phases 2&3  
 

7  Programme 

 Target Development Programme 

A summary of the programme and key milestone dates is set out in the following table. 

 

Milestone: Target Date  

Consultant team procurement  Aug-Oct 22 

Project commencement Nov 22 

Pre-planning period and stakeholder consultation Nov 22 – Sept 23 

Submit Planning application (phases 2&3 combined) Sep 23 

Planning determination period including decision and S106 Oct 23 – Jul 24 

Phase 2 demolition and enabling works start Sep 23 

Approval to commence PCSA for Phase 2 Mar 2024 

Phase 2 Unconditional / Land draw down and main works start Oct-Nov 24 

Approval to commence PCSA for Phase 3 Feb 2026 

Approval to enter into Phase 3 Build contract Oct 2026 

Phase 3 Unconditional / Land draw down date Nov 2026 

 

 

The linear programme below sets out the same key workstreams year on year: 

 

 
  

74



 

   

 

  
26 

HSDP Phase Business Plan, Grange Farm Estate Phases 2&3  
 

 Key Governance Milestones 

As summarised in table below: 

Milestone: Target Date  

Wates governance and Board approvals July 22 

LBH governance and Cabinet approvals Oct-Nov 22 

HSDP Board approval to bring into partnership and Commence 
Phase 

Oct 22 

Approval to submit Planning application (phases 2&3 combined) Sep 23 

Approval to commence PCSA for Phase 2 
(on receipt of resolution to grant planning permission) 

Mar 24 

Phase 2 Unconditional / Land draw down date Nov 24 

Approval to enter into Phase 2 Build contract Nov 24 

Approval to commence PCSA for Phase 3 Oct 25 

Phase 3 Unconditional / Land draw down date May 26 

Approval to enter into Phase 3 Build contract May 26 

 Programme to Phase 2 Start on Site 

 

The linear programme below sets out the key workstreams to begin Phase 2 main construction work. 

Wates Internal governance gateways are shown indicatively for information only. 

 

 
 

 Phase 2 Phasing – Key Dates 

As summarised in table below: 

 

Milestone: Target Date  

Planning Application submission date (phases 2&3 combined) Sept 23 

Phase 2 Unconditional Contract Close (Enter into Build Contract) Nov 24 

Phase 2 Construction commencement  Q4 2024 

Phase 2 Construction PC Q3 2026 

 

 

 

  

75



 

   

 

  
27 

HSDP Phase Business Plan, Grange Farm Estate Phases 2&3  
 

8 [EXEMPT]  

9 Risk Management  

• The risk profile for the HSDP partners comprises two aspects: 
- Commercial/financial risks to the performance of the scheme 
- The structure of risk sharing between the partners 

• Further detail of the Commercial/financial Risks are set out below and can be broadly categorised as follows: 
- Non-construction risk 
- Construction risk 
- Revenue risk and opportunity 

• A detailed risk and opportunities register along with mitigation and management strategies has been put in 
place. This is a live document and will be regularly updated.  

• The sharing of risk (and opportunity) between the partners varies on whether the project is in the pre-
construction phase (essentially, all activity prior to entry into the construction contract for development of the 
site) or post-construction phase (all activity post entry in the construction contract for the site).  Further details 
are set out in the table below: 

• The pre-construction forecast expenditure is shown in more detail in the Financial section 

Partner Risk Sharing by Project Phase 

Partner Risk 
Sharing Structure 

Wates Harrow 

Pre-Construction Wates is required to fund 100% of pre-
construction expenditure on private sales 
elements (currently circa 60% of costs) 
LBH funds 100% of the CWA elements, 
which comprise the affordable housing 
and the community building. 
In the event the project does not proceed, 
a share of costs is recoverable from 
Harrow – either 50% on termination of the 
scheme or 100% deferred to later phases 
(at Harrow’s discretion) 

Changes to the viability appraisal 
(financial model) principally impact land 
value. 
Overall partner margin will change 

depending on gross sales revenue, but 
margin is currently fixed at 15% of this. 
Harrow shares the risk if the project does 
not proceed.   

Post Construction Under the construction contract, Wates 
Construction Ltd will carry responsibility 
for the cost of delivery of the specified 
project and cost changes will therefore be 
borne wholly by Wates. 
Changes to the revenue (or cost changes 
arising from changes to building 
design/specification) will sit with the HSDP 
and therefore be shared equally between 
the partners through the sharing of the 
development margin. 

Land value is fixed and therefore Harrow’s 
revenue from this becomes certain. 
Cost risk is transferred to Wates as 
contractor. 
Changes to the revenue (or cost changes 
arising from changes to building 
design/specification) will sit with the HSDP 
and therefore be shared equally between 
the partners through the sharing of the 
development margin. 

  

76



 

   

 

  
28 

HSDP Phase Business Plan, Grange Farm Estate Phases 2&3  
 

10 Sales and Marketing Strategy  

 Sales & Marketing Overview 

 

Grange Farm is located in South Harrow approximately 2 miles from the other core HSDP sites.  

Whilst average transaction values in this area are lower than other parts of Harrow (source: Primelocation), this 

is largely driven by a lack of new homes in this part of Harrow, rather than a desire to live elsewhere.   

 

Well connected to public transport links (South Harrow underground is approximately 10 minutes’ walk) and 

served by a number of local amenities – including a large Waitrose next door and, with access to nearby open 

green space, it presents all the right components to suggest there is a potential opportunity to grow values 

over the development programme.   

 

  
 

  

77



 

   

 

  
29 

HSDP Phase Business Plan, Grange Farm Estate Phases 2&3  
 

 Sales and Marketing Strategy, Collateral & Budget  

A full marketing strategy will be developed over the next 12 months which will also include an allocation of 

the estimated sales and marketing budget. This budget will be apportioned according to the areas needed to 

deliver a successful sales campaign. Our strategy will focus on: 

 

- Building an independent brand/identity for the scheme. Delivery of all marketing collateral required – 

including brochures/websites/apartment finders/hoarding/advertising/models etc. 

- Raising early awareness of the scheme in order to drive registrations 

- Rolling out a phased release strategy which runs concurrently with any construction phasing 

- Balancing off plan sales and post PC sales in order to limit void costs and de-risk the project 

- Working with appointed residential agents in reviewing pricing and agreeing launch strategies in 

order to manage supply and demand  

- Delivering an on-site marketing suite or off-site marketing hub to support off plan sales. 

- Delivering show apartments in each phase of the schemes at earliest opportunity 

- Managing a number of exclusive launches and early opportunities to local buyers 

- Developing meanwhile uses on areas that are vacant in order to activate sites and deliver benefits 

for the community 

- Developing an advertising strategy to support launches and sales 

- Managing the customer journey through to handovers and post completion defect management. 

 

The marketing budget (currently set at 3.25% of Private Sales revenue in each phase as for other HSDP 

core sites) in summary will cover the following headlines: 

Heads of 
Expenditure 

Who What 

Sales & Legals Sales Agents, Solicitors Commission to sales agency, conveyancing fees to solicitors + 
disbursements 

Marketing Collateral 

Brand and Identity Creative Agency Creation of the overarching and development brand/Logo/Tone of 
Voice/Messaging/Colours/Direction 

Brochure Creative Agency Copy/images/floorplans & print production - this can be for more 
than 1 brochure too 

Website Creative Agency or Digital Agency Micro-site can include an apartment finder & for hosting system 

Model Modelmaker Scale model - can include tech apartment finder system 

Interactive Media 
Visualisation studio Media table - large interactive touch screen with digital 

information that guides user around the development. Apartment 
finder solutions either app based, or web controlled 

CGI Visualisation studio Covers internal/external design and detail/landscaping/communal 
amenity. CGIs can also be animated 

Photography Photographer Lifestyle (area), finished product imagery to update website later 

Film Filmographer Short intro film to development/area. Can be used across social 
media assets. 

Hoarding/Signage Creative Agency/Printers This includes production and installation plus any updates 
required 

Advertising Buying Agency/Creative Agency/Direct 
Media 

Placement of all advertising across all media - 
print/digital/outdoor/direct mail 

Marketing Suite Interior Designer Selection of FF&E/Layout design for marketing suite. Includes 
construction and running costs 

Show Apartment 

Interior Designer Responsible for furnishing/layout of the show apartments. 
Choosing, procuring, and installing FF&E - includes window 

dressing, artwork, accessories. Includes running costs, business 
rates 

PR/Sponsorship 

PR Agency alongside some In-house Often makes sense to appoint a PR agent to proactively push the 
scheme for editorial features above pure advertising. Can also be 
used to leverage any local collaborations which further endorse 

the brand.   
Contingency   

78



 

   

 

  
30 

HSDP Phase Business Plan, Grange Farm Estate Phases 2&3  
 

11 Building and Estate Management 

 Building and Estate Management 

 

In general, the approach to long term asset management is centred around 5 principles: 

Resident focused 

Value for Money 

Locally grounded procurement 

Place making centred 

Limit Council exposure 

 

A specific Grange Farm Estate Management Strategy is to be agreed through consultation with LBH 

Regeneration and Housing team as the design progresses.  

Estate management offices and back of house accommodation (e.g., Facilities Management storage / 

workshop space) have been allowed for in the Community Building to be built in phase 3. 

Space for FM storage will also be provided in Phase 2, likely to be in part of the ground floor of one or more 

buildings providing affordable housing. 

 

The strategy for the long-term management of the development will be discussed and reviewed with key 

stakeholders prior to submission to planning. This will ensure that the long-term operational management 

requirements of the developments can be integrated into their design. The construction contracts will include 

obligations for the provision of training to the Estate Management team during the build phase to ensure that 

a seamless handover can be achieved, and the developments can be successfully run and operated from 

day one.  

 

The following will be key features of the Estate Management strategy:  

Designing for low cost in use - public open spaces and new roads will be retained within the estate for 

management, removing any cost impact on the Council.  

Service charges - Service charges are applied in a tenure blind way and the operational requirements of the 

developments (e.g., post, management spaces etc) will be considered in developing up the designs. The 

service charge strategy for each scheme will be developed in conjunction with the purchaser of the 

affordable housing product for that development  

  

79



 

   

 

  
31 

HSDP Phase Business Plan, Grange Farm Estate Phases 2&3  
 

12 Stakeholder Engagement and Communications Plan 

 Pre- Planning and engagement with the wider community 

The appointed Planning consultant will lead on the optimum strategy, to be agreed with LBH Planning and 
other Harrow partners.  

The HSDP has to date approached political and public engagement consultants to set out an initial strategy for 
pre-planning engagement.  The following table sets out an indicative strategy to be worked up in detail prior to 
implementation. 

Item Description 

Stakeholder audit and 
engagement plan 

Undertake a full appraisal of the key stakeholders including 
politicians, community groups, key neighbours and business 
occupiers, and set out an engagement strategy outlining the 
proposed approach to these key stakeholders – along with 
recommendations for digital engagement.  

Messaging and project 
narrative 

Work with the project team to produce a document including project 
narrative (focusing on the education narrative), key messaging and 
Q&A, to inform all communications and content. This will build on 
the information provided by the consultant reports.  

Consultation website Produce a dedicated project website to host information on the 
proposals and act as a contact hub. The website will include a 
mechanism to leave contact details and be kept informed. 
The embedded formatting will include the following functionality: 

• Landing page 

• About the project 

• Proposal summary 

• Get in touch 

The website will also include a link to a Typeform survey, via which 
visitors will be able to share feedback on the proposals. 

Stakeholder briefings Offer introductory briefings to community stakeholders and local 
politicians.  

Near neighbour & Steering 
Group briefings 

Offer introductory briefings to near neighbours and begin to work 
with the Steering Group.  

 

 Community and Stakeholder Engagement - Ensuring fair representation 

We will ensure that we engage with all stakeholders, including hard to reach groups i.e., people within society 
who are typically under-represented in the planning process, including groups who have protected 
characteristics under the Equalities Act. These groups may include ethnic minorities, people with disabilities, 
and young people.  

We will make every aspect of consultation as easy to understand as possible. To achieve this, we will:  

• Create image-based consultation material wherever possible and make material available in different 

languages upon request. Images and materials will reflect diversity of the borough  

• Utilise a translator service for key engagement events if required 

We will work collaboratively with Council Officers and Members, who already have relationships and knowledge 
of the local communities and Residents groups, to sense-check these to achieve the best level of participation 
and attendance. 

Young people: We recommend holding a special young people’s consultation event at a local primary school.  

We would also want to work with local youth representative groups such as setting up a briefing event or 
presentation to Harrow Youth Parliament.  

80



 

   

 

  
32 

HSDP Phase Business Plan, Grange Farm Estate Phases 2&3  
 

Working families: Working families often have difficulty accessing consultations because of time and childcare 
commitments. We will therefore ensure that consultation events are scheduled for evenings/ weekends as well 
as during the day. Our consultation events will be family-friendly, with activities for children, and secure and 
safe space for families.  

People with disabilities: A key criterion for choosing consultation venues will be that they are accessible to 
those with physical disabilities. We will work with the local authority to identify any local forums and groups 
representing people with disabilities to ensure that we are considering their members’ needs and that they can 
provide support in publicising events.  

Ethnic minorities and those with limited English language skills: We will ensure that stakeholders from a 
wide range of backgrounds have convenient access to a consultation event. Promotional poster packs will be 
distributed to any local community centres and places of worship.  

Inclusion of feedback from harder to reach groups  

• Following each consultation event, we will create an interim consultation report which will be circulated 

within the project team and to lead Councillors. This will form the basis of a Design Team Meeting 

discussion  

• At each stage in consultation and application we will issue ‘you said, we did’ information, via 

newsletters, notifications through the above listed channels and to the email addresses of registered 

interested parties, so the public understand the influence that they had  

• The consultation statements submitted with each application will also include the details of how the 

designs responded to public and stakeholder feedback.  

 

 

 MOD and other Statutory bodies 

Wates has already instructed a specialist aviation safeguarding consultant on the HSDPs behalf to prepare a 
pack for draft consultation with MOD. This is intended to give the project team an early understanding of the 
MOD’s likely position on the proposed development. 

Other Statutory bodies will be consulted at appropriate stages as part of the normal pre- and post- planning 
process. 

 

  

81



 

   

 

  
33 

HSDP Phase Business Plan, Grange Farm Estate Phases 2&3  
 

13 Social Value 

 Strategy 

Please refer to Appendix 3 for details of Social Value strategy for Grange Farm. 

 

14 Equalities & Inclusion 

 Inclusive design approach 

Accessibility 

• The development will be designed to meet the requirements of the Building Regulations in particular 

Part K & Part M and where practical the standards as defined within BS 8300:2018. 

• Create step-free routes with lift or level access to all areas. 

• Changing Places facility provided. 

• Parking for motorised and accessible cycles. 

• Ensure interior spaces are sized appropriately for those with mobility impairments. 

• Accessible visitor parking provided on-street. 

• Consideration will be given to building users with cognitive impairments and mobility impairments and 

interior finishes will be selected to avoid visual confusion. 

• Ensure interior finishes and signage assists clear wayfinding and provides a stress-free experience to 

those visiting. 

Diversity 

• Respect and celebrate the cultural, social, and ethnic diversity of residents within the borough 

• The development will be equally accessible to all ages 

• Consideration will be given to multi-generational housing 

Inclusion 

• Ensure that no visitor to the Community Facility building or staff member feels vulnerable 

• Provide non-gender specific wash-room facilities within the Community Facility building and ensure 

that signage throughout the building supports this. 

 

 Equality Act Approach 

The Public Sector Equality Duty does not apply to The Harrow Strategic Development Partnership as it is not a 
public sector body within the meaning of the Equality Act 2010 and therefore is not strictly bound by the 
provisions in the duty. However, the HSDP are covered by anti-discrimination law and must ensure policies and 
plans do not discriminate against staff, contractors or members of the public as outlined in the Equality Act 
2010. Additionally, as the Council is a member and 50% owner of the partnership, the HSDP will commit to 
following and adhering to the principles of the legislation particularly with regard to considering the impact of its 
activities on groups with protected characteristics. 

The partnership is committed to advancing equality of opportunity and seeking to foster good relations with all. 

Equalities Impact assessments will be carried out as appropriate. 

 

  

82



 

   

 

  
34 

HSDP Phase Business Plan, Grange Farm Estate Phases 2&3  
 

15 Consultant Team 

 

 Consultant Team 

 

Core Consultant Team procurement methods (in line with Schedule 4 of the Members Agreement) and 

shortlisting of organisations to be invited to Tender were established in July 2022. 

 

Confirmation of those identified for tender was issued as part of the HSDP Board August 2022 meeting pack. 

 

The procurement process for consultants requiring “Full Tender” was undertaken during August 2022, and 

firms shortlisted for Stage 2 fees advised in September 2022. 

 

Recommendations for consultant appointments are anticipated to be made following fee returns and 

assessment of competency and interviews by end of October 2022. 

 

  

83



 

   

 

  
35 

HSDP Phase Business Plan, Grange Farm Estate Phases 2&3  
 

16 Health and Safety 

 

 CDM Regulatory Framework 

The CDM Regulations  apply to all Construction Work carried out by or on behalf of the HSDP. Under the 

CDM regulations the Client is central to the management of health and safety on a construction site. A Client 

is defined in the CDM Regulations as “any person for whom a project is carried out”; it is expressly stated 

that there may be more than one Client on a project. For the purposes of the Development, the HSDP (given 

it is in itself a legal entity) is the Client for all projects it is involved in. 

An CDM Client Adviser will be appointed for the duration of the project to support the HSDP in meeting all of 

its obligations as a Client under the CDM regulations.  

The HSDP will be responsible for ensuring that both a competent Principal Contractor and Principal Designer 

are appointed for the project.  

  

 Safety Approach  

It is proposed that the HSDP adopts the Wates primary objective of Zero Harm for all schemes. Successful 

achievement of this starts right from the beginning of the design process. Regular H&S design audits will be 

undertaken and opportunities for off-site manufacture maximised in the schemes.  

 Zero Harm – Wates Approach Explained 

Wates Zero Harm Strategy aims to raise awareness of these policies and get everyone involved by creating 

a culture in which people promote and champion behaviours that keep everyone safe and to have a positive 

impact on the environment and the confidence to challenge when they are not. 

 Wates Path to Zero Harm Is: 

LEAD - Each leader inspires their people to make ZERO HARM happen 

SIMPLIFY - Ensure systems and processes help and do not hinder progress 

RE-THINK - We re-assess, challenge and re-engineer to eliminate risk 

INVOLVE - We engage everyone who works for us to embrace ZERO HARM 

LEARN - We seek out, share, adapt and embed best practice 

TRACK - We identify where and how we can improve to create new standards 

  

84



 

   

 

  
36 

HSDP Phase Business Plan, Grange Farm Estate Phases 2&3  
 

17 Reporting 

• The financial management and reporting are the responsibility of the Development Manager (DM). 

• A process of monthly reconciliation and reporting has been developed and is currently reported in the 
monthly HSDP Board Meeting. 

• While the frequency of the Board Meetings may change, the reporting will continue to be monthly and consist 
of a reconciliation of historic and forecast costs to the Financial Model, along with the following: 
- Key updates / issues 
- Recommendations / approvals sought 
- Safety Health and Environment 
- Finance & Accounting 
- Programme 
- Accommodation schedule 
- Risks & Opportunities 
- Social Value 
- PR / Comms 

• This will be referred to as the “Monthly Performance Report” (MPR). 

• It may also be necessary to provide interim updates to the report, as and when directed, and provide 
supplemental reports to third parties. 

 

85



 

   

 

  
 

HSDP Phase Business Plan, Grange Farm Estate Phases 2&3  
 

 

18 Appendices  

  

86



 

   

 

  
 

HSDP Phase Business Plan, Grange Farm Estate Phases 2&3  
 

Appendix 3 

Social Value and Community Engagement summary  
 

  

87



 

1  of 4 
Grange Farm Phases 2&3  Social Value Summary  October 2022 

Grange Farm Social Value  

 
Harrow’s goal of delivering homes from which residents can build themselves and their families a 

secure future is shared by the HSDP. It is also recognised that Harrow and its stakeholders 

understand local residents best and have unique access to the needs, desires, and aspirations of 

your residents.  

We acknowledge the diversity of the communities which Harrow house, and we align with your 

commitments toward supporting equality, diversity, and inclusion. We believe that together, we can 

truly enhance equality, inclusivity, and empowerment.   

Wates has a long and successful track record of building not just homes but communities with lasting 

legacies and it will bring this experience to the HSDP. 

The Grange Farm vision for Social Value has been developed in line with the Council’s social value 

policy, which is to support Harrow residents to become more financially resilient and independent and 

fulfil their aspirations around social mobility. 

 

Residents Steering Group and ‘Needs Analysis’ 
Key will be to involve the Grange Farm Residents Steering Group at an early stage to establish the 

priorities of the residents and local community so as to ensure a tailored offering is made.  

Once the project is live, we intend to set up an early meeting between the Steering Group and our 

dedicated Social Value team. Given the time passed since the original submission, a ‘Needs Analysis’ 

report will be undertaken and the Steering Group will be a major consultee in that process. 

Social value is an integral part of every development to be undertaken by the HSDP but the impact 

we can make depends on the size of the project. Given the size and nature of Grange Farm we 

believe in partnership and that we can make a sizable and lasting impact in the area. To help achieve 

this we will appoint 3 dedicated staff members: Social Value Manager (SVM), Social Value Advisor 

(SVA) and a Social Value Champion who will work closely with you to lead this key operational area, 

holding accountability for the delivery of our jointly agreed proposals.  

 

Every penny invested must be spent effectively, delivering maximum benefits to people, communities 

and society as a whole, helping to create sustainable local economies. That is why we apply an end-

to-end, targeted rather than ‘scattergun’ approach to employment and training, from ensuring we 

focus our efforts in providing local jobs, through to school engagements, pre-employment support and 

apprenticeship programmes. We forge the partnerships needed between private and public sectors to 

ensure that procurements upskill local workforces and support youth employment. 

  

88



 

2  of 4 
Grange Farm Phases 2&3  Social Value Summary  October 2022 

Key Themes  
For Grange Farm we will create a bespoke Social Value delivery model; 

providing a range of activities, services that all Grange Farm residents and 

the wider Harrow communities can access. Activities will be categorised 

within three overarching core themes. 

• Inspiring Aspirations – through Education and Training 

• Creating Social and Economic Prosperity – through Local Employment 

and Local spend 

• Growing stronger and more sustainable communities – through 

community safety, community belonging, trust and pride. Safeguarding 

the environment through active stewardship. 

 

Overall Targets – Key Performance Indicators  
During the original bid proposal stage, several programmes and initiatives, or Key Performance 

Indicators (KPIs), through the social value delivery were suggested. 

We are also aware that Harrow have executed a consultation with residents on the Grange Farm 

Estate. Asking local residents what they felt were the priority needs are in the local area and what 

they feel needs to be addressed. The results demonstrated the top 3 areas as areas of concern.  

• Community Cohesion  

• Community Safety and the fear of Crime  

• Drug and Alcohol Misuse (the impact that this is having on the younger generations)  

 

The original suggested KPIs are set out below as headline topics. All will be subject to change 
following consultation with the residents group, LBH and other stakeholders as appropriate. 
 
Inspiring Aspirations 
 

Social Value activities (KPIs)  All targets to be determined through 
consultation and engagement  

Work Experience (placements minimum of 1 week)    

CIAG (Careers Information, Advice & Guidance & Work 
Placements)- unemployed 64hrs of av. 20 participants 
(including planning time) 

 

CIAG - local schools, colleges, My Yard & SEND school 
(staff hours) 

 

Paid Work Experience for Grange Farm residents 
paid (placements minimum 1 week) 

  

Aspiring Harrow – Key Stage 2 engagement (students)    

 

Creating Social and Economic Prosperity 
 

Social Value activities (KPIs)  All targets to be determined through 
consultation and engagement  

Apprenticeships:(between HSDP & Supply Chain)  

New Jobs Created (this will include those from furthest 
from the workforce groups below   

Long term unemployed  

NEETS  

Disabled / Special Education Needs & Disabilities    

Care Leavers  

Ex-offenders  

Homeless   

Local Spend – supporting local business and economic 
growth  
20% of the build value spend locally with Harrow and 
surrounding boroughs 

20% of build cost 

89



 

3  of 4 
Grange Farm Phases 2&3  Social Value Summary  October 2022 

 
Growing stronger and more sustainable communities 
 

Social Value activities (KPIs)  All targets to be determined through 
consultation and engagement  

Supporting the Community & Voluntary organisations 
(CVO) with 1-2-1 sessions & workshops. Supporting 
them in their sustainability for the future, in turn they will 
remain fit for purpose to continue to support Harrow 
Residents  

 

Time allocated for volunteering  

Sponsorship of a health clinic   

Donations to Grange Farm Community Events   

Volunteering through My Yard to help feed the local 
community  

 

 
Monitoring & Reporting  
 
Wates Residential internal collection document is the Community Investment Plan (CIP). The CIP 
captures all the delivery data in one place. Every quarter the CIP data will be extracted into an 
economic, skills & community report. The CIP has the ability to segment data, reporting on Age, 
Gender, Ethnicity, furthest from the workforce groups etc. This is extended into quarterly reporting 
analysing trends, and a detailed Project Impact Report (PIR), midway through each project and on 
completion.   
  
The Social Value Portal is an online solution that allows organisations to measure and manage the 
contribution that they and supply chain makes to society, according to the principles laid out within the 
Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012 & the PPN06/20 Social Value Model. Their solution allows 
organisations to report both financial and non-financial data and rewards organisations for doing 
“more good” in the community. The SVP calculates the impact using the unit cost database 2.0 
version, as its proxy bank. 
 
Embedding Social Value through our procurement  
 
We will work with our supply chain to deliver our social value commitments. Our supply chain is key in 
our delivery, and we work with our subcontractors before the tender stage. Our Social Value Manager 
will create a table of requirements and calculate the targets against each consultant / subcontract 
value. A monitoring tracker review will take place. The target outputs will be delivered by the HSDP, 
the supply chain and in partnership with key stakeholders. Consultants and subcontractors will meet 
with key stakeholders / training providers, so all parties understand the requirements. All consultants 
and subcontractors will be required to submit monitoring forms demonstrating compliance with the 
social value programme, providing progress updates, sharing successes, and highlighting any 
concerns with updates reported quarterly to the HSDP Board. 
 

Social Value Funding Approach 
 
The Social Value offer is driven through the HSDP and the Supply Chain offering ensuring that the 

programme is delivered without the requirement for additional funding by the Council or any financial 

impact upon the Councils returns or land value. 

 

Alterations to the Social Value plan 
 
Once a baseline is agreed, as a partnership we will review the SV Plan annually ensuring that the 

KPIs are still addressing the community need. At any given time, it is agreed that the KPI outputs may 

be altered but overall the offering will remain within the cost envelope and principles as agreed for the 

‘baseline’ offering.  

  

90



 

4  of 4 
Grange Farm Phases 2&3  Social Value Summary  October 2022 

 

 
Further Engagement with the Grange Farm community  
 
The HSDP will work for the benefit of local communities, seeking to make a positive impact on 

people’s life chances. This includes working in partnership with residents to lead innovation and 

address their needs. We believe that by working together we can get the job done better. We would 

welcome discussion with active local community residents to help us shape the social value offering, 

considering the priorities identified by residents. This will be reviewing the current KPIs, removing 

some and replacing within alternatives, whilst  remaining within the delivery cost envelope.  

There have been a few suggested alternatives from local partners to date, and these can be explored 

and expanded on as engagement progresses.  

 

1. My Yard would like to create a cycle rebuild/ maintenance / repair club in partnership with the 

MET police. This would provide a diversionary programme for young people. This could be 

extended into a ride club / school for young people involving local volunteers.   

2. A prevention programme on county lines in schools and youth provision within and around 

Grange Farm  

3. Street Doctors extension into My Yard  

4. Summer Holiday Enrichment Programme for young people  

 

Being respectful to everyone and encouraging diversity is valued, so our programmes and activities 

are designed to be accessible to all, and co-design is a great approach to ensure we are being 

inclusive. 

We look to build long lasting partnerships with local communities including supporting voluntary and 

community organisations to help generate social value and amplify our social value impact and we 

would be keen to explore this approach for Grange Farm. All the while being mindful of managing 

everyone’s expectations and remaining within the remit of the budget set. (Cost envelope) 

 

Lastly, we would like to propose creating a mailing list with all existing residents on the Grange Farm 

estate. The purpose of this would be to share regular updates on the development via our Newsletters 

and additionally to share all the social value opportunities that will become available to grange Farm 

residents directly to their mailbox, for example Jobs, apprenticeship, pre-employment programmes 

etc. 

 

91



 

   

 

  
 

HSDP Phase Business Plan, Grange Farm Estate Phases 2&3  
 

Appendix 4 

Sustainability Strategy  
 

92



12/9/2022- V01

# Qualitative Theme Quantitative/Measurable Target Comments Status Included Target Option Not targeted
Whole Life Carbon Assessment RICS methodology as per RICS methodology

Future Homes Standard 2025  (FHS) Target to design to  FHS standards in advance of mandatory dates

GLA Energy Performance Targets Target FHS performance standards
Part L Building Regulations Exceed minimum targets as above

U-Value - as FHS standards Quantitative Target 
Thermal Bridging - Bespoke Calculations - as FHS standards Quantitative Target 

Air Tightness target 5.0 m3/h.m2  maximum or better Quantitative Target 
EPC rating Target Rating of A on all new homes Quantitative Target 

Consider and Plan for 100% Renewable Heating and Energy Systems Quantitative Target 

100% LED / Low Energy Lighting Quantitative Target 
Low energy appliances - rating of A

Measuring Energy Usage Smart meters in all homes
future proof connectivity and data 
analysis

Measuring Energy Usage Centralised Energy Centres

allow regular measurement and 
monitoring of energy use in 
individual dwellings, with a view 
to providing information on 
optimal usage to benefit users and 
understanding operational energy

Offset remaining omissions Recognised schemes
Note incoming Future Homes 
legislation: offsetting allowances 
will be phased out

Target Car-free development wherever possible 

Car-sharing schemes
Establish Green Travel Plan with digital connectivity
Integration of / improvement to local bus service
Walking and cycling routes integrated throughout site and to wider 
community
Flexibility of infrastructure

Futureproofing for cable routes to all spaces
Meet or exceed London Plan 
requirements

Meet or exceed London Plan cycling standards

Consider cargo bikes and other facilities e.g. wash down / 
maintenance area within cycle stores in place of potentially un-used 
storage space

demonstrate benefits of 
alternatives to standard cycle 
storage solution

AQ Neutral as a minimum requirement
AQ Positive as a target
Minimise quantities of materials used London Plan Requirement
Use materials efficiently
Eliminate waste
Divert 98% waste away from landfill
Divert 100% by 2025
Enhanced recycling facilities
Provide food waste / compost bins

1

Thermal Performance Standards

Energy/Electricity Consumption

Construction

Pre-Construction

Post-Construction

Carbon Neutral Development

Theme

HSDP ESG / Sustainability Tracker-  GRANGE FARM PHASES 2&3 

Electric Vehicle Charging Points

Minimise Car Use

Encourage Cycling

Air Quality

Zero Emission Transport / Sustainable Transport2

Net-Zero Waste Development3

Pre-Construction

Construction

Post-Construction

Circular Economy Statement

Construction Waste

Occupant Recycling

93



Optimise development potential on previously used brownfield land

Universal Accessibility
High indoor air quality Qualitative response
High indoor daylight levels Qualitative response
Glare control - avoid at source 
High acoustic comfort Exceed minimum B Regs
Hard and soft landscapes
Publicly accessible landscaped areas
Enhance retained landscapes
Achieve Biodiveristy Net Gain (BNG) in new landscapes
BNG minimum target of 10% across site
Net gain in tree planting for each site

Biodiverse and 'Green' Roofs - aim to maximise
Use for BNG and Urban Greening 
Factor (UGF) wherever possible

Plant trees and install wildlife
Borough-wide in addition to on 
site

Consult with Local Wildlife Groups
Local Food Production Provide allotments on site target some provision on all sites
Urban Greening Factor Target UGF of 0.4 (for each and every site) 

Measure energy costs
Measure management and maintencance costs
Measure service charge
Measure overall running / living costs
Energy Use
Transport Use
Occupant Health and Wellbeing
Provide sustainability best practice guidance Home User guides
Provide energy conservation best practice guidance
Work with schools / young people
Education / Training
Internships / Work Experience Social Value metrics
Employment / Training Social Value metrics
Support Local Businesses and Communities Social Value metrics
Public art exhibitions Social Value metrics

Minimise demand at source Specification and Energy Strategy

Affordable energy solutions Energy Strategy
Target of max 105 L pp / day London Plan is 105 L pp / day
Low flow sanitaryware

Leak detection
Consultant design input on all 
targets required

Rainwater / Greywater recycling
SUDS

Water meters in all dwellings
Post-occupancy recording where 
possible

Water Management Strategy
Flood Risk Assessments
Avoid / Mitigate risks in Design Phase
Introduce SUDS to improve Surface Water risk
Target to Eliminate environmental damage
Improve local air quality - AQ positive approach

Minimise combustion sources with harmful omissions
Demonstrate reasoning in Energy 
strategy

Minimise noise / light pollution in construction phase and in 
operation

Ecologist and MEP / lighting 
consultant to advise

ESG/Sustainability Consultancy Reports
Consultants to provide ESG 
statements

In-house ESG Reporting Harrow and Wates 

Humans
Scheme Design

Landscaped Amenity

Nature

Biodiversity

Wild Wealdstone' commitment

Sustainable Development for Us 
and Nature

4

5 Good Governance

Local Decision Making

Post Occupancy Audits
Review and identify areas for 
improvement

Assess 'actual' perforamnce 
against agreed targets - decisions 
must benefit community

8 Sustainable Water Usage

Consumption of Potable (drinking) Water

Measuring Water Use

Social Value Programme
Eco-Conscious Communities6

Inform Local Residents

Next Generation - Educate and Empower

Industry

7 Social Value Commitments

Fuel Poverty

11 ESG Management / Implementation

Design / Construction Phase Monitoring

9 Flood Risk Vulnerability to Flooding

10 Pollution Wates Zero Harm Environmental Commitment

94



ESG focussed investors How do Wates and our Partnerships score on ESG assessments

e.g. Sustainability Reporting 
Standard for Social Housing (SRS),  
TCFD reporting  and SECR  
mandatory in 2022

# Business Performance Indicator Quantitative Value Added (£'s) Comments Achieved
Landfill Tax Avoided Recycled Waste * Landfill Tax Rate
Cost of Energy Fuel and electricity costs
Cost of Water Water use on site and in operation

Cost of handling / recycling waste
Contractor fees

Waste Income Revenue generated from recycling (per kg / tonne)
Paper and Printing Cost of materials i.e. ink / paper / machines
Travel Cost of public transport tickets

Outturn Sales Values
Sustainable developments values - monitor trends for sales 
premium

Cost of Waste Management
12 Sustainability& ESG Cost Savings and Value Added

11 ESG Management / Implementation

Theme

95



 

41 
 

 
GRANGE FARM  APPENDIX  
 
SUSTAINABILITY OPTIONS PAPER: 
 
 
This paper has been prepared by consultants with a view to highlighting potential measures to 
include in the project. 

 
It should be noted that all options are yet to be tested financially or in terms of overall 

holistic project design, performance and management. 
 

Aspirational targets such as ‘LETI, WELL, Wirescore’ will be considered for adoption as appropriate as the project evolves. 
The idea of multiple Energy Centres is not currently regarded as a favourable solution by Wates team, but the intention is 

to review the optimum solution for the life of the project before commitment to final designs. 

96



 Technical Note TN-01 

Grange Farm Estate Sustainability Options Paper 

R00| 30/08/2022 

 

Grange Farm Estate Page 1 of 7 
 

1 Introduction 

1.1 Overview 

This options paper outlines key sustainability options that could be considered for the Grange Farm Estate 
redevelopment. The overall aim should be to ensure the residential masterplan is future-proofed as far as 
possible by designing in now what is required to facilitate tomorrow.  

1.2 Summary of Standard Practice versus Options for Beyond Best Practice 

The following table sets out a range of sustainability issues/topics and summarises how the industry is responding 
and how Grange Farm could respond through beyond best practice / aspirational measures: 

1. Mandatory requirements i.e. regulations and planning policies in London 

2. How residential developments are typically responding in terms of standard practice and minimum 
performance  

3. How Grange Farm could go beyond standard practice to deliver an exemplary scheme 

Note that whereas BREEAM can be applied as an environmental sustainability assessment method to non-
domestic development and domestic refurbishments, it can’t be applied to new build residential. Whilst the 
‘Home Quality Mark’ exists as an assessment method for new build, the uptake is relatively low and generally 
not adopted by the construction industry. We have therefore excluded reference to HQM. 

We have provided more detail regarding some of the highlighted approaches and measures in Sections 2 – X of 
this document. 

Sustainability Issue 1. Mandatory Requirement  2. Standard Practice / Minimum Performance 3. Grange Farm - Aspirational Targets & Responses  

Energy & Carbon − Building Regulations Part L compliance 

− CO2 reduction targets against Part L through use of the 
Energy Hierarchy. Current targets for residential: 

a. 10% reduction through ‘lean’ measures alone;  
b. Min. 35% total reduction (benchmark target = 50%) 

through lean, clean and green measures combined 
c. ‘Net’ zero carbon measured against Part L 

− Offset payment of £95/tonne/year where NZC not achieved 
onsite 

− Achieve pass against CIBSE TM59 Overheating assessment 
(without the use of mechanical cooling) 

− UK buildings to be Net Zero Carbon by 2050 

− Note: Future Homes Standard requires that new homes are 
not heated via fossil fuels from 2025 

− Compliance − Commitment for site to be fossil fuel free (heating & cooling in first 
instance) 

− Commit to Net Zero Carbon ahead of UK 2050 target 

− Adopt LETI approach to Net Zero Carbon i.e. whole life carbon (refer to 
section 2.2): 

a. Design to meet performance specification targets as far as practicable 
b. Reduce operational energy towards the LETI ‘Energy Use Intensity’ 

target 

− Adopt RIBA 2030 Climate Challenge target metrics for operational energy 
(refer to section 2.3) 

− Carbon offsetting through verified scheme 

− Implement demand side response measures to respond to and efficiently 
manage site-wide energy use, potentially via a microgrid (refer to section 
3.3) 

Embodied / Whole 
Life Carbon 

− London Plan benchmarks: 
a. Modules A1-A5 (upfront embodied carbon) = 

<850kgCO2e/m2 GIA 
b. Modules A-C minus B6/7 (whole life carbon) = 

<1200kgCO2e/m2 GIA 

− Note that the proposed Building Regulations Part Z will 
address embodied carbon but hasn’t yet been approved 

− Compliance 

− ‘Light touch’ circular economy strategy to 
identify and consider opportunities for reducing 
material use and end of life carbon. 

− Adopt LETI approach to Net Zero Carbon i.e. whole life carbon: 
a. Focus on reducing embodied carbon for the largest uses 
b. Reduce embodied carbon towards the LETI target 

− Adopt RIBA 2030 Climate Challenge target metrics for embodied carbon 

− Detailed circular economy strategy to identify and embed opportunities for 
reducing new material use and end of life carbon 

Health & Wellbeing − Building Regulations Part O (relates to overheating) 

− Major schemes may require a Health Impact Assessment 

− Policy and regulatory requirements relating to noise, air 
quality and other environmental indicators that impact 
human health 

− Compliance 

− Adhoc wellness measures, or 

− H&W certification: 
a. WELL – Target Gold rating, or 
b. Fitwel – Target 1 Star rating 

− H&W certification: 
a. WELL – Target Platinum rating, or 
b. Fitwel – Target 2 or 3 Star rating 

− Or develop a bespoke, comprehensive H&S strategy and implementation 
plan specific to Grange Farm 

Water Use − Policy - maximum 105 litres/person/day  

− Building Regulations Part G compliance (note that Part G is 
less onerous to achieve) 

− Policy compliance 

− Typically achieved through efficient bathroom 
fittings only 

− Where rainwater harvesting is adopted this 
tends to be used for irrigation only 

− Improve upon policy target e.g. adopt RIBA 2030 Climate Challenge target 
metrics for potable water use 

− Use of rainwater/greywater recycling in addition to efficient bathroom 
fittings 

− Use recycled water for both irrigation and WCs 

97



 
 

Grange Farm Estate Page 2 of 7 
 

Biodiversity & 
Urban Greening 

− Policy - achieve Biodiversity Net Gain 

− Legislation - 2021 Environment Act introduced a new 
mandatory requirement for developments that result in loss 
or degradation of habitat to provide at least a 10% 
biodiversity net gain. Note: not likely to be legally enforced 
until late 2023 

− Policy – Residential development to achieve an Urban 
Greening Factor (UGF) of 0.4 

− Compliance 

 

− Improve upon policy UGF through maximising greening opportunities e.g. 
vertical planting / living walls 

− Adopt soft landscaping measures that offer wider sustainability benefits 

− Consider use of raingardens, swales and potentially attenuation ponds that 
offer sustainable drainage benefits, as well as habitat creation and urban 
greening 

− Consider green roof systems that complement PV 

Transport − Policy relating to minimum cycle parking provision and 
vehicle parking 

− Electric vehicle charging to 20% of car parking spaces with 
provision for another 20% in the future 

− Compliance  − Commitment to be a car-free development (with the exception of disabled 
parking) 

− Electric charging for other forms of mobility such as e-scooters and e-bikes 
(within bike stores, garages, and public realm) 

− ActiveScore certification 

Internet of Things 
(IoT) e.g. digital 
infrastructure, 
smart buildings, etc 

− None − Limited with regards to residential schemes – 
standard provision re. data connectivity 

− None / Limited provision re. home controls 

− Adopt principles or seek formal certification under WiredScore Home to 
ensure robust and resilient digital infrastructure 

− Provide home automation and controls, particularly with regards to 
improving energy efficiency of homes 

− Potential to adopt principles of SmartScore 

Innovation − None − Limited/None − Consider use of technologies to help reduce the site-wide energy use and 
CO2 emissions, particularly in relation to infrastructure such as street 
lighting, electronic signage, electric charging points (mobile phones, e-
mobility…) 

  

98



 
 

Grange Farm Estate Page 3 of 7 
 

2 Energy and Carbon  

2.1 Energy Hierarchy 

The London Plan Energy Hierarchy follows the ‘Be Lean’, ‘Be Clean’, ‘Be 
Green’ approach. 

A ‘Be Lean’ approach requires prioritising the inclusion of passive and 
low energy design solutions wherever possible to reduce energy 
demand, whilst ensuring the design standards for each building 
element are achieved.  

‘Be Clean’ relates to supplying energy efficiently via connection to an offsite local/district heat network (DHN) 
where available. It should be noted that this step is often skipped due to the unavailability of a nearby network. 
They can also currently prohibit a site’s fossil fuel-free aspiration due to utilising gas-CHP. However most DHN 
operators are working on a strategy for decarbonising their networks to enable these to deliver fossil fuel-free 
heat in the future. 

‘Be Green’ is the final step and requires the use of renewable energy technologies to generate clean energy 
onsite. Most typically this tends to include heat pumps (air and ground source) and PV. Note: Lean measures 
must be maximised before considering renewable energy. 

2.2 LETI Net Zero Carbon  

The LETI (London Energy Transformation Initiative) definition 
of Net Zero Carbon (NZC) builds upon the UKGBC NZC 
Framework and states that all new buildings must operate at 
net zero carbon by 2030 if we are to meet UK climate change 
targets. This means designing all new buildings to be NZC from 
2025 at the latest, but we should be designing this way now, 
particularly for strategic scale sites like Grange Farm.  

The LETI NZC definition relates to whole life carbon whereby 
the emissions of a building are considered holistically over its 
lifespan.  

WLC emissions are the sum total of all asset related 
Greenhouse Gas (GHG) emissions and removals, both operational and embodied, over the life cycle of an asset 
including its disposal. In reference to Figure 1 Life cycle stages defined by BS EN 15978:2011, taken from LETI 
Whole Life Carbon Guidance, the WLC of a development includes the following modules:  

• A1-A5 upfront embodied carbon;  

• B1-B7 embodied carbon in use;  

• C1-C4 carbon emissions from products at their end of life; 

• D potential benefit from future energy recovery, reuse, and recycling. This module is reported separately 
as it is outside the project system boundaries. 

 

Figure 1 Life cycle stages defined by BS EN 15978:2011, taken from LETI Whole Life Carbon Guidance 

To assist developers and designers in delivering NZC buildings LETI have developed a ‘Climate Emergency Design 
Guide’. The document provides guidance on performance specifications, measures, and targets that can help 
support in reducing operational energy demand and embodied carbon as far as practicable. A summary of the 
guidance for medium to large scale housing is provided on the following page. 

To reduce the WLC of Grange Farm, the following key strategies can be followed: 

1. Define the energy and embodied carbon targets, as well as WLC measurement and verification 
process at project conception and track throughout. Formal disclosure should be made at post-
completion and then annually. 

2. Use WLC analysis during design to optimise embodied carbon, reduce operational energy and 
integrate Circular Economy principles. For example, testing energy reductions, increased envelope 
specification or calculating carbon payback periods for MEP equipment or renewables.  

3. Address upfront embodied carbon emissions (A1-A5) by using minimal material. 
4. Consider the carbon cost/ benefit between upfront carbon, operational carbon and life cycle carbon 

due to replacement cycles. 
5. At each replacement cycle, prioritise low carbon materials and Circular Economy principles to reduce 

WLC emissions. 
6. Operational energy loads must be minimised and meet local energy targets; for example LETI EUI 

targets. A future decarbonised grid depends on reducing overall energy requirements. A further 
effect of grid decarbonisation is to make embodied carbon an even larger proportion of WLC. 

7. Utilise Circular Economy principles at the beginning and end of the building and component life cycle. 
This includes retrofit, re-use of materials, recycled materials and design for future adaptability. 

8. Document end of life scenarios and quantify the potential future carbon benefits. 

 

99



 Technical Note TN-01 

Grange Farm Estate Sustainability Options Paper 

R00| 30/08/2022 

 

Grange Farm Estate Page 4 of 7 
 

  

100



 
 

Grange Farm Estate Page 5 of 7 
 

2.3 RIBA 2030 Climate Challenge 

The 2030 Climate Challenge sets a series of targets for practices to adopt to reduce operational energy, 
embodied carbon and potable water. If all RIBA Chartered Practices meet the RIBA 2030 Climate Challenge 
targets, they will play their part in addressing this global crisis. 

Targets that apply to domestic schemes (taken from Version 2 2021) are shown below: 

 

 

2.4 Fossil Fuel-Free 

In line with the Future Homes Standard 2025 and the trajectory towards NZC buildings, Grange Farm should aim 
to be fossil fuel free. Options could include Air Source Heat Pumps, Ground Source Heat Pumps, and PV. It is 
likely that a hybrid strategy will be most appropriate. Note that there is the potential to include supporting 
electric boilers to provide resilience, should there be concerns in this area.  

Given the extent of roof space the site has the potential to generate a meaningful contribution of reneable 
energy from PV. Figure 2 Potential locations for PV on the development on the panels being mounted on A-
frames to enable orientation to be optimised. Consideration needs to be given to overshading by neighbouring 
buildings and competition from other roof uses such as lift overruns, MEP plant, amenity space, etc. As a rule of 
thumb it could be assumed that c25% of the total roof area could be dedicated to PV. Note: the percentage area 
could be lower if roof space is shared with ASHPs. 

 

Figure 2 Potential locations for PV on the development 

 

 

  

101



 
 

Grange Farm Estate Page 6 of 7 
 

3 Supporting Infrastructure  

3.1 Energy Centre   

We note the current proposal for a single energy centre. Consideration should be given for multiple local energy 
centres that serve phases/plots or even single buildings. This strategy can better suit all-electric heating 
strategies and can also help reduce heat losses from the hot water distribution pipework. It should also be 
considered that ASHPs should to be close to the heating plant they serve.  

3.2 Digital Infrastructure  

The development will need to provide infrastructure to ensure strong internet connection/download speed. Key 
principles of the WiredScore Home accreditation should be applied to the development, implementing the 
highest levels of digital infrastructure into the development from the earliest possible design stage.  

WiredScore Home accreditation aims to ensure high speed, resilient connectivity for landlord facilities 
management and residents. A WiredScore Home building should provide ample space for telecommunications 
equipment and distribution. Residents may have a choice of quality broadband providers with ease of connection 
ensured. Free WiFi might be provided in communal areas, and support with connectivity for residents would be 
available from the landlord. Exactly what credits are targeted will depend on the feasibility of each criteria in 
relation to the building form, as well as the level of accreditation required 

A second opportunity for improving digital infrastructure is through creating smart buildings. A smart building 
converges various building-wide systems—such as HVAC, lighting, alarms, and security—into a single IT managed 
network infrastructure. It often uses foundational technology such as Power over Ethernet (PoE) to accomplish 
this convergence. This would enable easy control of lighting and heating, thus reducing energy consumption. 
This provides sustainability benefits in relation to the environment and the cost of living.  

3.3 Microgrid 

Energy efficiency could also be maximised on site through introduction of a microgrid. This is a small local energy 
grid with control capability, which means it can disconnect from the traditional grid and operate autonomously. 
The microgrid powers localised electrical loads of a community through local electricity sources. An effective 
Microgrid might connect to: 

• Utility provider electricity supply 
• Photovoltaics 
• Battery storage 
• Electric vehicle charging 
• Generators 

A microgrid gives the site full control and flexibility around peak energy demand and aids in the achievement of 
the additional energy hierarchy step of ‘Be Seen’. 

3.4 Innovation 

As an example: 

Solar Trees - https://spotlightsolar.com/products 

 

 

 

‘Pavegen’ power-generating walkways - https://www.pavegen.com/ 

 

 

 

  

102

https://spotlightsolar.com/products
https://www.pavegen.com/


 
 

Grange Farm Estate Page 7 of 7 
 

  

 

103



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

Avison Young (UK) Limited registered in England and Wales number 6382509.  Registered office, 3 Brindleyplace, Birmingham B1 2JB.  
Regulated by RICS  

 

Our Ref: CTE/02B817723 

27th October 2022 

London Borough of Harrow 
Civic Centre 
Station Road 
Harrow 
HA1 2Y 

For the attention of: Julian Wain 

 

COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE AND CONFIDENTIAL 

Dear Sirs 

Harrow Strategic Development Partnership – Grange Farm Estate Regeneration Phases 2 & 3 

We write as instructed to provide advice in respect of the proposed development of Grange Farm Estate 
Regeneration Phases 2 and 3, which is to be brought into the Harrow Strategic Development Partnership 
(HSDP).  

The process for the addition of future opportunities and community facilities is set out in Schedule 8 of the 
HSDP’s Members’ Agreement.  The process under Schedule 8 does not fix a price for the land or the financial 
outcome for the Partnership and landowner.  The value of the Council’s interest in the land will be 
determined later as part of the process provided under the Members’ Agreement; it will be the same process 
that was applied to the three sites that were included at the outset, Poets Corner, Byron Quarter and Peel 
Road. 

There is no requirement on the Council as part of the process of selecting sites to be put forward under 
Schedule 8 to dictate or obtain a given return or to demonstrate that it has secured best consideration per 
s123 Local Government Act 1972. The initial business plan, which is being brought forward by the HSDP for 
approval, will be iteratively worked up to the point a final scheme has been agreed and planning application 
secured. It is only once the conditions precedent under the Development Agreement are satisfied and a 
scheme fix has been arrived at that a formal s123 best consideration opinion can be provided or is required. 

Yours faithfully 

 
Charles Trustram Eve MRICS, RICS Registered Valuer  
Director 
charles.trustrameve:avisonyoung.com 
+44 020 7911 2412 

For and on behalf of Avison Young (UK) Limited 

65 Gresham Street 
London 
EC2V 7NQ 
T: +44 (0)20 7911 2468 
avisonyoung.co.uk 

 

105



This page is intentionally left blank



Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) November 2018 

 
 

 
 
You will need to produce an Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) if:  
 
 

• You are developing a new policy, strategy, or service 
• You are making changes that will affect front-line services 
• You are reducing budgets, which may affect front-line services 
• You are changing the way services are funded and this may impact the quality of the service and who can access it 
• You are making a decision that could have a different impact on different groups of people  
• You are making staff redundant or changing their roles  

 
Guidance notes on how to complete an EqIA and sign off process are available on the Hub under Equality and Diversity. 
You must read the guidance notes and ensure you have followed all stages of the EqIA approval process (outlined in appendix 1).  
Section 2 of the template requires you to undertake an assessment of the impact of your proposals on groups with protected 
characteristics.  Equalities and borough profile data, as well as other sources of statistical information can be found on the Harrow 
hub, within the section entitled: Equality Impact Assessment - sources of statistical information.   
 

107

https://harrowhub.harrow.gov.uk/downloads/file/9302/eqia_guidance_notes
https://harrowhub.harrow.gov.uk/info/200341/equality_impact_assessments/1604/data_guide_-_inequality_impact_assessment


 
Harrow Council Equality Impact Assessment Template November 2018 
 

1 

Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) 
 

Type of Decision:  Cabinet Portfolio holder Other (state)  

Title of Proposal 
Grange Farm Estate Regeneration Phases 2 and 
3 

Date EqIA created 05/10/2022 

Name and job title of completing/lead 
Officer 

Meghan Zinkewich-Peotti, Housing Strategy Project Manager 

Directorate/ Service responsible  Housing Regeneration, Housing Services, Place Directorate 
Organisational approval 
EqIA approved by EDI Team 
 

Name 
Zayn Darr 
Equality, Diversity & Inclusion Project 
Support Officer 

Signature  

☒ 
Tick this box to indicate that you have 
approved this EqIA  
 
Date of approval 28/10/2022 
 

  

108



 
Harrow Council Equality Impact Assessment Template November 2018 
 

2 

1. Summary of proposal, impact on groups with protected characteristics and mitigating actions 
(to be completed after you have completed sections 2 - 5) 

a) What is your proposal?  

The regeneration of the Grange Farm estate in South Harrow is underway, with Phase 1 due to be completed by Higgins in early 2023. 
Phase 1 is made up of 69 social rented homes and 20 shared ownership homes. The original housing on the estate was made up 282 
properties, a mix of bungalows and Resiform flats (a unique and non-traditional type of building involving the use of fibreglass panels for 
external walls). The flats were beyond economic repair and were difficult to heat. Planning permission was granted in March 2019, with 
detailed consent for Phase 1 (89 homes) and outline consent for Phases 2 and 3 (485 homes). An EQIA was completed for the Grange 
Farm Regeneration Project in May 2016, following a Housing Needs Assessment carried out in 2014. A separate Health Impact 
Assessment was also undertaken to track the long term impact of the regeneration scheme. With regards to the HSDP, an EQIA was 
completed on the ‘Harrow Strategic Development Partnership – Contract Close and Establishment’ for the Cabinet meeting on 15 July 2021. 
This EQIA concerns progressing Phases 2 and 3 of the Grange Farm Estate Regeneration project. 
 
Under the current planning approved scheme, the project would deliver 574 new homes to replace the existing properties, providing a 
total of 1952 bed spaces. There would be 249 new homes for social rent, 25 new homes for shared ownership and 300 new homes for 
sale, as well as a new community centre and 260 parking spaces. Other amenities include secure cycle spaces, high quality landscaping, 
improved pedestrian access to Northolt Road, and a new pedestrian link to the adjacent retail park. The additional new homes for market 
sale help support the cost of regeneration. The regeneration project is creating opportunities such as apprenticeships. Phase 1 is under 
construction due for completion in Spring 2023. A new planning application will be submitted for Phase 2 and 3 during 2023. 
 
Some empty homes on the estate have been used by the council as temporary accommodation for homeless households, let on non-
secure tenancies. These non-secure tenants have been or will be offered alternative temporary accommodation by the Housing 
Needs service, with the timing dependent on the location of their accommodation on the Grange Farm Estate. Existing secure 
tenants, leaseholders and freeholders will also be moving from their current homes.  
 
All existing secure tenants were given the choice of a permanent move away from Grange Farm to another rented council property at the 
beginning of the regeneration to enable Phase 1 to start, or to stay and move into a new Grange Farm rented unit of the right size for their 
household. This will mean some tenants having to move twice, once into a temporary property and then into their new permanent home. All 
secure tenants having to be rehoused are receiving a Home Loss and Disturbance payment (currently £7,100) and their direct costs 
associated with moving will be paid for by the council. Some secure tenants will not be returning to Grange Farm- the reasons for this 
include moving to alternative council or housing association properties on a permanent basis, moving to sheltered housing for older people, 
moving into a care home, and moving away from the area. A small number of secure tenants have died since the start of the project. 
 

109



 
Harrow Council Equality Impact Assessment Template November 2018 
 

3 

To regenerate Grange Farm Estate and deliver the associated benefits to Grange Farm Estate residents, the council needs to secure all 
land interests within the planning site boundary. To ensure that phases 2 and 3 can be delivered, the council has made the London Borough 
of Harrow Grange Farm Estate Regeneration Phases 2 and 3 Compulsory Purchase Order (CPO) 2020. The CPO authorises the council to 
compulsory purchase the land described in the CPO for the purpose of delivering Phases 2 and 3 of the approved scheme. 
 
All those who own property on the existing Grange Farm Estate are being fully compensated for the value of their property as the council 
buys them back whether this be by negotiation or under the CPO process. Resident owners will receive an additional 10% of the property 
value due to the disturbance involved, for non-resident owners this is 7.5%. Their legal costs will also be met as well as other reasonable 
associated costs. Leaseholders and freeholders can then either move and buy elsewhere or purchase a new home on the estate.  
 
A Steering Group of local residents living on Grange Farm Estate has been involved in the project, reviewing the plans, and comparing them 
to other developments both within and outside of Harrow. They will continue to be involved throughout the project. This ensures that the 
new Grange Farm will be of the highest standard and meet the needs of local people for many years to come. The Steering Group has 
received independent information from their Independent Tenant Advisor paid for by the council and has been meeting regularly to discuss 
and be closely involved with the regeneration plans. The Steering Group has a website and there is a dedicated section on the Council 
website. The Grange Farm Estate Residents’ Charter is in place. A newsletter is produced regularly to keep residents up to date. Two 
Housing Officers are available on site every other Wednesday. 
 
b) Summarise the impact of your proposal on groups with protected characteristics  
 
The previous EQIA completed in 2016 concluded that while there was a risk that the regeneration of the estate could potentially have a 
disproportionate adverse impact on those existing residents who share the protected characteristics of age and disability due to the 
disruption of having to move, the evidence showed that the greater likelihood was that the impact on these protected characteristics would 
be positive because the regeneration project will result in a better mix of affordable rented dwellings than currently exist including one, two, 
three and four bedroom homes which can meet a wide range of needs. All existing secure tenants are offered the option of a new home or, 
if they prefer, to move to a suitable dwelling elsewhere in the borough. Existing tenants with disabilities are being offered a new home to 
meet their needs for adapted or wheelchair accessible housing. Additional assistance is being provided to vulnerable households to 
facilitate a move into a new dwelling. 
 
The original sub-standard properties, that were beyond economic repair and difficult to heat, are being replaced with brand new 
homes built to modern standards and high levels of energy efficiency and accessibility. This will benefit all residents on the estate, 
particularly in the context of cost of living concerns but may have a particularly positive impact on older people and people with 
disabilities.  
 

110



 
Harrow Council Equality Impact Assessment Template November 2018 
 

4 

10% of the new homes will be built to meet the council’s and London Plan requirements for fully accessible wheelchair housing with the 
remainder to Lifetimes Homes standards as set out in Building Regulations. Existing tenants are being offered a new home based on their 
current housing need including need for adapted or wheelchair housing. Adaptations will be provided to meet individual household 
requirements as assessed by an Occupational Therapist (OT). This will have a positive impact on older tenants and tenants with disabilities. 
 
Existing secure tenants have been offered the option of moving into a new home on the estate that meets their current housing needs or 
moving to another suitable home elsewhere in the borough. Some tenants may need to move temporarily during the building works and 
assistance is being provided for both temporary and permanent moves. Additional assistance will be provided to vulnerable residents 
including older people and people with disabilities.  
 
Non-secure tenants living on the estate as temporary accommodation have been or will be required to move. While this may be 
inconvenient, it is not unusual for temporary accommodation. They will always be offered temporary accommodation that is suitable for the 
needs of their household. 
 
It is possible that additional social housing homes will become available on the estate at the end of Phase 3, either because the final 
mix and number of homes provides exceeds the housing needs of those expect to return or because some tenants decide not to 
return to the estate later in the process. Any homes that become available will have a positive impact on applicants on the housing 
register, who generally face a long wait for social housing in Harrow. 
 
The new social housing on the estate will be available in perpetuity. When any of the secure tenants move on from their home on the 
estate, the properties will become available to an applicant on the housing register. This is a positive impact for those applicants and 
future tenants. 
 
c) Summarise any potential negative impact(s) identified and mitigating actions 
 
Moving house can be disruptive and stressful, and can be more difficult practically for some residents due to age or disability.  
 
Mitigating actions: Each household need is assessed to ensure they receive an offer of a suitable property. Assistance is being provided to 
secure tenants for both temporary and permanent moves. Additional assistance will be provided to some tenants including older people and 
people with disabilities, such as help with packing and unpacking. We have a dedicated member of staff assisting with the coordination of 
the moves etc. Eligible secure tenants are entitled to statutory Home Loss and Disturbance payments to compensate for the cost of moving.  
 
Leaseholders will also be entitled to Home Loss and Disturbance payments and resident leaseholders who are unable to afford a move to 
suitable accommodation in the local area are also able to take up an equity share option, either on a new home on the estate or 
elsewhere. 

111



 
Harrow Council Equality Impact Assessment Template November 2018 
 

5 

 
Additionally information is shared and processes agreed with the Steering Group of local residents living on Grange Farm Estate which 
meets regularly and the Independent Tenant Advisor. The Steering Group has a website, there is a  Grange Farm section of the Council 
website, the Grange Farm Estate Charter, the regular newsletter, and the regular presence of housing staff at the community centre. These 
factors help to keep residents engaged and informed. The council has also worked with voluntary sector partners to support them providing 
community activities particularly aimed at supporting children of all ages as well as providing services to assist with food poverty and 
engaging teenagers. These have all have a positive impact with regard to the Public Sector Equality Duty. 
 

  

112



 
Harrow Council Equality Impact Assessment Template November 2018 
 

6 

2. Assessing impact  
You are required to undertake a detailed analysis of the impact of your proposals on groups with 
protected characteristics. You should refer to borough profile data, equalities data, service user 
information, consultation responses and any other relevant data/evidence to help you assess and explain 
what impact (if any) your proposal(s) will have on each group.  Where there are gaps in data, you should 
state this in the boxes below and what action (if any), you will take to address this in the future. 

What does the evidence tell you about the 
impact your proposal may have on groups 
with protected characteristics?  Click the 
relevant box to indicate whether your 
proposal will have a positive impact, 
negative (minor, major), or no impact 

Negative 
impact 

Protected 
characteristic 

For each protected characteristic, explain in detail what the evidence is suggesting and 
the impact of your proposal (if any). Click the appropriate box on the right to indicate the 
outcome of your analysis. 
 

Po
si

tiv
e 

im
pa

ct
 

 M
in

or
 

 M
aj

or
 

 N
o 

im
pa

ct
 

 
Age 

It is anticipated that all ages groups will benefit from the new modern homes, built 
to good accessibility and energy efficiency standards, as well as from the new 
amenities on the estate. 
 
Of the secure tenants, 39% in Phase 2 and 37% in Phase 3 are aged over 65. It is 
more likely that this age group may find the process of moving between homes 
difficult. However, this is not a homogenous group and secure tenants in this age 
group will have different abilities and support networks. We meet with every 
resident so we know their needs and can provide assistance where needed. 
 
Phase 2 
 
Head of household information- sole and joint tenants 
Source: Northgate 
 
Age Range Leasehold Non Secure Secure Grand Total 

Between 25-35 0 2 3 5 

Between 36-45 1 11 6 18 

☐ 
 

☒ 
 

☐ 
 

☐ 
 

113

https://harrowhub.harrow.gov.uk/info/200341/equality_impact_assessments/1604/data_guide_-_inequality_impact_assessment
http://www.harrow.gov.uk/info/200251/community_and_living/863/equalities_data


 
Harrow Council Equality Impact Assessment Template November 2018 
 

7 

Between 46-55 1 6 17 24 

Between 56-65 2 2 11 15 

Less than 25 1 0 0 1 

Over 65 2 0 24 26 

Grand Total 7 21 61 89 

 
Secure tenant households 
0-5 Years     5 children 
6-18 Years   12 children 
 
Phase 3 
 
Head of household information- sole and joint tenants 
Source: Northgate 
 
Age Range Freehold Leasehold Non Secure Secure Grand Total 

Between 25-35 0 4 2 3 9 

Between 36-45 2 1 5 5 13 

Between 46-55 2 1 3 13 19 

Between 56-65 0 3 1 15 19 

Less than 25 2 2 0 0 4 

Over 65 0 0 1 24 25 

(blank) 0 0 0 5 5 

114



 
Harrow Council Equality Impact Assessment Template November 2018 
 

8 

Grand Total 6 11 12 65 94 

 
Secure tenant households 
0-5 Years    1 children 
6-18 years   25 children 
 

 
Disability  

 
Tenants are not required to provide information on disability, and many choose not 
to do so. During Phase 1 of the project, it was noted that the number of secure 
tenants requiring accessible properties was higher than recorded and expected. 
This will inform plans for Phases 2 and 3 of the project, for example ensuring more 
ground floor homes are provided. 
 
It is anticipated that tenants with disabilities will benefit from the new modern 
homes, built to good accessibility and energy efficiency standards, as well as from 
the new amenities on the estate. 
 
Of the secure tenants, 25% in Phase 2 and 20% in Phase 3 have reported that they 
have a disability. It is more likely that this group may find the process of moving 
between homes difficult. However, this is not a homogenous group and secure 
tenants in this group will have different abilities and support networks. Assistance 
will be provided where needed. 
 
Phase 2 
 
Head of household information- sole and joint tenants 
Source: Northgate 
 
Disability Leasehold Non Secure Secure Grand Total 

Hearing 0 0 1 1 

☐ 
 

☒ 
 

☐ 
 

☐ 
 

115



 
Harrow Council Equality Impact Assessment Template November 2018 
 

9 

Mental heath 0 1 4 5 

Mobility 0 0 4 4 

Not disclosed 0 0 1 1 

Physical 0 0 4 4 

Vision 0 0 1 1 

Visual 0 0 1 1 

(blank) 7 20 45 72 

Grand Total 7 21 61 89 

 
Phase 3 
 
Head of household information- sole and joint tenants 
Source: Northgate 
 
Disability Freehold Leasehold Non Secure Secure Grand Total 

Hearing 0 0 0 1 1 

Mental heath 0 0 0 2 2 

Mobility 0 0 0 7 7 

Physical 0 0 0 3 3 

(blank) 6 11 12 52 81 

Grand Total 6 11 12 65 94 

116



 
Harrow Council Equality Impact Assessment Template November 2018 
 

10 

 

 

 
Gender  
reassignment 

 
Tenants are not required to provide information on gender reassignment, and many 
choose not to do so. The data available relating to this protected characteristic is 
therefore very limited. The needs of each household are being considered on a case by 
case basis. It is not anticipated that there will be any negative impact related to this 
specific protected characteristic. It is anticipated that this group will benefit from the 
new modern homes, built to good accessibility and energy efficiency standards, as 
well as from the new amenities on the estate. 
 

☒ 
 

☐ 
 

☐ 
 

☐ 
 

 
Marriage and 
Civil 
Partnership 

Tenants are not required to provide information on marriage and civil partnership, 
and many choose not to do so. The needs of each household are being considered on 
a case by case basis. It is not anticipated that there will be any negative impact related 
to this specific protected characteristic. It is anticipated that all groups within this 
protected characteristic will benefit from the new modern homes, built to good 
accessibility and energy efficiency standards, as well as from the new amenities on 
the estate. 
 
Phase 2 

Head of household information- sole and joint tenants 
Source: Northgate 
 
Marital Status Leasehold Non Secure Secure Grand Total 

Civil Partnership 0 0 1 1 

Cohabiting - opposite gender 0 1  1 

Married 2 2 14 18 

Prefer not to say 0 0 4 4 

☒ 
 

☐ 
 

☐ 
 

☐ 
 

117



 
Harrow Council Equality Impact Assessment Template November 2018 
 

11 

Single 1 1 23 25 

(blank) 4 17 19 40 

Grand Total 7 21 61 89 

 

Phase 3 

Head of household information- sole and joint tenants 
Source: Northgate 
 
Marital Status Freehold Leasehold Non Secure Secure Grand Total 

Civil Partnership 0 0 0 1 1 

Married 0 1 0 16 17 

Prefer not to say 0 0 0 2 2 

Single 0 0 1 22 23 

(blank) 6 10 11 24 51 

Grand Total 6 11 12 65 94 

Pregnancy 
and Maternity 

 
Tenants are not required to provide information on pregnancy and maternity, and 
many choose not to do so. The data available relating to this protected characteristic is 
limited and subject to change over time. The needs of each household are being 
considered on a case by case basis.  It is not anticipated that there will be any negative 
impact related to this specific protected characteristic. It is anticipated that this group will 
benefit from the new modern homes, built to good accessibility and energy efficiency 
standards, as well as from the new amenities on the estate. 
 

☒ 
 

☐ 
 

☐ 
 

☐ 
 

118



 
Harrow Council Equality Impact Assessment Template November 2018 
 

12 

 
Race/ 
Ethnicity 

Tenants are not required to provide information on race or ethnicity, and many 
choose not to do so. The needs of each household are being considered on a case by 
case basis.  It is not anticipated that there will be any negative impact related to this 
specific protected characteristic. It is anticipated that all groups within this protected 
characteristic will benefit from the new modern homes, built to good accessibility and 
energy efficiency standards, as well as from the new amenities on the estate. 
 
Phase 2 

Head of household information- sole and joint tenants 
Source: Northgate 
 
Ethnicity Leasehold Non Secure Secure Grand Total 

Afghan 2 1 2 5 

Bangladeshi 0 0 2 2 

Black African 0 3 10 13 

Black Caribbean 0 0 3 3 

Black Other 0 0 2 2 

Indian 0 0 6 6 

Irish 0 0 1 1 

Not disclosed 1 6 7 14 

Other 0 0 2 2 

Other Asian 1 4 7 12 

Pakistani 0 3 1 4 

☒ 
 

☐ 
 

☐ 
 

☐ 
 

119



 
Harrow Council Equality Impact Assessment Template November 2018 
 

13 

Somali 0 1 5 6 

Sri Lankan 0 0 2 2 

White Other 1 0 3 4 

White UK 2 3 8 13 

Grand Total 7 21 61 89 

 

Phase 3 

Head of household information- sole and joint tenants 
Source: Northgate 
 

Ethnicity Freehold Leasehold Non Secure Secure Grand Total 

Afghan 0 0 2 0 2 

Albanian 0 1 0 0 1 

Black African 3 0 0 5 8 

Black Caribbean 0 0 0 6 6 

Black Other 0 0 0 2 2 

Indian 0 5 0 8 13 

Irish 0 0 0 2 2 

Mixed Any other mixed background 0 0 0 1 1 

Mixed White/Black Caribbean 0 0 0 1 1 

120



 
Harrow Council Equality Impact Assessment Template November 2018 
 

14 

Not disclosed 2 0 7 13 22 

Other 0 0 0 1 1 

Other Asian 1 5 2 2 10 

Pakistani 0 0 0 1 1 

Somali 0 0 0 4 4 

Sri Lankan 0 0 0 3 3 

White UK 0 0 1 15 16 

(blank) 0 0 0 1 1 

Grand Total 6 11 12 65 94 

 
Religion or 
belief 

Tenants are not required to provide information on religion or belief, and many 
choose not to do so. The needs of each household are being considered on a case by 
case basis.  It is not anticipated that there will be any negative impact related to this 
specific protected characteristic. It is anticipated that all groups within this protected 
characteristic will benefit from the new modern homes, built to good accessibility and 
energy efficiency standards, as well as from the new amenities on the estate. 
 

Phase 2 

Head of household information- sole and joint tenants 
Source: Northgate 
 
Religion Leasehold Non Secure Secure Grand Total 

Agnostic 0 0 2 2 

Christianity 0 2 11 13 

☒ 
 

☐ 
 

☐ 
 

☐ 
 

121



 
Harrow Council Equality Impact Assessment Template November 2018 
 

15 

Hinduism 0 0 4 4 

Islam 2 1 10 13 

Jain 0 0 1 1 

Judaism 0 0 1 1 

No Religion 0 0 3 3 

Prefer not to say 0 0 4 4 

(blank) 5 18 25 48 

Grand Total 7 21 61 89 

 

Phase 3 

Head of household information- sole and joint tenants 
Source: Northgate 
 

Religion Freehold Leasehold Non Secure Secure Grand Total 

Agnostic 0 0 0 2 2 

Catholic 0 0 0 1 1 

Christianity 0 0 0 13 13 

Hinduism 0 0 0 11 11 

Islam 0 1 2 5 8 

No Religion 1 0 0 0 1 

122



 
Harrow Council Equality Impact Assessment Template November 2018 
 

16 

Prefer not to say 0 0 0 1 1 

Sikhism 0 0 0 1 1 

(blank) 5 10 10 31 56 

Grand Total 6 11 12 65 94 

 
Sex 

It is not anticipated that there will be any negative impact related to this specific 
protected characteristic. The needs of each household are being considered on a case 
by case basis.  It is anticipated that all groups within this protected characteristic will 
benefit from the new modern homes, built to good accessibility and energy efficiency 
standards, as well as from the new amenities on the estate. 
 
Phase 2 

Head of household information- sole and joint tenants 
Source: Northgate 
 

Gender Leasehold Non Secure Secure Grand Total 

Male 5 5 22 32 

Female 2 16 39 57 

Grand Total 7 21 61 89 

 

Phase 3 

Head of household information- sole and joint tenants 
Source: Northgate 
 

Gender Freehold Leasehold Non Secure Secure Grand Total 

☒ 
 

☐ 
 

☐ 
 

☐ 
 

123



 
Harrow Council Equality Impact Assessment Template November 2018 
 

17 

Male 2 5 4 28 39 

Female 4 6 8 37 55 

Grand Total 6 11 12 65 94 

 
Sexual 
Orientation 
 

The data available relating to this protected characteristic is limited and may make 
some tenants identifiable so the data has not been included. The needs of each 
household are being considered on a case by case basis. It is not anticipated that there 
will be any negative impact related to this specific protected characteristic. It is 
anticipated that all groups within this protected characteristic will benefit from the new 
modern homes, built to good accessibility and energy efficiency standards, as well 
as from the new amenities on the estate. 
 

☒ 
 

☐ 
 

☐ 
 

☐ 
 

 
2.1 Cumulative impact – considering what else is happening within the Council and Harrow as a whole, could your proposals 
have a cumulative impact on groups with protected characteristics?  

☒   Yes                         No    ☐         
 

This project will provide new housing that is more suited to the needs of the secure tenants of Grange Farm, particularly in relation to 
accessibility. This is a positive outcome in the context of pressures on adult social care and the health service. 
 
2.2 Any other impact - considering what else is happening nationally/locally (national/local/regional policies, socio-economic 
factors etc.), could your proposals have an impact on individuals/service users, or other groups? 

 ☒   Yes                         No    ☐         
In view of the current concerns about the cost of living, new homes that are built to a high energy efficiency standard will have a positive impact on 
all groups. 
 
 

 
 

124



 
Harrow Council Equality Impact Assessment Template November 2018 
 

18 

3. Actions to mitigate/remove negative impact 
Only complete this section if your assessment (in section 2) suggests that your proposals may have a negative impact on groups with 
protected characteristics. If you have not identified any negative impacts, please complete sections 4 and 5. 
In the table below, please state what these potential negative impact (s) are, mitigating actions and steps taken to ensure that these measures will 
address and remove any negative impacts identified and by when. Please also state how you will monitor the impact of your proposal once 
implemented. 
State what the negative 
impact(s) are for each group, 
identified in section 2. In 
addition, you should also 
consider, and state potential 
risks associated with your 
proposal. 

Measures to mitigate negative impact (provide details, 
including details of and additional consultation 
undertaken/to be carried out in the future). If you are 
unable to identify measures to mitigate impact, please 
state so and provide a brief explanation.  

What action (s) will you take to assess 
whether these measures have addressed 
and removed any negative impacts 
identified in your analysis? Please provide 
details. If you have previously stated that 
you are unable to identify measures to 
mitigate impact, please state below. 

Deadline 
date 

Lead Officer 

Moving temporarily or 
permanently 

Assessment of housing need, offer of suitable 
accommodation, assistance available  

Feedback from residents and Steering 
Group, review of complaints and 
compliments 

End of 
Phase 3 

Salome 
Irungu 

Difficulty with moving 
process Additional assistance available 

Feedback from residents and Steering 
Group, review of complaints and 
compliments 

End of 
Phase 3 

Salome 
Irungu 

Expenses incurred and 
inconvenience  Home Loss and Disturbance payments Payments made within agreed 

timescale 
End of 
Phase 3 

Salome 
Irungu 

Expenses incurred Moving costs paid for by the council Moves completed and removal costs 
paid by the council 

End of 
Phase 3 

Salome 
Irungu 

Information 

These factors help to keep residents engaged 
and informed: Steering Group of local residents 
living on Grange Farm Estate which meets 
regularly, the Independent Tenant Advisor, the 
Steering Group has a website, the Grange Farm 
section of the Council website, the Grange Farm 
Estate Charter, the regular newsletter, and the 
regular presence of housing staff at the 
community centre.  

Feedback from residents and Steering 
Group, review of complaints and 
compliments 

End of 
Phase 3 Alison Pegg 

 

125



 
Harrow Council Equality Impact Assessment Template November 2018 
 

19 

4. Public Sector Equality Duty 
How does your proposal meet the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) to: 
1. Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct prohibited by the Equality Act 2010 
2. Advance equality of opportunity between people from different groups 
3.   Foster good relations between people from different groups 
 
The objective of the Grange Farm Estate regeneration project is to improve the quality and mix of housing on the estate, to benefit residents 
across all protected characteristics. Modern housing and amenities will support equality of opportunity and better outcomes for residents of 
the estate and the local area. The resident engagement and involvement on this project foster good relations between residents from 
different groups. The council is working with voluntary sector partners to support them providing community activities particularly aimed at 
supporting children of all ages as well as providing services to assist with food poverty and engaging teenagers. The resident community is very 
diverse and cohesive and their vision for the new community is to continue being open and inclusive to all.  
5. Outcome of the Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) click the box that applies 

☐ Outcome 1 
No change required: the EqIA has not identified any potential for unlawful conduct or disproportionate impact and all opportunities to 
advance equality of opportunity are being addressed  
 

☒ Outcome 2 
Adjustments to remove/mitigate negative impacts identified by the assessment, or to better advance equality, as stated in section 3&4 
 

☐ Outcome 3  
This EqIA has identified discrimination and/ or missed opportunities to advance equality and/or foster good relations.  However, it is still 
reasonable to continue with the activity. Outline the reasons for this and the information used to reach this decision in the space below. 
 
Include details here 

 

126



0  

Report for: Cabinet 

Date of Meeting: 17th November 2022 

Subject: Information Report: Investment into 
Harrow’s Tennis Infrastructure - Update 
 

Key Decision: No 
 
 

Responsible Officer: Dipti Patel, Corporate Director – Place;  
Mark Billington - Director Inclusive Economy, 
Leisure & Culture 
 

Portfolio Holder: Councillor Jean Lammiman - Portfolio Holder 
for Community and Culture 
 
Councillor David Ashton - Portfolio Holder for 
Finance and Human Resources 
 

Exempt: No 

Decision subject to 
Call-in: 

No as it is an information report. 
 

Wards affected: All  

Enclosures: Appendix 1: Equalities Impact Assessment 
 
Appendix 2: Results of the Public 
Consultation Questionnaire on Proposed 
Investment in Harrow’s Tennis Courts 
 
Appendix 3: Public Consultation Feedback 
on Proposed Investment in Harrow’s Tennis 
Courts 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

            

127

Agenda Item 10
Pages 127 to 168



Section 1 – Summary and Recommendations 

This report offers an update on the continuation of the proposed investment 
into Harrow’s tennis courts and procurement of an operator to manage the 
courts following the results of the public consultation on the proposals.  

Recommendations:  
 
Cabinet is requested to: 
 

1. Note the final outcome of the public consultation which followed the 
‘Investment into Harrow’s Tennis Infrastructure’ Cabinet Report of June 
2022. 

 
Reason: (for recommendations)  
Cabinet in June 2022 agreed that a consultation strategy would be developed 
in relation to the renovation of the courts. The consultation on Investment into 
Harrow’s Tennis Infrastructure showed a majority in favour of Harrow Council 
entering into an agreement with the Lawn Tennis Association to access 
capital funding to renovate Harrow’s tennis courts.   
 

Section 2 – Report 

1. Introduction 
 

1.1 This report sets out the details of the public consultation undertaken on the 
tennis investment proposals as detailed in the Cabinet report and 
appendices of 23rd June 2022 (Investment into Harrow’s Tennis 
Infrastructure).  
 

1.2  Following the results of the public consultation it is proposed to proceed 
with entering into a funding agreement with the Lawn Tennis Association 
(LTA) to renovate tennis courts in Harrow’s parks and the procurement of 
an operator to manage the courts as detailed in the Cabinet report of June 
2022. The tender process will be informed by the consultation.  

2. Background 
 

2.1 From the 1st April 2022 local Authorities are able to apply for capital 
funding from the LTA and Department Digital, Culture, Media and Sport 
(DCMS) Renovation Fund to renovate tennis courts in parks. The funding 
is to repair and resurface the courts, repair fencing, and to install gate 
access technology. The funding programme also enables the introduction 
of an online booking system. Whilst the LTA do not require local 
authorities to introduce hire charges for using the courts, local authorities 
do need to confirm their agreement to fund a sinking fund and ongoing 
maintenance costs, as well as the ongoing costs associated with the 
access gates.  

 

128



2.2 An assessment of the public tennis courts in all the Harrow’s parks by the 
LTA identified that the majority of the courts were either in an unplayable, 
very poor, or poor condition. The only parks where the tennis courts were 
identified as being in a good or very good condition were Pinner Village 
Gardens, Rayners Mead, and West Harrow Recreation Ground. 

 
2.3 In June 2022 Cabinet approved the entering into a funding agreement with 

the LTA for grant funding to fund the renovation of 37 tennis courts in 
Harrow’s parks. The LTA’s Renovation Fund application process is in two 
stages. As detailed in the Cabinet Report of June 2022 the LTA has 
approved Harrow’s Stage 1 application for this funding with the estimated 
costs for the renovations work to Harrow’s courts being £445,675. The 
June 2022 Cabinet Report also proposed the introduction of a pricing 
strategy to ensure that the tennis courts could be maintained to a good 
standard and are financially sustainable in the long term. This would 
include pay and play sessions with the income generated being reinvested 
into maintaining the courts including a sinking fund. In local authorities that 
have already implemented a charging policy as well as gate access and a 
booking system the results have been very positive. In the London 
Borough of Richmond Upon Thames and the London Borough of Brent, for 
example, where all the tennis courts have been gated there has been a 
very high usage of the courts. Cabinet also approved the procurement of 
an operator to manage the refurbished tennis courts. In addition, Cabinet 
approved the development of a consultation strategy in relation to the 
renovation and management of the courts.  

 
3. Current Situation 
 

3.1 A public consultation was undertaken on the investment in the tennis 
courts from the 18th August 2022 to 27th September 2022. The 
consultation sought feedback from residents on the proposals via an 
online public consultation questionnaire. The online questionnaire was 
drafted with advice from the LTA, and further amendments were made 
following consultation with members of Harrow Park User Groups. The 
questionnaire was hosted on Harrow Council’s website and could be 
accessed from links from several pages within the council’s leisure pages. 
It was also added to the Council’s consultation portal. Questions 
established current usage including which courts were used, by whom and 
frequency. Questions also asked about user awareness of the existence 
and condition of public tennis courts in Harrow. Respondents were asked 
whether they supported fees if it meant the tennis courts would be 
improved and also a tolerance level for what the fees should be. Questions 
also ascertained who should receive concessions, whether free coaching 
sessions and access to equipment would be welcomed, and at what 
time/day they would be most appropriate. There was also an open box for 
people to add their comments. A supporting webpage was created which 
set out the background of the Lawn Tennis Association application, the 
current state of tennis courts as assessed by the LTA, FAQs, and details 
of engagement events. The page received 1707 hits during the 
consultation period. 

 

129



3.2 An A5 leaflet was produced to promote the consultation, containing a QR 
code link and the web address, as well as the closing date. Posters were 
placed in parks and leaflets circulated to sites including libraries, leisure 
centres, Harrow Arts Centre, and Headstone Manor and Museum. Four 
events were held across the borough during the six-week period. These 
were as follows: 

 
Venue Date/Time 

Headstone Village Show Bank Holiday Monday 29th August 2022, 
12.00-17.00 

Chandos Recreation Ground Wednesday 7th September 2022, 10.00-
11.00 

Byron Park Tuesday 13th September 2022, 18.00-
19.00 

Montesole Playing Fields Saturday 24th September 2022, 10.00-
11.00 

 
Three pre-consultation events were also held as follows: 
 

Venue Date/Time 
Harrow Weald Recreation Ground Thursday 29th June, 10.00-11.00 
Roxeth Recreation Ground Saturday 2nd July, 10.00-11.00 
Harrow Recreation Ground Monday 4th July, 18.00-19.00 

  
There was targeted communication by email to a range of community 
groups and organisations including the park user groups, tennis clubs and 
other sports clubs and organisations, youth groups and schools. The 
consultation was also included in two editions of MyHarrow, which is 
emailed to 70,000 users. The public were also invited to feedback by email 
to sportandleisure@harrow.gov.uk A total of nine emails were received. 
This included a response to the consultation by Harrow Recreation Ground 
stakeholders and park users. A meeting was also held with the Council’s 
Labour Group during the consultation.  

 
3.3  Social media was also used to promote the consultation. There were 12 

posts (24 in total) on Facebook and Twitter posted by the Council during 
the consultation period. These ensured a reach of more than 21,000 
during the six weeks. There was a combined total of around 1500 
reactions, comments or shares. The most engaged post, on 26 August, 
saw activity three times higher than the average for a Harrow Council 
Facebook post. The majority of comments on social media were against 
charging being applied or referred to the courts being ‘privatised’. Some 
who were actively against the proposals used the posts as an opportunity 
to signpost to an online petition. 

 
3.4 A petition against the Council’s proposals on Change.org has been 

submitted to the Council https://www.change.org/p/keep-harrow-s-parks-
free-to-use The petition says: “We the undersigned, call on Harrow Council 
to halt its plans to charge for the use of tennis courts, and commit to 
ensuring our parks and the facilities within them remain free for all to 
enjoy.”  Signed by over 2,000 people the petition will be responded to in 
accordance with the Council’s Petition Scheme. 

130

mailto:sportandleisure@harrow.gov.uk
https://www.change.org/p/keep-harrow-s-parks-free-to-use
https://www.change.org/p/keep-harrow-s-parks-free-to-use


 
3.5 There was a total of 714 completed responses to the online public 

consultation questionnaire. The full results of the questionnaire are 
detailed in Appendix 2. A summary of responses to some of the questions 
is detailed below: 

 
Question Response 
1. Which of these statements do you agree 

with? 
 

a. Yes, I am in favour of the Council’s 
plans for investment in the tennis 
courts and for an external operator to 
run the courts understanding that this 
will mean charges for tennis court 
users. 

b. No, I don’t want the Council to pursue 
the grant to renovate the tennis 
courts. I understand that this will 
mean they will not be renovated as 
other funding sources have not been 
identified and some sites will remain 
closed/unplayable. 

57% In favour 
43% Not in favour 
 
Those living near courts assessed as 
unplayable responses: 
Byron Recreation Ground – 47 responses 

o For – 35 (74%) 
o Against – 12 (26%) 

Centenary Park – 64 responses 
o For – 54 (84%) 
o Against – 10 (16%) 

Headstone Manor Recreation Ground – 78 
responses 

o For – 56 (72%) 
o Against – 22 (28%) 

 
Those living near courts assessed as very 
good or good courts responses: 
Rayners Mead – 22 responses 

o For – 9 (41%) 
o Against – 13 (59%) 

 
Pinner Village Gardens – 93 responses 

o For – 55 (59%) 
o Against – 38 (41%) 

 
West Harrow Rec – 91 responses 

o For – 26 (29%) 
o Against – 65 (71%) 

 
2. Do you currently use the tennis courts in 

the parks to play tennis? 
Yes – 51% 
No – 49% 
 

3. If the condition of all the tennis courts in 
Harrow’s parks was improved would your 
usage increase, remain the same, or 
decrease? 

Remain the same - 41% 
Increase – 50% 
Decrease – 1% 
Not sure – 8% 

4. If the Council proceeds with the 
investment, what would you be prepared 
to pay for the hire of a tennis court in 
Harrow?   

49.1% of respondees indicated charging 
levels they would be happy with as detailed 
below: 
£3-5 per hour – 26.7% 
£5-7 per hour – 13.7% 
£7-10 per hour – 7.0% 
£10-12 per hour – 1.7% 
I don’t think there should be any charges – 
50.9% 

5. What are your thoughts about paying for 
the hire of tennis courts via the online 
booking system? 

I would be in favour if the courts were 
improved, and I could book a court at a time 
that suits me – 47% 

131



I would not be in favour – 45% 
I do not currently play or intend to play tennis, 
so it does not affect me - 8% 

6. If the Council proceeds with the 
investment which groups do you think 
should be offered discounted court hire? 

Children under 18 – 29% 
Adults over 65 – 21% 
Disabled People – 22% 
Those claiming Universal Credit – 17% 
Other – 11% 

7. If the Council proceeds with the 
investment, would you be in favour of 
some free coach led sessions targeted at 
specific groups? 

Yes – 63% 
No – 19% 
Not sure – 18% 
Which would be of interest? 
Children under 18 – 39% 
Adults over 65 – 19% 
Disabled people – 19% 
Those claiming Universal Credit – 14% 
Other – 9% 

 
 

3.6  A summary of the additional verbal and written feedback by theme from 
the public questionnaire, in-person engagement sessions and meetings, 
and email submission is detailed in Appendix 3. Responses have also 
been provided and this information will be added to the Council website 
following the Cabinet meeting. 

 
3.1 As detailed above 57% of those who responded to the questionnaire were 

in favour of the plans for the tennis courts. The consultation feedback 
included comments about the need for tennis courts to be renovated which 
will help to increase usage and the benefits of having a booking system in 
helping to ensure everyone has the opportunity to use the tennis courts. 
The introduction of pay and play sessions was, however, split more evenly 
with 50.9% of respondees not in favour of any charging. Of the 49.1% who 
did support the requirement for some charges the majority (26.7%) 
specified £3-5 per hour. As a result of this feedback the Council would 
specify that the maximum court hire is £5 per hour including during peak 
periods (weekday evenings and weekends). This level of the charging is 
the same or less for pay and play sessions for adults that are charged by 
neighbouring London Boroughs. The London Borough of Hillingdon, for 
example, charges £5 per hour and the London Borough of Brent charges 
£8 per hour. Concessionary rates for court hire would also be stipulated for 
children under 18, adults over 65, disabled people, and those claiming 
universal credit. In response to the concerns raised regarding hire charges 
being unaffordable for some residents the Council would use the tender 
process to maximise the number of coach-led free sessions that would be 
offered by prospective tennis operators. The exact pricing strategy to be 
introduced for the tennis courts at West Harrow Recreation Ground will be 
dependent on the current grant agreement in place with the London 
Marathon Trust Fund for these courts. The public consultation also 
identified that several of the tennis courts in the parks have been used for 
other purposes such as for football for several years. There was also some 
feedback, however, that the courts shouldn’t be used for other sports as it 
can cause damage to the courts. Whilst all the courts will eventually 
become unusable for any purpose if they are not renovated/maintained, 

132



the council is developing a new Indoor and Outdoor Sports Facility 
Strategy which will support our ability to secure future funds to invest in 
other sporting activities in the parks. 

 
3.2  A Neighbourhood Community Infrastructure Levy (NCIL) Fund application 

was submitted in February 2022 by two Edgware Ward Councillors to 
convert two of the tennis courts at Chandos Recreation Ground into a 
basketball court and MUGA. This application was submitted prior to the 
LTA courts renovation funding becoming available. The application also 
had the support of the Chandos Park User Group and the need for 
basketball and football facilities at Chandos Recreation Ground was 
reiterated during the consultation. As it is necessary to get the agreement 
of the National Governing Body (NGB) and Sport England to change the 
use of a facility from one sport to another the Park User Group then 
consulted with the LTA and Sport England on their plans. Subsequently 
the LTA agreed that one of the courts could be converted. The number of 
tennis courts at Chandos Recreation Ground to be included in the funding 
agreement will, therefore, now be reduced, from 3 courts to 2 courts, 
meaning that now a total of 36 courts across 13 parks would be included in 
the application. The number of courts per park will now be as follows: 

 
Park Number of  

Courts 
Current 
Condition 

Byron Recreation Ground 3 Unplayable 
Centenary Park 2 Unplayable 
Chandos Recreation Ground 2 Average 
Harrow Recreation Ground 4 Very Poor 
Harrow Weald Recreation Ground 4 Average 
Headstone Manor Recreation 
Ground 

6 Unplayable 

Kenton Recreation Ground 2 Average 
Montesole Playing Fields 2 Average 
Pinner Village Gardens 2 Good 
Queensbury Recreation Ground 2 Disappeared 

except old fence 
parts and posts 

Rayners Mead 2 Very Good 
Roxeth Recreation Ground 2 Average 
West Harrow Recreation Ground 3 Very Good 

 
Newton Park West has not been included in the parks to have their tennis 
courts renovated because the LTA will only renovate courts where there is 
an existing hard tarmac area to renovate.  

 
3.3 The planned timescale for renovating the tennis courts and beginning a 

contract with a tennis operator to manage the refurbished courts would be 
by Spring 2023. 

 
4. Options Considered 

1. To note the outcome of the consultation on the Investment in Harrow’s Tennis 
Court Infrastructure.  To proceed with the proposals approved in the 

133



‘Investment in Harrow’s Tennis Infrastructure’ Cabinet Report of June 2022 
with a majority of respondents to the public consultation being in favour of the 
proposals. The total number of tennis courts to be included will now be 36. 
This will involve entering into a funding agreement with the Lawn Tennis 
Association (LTA) for capital funding to renovate Harrow’s tennis courts at 
several Harrow parks. To introduce a booking system and pricing strategy that 
is informed by the consultation (in respect of charging, concessions and free 
coach led access for use of the courts) and appointing an operator to manage 
the renovated tennis courts following the completion of a tendering process. 

 
This option is recommended 
 

2. To ignore the results of the Public Consultation.  
 
This is option is not recommended. 
 

5. Ward Councillors’ comments  

5.1 The recommendations in this report would affect all wards. Ward 
Councillors were consulted as part of the consultation process.  

6. Risk Management Implications 

6.1 There are no decision risks as this is an information report. 

7. Procurement Implications 

7.1 The procurement process for a tennis courts operator will be carried out in   
accordance with the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules. This will be treated 
as a service concession (sub-threshold) contract. The service concession 
contract award will still be subject to the procurement principles of fairness, 
transparency, non-discrimination, proportionality, and contestability. 

 
7.2 The Council will follow an Open Procedure route. The proposed top level  
       evaluation criteria will be: 
 

• Price 40% 
• Quality 50% (including 5% allocated to Carbon Reduction) 
• Social Value 10% 

8. Legal Implications 

8.1 Section 19 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 
empowers the Council to provide recreational and leisure facilities, including 
indoor and outdoor tennis courts and ancillary facilities and services. 
 

8.2 The Council can also charge for the use of the facilities as it thinks fit. 
 

134



8.3 The Council can tender the management of facilities for sports and leisure 
and must do so in compliance with public procurement rules where applicable 
and the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules. 
 

8.4 The Council can enter into a funding agreement with the Lawn Tennis 
Association under section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 and all other enabling 
powers. 
 

8.5 Legal advice should be sought on the terms of the funding agreement and on 
then terms of the services concession contract with the operator, and any 
improvement works contracts. 

9. Financial Implications 

9.1 Lawn Tennis Association (LTA) and Department Digital, Culture, Media, and 
Sport (DCMS) have launched the Renovation Fund to renovate tennis courts 
in parks. Funding applications open in April 2022. 36 tennis courts in 13 parks 
have been identified as suitable to be included in the funding application. 
Technical survey has been undertaken by LTA to inform the detailed 
renovation works required and estimated costs. Harrow’s funding application 
has been approved at this Stage 1 of the process. The funding allocation 
based on the technical survey is £446K. The works will be procured via the 
LTA’s National Framework, and the procurement exercise will confirm the final 
costs. The LTA would then complete the final stage of the funding process to 
confirm the grant award. There is no capital match funding requirement from 
the Council. In order to ensure that there is no net cost impact in the Capital 
Programme, the Council would only enter into a funding agreement with the 
LTA should the full costs of renovation be met from their capital grant.   
 

9.2 Under the terms and conditions of the grant, there is a requirement to set 
aside a sinking fund for future replacement of the courts. This is set at £1,200 
per court per annum. With 36 tennis courts in the funding application, the total 
sinking fund requirement is £43,200 per annum. 
 

9.3 Other on-going running costs include cleaning & litter picking, general repairs, 
maintenance, and other costs associated with access gates. This is estimated 
at £30k per annum.    
 

9.4 The introduction of a pay and play scheme will ensure that income is 
generated to fund on-going costs of the tennis courts. This report 
recommends the use of a third-party operator to run the tennis courts via a 
competitive procurement process, therefore pay and play prices are to be 
determined by the successful bidder. However, the pricing strategy will take 
into consideration the outcomes of the public consultation on prices that users 
are prepared to pay and on the provision of free coach led sessions targeted 
at specific groups.  
 

9.5 In order to meet the sinking fund requirement and direct running costs, a 
minimum income of £73k would be required. For illustration purpose, this level 
of income could be achieved if around 11% of the operating times of all tennis 

135



courts were paid for at an average price of £5 per hour. The table below 
provides a sensitivity analysis to illustrate the potential income level.  

 

 
 

9.6 Other sources of income include annual membership subscriptions and 
coaching sessions. The exact delivery model will be the responsibility of the 
third-party operator. 
 

9.7 The proposed procurement strategy will be that the third-party operator is 
required to provide a fixed guaranteed income per annum at a minimum level 
of £43,200 (equivalent to the sinking fund requirement) and propose a profit 
share arrangement for surpluses achieved from the management of the tennis 
courts. The operator will also be responsible for the on-going running costs of 
the courts. The scheme must operate on the basis of self-financing and does 
not result in any revenue burden, otherwise it would create a financial risk to 
the Council.  
 

9.8 The sinking fund will be held in an earmarked reserve for future replacement 
of the tennis courts, ensuring the long-term sustainability of the facility. This 
will ensure that funding is available when capital investment is required in 
future, avoiding the reliance on capital borrowing. 
 

9.9 The option of appointing a third-party operator will minimise the financial risks 
to the Council. Should the tennis courts be managed in-house, there would be 
customer support, administrative and other back-office costs.  

10. Equalities implications / Public Sector Equality Duty 

10.1 An Equalities Impact Assessment (EqIA) has been conducted 
(Appendix 1). The EqIA identified that the recommended option would not 
have an adverse impact on any of the protected characteristics. The 
proposals, which will bring all the tennis courts up to a playable standard, will 
improve access to tennis for the community and will have a positive impact 
for people of all ages, for those with a disability (with specific sessions for this 
target group to be held), and for all race/ethnic groups. The Council would 
use the tender process to maximise the number of coach-led free sessions 
that would be offered by prospective tennis operators., and the maximum 
hourly charge rate for the play and play sessions would be £5, with 
concessionary rates also in place for children under 18, adults over 65, 
disabled people, and those claiming universal credit. Tennis operators would 
be expected to detail in a tennis development plan what types of coaching 
sessions they would provide to meet the needs of the whole community, 
including some single sex sessions, and sessions for people with disabilities, 
as part of the procurement process for a tennis operator. The operator would 
also be expected to offer competitive tennis opportunities.  

 

136



Section 3 - Statutory Officer Clearance 

Statutory Officer:  Jessie Man 
Signed on behalf of the Chief Financial Officer 
Date:  21/10/22 

Statutory Officer:   Stephen Dorrian 
Signed on behalf of the Monitoring Officer 
Date:  25/10/22 

Chief Officer:  Dipti Patel 
Signed off by the Corporate Director - Place 
Date:  03/11/22 

Head of Procurement:  Marzuki Haji  
Signed on behalf of the Head of Procurement 
Date:  17/10/22 

Mandatory Checks 

Ward Councillors notified:  NO - impacts on all Wards  

EqIA carried out:  Yes 

EqIA cleared by:  Jennifer Rock 

Section 4 - Contact Details and Background Papers 

Contact:  Tim Bryan – Head of Service, Culture and Leisure. Tel: 
07917076800. Email:  tim.bryan@harrow.gov.uk 

Background Papers:  None 

Call-in waived by the Chair of Overview and Scrutiny Committee – 
NOT APPLICABLE  

137

mailto:tim.bryan@harrow.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA)  

 
 

 
 
You will need to produce an Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) if:  
 
 

• You are developing a new policy, strategy, or service 
• You are making changes that will affect front-line services 
• You are reducing budgets, which may affect front-line services 
• You are changing the way services are funded and this may impact the quality of the service and who can access it 
• You are making a decision that could have a different impact on different groups of people  
• You are making staff redundant or changing their roles  

 
Guidance notes on how to complete an EqIA and sign off process are available on the Hub under Equality and Diversity. 
You must read the guidance notes and ensure you have followed all stages of the EqIA approval process (outlined in appendix 1).  
Section 2 of the template requires you to undertake an assessment of the impact of your proposals on groups with protected 
characteristics.  Equalities and borough profile data, as well as other sources of statistical information can be found on the Harrow 
hub, within the section entitled: Equality Impact Assessment - sources of statistical information.   
 

139

https://harrowhub.harrow.gov.uk/downloads/file/9302/eqia_guidance_notes
https://harrowhub.harrow.gov.uk/info/200341/equality_impact_assessments/1604/data_guide_-_inequality_impact_assessment


 
Harrow Council Equality Impact Assessment Template -  November  2018 
 

1 

Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) 
 

Type of Decision:  Cabinet Portfolio holder Other (state)  

Title of Proposal 
Investment into Harrow’s Tennis 
Infrastructure - Update Date EqIA created 06/10/22 

Name and job title of completing/lead 
Officer 

Tim Bryan – Head of Service, Culture and Leisure 

Directorate/ Service responsible  Place/Inclusive Economy, Leisure and Culture 
Organisational approval 
EqIA approved by Equality, Diversity 
and Inclusion Team 
 

Name: Jennifer Rock 
 
Assistant Policy Officer – EDI Team  
 

  
Signature  

☒ 
Tick this box to indicate that you have 
approved this EqIA  
 
Date of approval: November 1st 2022 

  

140



 
Harrow Council Equality Impact Assessment Template -  November  2018 
 

2 

1. Summary of proposal, impact on groups with protected characteristics and  mitigating actions 
(to be completed after you have completed sections 2 - 5) 

a)  What is your proposal? To enter into a funding agreement with the Lawn Tennis Association (LTA) if the Council’s application to the 
LTA’s Renovation Fund is successful for capital funding to improve tennis facilities at a number of Harrow’s parks that are currently in a poor 
condition to increase use of the courts and improve levels of physical activity in Harrow. This will include the resurfacing of the courts, 
repairs to fences, as well as the introduction of gate access technology and an online booking system. A pay and play system would be in 
operation with the introduction of charging for members of the public to hire the courts per hour. There would, however, be a free weekly 
tennis session at some of the courts. This would be in accordance with the LTA’s criteria for usage that there is a free weekly tennis session 
at a minimum of 30% of the parks involved to address income inequality and maximise take up. The income generated will be reinvested 
into maintaining the courts to a high standard ensuring that the courts are sustainable going forwards. It is proposed that the courts would 
be operated by a tennis operator who will also deliver coaching sessions to help increase the number of people playing tennis and to enable 
players to develop their skills. A 6-week public consultation was undertaken on the proposals from the 18th August 2022 to the 27th 
September 2022. Following the results of the public consultation it is proposed that the maximum hourly hire charge rate would be £5 with 
the Council using the tender process for the procurement of a tennis operator to maximise the number of free weekly coach led sessions 
that would be offered by prospective operators. 

b)  Summarise the impact of your proposal on groups with protected characteristics  
No protected characteristic would be adversely affected by these proposals. Renovating the tennis courts to a playable standard and 
introducing a pricing strategy for usage that will ensure the courts can be maintained in the future will improve access to tennis for the whole 
community. The maximum hourly hire rate charge will be £5 per hour. There will be free weekly coach led sessions to ensure that there is a 
maximisation of usage and to address income inequality. Concessionary rates for court hire would also be stipulated for children under 18, 
adults over 65, disabled people, and those claiming universal credit. A tennis operator will be procured to manage the refurbished courts 
and will provide coaching sessions and the opportunity for the public to play competitive tennis if they wish to so. This will have a positive 
impact for people of all ages, for those with a disability with specific sessions for this target group to be held by the operator, and for all 
race/ethnic groups including single sex sessions. The new access gates will be fully accessible being the required width for wheelchair 
users and the gate keypad located at a height accessible to all. There would be an online booking system introduced to improve the 
customer’s journey to hiring a court making the process simpler and easier, but the tennis operators would also be required to provide an 
alternative method of booking such as being able to book by telephone. Operators will also be required to provide a contact telephone 
number so that assistance can be provided if there are any gate access issues. 

c)  Summarise any potential negative impact(s) identified and mitigating actions 
No specific negative impact has been identified for any of the protected characteristics from these proposals as detailed in b) above. 

  

141



 
Harrow Council Equality Impact Assessment Template -  November  2018 
 

3 

2. Assessing impact  
You are required to undertake a detailed analysis of the impact of your proposals on groups with 
protected characteristics. You should refer to borough profile data, equalities data, service user 
information, consultation responses and any other relevant data/evidence to help you assess and explain 
what impact (if any) your proposal(s) will have on each group.  Where there are gaps in data, you should 
state this in the boxes below and what action (if any), you will take to address this in the future. 

What does the evidence tell you about the 
impact your proposal may have on groups 
with protected characteristics?  Click  the  
relevant box  to indicate whether your 
proposal will have a positive impact, 
negative (minor, major), or no impact 

Negative 
impact 

Protected 
characteristic 

For each protected characteristic, explain in detail what the evidence is suggesting and 
the impact of your proposal (if any). Click the appropriate box on the right to indicate the 
outcome of your analysis. 
 

Po
si

tiv
e 

im
pa

ct
 

 M
in

or
 

 M
aj

or
 

 N
o 

im
pa

ct
 

 
Age 

The resident population of Harrow according to the 2020 mid-year population estimates 
was 252,338. According to the Annual Workforce Equalities Report 2020- 2021 the age 
demographic of our resident population is as demonstrated below:  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

A 6-week public consultation on the tennis proposals was undertaken from the 18th 
August 2022 until the 27th September 2022. There was a total of 714 respondees. The 

☒ 
 

☐ 
 

☐ 
 

☐ 
 

142

https://harrowhub.harrow.gov.uk/info/200341/equality_impact_assessments/1604/data_guide_-_inequality_impact_assessment
http://www.harrow.gov.uk/info/200251/community_and_living/863/equalities_data


 
Harrow Council Equality Impact Assessment Template -  November  2018 
 

4 

age breakdown of those who indicated their age was as follows: Under 16 = 7, 16-24 = 
23, 25-44 = 273, 45-64 = 288, 65+ = 100 

Bringing all the tennis courts up to a playable standard will benefit people of all ages as 
it will make tennis more accessible and provide opportunities for people of all ages to 
attend coaching sessions and also to participate in competitive tennis with people of a 
similar ability if they wish to do so. The Council will stipulate in the specification for a 
tennis operator that the maximum hourly court hire charge will be £5 per hour. The 
Council will use the tender process for the procurement of a tennis operator to maximise 
the number of free weekly coach led sessions that would be offered by prospective 
operators. There would be an online booking system, but tennis operators will be 
required to provide an alternative method of booking such as being able to book by 
telephone. There will be concessionary rates for court hire for those aged under 18 and 
those aged over 65. The tennis operator will be required to undertake marketing and 
outreach to encourage more people to play tennis including engaging with local 
schools.  

 
Disability  

According to the Annual Workforce Equalities Report 2020- 2021, 15.8% of the 
borough’s population discloses a disability. This is indicated below: 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

☒ 
 

☐ 
 

☐ 
 

☐ 
 

143



 
Harrow Council Equality Impact Assessment Template -  November  2018 
 

5 

 

 

A 6-week public consultation on the tennis proposals was undertaken from the 18th 
August 2022 until the 27th September 2022. There was a total of 714 respondees. Of 
those who indicated whether they had a health problem or disability which has lasted or 
is expected to last at least 12 months the breakdown was as follows: No = 602, Yes – 
affecting mobility = 57, Yes – affecting hearing = 9, Yes - affecting vision = 4, Yes – a 
learning disability = 4, Yes – mental ill-health = 11, Other = 18 

Bringing all the tennis courts up to a playable standard will benefit people with a 
disability. The specification for the procurement of a tennis operator would include a 
requirement to ensure that there are sessions aimed at people with disabilities, and The 
Council will use the tender process for the procurement of a tennis operator to maximise 
the number of free weekly coach led sessions that would be offered by prospective 
operators.to address income inequality. 

The Council will stipulate in the specification for a tennis operator that the maximum 
hourly court hire charge will be £5 per hour with a concessionary rate for people with a 
disability.  New accessible gates will be installed to enable access for everyone. The 
new gates will be the required width for wheelchair users and the gate keypad will be at 
a height which is accessible to all.  

 
Gender  
reassignment 

The only data Harrow currently has on Gender Reassignment is via the Analysis of 
demand from housing applicants (via Locata): 1 (0.02%) housing applicant has 
indicated that they are transgender.(Data as of April 2014). 
 
A 6-week public consultation on the tennis proposals was undertaken from the 18th 
August 2022 until the 27th September 2022. There was a total of 714 respondees. The 
breakdown for those who answered the question whether there gender identity was 
the same as the gender they were assigned at birth was: Yes = 568, No = 7 
 
 
No specific impact has been identified for this protected characteristic from these 
proposals  

☐ 
 

☐ 
 

☐ 
 

☒ 
 

144



 
Harrow Council Equality Impact Assessment Template -  November  2018 
 

6 

 

 
Marriage and 
Civil 
Partnership 

Census data: Harrow has a very high percentage of married couples, with 53.7% of 
residents aged 16 and older declaring they were in a marriage in 2011.  This is above 
the national level of 46.6%.  There was a 27% increase in the number of married 
people living in Harrow between 2001 and 2011 (Office for National Statistics, 2001 
and 2011). Between their inception and January 2012, 107 civil partnership 
ceremonies took place in Harrow. 

A 6-week public consultation on the tennis proposals was undertaken from the 18th 
August 2022 until the 27th September 2022. There was a total of 714 respondees. Of 
those who answered the question regarding whether they were married the breakdown 
was as follows: Yes = 427, No = 171. 45 confirmed they were in a Civil Partnership, 
and 515 that they were not in a Civil Partnership. 

No specific impact has been identified for this protected characteristic from these 
proposals  

☐ 
 

☐ 
 

☐ 
 

☒ 
 

Pregnancy 
and Maternity 

The 2020 mid-year estimates showed a decrease of 37 births (3,506 births in total) over 
2019 mid-year estimates, a 1% decrease. There was a consistent increase from 
2001/02 to 2012/13. 

A 6-week public consultation on the tennis proposals was undertaken from the 18th 
August 2022 until the 27th September 2022. There was a total of 714 respondees. Of 
those who responded to the question whether they had been pregnant and/or on 
maternity leave during the past 2 months the breakdown was as follows: Yes = 22, No = 
560 

No specific impact has been identified for this protected characteristic from these 
proposals  

☐ 
 

☐ 
 

☐ 
 

☒ 
 

145



 
Harrow Council Equality Impact Assessment Template -  November  2018 
 

7 

 
Race/ 
Ethnicity 

According to the Annual Workforce Equalities Report 2020- 2021 the race demographic 
of our resident population is as demonstrated below: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Black, Asian and Multi-Ethnic residents make up around 65% of our borough’s 
population followed by White groups at 36%.  

A 6-week public consultation on the tennis proposals was undertaken from the 18th 
August 2022 until the 27th September 2022. There was a total of 714 respondees. The 
largest ethnic origin groups for those who responded to the question regarding their 
ethnic origin were as follows: White or White British = 359, English = 235, Asian or 
Asian British = 229, Indian = 182, Other = 101 

Bringing all the tennis courts up to a playable standard will benefit people from all ethnic 
groups. The Council will use the tender process for the procurement of a tennis operator 
to maximise the number of free weekly coach led sessions that would be offered by 
prospective operators, and there will be concessionary rates targeted towards residents 
from different ethnicities from disadvantaged socio-economic backgrounds. 

 

☒ 
 

☐ 
 

☐ 
 

☐ 
 

146



 
Harrow Council Equality Impact Assessment Template -  November  2018 
 

8 

Al economic 
backgrounds.  

Religion or 
belief 

The Annual Workforce Equalities Report mentions that Christianity (37%), Hinduism 
(28%), No religion/ Atheist (13%) and Islam (12%) are the four biggest religious 
demographics in Harrow. Residents that are of the Jewish faith is 3% of the borough 
population. 

The graph below illustrates this data in more detail: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

☐ 
 

☐ 
 

☐ 
 

☒ 
 

147



 
Harrow Council Equality Impact Assessment Template -  November  2018 
 

9 

 

 

 

 

A 6-week public consultation on the tennis proposals was undertaken from the 18th 
August 2022 until the 27th September 2022. There was a total of 714 respondees. The 
largest religious groups for those who responded to the question regarding their religion 
were as follows: Christianity (all denominations) = 194, No religion/Atheist = 150, 
Hindiusm = 117, Islam = 38, Janism = 27, Other =26 

As part of the procurement process a requirement to offer some single sex coaching 
sessions will be specified to meet the needs of specific communities in Harrow. No 
specific impact has been identified for this protected characteristic from these 
proposals.  

 
Sex 

The Annual Workforce Equalities Report 2020-2021 indicates that the percentage of 
residents within Harrow that are male and female is split evenly at 50%. As shown 
below: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

☐ 
 

☐ 
 

☐ 
 

☒ 
 

148



 
Harrow Council Equality Impact Assessment Template -  November  2018 
 

10 

  

A 6-week public consultation on the tennis proposals was undertaken from the 18th 
August 2022 until the 27th September 2022. There was a total of 714 respondees. Of 
those who responded to the question regarding their sex the breakdown was as 
follows: Male = 320, Female = 274 
 
As part of the procurement process a requirement to offer some single sex coaching 
sessions will be specified to meet the needs of specific communities in Harrow. No 
specific impact has been identified for this protected characteristic from these 
proposals 
 

 
Sexual 
Orientation 
 

The Annual Workforce Equalities Report 2020-2021 indicates that the percentage of 
LGBTQIA+ residents within London is 4.5%. See below:  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

☐ 
 

☐ 
 

☐ 
 

☒ 
 

149



 
Harrow Council Equality Impact Assessment Template -  November  2018 
 

11 

 

 

 

A 6-week public consultation on the tennis proposals was undertaken from the 18th 
August 2022 until the 27th September 2022. There was a total of 714 respondees. Of 
those who responded to the question regarding their sexual orientation the breakdown 
was as follows: Bisexual = 15, Gay man = 12, Gay woman/lesbian = 3, Heterosexual = 
476, Other = 27 

No specific impact has been identified for this protected characteristic from these 
proposals 

 
2.1 Cumulative impact – considering what else is happening within the Council and Harrow as a whole, could your proposals 
have a cumulative impact on groups with protected characteristics?  

☐   Yes                         No    ☒         
 

If you clicked the Yes box, which groups with protected characteristics could be affected and what is the potential impact? Include details in the 
space below 
 
2.2 Any other impact  - considering  what else is happening nationally/locally (national/local/regional policies, socio-economic 
factors etc), could your proposals have an impact on individuals/service users, or other groups? 

 ☐   Yes                         No    ☒         
If you clicked the Yes box, Include details in the space below 
 
 

 
 

3. Actions to mitigate/remove negative impact 

150



 
Harrow Council Equality Impact Assessment Template -  November  2018 
 

12 

Only complete this section if your assessment (in section 2) suggests that your proposals may have a negative impact on groups with 
protected characteristics. If you have not identified any negative impacts, please complete sections 4 and 5. 
 
In the table below, please state what these potential negative impact (s) are, mitigating actions and steps taken to ensure that these measures will 
address and remove any negative impacts identified and by when. Please also state how you will monitor the impact of your proposal once 
implemented. 
State what the negative 
impact(s) are for each group, 
identified in section 2. In addition, 
you should also consider and 
state potential risks associated 
with your proposal. 

Measures to mitigate negative impact (provide 
details, including details of and additional 
consultation undertaken/to be carried out in the 
future). If you are unable to identify measures 
to mitigate impact, please state so and provide 
a brief explanation.  

What action (s) will you take to assess whether 
these measures have addressed and removed 
any negative impacts identified in your analysis? 
Please provide details. If you have previously 
stated that you are unable to identify measures 
to mitigate impact please state below. 

Deadline 
date 

Lead Officer 

     

     

     

     

     
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4. Public Sector Equality Duty 
How does your proposal meet the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) to: 

151



 
Harrow Council Equality Impact Assessment Template -  November  2018 
 

13 

1. Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct prohibited by the Equality Act 2010 
2. Advance equality of opportunity between people from different groups 
3.   Foster good relations between people from different groups 
 
Include details in the space below  
The proposal to apply for funding to bring the tennis courts up to a playable standard in several of the parks and introduce a pricing strategy with a 
maximum hourly hire charge of £5with concessionary rates for under 18s, over 65s, disabled people, and those claiming universal credit, with free 
weekly coach led sessions in addition to address income inequality and maximise usage, will enable sustainable greater participation in tennis in 
the borough for all ages and abilities. Coaching sessions, with some targeted at specific community groups, will also be introduced and there will 
also be the opportunity for people to play competitive tennis if they wish to do so. This will help to meet the sport and physical exercise needs of the 
whole community and bringing different communities together. 
 

 
 

5. Outcome of  the Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) click the box that applies 

☒ Outcome 1 
No change required: the EqIA has not identified any potential for unlawful conduct or disproportionate impact and all opportunities to 
advance equality of opportunity are being addressed  
 

☐ Outcome 2 
Adjustments to remove/mitigate negative impacts identified by the assessment, or to better advance equality, as stated in section 3&4 
 

☐ Outcome 3  
This EqIA has identified discrimination and/ or missed opportunities to advance equality and/or foster good relations.  However, it is still 
reasonable to continue with the activity. Outline the reasons for this and the information used to reach this decision in the space below. 
 
Include details here 

152



 
Harrow Council Equality Impact Assessment Template -  November  2018 
 

14 

 
 

 

153



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2 - Tennis Court Investment Consultation Questionnaire Results 
(Questions That Had Text Boxes Only To Complete Have Been Excluded. Percentages 
For Each Question Calculated from The Total Number of People Who Answered Each 

Question) 
 
1. Where is your nearest park area with tennis courts? 
 

 Byron Recreation Ground 47 7% 

 Centenary Park 64 9% 

 Chandos Recreation Ground 17 2% 

 Harrow Recreation Ground 137 19% 

 Harrow Weald Recreation Ground 54 7% 

 Headstone Manor Recreation Ground 78 11% 

 Kenton Recreation Ground 33 5% 

 Montesole Playing Fields 39 5% 

 Pinner Village Gardens 93 13% 

 Queensbury Recreation Ground 7 1% 

 Rayners Mead 22 3% 

 Roxeth Recreation Ground 20 3% 

 West Harrow Recreation Ground 91 13% 

 Not sure 12 2% 
 

2. Do you currently use the tennis courts in Harrow’s parks? 

 

 Yes 362 51% 

 No 352 49% 
 

3. Which park do you use most to play tennis? 
 

 Byron Recreation Ground 5 1% 

 Centenary Park 12 3% 

 Chandos Recreation Ground 6 2% 

 Harrow Recreation Ground 94 26% 

 Harrow Weald Recreation Ground 29 8% 

 Headstone Manor Recreation Ground 25 7% 

 Kenton Recreation Ground 19 5% 

 Montesole Playing Fields 11 3% 

 Pinner Village Gardens 53 15% 

 Queensbury Recreation Ground 2 1% 

 Rayners Mead 20 5% 

 Roxeth Recreation Ground 6 2% 

 West Harrow Recreation Ground 76 21% 

 Not sure 3 1% 
 

 

4. Who do you play tennis with? 

155



 Friends 125 36% 

 Family 211 61% 

 Other 9 3% 
 
 
 
 
5. When did you last play at a Harrow Park? 
 

 Within the last week 119 33% 

 Within the last month 141 39% 

 Within the last year 101 28% 
 

 

 
6. How do you get to the tennis courts? 
 

 Walk 289 80% 

 Cycle 19 5% 

 Drive 50 14% 

 Public transport 3 1% 

 Other 1 0% 
 
 
 
 
7. When do you play tennis? 
 

 

 

 

10. Do other members of your household use the tennis courts in Harrow’s parks? 
 

 Yes 312 44% 

 No 400 56% 
 

 

 

 

 

11. Which park do they use most to play tennis? 
 

 Byron Recreation Ground 5 2%  

 Weekday daytime 137 20% 

 Weekday evening 167 25% 

 Weekend daytime 259 39% 

 Weekend evening 108 16% 

156



 Centenary Park 11 3%  

 Chandos Recreation Ground 5 2%  

 Harrow Recreation Ground 72 23%  

 Harrow Weald Recreation Ground 23 7%  

 Headstone Manor Recreation Ground 24 8%  

 Kenton Recreation Ground 11 3%  

 Montesole Playing Fields 12 4%  

 Pinner Village Gardens 45 14%  

 Queensbury Recreation Ground 2 1%  

 Rayners Mead 16 5%  

 Roxeth Recreation Ground 5 2%  

 West Harrow Recreation Ground 73 24%  

 Not sure 5 2%  
 

 

12. Who do they play tennis with? 
 

 Friends 129 44% 

 Family 158 54% 

 Other 7  2% 
 
 
 
 
 
13. When did they last play at a Harrow park? 
 

 Within the last week 105 34% 

 Within the last month 129 42% 

 Within the last year 76 24% 
 

 

14. How do they get to the tennis courts? 
 

 Walk 244 79% 

 Cycle 23 8% 

 Drive 38 12% 

 Public transport 4 1% 

 Other 0 0% 
 
 
 
 
 
15. When do they play tennis? 
 

 Weekday daytime 114 19% 

 Weekday evening 146 24% 

 Weekend daytime 231 39% 
157



 Weekend evening 108 18% 
 

 

 

18. Are you aware there are public tennis courts in 13 of Harrow’s parks? 
 

 Yes 399 56% 

 No 219 31% 

 Not Sure 89 13% 
 

 

 

 

 

19. If the condition of all the tennis courts in Harrow’s parks was improved, would 
your usage: 
 

 Remain the same 294 41% 

 Increase 359 50% 

 Decrease 5 1% 

 Not sure 54 8% 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
20. If you already play tennis in our parks, would you use a different court if it were 
in better condition e.g. nearer to your home? 
 

 Yes 286 43% 

 No 233 35% 

 Not sure 146 22% 
 
 

 

21. If you do not play tennis on a regular basis, what would motivate you to play 
more? 
 

 Better court facilities 317  20% 

 Coaching 168  11% 

 Someone to play with 180  11% 

 Available when I want to play 255  16% 

 Ability to book in advance 199  12% 

158



 Free access to tennis 343  22% 

 Access to equipment 71  4% 

 Other 58  4% 
 

 

22. Which of these statements do you agree with? 

 

Yes, I am in favour of the investment and for an 
external operator to run the courts on the council’s 
behalf. I understand this will mean charges for tennis 
court users.  

404 57% 

 

No, I do not want the council to pursue the grant to 
renovate the tennis courts. I understand this will mean 
they will not be renovated as other funding sources 
have not been identified and some sites will remain 
closed/unplayable. 

310 43% 

 

Those living near courts assessed as unplayable responses: 
• Byron Recreation Ground – 47 responses 

o For – 35 (74%) 
o Against – 12 (26%) 

• Centenary Park – 64 responses 
o For – 54 (84%) 
o Against – 10 (16%) 

• Headstone Manor Recreation Ground – 78 responses 
o For – 56 (72%) 
o Against – 22 (28%) 

 
Those living near courts assessed as very good or good courts responses: 
• Rayners Mead – 22 responses 

o For – 9 (41%) 
o Against – 13 (59%) 

• Pinner Village Gardens – 93 responses 
o For – 55 (59%) 
o Against – 38 (41%) 

• West Harrow Rec – 91 responses 
o For – 26 (29%) 
o Against – 65 (71%) 
 

23. If the council proceeds with the investment, what would you be prepared to pay 
for the hire of a tennis court in Harrow? 
 

 £3-5 per hour 190 26.7% 

 £5-£7 per hour 98 13.7% 

 £7-£10 per hour 50 7.0% 

 £10- £12 per hour 12 1.7% 

 I don’t think there should be any charge 363 50.9% 
 
 

159



 
 
 
 
24. If the council proceeds with the investment, which of the below groups do you 
think should be offered discounted court hire? 
 

 Children under 18 521 29% 

 Adults over 65 378 21% 

 Disabled people 391 22% 

 Those claiming Universal Credit 307 17% 

 Other 198 11% 
 

 

 

25.Do you think an online booking system would help you to play more/less tennis? 
 

 I would play more tennis 249 35% 

 I would play about the same 141 20% 

 I would play less tennis 143 20% 

 I do not want to play tennis, so it does not affect me 75 11% 

 Not sure 103 14% 
 

 

 

26. What are your thoughts about paying for the hire of tennis courts via the online 
booking system? 
 

 I would be in favour if the courts were improved, 
and I could book a court at a time that suits me 

336 47% 

 I do not currently play, or intend to play tennis, 
so it does not affect me 

55 8% 

 I would not be in favour 320 45% 
 

 
 
 

 

28. If the council proceeds with the investment, would you be in favour of some free 
coach led sessions targeted at specific groups? 
 

 Yes 442 63% 

 No 136 19% 

 Not sure 124 18% 
 
 
 

160



 
 
29. Which would be of interest? 
 

 Children under 18, 367 39% 

 Adults over 65 180 19% 

 Disabled people 175 19% 

 Those claiming Universal Credit 132 14% 

 Other 80 9% 
 

 

30. What days of the week and time of the day do you think the free coach led 
sessions should be held? 
 

 Weekdays - Morning 175 13% 

 Weekdays - Afternoons 177 13% 

 Weekdays -Evenings 249 19% 

 Weekends - Mornings 298 23% 

 Weekends - Afternoons 251 19% 

 Weekends - Evenings 178 13% 
 

 

 

 

31. Are there any specific types of sessions you would like to see? 
 

 Youth 324 28% 

 Adult beginner 307 26% 

 Adult intermediate 151 13% 

 Adult advanced 71 6% 

 Cardio tennis 169 14% 

 Walking tennis 145 12% 

 Other 12 1% 
 

 
 
32. Would you be in favour of competitive tennis opportunities with people of a 
similar ability? 
 

  Yes 317 46% 

  No 186 27% 

  Unsure 191 27% 
 
 
 
 

161



 
 
 
 
 
33. Have you completed this questionnaire as a group, or on behalf of a group? 
 

 Yes 57 8% 

 No 641 92% 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

36. What is your age group? 
 

 Under 16 7 1% 

 16 - 24 years 23 3% 

 25 - 44 years 273 40% 

 45 - 64 years 288 42% 

 65 & over 100 14% 
 

 

 

162



Appendix 3 – Tennis Courts Consultation Written and Verbal Feedback 

 

Feedback Response 
1. Management of the courts: 

a. How would day to day issues 
with the courts be notified to the 
tennis operator? 

b. How often would the tennis 
courts be inspected and 
cleaned? 

c. Vandalism of the tennis courts is 
likely to be an issue especially if 
access gates are installed. 

d. Would people leave the courts 
after their hour session if the 
court had then been booked by 
someone else. 

e. How will it be ensured that there 
are not duplicate bookings  

f. Will people be locked into the 
courts until the end of their 
session? 

g. Why are you privatising the 
tennis courts? 

h. It should be ensured that there is 
a share of any profits made by a 
tennis operator with the Council. 

i. Could the tennis courts be 
managed in-house? 
 

 
a. The operator will be responsible for the operation and day to day 

maintenance of all the courts and will be required to ensure that regular 
checks of the courts are undertaken at each site. Coaching programmes 
will also be being delivered at the sites with coaches also checking the 
courts and picking up on any issues. The tennis operator will also be 
required to have a system in place where members of the public can notify 
them of any issues. 

b. The tender specification for a tennis operator will include the requirement 
for operators to detail their inspection regimes and their planned 
programme of cleaning on a daily, weekly, and monthly basis. 

c. The LTA have not seen a significant increase in vandalism of the courts 
where access gates have been installed. The feedback from the LTA has 
been that there have been a few instances of vandalism of the access 
gates where they have been installed elsewhere however there have been 
improvements to the gates and they now include vandal proof features. 
The courts being used more including the delivery of coaching programmes 
will help to limit the chances of vandalism. The LTA are also aware of 
damage to the courts in parks that do not have access gates caused by 
people using the courts for non-tennis purposes. Some respondees to the 
public consultation felt that damage to the tennis courts was currently being 
caused by those using the courts not for tennis. 

d. The feedback from the LTA is that other authorities have not experienced 
issues with people not wanting to leave the courts at the end of their 
session if it has been booked by someone else and that it has been self-
regulating. People can stay on the courts is no one has booked the court 
after their booked session ends.  

e. The LTA’s online ‘Clubspark’ booking system would be used to manage the 
bookings. This is already in use in a number of other local authorities 
where it has worked well and will ensure that duplicate bookings cannot be 
made. 

163



f. People who are using the tennis courts will be able to use the handle to 
open the access gates from the inside at any time during their booking. 

g. The courts would not be privatised. Under these investment plans, the 
courts would remain in public (council) ownership. The Council believes 
that an external company would be able to manage the refurbished courts 
more effectively and at a lower cost than if they were managed directly by 
the Council. 

h. The tennis operator will be required to provide a fixed guaranteed income 
per annum to the Council equivalent to the sinking fund requirement of 
£1,200 per court per annum. The sinking fund will be held in a ring-fenced 
Council account to fund future larger repairs such as resurfacing and 
replacing fencing. The tennis operator would be responsible for the 
maintenance of the access gates, access gate code generation fees, and 
day to day cleaning and maintenance costs.  A profit share arrangement 
would be in place between the Council and the operator for any surpluses 
achieved once these operating costs have been deducted. 

i. An external experienced tennis operator to manage the courts is felt to be 
the most efficient way forward and would provide the best possible service 
to users of the courts. An operator would have the staffing capacity to 
manage the courts 7 days a week and be able to provide the required ICT 
and as well as maintain and clean the courts. An external operator would 
also have the expertise to ensure delivery of the appropriate coaching and 
competitive tennis play. 

 
 

2. Funding Application and Tennis 
Offer 

a. Would the investment from 
the LTA include funding for 
floodlights? 

b. Will the proposals mean that 
the basketball court at 
Montesole Playing Fields will 
not be retained? 

a. No, the funding would not include installing floodlights at any of the parks. 
b. The basketball court at Montesole Playing Fields will be retained. The 

funding application will include funding to install a fence between the two 
tennis courts and the basketball court with separate entrance gates to the 
tennis courts and the basketball courts. 

c. It would be planned that there would be the formation of a new local tennis 
league in Harrow that will provide competitive tennis opportunities. For 
recreational tennis there will be the opportunity to meet with others at 
coaching sessions including at the free coach led sessions. 

164



c. Will there be the opportunity 
to play competitive tennis and 
to connect with other people 
to play recreational tennis? 

3. Charging: 
a. Those on lower incomes would 

not be able to afford to pay for 
the hire of tennis courts 
especially with the cost-of-living 
crisis, with the minimum number 
of four free weekly coach led 
sessions across the borough not 
being sufficient.  

b. Would the income generated 
from the pay and play sessions 
be sufficient to ensure that the 
courts are maintained?  

c. How would it be ensured that the 
income generated from the 
tennis courts will be ring fenced 
for maintaining the courts? 

d. What would happen if the 
contractor did not generate 
sufficient income to maintain the 
courts? Could the agreement be 
terminated early? 

e. Have annual individual and 
family memberships been 
considered? 

f. Some courts should remain free 
of charge so that everybody can 
afford to play tennis. 

g. The Council should enter into a 
funding agreement with the LTA 
to renovate the courts but should 

a. A question regarding who should be entitled to concessionary rates was 
included in the public questionnaire.  Children under 18 was the group that 
the greatest number of respondees to this question felt should be offered 
discounted court hire charges, followed by adults over 65, disabled people, 
and then those claiming Universal Credit.  The proposals do include a 
requirement for a minimum of one free weekly coach led session at 30% of 
the parks with equipment provided (4 parks). The Council will use the 
tender process to maximise the number of free coach led sessions that 
would be offered by prospective tennis operators at each park. 

b. The experience of other local authorities that have a booking system, 
access gates, and pay and play sessions in place for all their courts has 
been that sufficient income has been generated to ensure that the courts 
can be maintained. The LTA’s research has also identified that there is a 
local demand for tennis. 

c. £1,200 per court per annum will be held in a ring-fenced Council account 
as part of a sinking fund. This would be a requirement of the LTA funding 
and the same arrangement is in place for the 3G Artificial Grass Pitch at 
Bannister Sports Centre which was partly funded by the Premier League 
and the Football Association. 

d. There would be break clauses in the contract between the Council and the 
tennis operator that would mean that the contract with a tennis operator 
could be terminated early. 

e. Tennis operators would be asked to include proposed annual family and 
individual season tickets charges for those who want to play more regularly 
as part of their pricing strategy in the tender process. 

f. The LTA does not require that play and pay sessions are introduced for all 
courts. If some courts were free to use at all times, however, it would mean 
that some of the courts would not be generating any income towards the 
sinking fund and day-to-day maintenance costs.  

165



fund the maintenance of the 
courts so that the courts can 
remain free to use  

h. Other grants and funds to 
renovate and maintain the courts 
could be applied for meaning that 
the courts could remain free to 
use. 

i. There are several tennis clubs in 
Harrow that people can join if 
they want access to higher 
standard courts 

g. The Council does not have a budget to fund the maintenance of the courts. 
The income generated from the introduction of pay and play sessions 
would fund the maintenance of the courts. 

h. The LTA’s renovation fund does provide a one-off opportunity to renovate 
the tennis courts across all of the parks in Harrow, as well as ensuring that 
all courts can be maintained in the future. This will ensure that tennis courts 
are available locally to all residents in Harrow.  

i. The aim of the LTA’s renovation fund is aimed at recreational tennis play 
providing accessible adhoc playing opportunities on playable courts without 
having to sign up for a membership as would be the case with most tennis 
clubs. Those who wish to develop their game further can then join a club if 
they wish to do so. 
 

4. Current Usage of the Courts 
a. The tennis courts at many of the 

parks are used for a number of 
different uses by the community 
with limited use for tennis. By 
introducing access gates and 
charging access will be 
considerably reduced. If some of 
the courts were not included in 
the plans they could continue to 
be used for a variety of purposes 

b. Concerns that introducing a 
booking system would restrict 
spontaneous play 

a. The current condition of the courts at a majority of the parks, as well as the 
lack of promotion and tennis programmes available, is not encouraging 
people to play tennis. Over time, the courts currently used for other 
purposes would also become unplayable in the future, as they would 
continue to degrade without maintenance. The LTA has agreed to reduce 
the number of tennis courts from 3 to 2 at Chandos Recreation Ground due 
to a Neighbourhood CIL application that had been submitted prior to the 
LTA courts renovation funding becoming available to convert two of the 
courts to a MUGA and basketball court. Following engagement with the 
LTA and Sport England the LTA agreed that one of the courts could be 
converted. The LTA has confirmed, however, that they would require all the 
other courts to be included in the funding application, with access gates 
and a booking system in place and to be used for playing tennis only. Of 
those who responded to the consultation 80% indicated that they walked to 
the courts showing the importance of investing in the courts across all the 
parks. Any change of use of the tennis courts would be subject to the 
approval of Sport England and the Lawn Tennis Association – the National 
Governing Body for tennis. The council is developing a new Indoor and 
Outdoor Sports Facility Strategy which will support our ability to secure 
future funds to invest in other sporting activities in the parks. 

b. The online booking system can be used on smart phones meaning that a 
booking can be made by people already at the park if they see that a court 

166



is free. The tennis operator will also be expected to have an alternative 
method of court bookings for those not able to make bookings online. 

 

167



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Report for: Cabinet 

Date of Meeting: 17th November 2022 

Subject: New leases or lease renewals with a 
value over £250,000 
 

Key Decision: Yes 
 

Responsible Officer: Dipti Patel - Corporate Director Place 
 

Portfolio Holder: Councillor Norman Stevenson – Portfolio 
Holder for Business, Employment & 
Property 
 

Exempt: No, except for the Appendix which is 
exempt (Part II) under Section12a of the 
Local Government Act 1972 (as amended) 
as it contains information relating to the 
financial and business affairs of any 
particular person (including the authority 
holding that information). 
 

Decision subject to 
Call-in: 

Yes 
 

Wards affected: n/a 

Enclosures: Appendix 1 - EXEMPT 

 

169

Agenda Item 11
Pages 169 to 174



 
Section 1 – Summary and Recommendations 

The Council is due to enter into a number of commercial leases each with a 
value of more than £250,000 over the term. The Harrow Constitution states 
that a Cabinet decision is required to provide the necessary authority for all 
disposals over £250,000.  

Recommendations:  
Cabinet is requested to authorise the Corporate Director of Place, following 
consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Business, Employment & Property, 
to finalise and agree terms to enter into the nine leases listed in the Part II 
Appendix which are or will be at market value and will have a total value 
(over the term) of more than £250,000.  
 
Reason:  The leases specified in the Part II Appendix contribute to the 
budgeted income stream which the commercial property portfolio generates 
by way of the collection of rent. The buildings are either currently occupied 
by the tenants (and have been for several years) and their leases are being 
renewed, or the spaces are under offer to tenants following a period of open 
marketing.    
 

Section 2 – Report 

Introductory paragraph 
Under the Constitution, Section 4K ‘Financial Regulations’, sub-section F6, 
Land and Property Disposals, states the following: 
 
Corporate Directors in conjunction with the portfolio holder have delegated 
authority for General Land and Property disposals £0.250m. Anything above 
£0.250m must be reported to the Cabinet for approval. 
 
The leases listed in the Part II Appendix in this report are considered to be 
disposals as they are generally all for terms of more than seven years. They 
are all at market value having been negotiated by chartered surveyors in the 
Corporate Estates team. The value of each lease to the council (i.e. the sum 
of the revenues over the term) will exceed £250,000, so a Cabinet decision 
must be taken to give the necessary authority to the Corporate Director to enter 
into negotiations and, once satisfied that best value has been achieved and all 
other terms are acceptable, to complete the leases. In each case, the tenants 
are either already in the building under previous leases, or the space is under 
offer to a new tenant via an open marketing process.  
 
The rent from the leases will contribute to the Council’s annual income, and 
the letting of currently vacant units will allow savings to be made as the council 
will no longer be liable for the empty business rates and service charges.  

 

170



 
Options considered   
Option 1 - Do not enter the leases 
Option 2 - Enter into the leases at the best rent reasonably obtainable.  

Ward Councillors’ comments  

n/a as the income stream from the properties affects all wards 

Risk Management Implications 

Risks included on corporate or directorate risk register? No  
   

Separate risk register in place? No  
 
The relevant risks contained in the register are attached/summarised below.  
Risks included on corporate or directorate risk register? No  

   
Separate risk register in place? No  
 
The following key risks should be taken into account when agreeing the 
recommendations in this report: 
 
Risk Description Mitigations RAG Status 

 
The disposals are not for 
the best consideration 
reasonably obtainable 

These leases have been 
negotiated by chartered 
surveyors in the 
Corporate Estates team, 
as set out in the exempt 
Appendix . They have up 
to date knowledge of 
comparable transactions 
and wider market trends 
in the commercial 
property market and are 
satisfied that the terms 
proposed are at the best 
rent reasonably 
obtainable.  

Green 

If these renewals do not 
take place, there will 
additional budgetary 
pressures. 

Rental income will 
contribute to income 
targets for the council’s 
commercial and 
investment properties 
and the expeditious 
completion of these 
leases will result in the 
newly negotiated uplifted 
rents being 
implemented. Therefore 
not entering into these 
leases will create 

Green 

171



 
additional budgetary 
pressures.  

 

Procurement Implications 

Any purchase or sale of a property, interest in land, transaction in land and or 
lease transaction is excluded from the Contract Procedure Rules but must be 
authorised in accordance with the requirements set out in the Constitution 
and, specifically, Land and Buildings rules at paragraphs C83 to C85 and 
Section F Land and Property Disposals. 

Legal Implications 

The Council is authorised to make disposals at the best consideration 
reasonably obtainable pursuant to s.123 of the Local Government Act 1972. 
This power is given to Local Authorities to dispose of land in any manner they 
wish, including the sale of their freehold interests and the granting of leases. 
The only constraint is that a disposal must be for the best consideration 
reasonably obtainable (except in the case of short tenancies). A disposal at 
an undervalue requires the Secretary of State consents to the disposal 
(section 123, LGA 1972). 

Financial Implications 

Corporate Estates manages all leases across the corporate and investment 
property portfolio and has a total income target of £4.9m for rent generated 
from commercial lettings. The exempt Appendix sets out the nine lease 
renewals and new leases over £250k due in the next two financial years. The 
renewals will continue to generate income to contribute to the income targets. 
The new lettings will provide additional income which can be used to address 
the budget pressure currently reported within the investment property 
portfolio due to vacant space.  There is no reason not to enter into these 
leases which have been negotiated by chartered surveyors in the Corporate 
Estates team, who are satisfied that market value has been achieved in each 
case.  
 

Section 3 - Statutory Officer Clearance 

Statutory Officer:  Jessie Man 
Signed on behalf of Chief Financial Officer 
Date:  4.11.22 

Statutory Officer:  Amanpreet Lally 
Signed on behalf of the Monitoring Officer 
Date:  4.11.22 

172



 
Chief Officer:  Dipti Patel 
Signed by the Corporate Director 
Date:  8.11.22 

Head of Procurement: Nimesh Mehta  
Signed by the Head of Procurement 
Date:  4.11.2022 

Head of Internal Audit:  Susan Dixson 
Signed by the Head of Internal Audit 
Date: 4.11.2022 

Mandatory Checks 

Ward Councillors notified:  NO, as it impacts on all Wards  

EqIA carried out:  NO 
 
There are considered to be no equalities implications resulting from this 
report's proposals. 

Section 4 - Contact Details and Background 
Papers 

Contact:  Sophie Linton MA MRICS, Service Manager – Estates, 
sophie.linton@harrow.gov.uk  

Background Papers: None 

Call-in waived by the Chair of Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee - NO 
. 
 
 

173

mailto:sophie.linton@harrow.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Report for: Cabinet 

Date of Meeting: 17 November 2022 

Subject: School Organisation Update and School 
Capital Programme 
 

Key Decision: Yes - there will be capital expenditure in 
excess of £1m and two or more wards of 
the Borough will be affected  
 

Responsible Officer: Senel Arkut – Corporate Director People 
Services;  
Peter Tolley - Director of Children’s 
Services  
 

Portfolio Holder: Councillor Hitesh Karia - Portfolio Holder for 
Children’s Services 
 

Exempt: No 
 

Decision subject to 
Call-in: 

Yes  
  
 

Wards affected: All 

Enclosures: Appendix A:  School Roll Projections 
2022/2023 to 2034/2035 Report 
Appendix B: Equalities Impact Assessment 
 

 

175

Agenda Item 12
Pages 175 to 294



 
Section 1 – Summary and Recommendations 

This report provides an update on the school roll projections for 2022/2023-
2034/2035 which informs all school place planning and provides an 
overview of other School Organisation initiatives. The report also outlines 
the capital programme required to deliver the school organisation priorities. 

Recommendations:  
Cabinet is requested to: 

1. Note the update on the implementation of the school expansion 
programme, the School Roll Projections for 2022/2023-2034/2035 
Report and the changes in the overall school organisation landscape. 

2. Agree to publish statutory notices to establish the Additional 
Resourced Mainstream School (ARMS) provision at Pinner Wood, 
Stanburn and Grange primary schools, and expansion at Shaftesbury 
High School in accordance with the School Expansion Programme. 

3. Delegate authority to the Director of Children’s Services, following 
consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Children’s Services to 
determine the Statutory Notices. 

4. Approve the commencement of a procurement process to 
compliantly select contractor(s) to deliver the projects within the 
capital programme to implement the proposals to increase special 
educational provision associated with the School Expansion 
Programme. 

5. Delegate authority to the Corporate Director of Place, following 
consultation with the Portfolio Holders for Children’s Services, 
Environment & Community Safety, Business, Employment & 
Property and Finance and Human Resources to award contracts 
following the compliant completion of each procurement associated 
with the Schools Expansion Programme.  

6. Delegate authority to the Director of Children’s Services, following 
consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Children’s Services to 
publish statutory notices to increase interim capacity from September 
2023 for pupils with severe and complex needs. 

7. Delegate authority to the Director of Children’s Services, following 
consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Children’s Services to 
determine statutory notices to increase interim capacity from 
September 2023 for pupils with severe and complex needs 

8. Delegate authority to the Corporate Director of Place, following 
consultation with the Portfolio Holders for Environment & Community 
Safety, Business, Employment & Property and Finance and Human 
Resources to procure and appoint a contractor to deliver the 
associated accommodation requirements. 

9. Delegate authority to the Director of Children’s Services, following 
consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Children’s Services to 
determine Admission Arrangements for community schools in 
Harrow. 

Reason: (for recommendations)   
To enable the Local Authority to fulfil its statutory duties to provide sufficient 
school places in its area. 

176



 
Section 2 – Report 
1. The Local Authority has a statutory responsibility to provide sufficient 

school places for its area.  Like many boroughs, Harrow experienced 
significant growth in the pupil population and implemented strategies to 
increase the number of school places. Initially this rise in population 
was experienced in the primary sector. Increasing pupil numbers are 
now emerging at secondary level as the pupils move from primary 
phase to secondary. The current projections show that the pupil 
population in primary schools is declining across Harrow and London. 
The projections for special educational needs provision are continuing 
to rise requiring additional places to be created. 

 
2. Previous reports have set out the strategies agreed by Cabinet to 

increase provision across primary, secondary and special schools to 
meet pupil growth.  This report is an update on the implementation of 
school organisation strategy and highlights the emerging place 
planning issues as informed by the School Roll Projections 2022/2023-
2034/2035 Report.  

Options considered   
 
3. To implement the school organisation strategy and SEND strategy a 

school capital programme is required to provide sufficient and 
appropriate accommodation. To achieve the outcomes required the 
following options were considered: 
 
Option 1: Do Nothing – this would not be a viable option because to 
implement the changes to school organisation a capital programme is 
required. 

 
Option 2: To implement the schools capital programme to provide 
suitable and sufficient accommodation. 
 

School Organisation 
 
Overview 

4. Additional school places have been created in Harrow in phases to meet 
increased demand as it arises.  The Local Authority has increased places 
in primary and secondary schools by expanding individual schools, 
through the Government’s Free School Programme and by creating an 
all through school.  Special school places have been increased through 
special school expansions and the creation of additionally resourced 
provision at mainstream schools.  The focus is now on managing the 
supply of primary school places, working with secondary schools to meet 
rising demand and increasing places in special education provision. 
 

Changes to the school organisation landscape 
 

Community School Admission Arrangements and Published 
Admission Numbers 

177



 
5. All Harrow resident pupils who applied for a place at a primary school for 

September 2022 were offered a place. There was sufficient capacity to 
meet demand with surplus places available. Recently, in Harrow and 
many other London boroughs, the number of primary applications has 
been falling and local authorities are managing the changes in demand 
by working with schools to lower published admission numbers. 
However, for September 2022 the number of on time applications 
received for Reception places increased by 100 in comparison to 2021. 
This increase is being monitored. 
 

6. Due to the change in projected demand in the primary phase the Council 
has worked on an informal basis with schools where the demand for 
places has fallen for several years.  In order to support schools where 
the demand for places has remained low and with the agreement of the 
Governing Body at the school, the number of places at some schools has 
been reduced.  The agreement with schools is on the basis that should 
the need for school places increase the capacity will be reinstated and 
the schools will admit pupils to their original published admission 
number.  
 

7. Since September 2019 the following reductions in Published 
Admissions Numbers (PAN) have been implemented for Reception 
classes. 
 
Academic 
Year 

School Original 
 PAN 

New 
PAN 

Reduction/ 
Increase 

The Welldon Park Academy 90 60 -30 (1FE) 2019 
Cedars Manor School 90 60 -30 (1FE) 

2020 Weald Rise Primary School 120 60 -60 (2FE) 
Longfield Primary School 120 90 -30 (1FE) 
Roxbourne Primary School 90 60 -30 (1FE) 
Kenmore Park Infant School 120 90 -30 (1FE) 
Kenmore Park Junior School 120 90 -30 (1FE) 

2021 

Cannon Lane Primary 
School 

120 90 -30 (1FE) 

Cannon Lane Primary 
School 

90 120 +30 (1FE) 2022 

Stanburn Primary School  120 90 -30 (1FE) 
2023 Grange Primary School 90 60  -30 (1FE) 

 
8. For September 2021 Harrow Council received 180 less on time 

applications for Reception across the borough which was not in line 
with the GLA projections.  It is assumed that this decline was as a 
result of Brexit as well as the Covid-19 pandemic.  It is noted that many 
other London boroughs received fewer applications than projected. In 
this context, an in-year variation was sought by the Office of the 
Schools Adjudicator (OSA) to reduce the PAN for Cannon Lane 
Primary School on 25 June.  The OSA agreed the request on 23 July 
2021. The need for this request was unforeseen because in the 
previous year the school offered up to its PAN of 120. 
 

178



 
9. However, for September 2022 the demand for places for Cannon Lane 

Primary School increased and 120 places were offered in line with 
previous years. 
 

10. For September 2023 following a consultation the PAN for Grange 
Primary School has been determined at 60 places in Reception class, 
a reduction from 90. 
 

11. There are no proposed changes for the admission arrangements for 
community schools for September 2024/25. The arrangements will be 
determined by the Director of Children’s Services in consultation with 
the Portfolio Holder for Children’s Services. 

 
12. Officers will continue to work with schools to manage school places for 

all year groups to support schools during this period whilst ensuring 
that the Local Authority has sufficient capacity to meet any demand for 
places. 

 
Harrow Council’s School Amalgamation Policy 

13. There is one remaining infant school and one remaining junior school 
yet to be amalgamated in accordance with the policy.  
 

14. Stag Lane Primary School amalgamated on 1 April 2020 and Pinner 
Park Primary School on 1 April 2019. Pinner Park Primary School 
amalgamation works were completed in October 2022. The 
amalgamation works required for Stag Lane Primary School have been 
rescheduled to commence after schools close in Summer 2023. 
 
Secondary schools 

15. Secondary school place planning is more susceptible to changes within 
neighbouring boroughs and beyond.  For example, there is an 
established pattern of Harrow pupils travelling to grammar, 
independent or faith schools not located in Harrow.  
 

16. Secondary schools continue to work with the Local Authority to ensure 
that every Harrow resident applicant has an offer of a school place, and 
Officers will continue their discussions with secondary headteachers to 
discuss options of how to meet future demand. 
 

17. For September 2022, four schools agreed to open bulge classes to 
ensure that the Local Authority had sufficient places for National Offer 
Day and that every Harrow resident applicant had an offer of a school 
place. Following the movement that follows the first round of offers, it 
was determined that these additional places were not needed. 
 

18. In the first half of the autumn term, when schools re-open there is 
always a period of movement in the availability of school places. During 
this time schools confirm that pupils who have not returned to school 
have moved and are attending another school. Once these details are 
confirmed the places are released and offered. 
 

179



 
19. At the beginning of the September 2022 term, to ensure all pupils were 

offered a school place, the Local Authority used the Fair Access 
Protocol to admit pupils over secondary schools’ published admission 
numbers across all year groups. 
 

20. It was agreed that Officers would meet with secondary headteachers 
on 7 December to consider options, such as bulge classes to meet the 
growing demand for places in high schools as the number of places 
available in all year groups in the secondary sector has reduced 
considerably. 
 

Demographic School Roll Projections and 
Implications 
 Overall projections 
21. Harrow, along with many other London boroughs, commission school 

roll projections from the Greater London Authority’s (GLA) School Roll 
Projections Service. A range of data is used to project school rolls, 
including the underlying population projection base incorporating births, 
migration and housing development, and school factors including 
applications and pupil numbers on roll.   
 

22. The roll projections are prepared for the whole borough to provide a 
strategic and overarching picture and for Planning Areas. For primary 
school places there are five geographic Planning Areas. There are 
three secondary school geographic Planning Areas.  
 

23. The GLA provides the baseline projections to which local knowledge is 
applied to make reasonable adjustments in line with pressure at 
Reception, Year 7 and other school year groups.  The School Roll 
Projections 2022/23-2034/35 are presented at Appendix A.  
 

24. The 2022 GLA pupil projections continue to indicate a change to the 
trends of the last 5 years when the trend had been an increase in 
primary pupil numbers followed by a plateau.  The Reception place 
projections last year indicated a plateau over the period covered in the 
report. The Reception projections for 2022 increase for the first year, 
followed by a dip that continues to fall until 2029/30 when the 
projections start to increase very slightly.  The Year 7 projections in 
2022 increase for the first year, followed by a slight dip, which 
continues, with a little fluctuation in 2027/28, until the end of the period 
in 2034/35.  

 
Housing development and School Place Planning 

25. Harrow’s increasing pupil population has in the past been attributable 
to changes in demography, increases in birth rates and migration, 
rather than the availability of new homes. A key variable for school roll 
projections is the impact of new housing developments.  The housing 
landscape of Harrow is already beginning to change with developments 
underway, nearing completion and occupied such as at the former 
Zoom leisure site Kodak West. This transformation will continue over 

180



 
the next decade especially with Harrow’s regeneration programme. 
Being prepared for an increased number of children emerging from 
Harrow’s housing developments is the next challenge in terms of 
school place planning.  
 

26. The School Roll Projections are informed by Harrow’s housing 
trajectory which includes information on the number of new dwellings 
completed, permissions granted and schemes in the pipeline. Annexe 
4 of the School Roll Projections explains the use of the housing data 
and presents the housing developments over 50 units by School 
Planning Areas. This is important information because it allows the 
assessment of the possible impact of the developments on local 
schools over time.  
 

27. Some of the possible impacts that Officers will monitor over time will be 
the: 
• Impact on the birth to Reception class conversion rate. The rate 

dropped from 88% in 2017/18 to 85% in 2018/19 but reverted 
back to 88% in 2019/20.  The rate reduced to 84% in 2020/21 
and 2021/22 and is projected to remain between 85-87% over 
the next few years and is then projected to continue declining. A 
change may arise affecting demand which is not attributed to a 
change in birth rate. The birth rate is also affected by the further 
areas monitored as below.   

• Families moving into Harrow with siblings across school years, 
• Effect of existing families moving into new homes and the impact 

on established local admission patterns, 
• Impact of new schools, including Voluntary Aided (VA) schools 

now and in the future, both in Harrow and on its borders, on 
established local admission patterns, 

• The impact of Brexit, internal and international migration and the 
Covid-19 pandemic. 

 
28. The headline details for primary and secondary school place planning 

as informed by the Reception and Year 7 projections are outlined 
below. 
 
Reception Projections and School Place Planning  

29. Harrow’s demographic profile of children entering its primary schools 
had shown an increasing trend over a ten-year period since 2005-06.  
The increases in numbers of primary age children had been very 
significant and posed challenges for the Local Authority and schools to 
ensure sufficient school places for all children. 
 

30. The demand for places changed in 2015/16 and is still changing. The 
Reception projections for 2022, as in the last few years, are lower with 
a slight decrease projected over the next 10 years.  The main reasons 
for these changes are:  
 
• This year’s birth to Reception retention rate of 84% is based on 

one of Harrow’s highest ever birth rates - 3,624 births in 2016/17 

181



 
converting to only 3,048 Reception children in Harrow’s schools 
in 2021/22.  Harrow’s highest level of births of 3,661 in 2015/16 
dropped to 3,506 in 2019/20.  Harrow’s birth rate is projected to 
continue falling over the next 3 years, followed by a steady 
increase into 2030 and beyond.  
 

• The Reception baseline projections have a slightly lower starting 
point of 3,120 (Baseline) and 3,182 (+2%) for 2022/23, which is 
followed by a steady continued decline. The previously projected 
continued sharp increases into the next decade are no longer 
projected.   

 
• The small increases in numbers of Reception children that have 

been seen in some recent years are insignificant in comparison 
to the increases in previous years.  There was a 4-year trend of 
increases ranging between 122 and 221 additional children in 
Reception classes between 2011/12 and 2014/15.  Fewer than 
expected children have entered Reception classes in Harrow in 
2015/16, 2016/17, 2017/18 (3,189 pupils), with an even lower 
number on roll in 2018/19 and 2019/20 (3,079 pupils). There 
was a very small increase in 2020/21 to 3,089, but the most 
recent number fell to 3,048 in 2021/22.   

 
31. Following the expansion programme and the opening of free schools 

Harrow has 3,480 permanent Reception places. There are vacancies in 
Reception classes which are concentrated in a number of schools. 
Given the significant increase in school places to meet rising demand 
there needs to be a period of time for the situation to settle and be 
monitored. Where a reduction in number of places would be beneficial 
to a school to manage mobility and fluctuations Officers have engaged 
with the schools on an individual basis.  
 

32. Overall, across Harrow there are sufficient places available compared 
with the projections.  The position in the Primary Planning Areas varies 
in respect of the actual number of pupils on roll and future demand. 
Based on the Baseline projections there is a surplus of Reception 
places (Forms of Entry – FE) projected in the following Planning Areas 
between 2022/23 and 2034/35:  
 
• North East (1 to 3 FE) 
• North West (0.5 to 4 FE) 
• South East (1 to 5 FE) 
• South West (1 to 4 FE) 

 
33. This is not consistent across all Planning Areas. There continues to be 

a shortfall of places in the Central Planning Area (0.5 to 4 FE).  
 

34. The Central Planning Area is the only planning area that is indicating a 
significant shortfall of places over time. Both the Baseline and +2% 
projections suggest a shortfall of places in 2022/23, with a shortfall of 
0.5 (Baseline) and 1 form of entry (+2%).  This deficit is projected to 

182



 
continue increasing, reaching a shortfall of 2 forms of entry (Baseline 
and +2%) in 2029/30 and continuing to 4 forms of entry deficit by 
2034/35.   As at October half-term 2022 there is no spare capacity in 
the Central Planning Area in the Reception year group. 

 
35. The Central Primary Planning Area has the majority of housing 

developments planned and the increase in projected pupils is aligned 
with the estimated timescale for the developments to be completed. 
Further discussions about the projections, revision to the density of the 
developments and timescale are required to ensure that there is 
sufficient capacity.   
 

36. Harrow View Primary School is planned to have 3 forms of entry or 90 
places per year group and with the additional provision of an ARMS 
unit for pupils with special educational needs. Discussions have taken 
place with The Harrow Academies Trust with regards to possible 
specialist provision. Officers continue discussions with the Education 
and Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) and the School Trust regarding the 
opening and of the Harrow View Primary School. This school will be 
located within the Central Planning Area. 
 

37. Free school places are not included in the available school places until 
there is a Funding Agreement in place, although they are notionally 
planned or assumed in the assessment of need for future places. 
 

38. Over the medium and long term, given the volume of housing 
developments, the situation will be kept under review because it is 
important to bring forward places with demand arising from the 
developments and avoid surplus provision over the short term. The 
impact of the developments included in Harrow’s 2021/21 trajectory is 
not expected to be immediate, and surveys are needed to ascertain the 
occupancy and therefore potential impact on school places in the mid 
to long term. 
 

39. The data for each Primary Planning Area is provided in Appendix A 
Section 4. 
 
Year 7 projections and Place Planning 

40. The 2022 projections for Year 7 places are slightly lower than the 2021 
projections.  The actual number of pupils on roll has risen from 1,932 in 
2012/13 to 2,670 in 2019/20, however they dropped slightly to 2,622 in 
2020/21 and then increased slightly to 2,633 in 2021/22.   
 

41. The projections are overall set to start steadily falling over the period 
covered in the report (2022/23 to 2034/35).  2,681 (Baseline) and 2,735 
(+2%) places are projected for 2022/23. Based on the Baseline School 
Roll Projections (SRP) there is projected to be a surplus of places from 
2 FE in 2022/23 which increases to 14 FE by 2034/35. Based on the 
+2% SRP, there will be a shortfall of up to 1 form of entry in 2023/24, 
which increases to 12 FE by 2034/35. At this time there are just under 
1.5 forms of entry Year 7 places available, this is due to vacancies that 
are concentrated in a small number of schools.   

183



 
 

42. The projections do not show a shortfall of places for secondary 
schools. However, there has been an increase of in-year applications 
which has increased the demand for places across all year groups.  As 
there are single sex schools within the secondary phase, they can 
mask the need for places. 

 
SEND Strategy  
 
Special Educational Needs Provision 
 
43. Harrow’s SEND Strategy 2019-2024 outlines the current context for 

SEND nationally and locally, it sets out the guiding principles and four 
strategic priorities. The 2024-2029 SEND Strategy will be co-produced 
over the next 18 months with the Council facilitating the process. This 
will include reviewing progress against the 4 priorities in the 2019-2024 
strategy as well as collaboratively reviewing SEND data and 
developing the priorities for the next 5 years. The Council anticipates 
that expansion of provision will remain a priority for the next 5 years.  
 

44. In line with the key priority, to reduce out borough placements, Harrow 
is progressing 2 main strands of development: 

• A ‘Whole System Shift’ model 

• Further expansion of the additional resourced mainstream school 
(ARMS) provision 

45. The ‘Whole System Shift’ is a strategic and cultural approach across all 
Harrow’s special and mainstream schools to develop the education 
provision on offer in Harrow as a continuum of provision, in order to 
ensure that the finite numbers of special school places are prioritised 
for children and young people (CYP) with the greatest complexity of 
need.  
 

46. The Local Authority has carried out projection modelling for pupil 
planning purposes to identify requirements for SEND provision and the 
most cost-effective provision model. These will be updated on an 
annual basis once the sequential September phase transfers are 
confirmed.    
 

47. Analysis of data on primary categories of need and projection 
modelling has shown that there are now greater numbers of CYP in 
Harrow with SEND who have increasing levels of need such that they 
will be identified as having severe learning difficulties (SLD). Based on 
actual pupil numbers of CYP who required SLD provision, between 
2015 and 2019, and projections of pupil numbers and need, the 
projections show that, 25 new children each year will require SLD 
special school provision.  
 

48. The projection modelling confirms that the immediate and significant 
pressure is for secondary phase SLD special school places from 

184



 
September 2020. To accommodate this immediate place pressure 
Harrow Council expanded Kingsley High Special School to its full 
capacity, from 96 to 102 places from September 2021 and created a 
temporary satellite provision for 24 CYP from September 2022. 
 

49. Analysis of SEND data and trends indicate that there will continue to be 
growth in demand for primary SLD special school places. Prior to 2020, 
the growth in numbers has been largely accommodated in the primary 
sector, through two expansions at a primary SLD special school 
(Woodlands School) and the development of a primary SLD resourced 
provision in a mainstream school (Belmont School). These 
developments have managed demand in the primary sector but as the 
pupils roll through this will create pressure in the secondary sector. 
 

50. Current projections show that Harrow requires 180 additional special 
school places by 2025 and a total of 330 additional places by 2029.  
The Special Free School Bid for 292 places, if successful will make a 
substantial contribution as detailed below. 
 

51. The LA is working collaboratively with the four special schools in 
Harrow, two of which are designated moderate learning difficulties 
(MLD), to explore and progress how best SLD provision can be 
expanded across a ‘Whole System Shift’ model and subsequently how 
MLD provision can be expanded and developed within mainstream 
schools.  The engagement and commitment of the MLD schools and 
mainstream schools to develop ARMS provision, to the ‘Whole System 
Shift’ model is critical to the LA’s SEND Strategy and a key priority to 
increase the number of SLD places.  To further support the System 
Shift, it is necessary that the range of special educational need met in 
the two MLD schools widens, to include more pupils with complex 
needs. Since September 2020, both Alexandra and Shaftesbury 
Schools have admitted approximately 15 pupils with more complex 
needs who would previously not have been considered, including 
several pupils from Woodlands School. This creates additional capacity 
in the two schools designated as for pupils with severe learning 
difficulties (SLD).   
 

52. This approach will reduce future pressures on the High Needs Block 
(HNB) created by expensive out of borough placements thus enabling 
spend to benefit the development of Harrow’s school provision for 
Harrow pupils. In addition, this approach will secure diversity in the 
provision of schools and increase choice for parental preference. 
 

53. With the establishment of a ‘Whole System Shift’ model, pathway 
projections determine that approximately, 48 secondary and 36 primary 
ARMS places will need to be developed by 2026 to meet capacity of 
demand for MLD pupils who would have previously been offered an 
MLD special school place.  
 
Additionally Resourced Mainstream Schools (ARMS) 

54. Three primary schools and one secondary school are working with the 
Local Authority to create additional ARMS provision. 

185



 
 
1. Grange Primary School 
2. Pinner Wood Primary School 
3. Stanburn Primary School 
4. Canons High School 
 
Name Need Number of places 
Grange Primary School MLD 12  
Grange nursery Complex needs 12 part-time places (6 FTE) 
Stanburn Primary School MLD 12 
Pinner Wood Primary 
School 

MLD 12 

Canons High School MLD 12 
 
55. All places in these provisions will be above the school’s existing 

planned admission numbers (PAN) and will be opened in a phased 
manner over the next two years, starting in September 2023. 
 

56. Pre-consultations were undertaken at all three primary schools 
between 24 January 2022 and 11 February 2022. The majority of 
responses were in support of the provisions opening.   
 

57. Schools have agreed the proposed designs of primary school ARMS 
accommodation. The next stage will be to obtain revised costs for the 
projects before seeking approval to publish statutory notices. The 
process of publishing statutory notices gives residents 4 weeks to 
make comments on the full proposals.  
 

58. After the 4 weeks any comments received will be considered and 
Officers will report the findings to the delegated decision makers.  The 
Council has 2 months in order to make a decision about the proposals.  
 
The options are to: 

• reject the proposal, 
• approve the proposal without modification, 
• approve the proposal with modifications, having consulted the 

LA and/or GB (as appropriate) or 
approve the proposal, with or without modification – subject to certain 
conditions (such as the granting of planning permission) being met. 

 
59. For each of these schemes, proposals will be developed, appropriate 

consultation carried out, statutory notices will be published and 
determined to increase SEND provision in accordance with the SEND 
Strategy. 
 

60. These additional ARMS places will create capacity in the special 
schools for pupils with more complex needs.  
 

61. Shaftesbury High School - In September 2021 the school increased 
commissioned numbers to 180. The school has taken an additional 5 
pupils whose school pathway previously would have been to Kingsley 

186



 
High. In line with the ‘System Shift’ we will increase the capacity on the 
school site to of 200 places. Internal works are being scoped and were 
originally planned to be implemented by September 2022 to ensure 
that the school is able to accommodate 200 pupils.  Delays in works 
mean that the additional places will be available from September 2023. 
 

62. Additional capacity was required for pupils with SLD for September 
2022. To accommodate this need, a temporary satellite provision was 
opened at Weald Rise Primary School for 20 to 24 Kingsley High 
pupils. 
 

63. Planning is already underway for additional capacity for September 
2023 as a similar number of places will be required to meet the 
demand of pupils leaving Woodlands.  Options are being explored and 
will be presented and determined using the delegations being sought. 
 
Government’s Special Free School Programme 

64. In June 2022 the DfE invited local authorities to submit bids for a 
Special Free School by 21st October 2022. Harrow Council, in 
accordance with the SEND strategy has submitted a bid. The bid is for 
an all through (for pupils aged 4–19) special school for 292 pupils with 
severe and complex needs.  
 

65. Harrow is also a partner to the special free school bid prepared and 
submitted by Ealing Council to establish a new school for 160 pupils 
aged 4–19 for pupils who have severe learning difficulties. Ealing have 
identified land at Northolt High School for this school. It is anticipated 
that Harrow would be able to utilise approximately 4 places a year in 
the primary phase (28 places in total for YR to Y6) and 8 places per 
year in the secondary phase (40 in total for Y7-Y11, with sixth form 
depending upon the most appropriate progression for each young 
person).   
 

66. If the bids are successful, this will make a significant contribution to 
managing demand for Harrow’s pupils. The additional places will mean 
more pupils with severe and complex needs will have an opportunity to 
remain in a local Harrow school or nearby.  This will reduce the 
pressure on the High Needs Block (HNB) and SEN Transport. This 
joint approach demonstrates that Harrow’s demand for special school 
places requires a combination of solutions. 
 

67. Officers have engaged with the Harrow Parent Forum, other parent 
groupings and headteachers regarding the bids. All are supportive of 
the approach. 
 

68. Successful local authorities will be announced by the DfE by the end 
2022 or early in 2023. Competitions will then launch in the successful 
areas through the publication of local authority specifications and 
proposer guidance. The final approval for the special school will be 
made in September 2023 and then the project will move into the pre-
opening stage with the Academy Trust and DfE. Schools will open in 
September 2025 at the earliest. 

187



 
 

69. If successful, a site for the Harrow special school will need to be 
secured within Harrow by the DfE or through other means. If 
unsuccessful, other options will need to be explored to meet the 
growing demand. 

 
School Capital Programme 2020-2025 
70. To support the SEND expansions the following schools will have a 

Capital project to ensure that there is suitable and sufficient 
accommodation. These are funded by the DfE’s High Needs Provision 
Capital Allocations Grant 

  
1. Grange Primary School 
2. Pinner Wood School 
3. Stanburn Primary School 
4. Canons High School 
5. Woodlands Primary School 
6. Shaftesbury High School 
7. Alexandra Primary School 
9. Kingsley satellite at Weald Rise Primary School 
10. Additional SLD/ASD provision required by September 2023 
 
With the exception of Canons High School, the Council will be 
delivering the Capital Programmes. As an academy, Canons High 
School will commission and manage its own Capital programme 
funded by the Council. 

 
71. The majority of works for the primary schools involves refurbishing 

existing areas. 
 
72. The Woodlands Primary School capital programme will secure 

permanent modular accommodation replacing temporary buildings. 
The programme for Canons High School will create new 
accommodation incorporated within their master site development plan. 

 
SEND Strategy and High Needs Bock (HNB) 
73. The SEND Strategy is designed to improve outcomes for children and 

young people across Harrow.  It is essential that the Strategy also 
reduces pressure on the high needs budgets and funding systems.  
Over recent years, significant pressures on the high needs budgets 
have resulted in many local authorities accruing deficits on their 
Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG). This includes Harrow. At the end of 
March 2022, the cumulative deficit stands at £4.007m. 
 

74. A number of actions are being taken by the government, including the 
SEND review of funding that is currently underway and the published 
Green Paper.  Alongside this, Officers are evaluating the strategy’s 
effectiveness against the five key areas considered essential to deliver 
a sustainable high needs funding system.   
 

75. The five key areas are: 
 

188



 
1. Early intervention - In order to ensure children and young people’s 

needs are appropriately identified and met from an early stage, 
colleagues from early years, education, care and health will review 
existing working practices to ensure support is available early and 
partners know where to access this. This will include representation 
from parent groups. During the pandemic, teams worked creatively 
and collaboratively to ensure support was available quickly for 
children in need, and this learning will inform future strategic work 
on this area. Recently, increased early support has been possible 
through evaluation and restructure of a number of panels to allow 
membership from a broader range of professionals.   
 

2. Increased SEN support offer – A working party has been set up 
which will be led by schools to review the SEN support offer.  This 
will include colleagues from across health and care, and will review 
the current offer of support available, allowing children to receive 
high quality support without requiring an Education Heath Care plan 
(EHCP).  This will include CPD and outreach work between 
settings.   

 
3. Review EHCP assessment process and thresholds – the SEN 

assessment process is being reviewed to ensure that it runs 
effectively and in a sustainable way, whilst remaining in line with the 
SEND legislation.  The SEN panel process has been recently 
altered to allow for targeted representation from the most 
appropriate colleagues. An audit of the quality of EHCPs has also 
started.  Officers also consider feedback provided through the 
mediation and tribunal process.   
 

4. Culture change and work with school leaders – School leaders have 
been engaged with the SEND Strategy and Whole System Shift and 
are in agreement with its rationale.  School leaders are included at 
all stages of reviewing the SEND Strategy.   
 

5. Appropriate and thorough provision mapping, with potential 
development of more local provision – As described above, council 
officers work continually to predict the required provision for the 
coming years. A key element of the SEND Strategy is ensuring 
adequate provision and is described above.   

 
Performance Issues 
76. Schools in Harrow perform well in comparison to national and 

statistically similar local authorities.  The vast majority of primary 
schools and secondary schools are judged ‘good’ or ‘outstanding’ by 
OfSTED.  As at 31st December 2021, 93% of Harrow’s primary and 
secondary schools are judged ‘good’ (49%) or ‘outstanding’ (44%), in 
line with 93% in London (49% Good, 44% Outstanding) and above 
87% nationally (68% Good, 19% Outstanding) (Source: Ofsted Data 
View). 

 

189



 
77. The Education Act 2011 maintains a focus on driving up standards in 

schools, and emphasises the responsibility with the schools directly for 
their improvement.   

 
78. The Local Authority continues to monitor key education indicators.  The 

indicators are used locally to monitor, improve and support education 
at both school and Local Authority level.  They are also used as part of 
the information provided to the Department for Education. 

 
79. There is a complex relationship between a number of other 

performance issues such as traffic congestion, road safety, traffic and 
parking enforcement and travel plan performance, and all these 
considerations are taken into account in assessing school expansion 
proposals. 

 
Environmental Implications 
80. Harrow Council passed a motion to declare a climate emergency on 18 

July 2019, with the aim to make Harrow a carbon neutral organisation 
by 2030. This is a very challenging ambition and Harrow Schools are 
expected to adopt a more proactive approach to minimise their energy 
wastage and carbon footprint in line with the borough and central 
government’s carbon reduction targets and objectives. The heating and 
power requirements of the borough’s maintained schools are a 
significant part of the overall carbon footprint that is attributable to the 
Council’s estate. Reducing emissions from schools is therefore a vital 
component in meeting the Council’s target. 
 

81. In expanding existing schools, consideration should be given to 
delivering building works in a way that minimises the greenhouse gas 
emissions associated with the project, including in the selection of 
materials.   Of particular importance will be the use of low carbon 
technologies – particularly for space heating – and these will need to 
be thoroughly investigated during the design phase. Council run 
procurement processes will also be required to actively test prospective 
suppliers on their ability to deliver greenhouse gas emissions 
reductions, in accordance with the Council’s Low Carbon Procurement 
Policy adopted by cabinet in March 2022.  
 

82. For many of the projects in the school expansion programme, planning 
applications are required, and part of the application is a school travel 
plan.  Through this process and the development of the solutions for 
the schools, the impact of the additional pupils and their travel modes 
will be addressed. 
 

Data Protection Implications 
83. There are no data protection implications with this proposal. 

 
Ward Councillors’ comments  
 
84. None as this affects all wards in Harrow. Where there are specific 

school proposals, Ward Councillor are informed. 

190



 
Risk Management Implications 

85. Risks included on corporate or directorate risk register? Yes, this is 
included in the directorate risk register. 
   

86. Separate risk register in place? No, there will be a risk register for 
each capital project which will be developed when the programme is 
implemented.  
 

87. The relevant risks contained in the register are summarised below. 
Yes  
 

88. The following key risks should be taken into account when agreeing 
the recommendations in this report: 
 

Risk Description Mitigations RAG Status 
The School Roll 
Projections are under or 
overstated leading to an 
under or over provision of 
SLD within the Borough 

The Council has used the 
GLA roll projections and 
they have been reliable in 
the past 

Green 

Estimated overspend of 
HNB by £32m by 2026 
(There are number of 
reasons why this 
overspend is projected e.g. 
historic under funding, 
please see Financial 
Implications for further 
details) Please see 
paragraph 108.   

Creation of additional in-
borough provision reduces 
the future pressures on the 
HNB. The average cost of 
an out of borough 
independent/non maintained 
specialist provision is in the 
region of £50k-£80k per 
academic year depending 
on the complexity of need. 
 
There will also be costs of 
£5k-£10k per annum 
avoided to the SEN 
Transport budget which is 
funded by the General 
Fund if a child can be 
prevented from being 
placed out of borough. 

Red 

Breach of s14 of the 
Education Act 1996 if 
insufficient school places 
on offer 

The proposed expansion 
will ensure the that the Act 
is not breached. 

Green 

Delays in the delivery and 
completion of the capital 
programmes 

The projects will be 
managed by a Project 
Manager responsible for 
monitoring the delivery of 
the scheme and liaising 
with the schools and 
officers. If there are delays 

Amber 

191



 
Risk Description Mitigations RAG Status 

alternative arrangements 
will need to be made to 
ensure pupils receive 
appropriate education 
during the period of delay. 

Insufficient Capital Funding 
for the projects 

The Councils Capital 
Programme was agreed by 
Cabinet. There is currently 
£1.451m uncommitted 
funding. Each project will 
have a project manager 
who will monitor and report 
on the delivery of the 
programme. There is also a 
further allocation of grant 
funding from the High 
Needs Provision Capital 
fund of £1.749m in 2022-23 
and £4.147m in 2023-24 
which is addition to the 
funding identified in 
paragraph 101. This will be 
added to the capital 
funding in 2023-24 when it 
is anticipated the funding 
will be needed. 
 

Amber 

Any new satellite provision 
or expansion is considered 
a new school and is in 
breach of School 
Organisation (Prescribed 
Alterations to Maintained 
Schools) (England) 
Regulations 2013 

Statutory processes and 
internal procedures are in 
place and reviewed by 
Legal services to ensure 
that decisions are 
compliant with the 
regulations 

Green 
 

Statutory notices are not 
published and determined 
in accordance with relevant 
regulations and timelines 

Report to Corporate 
Director requesting 
permission and decisions, 
signed off by Legal before 
notices are published and 
determined 

Green 

Community School 
Admissions Arrangements 
are not determined by 28 
February 

Officers responsible for 
School Admission produce 
an annual report to 
Corporate Director to 
determine arrangements 

Green 

The procurement of the 
contractor is non-compliant 

The capital programme 
manager will follow the 

Green 

192



 
Risk Description Mitigations RAG Status 
with CPRs/procurement 
legislation 

Council’s procurement 
procedures and governance. 

Procurement Implications 

89. The delivery of the Schools Expansion Programme as detailed in this 
report will require the selection of suitably qualified and experienced 
contractors to deliver the various projects that fall under the 
programme. 
 

90. The procurement strategy for undertaking competitive procurement 
exercises   will be developed by a multi-disciplinary team of experts 
within the Council who will be supported by the procurement and legal 
teams respectively. Officers will engage and consult the respective 
portfolio holders in the design of the procurement during the pre-
procurement phase to ensure they have maximum opportunity to input 
into the scope of the procurement and the procurement process. 
 

91. The procurement will be undertaken consistent with the Public 
Contract Regulations 2015 and the Council’s own Contract Procedure 
Rules 
 

Legal Implications 
 

92. The Council has a statutory duty under the Education Act 1996 to 
ensure the provision of sufficient schools for the provision of primary 
and secondary education in their area. 
 

93. Under s13 of the Education Act 1996, a local authority shall (so far as 
their powers enable them to do so) contribute towards the spiritual, 
moral, mental and physical development of the community by securing 
that efficient primary education and secondary education and further 
education available to meet the needs of the population of 
their area. 

 
94. Under s.14 of the Education Act 1996, a local authority shall secure 

that sufficient schools for providing primary and secondary education 
are available in their area.  Sufficient means sufficient in number, 
character and equipment to provide for all pupils the opportunity of 
appropriate education. 
 

95. In meeting these duties, a local authority must do so with a view to 
securing diversity in the provision of schools and increasing 
opportunities for parental choice. 
 

96. The Council is the admission authority for community 
schools.  Individual school governing bodies and academy trusts are 
the admission authority for voluntary aided and academy schools.  The 
Council must determine its own admission arrangements by 29 

193



 
February each year and this must follow statutory consultation where 
changes are proposed or every 7 years. 
 

97. Parents can appeal the allocation of a school place through the 
Schools Admission Appeals process, and for children and young 
people with an EHC Plan, through the Special Educational Needs and 
Disability Tribunal (First Tier Tribunal). 
 

98. The expansion of a maintained special school to increase the number 
of pupils by 10% or more than 20 pupils and a change in the type of 
special educational needs for which a maintained special school is 
organised to make provision is a prescribed alteration for which 
statutory proposals must be published and approved in accordance 
with accordance with section 19(1) of the Education and Inspections 
Act 2006 and the School Organisation (Prescribed Alterations to 
Maintained Schools) (England) Regulations 2013. 

 
99. In accordance with the regulations to open a satellite provision it needs 

to be demonstrated that a new school is not being opened. Officers will 
ensure that any proposals put forward to meet the demand for places 
set out in the report for September 2023 will be compliant with the 
regulations.  

Financial Implications 

Capital Funding 
 

100. Capital works associated with the increased provision will be funded 
from the High Needs Provision Capital Allocation grant provided by the 
DfE to ensure there are sufficient good school places for those with 
SEND. LAs can use the funding to improve and expand special 
provision for children with EHCPs. The total funding available is 
£5.433m of which £5.285m budget was brought forward from 2021-22. 
This is allocated as shown in the table below. The costings for Pinner 
Wood, Grange, Shaftesbury and Stanburn are prior to procurement of 
a contractor. 
 

101. These schemes were agreed by the Council’s Capital Programme by 
Cabinet in February 2021. 

 
Scheme Estimate Cost £'000 Balance £’000 
  £5,433 
Woodlands £444  
Pinner Wood ARMS £610  
Shaftesbury High £1,500  
Stanburn ARMS £450  
Grange ARMS £590  
Kingsley at Weald Rise £389  
Canons High School tbc  

194



 
Alexandra Primary 
School 

tbc  

Total £3,982  
Uncommitted  £1,451 

 
102. There is also a further allocation of grant funding from the High Needs 

Provision Capital fund of £1.749m in 2022-23 and £4.147m in 2023-24 
which is addition to the funding identified in the table above. This will 
be added to the capital funding in 2023-24 when it is anticipated the 
funding will be needed. 

 
Revenue Funding 
 

103. The DSG is a ring-fenced grant of which the majority is used to fund 
individual school budgets in maintained schools, academies, and free 
schools in Harrow. It also funds Early Years nursery free entitlement 
places for 2-, 3- and 4-year-olds in maintained council nursery classes 
and private, voluntary and independent (PVI) nurseries as well as 
provision for pupils with High Needs including those with Education 
Health and Care Plans (EHCPs) in special schools and special 
provision and mainstream schools in Harrow and out of borough. The 
DSG is split into blocks: schools block, early years block and high 
needs block 
 

104. There is a cumulative deficit on the High Needs Block, as of 31 March 
2022 of £4.007m 
 

105. Any deficits an authority may have on its DSG account is expected to be 
carried forward and does not require to be covered by the authority’s 
general reserves. This is a temporary arrangement until 2022-23 beyond 
which LAs must demonstrate they have sufficient reserves to cover the 
deficits. 
 

106. With effect from 2019-20 the DfE has tightened up the rules under which 
local authorities have to explain their plans for bringing the DSG account 
back into balance. 
 

107. Despite the significant proposals and measures planned over the next 
ten years, this will not mitigate the deficit. This is due to the following 
contributory factors: 
 

• historical underfunding 
• current budgets being based on historical budgets rather than 

historical spend 
• extension of age range to include 0-5 and post 19 
• current and projected formulaic funding which does not keep 

pace with demand 
• significant historical and projected growth in number of 

EHCPs of over 5% per year 
• continued growth in complexity of pupils’ needs 

195



 
• limitations about creating cost effective provision in borough 

due to capacity and site limitations 
 

108. Even with the significant proposals in the SEND strategy it is 
anticipated without any further investment in High Needs Funding by 
the government the cumulative deficit could be £32m by 2026. 
 

109. Creation of additional in-borough provision reduces the future 
pressures on the HNB. The average cost of an out of borough 
independent/non maintained specialist provision is in the region of 
£50k-£80k per academic year depending on the complexity of need.  

 
110. It is anticipated that a place at special school in Harrow would be cost 

£25k-£35k and a place at an ARMS provision would cost £20k-£25k 
per academic year. 
 

111. There will also be costs avoided of £5k-£10k per annum to the SEN 
Transport budget which is funded by the General Fund if a child can be 
prevented from being placed out of borough. 

Equalities implications / Public Sector Equality Duty 

112. Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 requires that public bodies, in 
exercising their functions, have due regard to the need to (1) eliminate 
discrimination, harassment, victimisation and other unlawful conduct 
under the Act, (2) advance equality of opportunity and (3) foster good 
relations between persons who share a protected characteristic and 
persons who do not share it. 

 
113. Harrow’s schools are successful, inclusive and provide a diversity of 

provision.  The school expansion programme will ensure sufficient 
school places for the increasing numbers of children in Harrow and will 
build on the successful provision that already exists in Harrow’s 
schools.  By acting to ensure all children in Harrow have access to a 
high-quality school place, Harrow is promoting equality of opportunity 
for all children and young people. 
 

114. Equalities impact assessment has been carried out and there are no 
negative impacts arising from these proposals. 

Section 3 - Statutory Officer Clearance 

Statutory Officer:  Jo Frost 
Signed on behalf of the Chief Financial Officer 
Date:  9th November 2022 

Statutory Officer:  Helen Ottino 
Signed on behalf of the Monitoring Officer 

196



 
Date:  27th October 2022 

Chief Officer:  Peter Tolley 
Signed off by the Director of Children’s Services 
Date:  8th November 2022 

Head of Procurement:  Nimesh Mehta 
Signed off by the Head of Procurement 
Date:  7th November 2022 

Head of Internal Audit:  Susan Dixson 
Signed off by the Head of Internal Audit 
Date: 4th November 2022 

Mandatory Checks 

Ward Councillors notified:  NO, as it impacts on all Wards  

EqIA carried out:  YES 

EqIA cleared by: Jennifer Rock 

Section 4 - Contact Details and Background 
Papers 

Contact:  Rajeshree Parmar, Head of School Organisation, 
Admissions and Attendance, People Services, email: 
raj.parmar@harrow.gov.uk  

Background Papers:  None 

Call-in waived by the Chair of Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee - NO  

197

mailto:raj.parmar@harrow.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 1 October 2022 
 

Appendix A 
 

DEMOGRAPHIC INFORMATION AND SCHOOL ROLL PROJECTIONS  
2022-2023 to 2034-2035 REPORT 

 
Contents 

 
A. Introduction           p 2 

 
B. Background Information         p 2-3 

 
Section 1: Harrow School Roll Projections      p 4 

 
Section 2:   Temporary (‘Bulge’) classes & Permanent Expansions  p 5-6 

 
Section 3:   School Roll Projections and Need for School Places  p 7-34 

 
  3.1 Primary Schools 
  3.2 Data for Reception places 2022/23 in the following tables and charts: 
  3.3 Projections for Reception to Year 6 Pupils 
  3.4 Projections for Reception Pupils Only 
  3.5 Primary Schools Projections by Planning Area 
   North East Planning Area (GLA Planning Area 1) 
   North West Planning Area (GLA Planning Area 2) 
   South East Planning Area (GLA Planning Area 3) 
   South West Planning Area (GLA Planning Area 4) 
   Central Planning Area (GLA Planning Area 5) 
  3.6 Secondary Schools 
  3.7 Year 7 Projections for High Schools 

 
Annexes 

 
Annexe 1: Child Population Projections 2022      p 35-50 
Annexe 2: Overview of Harrow’s population and changes 2022    p 51-60 
Annexe 3: GLA SRP Methodology 2022       p 61-68 
Annexe 4: SEND and Early Years Data 2022      p 69-81 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 199



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 2 October 2022 
 

A. Introduction 
 

A1.  The School Roll Projections Report is prepared annually by the Education Performance 
Team of the Business Intelligence Unit to support the school place planning process in 
Harrow.  The data is analysed to indicate the number of school places required.  

 
A2.  The report is produced using a variety of data, including the Greater London Authority’s 
(GLA) school roll projections to ensure that the number of places available is planned in a 
timely and measured way so that we can continue to meet our statutory duty to ensure 
sufficiency of places.  Our projections cover the period 2022/23 to 2034/35, helping us to 
project patterns of demand for school places over this period. 

    
A3.  This report provides a summary of the data that informs our work across the next  
academic year (2022/23) and beyond.  The report and associated annexes provide detailed 
information on projected and actual births, school rolls, expected new residential 
development and the provision of new places/reduction in provision.  There is also high level 
data identifying demand for special educational needs and for 0-4 year olds for the early 
years.   

 
A4. The data in this report is provided across the primary and secondary phases of 
education.  Where possible we ensure that changes to Planned Admission Numbers (PAN) 
in academies, voluntary aided, as well as free schools is incorporated into our planning in a 
timely manner to enable the local authority to manage the provision of places. 
 
The report has 3 sections: 
 
Section 1:  Harrow’s School Roll Projections 
Section 2:  Temporary (‘Bulge’) classes & Permanent Expansions 
Section 3:  School Roll Projections and Need for School Places     
 
The four annexes provide background information on: 
 
Annexe 1: Child Population Projections 2022 
Annexe 2: Overview of Harrow’s population and changes 2022 
Annexe 3: GLA SRP Methodology 2022 
Annexe 4: SEND and Early Years Data 2022 

 
B. Background information 

 
B1.  Demand for school places in London has risen significantly over the past decade, at a 
faster rate than in any other region of the country.  While London has experienced a high 
demand for primary school places for a number of years, this demand has now shifted to 
secondary level as pupils reach secondary school age.  To manage this, boroughs have 
been working hard to put plans in place to ensure that the shortfall is met.  Some boroughs 
are focusing on creating new school provision by working with free schools, while others are 
working to increase the capacity of existing secondary schools.   
 
B2.  At the other end of the school system, the total number of surplus places at primary 
level across London has been rising in recent years.  This growth in primary level surplus 
appears largely to be driven by a decrease in the number of live births across the capital, 
which decreased  by 10 per cent between 2012/13 and 2018/19.   
 

200



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 3 October 2022 
 

B3.  Declining birth rates are also expected to drive primary level surplus over the next four 
years.  For example, between 2020 and 2024, the 0-4 population in London is expected to 
decrease by 5.0 per cent. 
 
B4.  Individual boroughs have also reported other issues such as welfare reform and the 
uncertainty around Brexit as having an impact on families moving out of the borough, the 
Covid-19 pandemic is likely to have exacerbated this. 
 
B5.  To manage increasing surplus places at primary level, boroughs are working hard to 
implement strategies that will help manage capacity and maintain the financial stability of 
schools.   
 
B6.  A range of activity is underway across London to help schools manage surplus places 
effectively, including transforming primary schools into much needed special schools; 
reducing the Published Admission Numbers (PAN) for individual schools; redesignating 
space within or across schools and working with housing developments to change 
expectations around new schools. 
 
B7.  While the overriding trend is towards a growing surplus of places, some boroughs are 
still grappling with a growing shortfall of places, particularly at secondary level. 
 
B8. There is a complexity of managing secondary school places during a period of growth in 
demand.  It can be hard to forecast the levels of cross border pupil mobility as they fluctuate 
according to the popularity at different schools, levels of shortfalls or surplus in neighbouring 
schools, current regeneration and housing developments and changing school admissions 
policies. 
 
B9.  The London Councils 2020 report presents the following key facts: 
 

• London has seen the largest increase in total pupil numbers of any region. Total pupil 
numbers increased by 13.8 per cent across London between 2010/11 and 2018/19, 
compared with 8.8 per cent nationally. 
  

• 8,728 new school places are predicted to be needed in 2022/23 to meet demand 
across London. 
 

• 68 per cent of London’s shortfall of places will be in secondary schools. 
  

• In 2022/23, there will be 84,384 surplus school places across London, which the 
London boroughs are working hard with schools to manage.  
 

• 84 per cent of the predicted surplus places in 2022/23 will be in primary schools.  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

201



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 4 October 2022 
 

Section 1: Harrow School Roll Projections 
 
There is no single accepted method for projecting school numbers and London boroughs have 
recently faced major challenges in providing places to meet a growing child population.  Harrow, 
along with the majority of other London boroughs, commission’s school roll projections from the 
Greater London Authority’s (GLA) School Roll Projections Service.  The GLA provides the 
baseline projections to which local knowledge is applied to make reasonable adjustments in line 
with pressure at Reception, Year 7 and other school year groups. 
 
From 2013 to 2016 we used the GLA’s trend based population school roll projections, informed 
by in-year applications and admissions.    The school roll projections for the Reception year 
group were adjusted by +3% in 2013 and by +2% in 2014 to reflect local demand.  The lower 
percentage adjustment in 2014 was due to the GLA incorporating additional contextual data for 
Harrow into their model.   
 
In 2017 the decision was made to continue with the GLA’s Witan model, which produced the 
trend based population projections based on standard fertility.  This was mainly due to the 
population projections and school roll projections being based on Harrow’s interim 2014-15 
housing trajectory, which did not contain all of the known upcoming developments.  The 
decision to use the standard fertility assumption instead of the high fertility was due to the 
current plateauing of births at the 3.5k mark and is in-line with the lower trend of births in 
London. 
 
The 2018 school roll projections were based on the 2016 housing-led population projections 
that incorporate a forecast household development trajectory, using Harrow’s latest housing 
trajectory. 
 
For the last three years and this year Harrow’s school roll projections are based on the GLA’s 
Borough Preferred Option (BPO) Population Projections, which incorporate annual birth, death 
and migration data.  The BPO is produced using Harrow’s ward level housing development data 
provided by the council from it’s Housing Trajectory.  The GLA produced projections based on 
two different scenarios of domestic migration patterns. The goal was to provide users with 
suitable variants for use in school place planning work.  Harrow has used the Scenario 2 variant 
for Harrow’s births, population projections and school roll projections.  Further details of the 
SRP Methodology can be found in ‘Annexe 3: School Roll Projections Methodology’.  
 
In-line with previous years, due to the changing landscape of Harrow, with regards to births, 
future housing developments, Reception and Year 7 numbers on roll, the school organisation 
report includes two sets of school roll projections: 
 

1. The school roll projections as provided by the GLA (referred to as ‘Baseline’ in this 
report); 

2. The schools roll projections with a 2% adjustment, as per previous years and in order to 
maintain some level of consistency.  

 
The local projection methodology has been developed to forecast the maximum numbers that 
are likely to be on roll at the end of the school year.  This approach is consistent with Harrow’s 
submissions to the DfE and helps with contingency planning across the borough.  The in-year 
growth has tended to take place across the borough rather than in one particular school or 
planning area.  However, should additional forms of entry be needed in any area, contingency 
plans would be put into action. 
 
 

202



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 5 October 2022 
 

Section 2: Temporary (‘Bulge’) classes & Permanent Expansions 
 
The number of available Reception places each year since 2009 has been increased in 
accordance to the rise in demand through the use of temporary ‘bulge’ classes, with permanent 
expansions implemented from 2013. 
 
Temporary classes are shown in Table 1 below.  There were 5 temporary additional ‘bulge’ 
classes in September 2009, 5 in September 2010, 8 in September 2011 (and a Year 1 class in 
October 2011 at Camrose Primary School), 12 in September 2012, 9 in September 2013, 10 in 
September 2014 (and a Year 2 class, a Year 3 class and two Year 4 classes).   
 
In September 2015 two bulge classes were opened in Marlborough Primary School – one in 
Year 1 and the other vertically across Years 4 and 5, with 15 places in each year group. Since 
2015 there have been no additional temporary classes.  
 
Table 1 - Reception Bulge classes since September 2009 
Planning Area Bulge classes 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 

Aylward     1  
Stanburn   1 1   
Weald Rise  1 1    

North East 
Planning Area 
(PA1) 

Whitchurch      1 
Cannon Lane    1  1 
Cedars 1  1 1   
Grimsdyke      1 
Longfield  1   1  

North West 
Planning Area 
(PA2) 

Pinner Wood  1   1  
Camrose    1   
Glebe   1 1   
Kenmore Park  1 1   1 
Priestmead      1 

South East 
Planning Area 
(PA3) 

Stag Lane      1 
Grange 1  1  1  
Newton Farm      1 
Roxeth     1  
Vaughan    1   

South West 
Planning Area 
(PA4) 

Welldon Park 1   1   
Belmont 1    1  
Elmgrove    1  1 
Marlborough    1   
Norbury  1 1  1  
Pinner Park   1 1   

Central 
Planning Area 
(PA5) 

Whitefriars      1 
St Georges 1      
Avanti House    2 2  Faith Schools 

(PA6) 
St John Fisher      1 

Total ‘Bulges’ 5 5 8 12 9 10 
Total Places 150 150 240 360 270 300 

 
 

203



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 6 October 2022 
 

Permanent expansions (shown in Table 2 below) have also been implemented, with 8 schools 
permanently expanding in September 2013, 6 schools from September 2014, 11 schools from 
September 2015 and 2 schools permanently expanding and 1 new free school opened in 2016. 
No additional reception classes have been opended since September 2016. 
 
Table 2 - Reception Permanent classes since September 2013 
Planning 
Areas 

Permanent 
classes 

2013/14 – 
Phase 1 

2014/15 – 
Phase 2 

2015/16 – 
Phase 3 

2016/17 – 
Phase 3 

Aylward  1   
Stanburn 1    
Weald Rise    1 

North East 
Planning Area 
(PA1) 

Whitchurch   1  
Cannon Lane   1  
Cedars 1    
Grimsdyke   1  
Longfield   1  

North West 
Planning Area 
(PA2) 

Pinner Wood  1   
Camrose 1    
Glebe 1    
Kenmore Park   1  
Priestmead   1  

South East 
Planning Area 
(PA3) 

Stag Lane    1 
Grange  1   
Newton Farm   1  
Vaughan 1    

South West 
Planning Area 
(PA4) 

Welldon Park   1  
Belmont  1   
Elmgrove   1  
Marlborough 1    
Norbury  1   
Pinner Park 1    

Central Planning 
Area (PA5) 

Whitefriars   1  
Avanti House  2   
Krishna Avanti 1    
St John Fisher   1  

Faith Schools 
(PA6) 

St Jérôme    2 
Total Classes 8 7 11 4 

Total Places 240 210 330 120 
 

204



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 7 October 2022 
 

Section 3: School Roll Projections 
 
School place planning for Harrow’s primary and secondary schools for 2022/23 is based on the 
GLA’s school roll projections, which are based on the GLA’s 2020-based Borough Preferred 
Option Population Projections. 
 
3.1 Primary Schools 
Information on primary school roll projections is divided into three parts: 
 

i) Projections for Reception to Year 6 pupils. 
 
ii) Projections for Reception pupils only. 

 
iii) Primary Schools Projections by Planning Areas: 

a) Reception to Year 6 pupils, and  
b) Reception pupils 

 
Harrow recently reviewed it’s planning areas in line with DfE guidance and an analysis of where 
pupils went to school in May 2021, based on pupils’ postcodes, has been used. The new 
Primary Planning Areas were redefined using the new May 2022 wards retaining the current 
methodology as described above. The DfE’s current planning area guidance strongly 
recommended not using non-geographical planning areas therefore a decision to not include 
the voluntary aided primary schools in the existing 5 geographical planning areas has been 
implemented.  This resulted in the deletion of the Volutary Aided primary planning area and  
Harrow currently has 5 geographical primary planning areas. 
 
3.2 Data for Reception places 2022/23 in the following tables and charts 
The 2022/23 school roll projections are based on the GLA’s 3/4 option.  The 3/4 option gives a 
result that incorporates several years of past data to smooth out fluctuations in the data in terms 
of wards pupils come from and number of pupils in the new intake, giving more stable results 
than fewer years data. 
 which uses:  
 

• Three years of past detailed flow data (2019-2021) to estimate relationships between 
ward of residence and school attended for the 2022 school roll. 

• Four years of data (2019-2022) to calculate the size of the new intake in projected years. 
 

The actual Reception numbers on roll reached an all time high of 3,251 in January 2015, and 
have fluctuated ever since, dropping to 3,154 in January 2017, and then increasing to slightly to 
3,189 in January 2018.  However the numbers dropped to 3,043 in January 2019, rose to 3,089 
in January 2021 and dropped again to 3,048 in January 2022.  The Due to these fluctuations 
and change in trajectory we have continued to include two sets of school roll projections for the 
borough total projections for Reception to Year 6, and Reception only:  
 

1. The GLA’s actual (referred to as Baseline) school roll projections   
2. The GLA’s school roll projections adjusted by 2%.  

 
The GLA projections indicate that 3,120 (Baseline) and 3,182 (+2%) children will require 
Reception places by January of the academic year 2022/23. 
 
 
 
 
 

205



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 8 October 2022 
 

Map showing the new (May 2022) ward boundaries and primary planning areas for 
Harrow 
 

 
 
 

206



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 9 October 2022 
 

3.3 Projections for Reception to Year 6 Pupils 
 
Pupil numbers have been fluctuating across all of the primary phase year groups, from 
Reception to Year 6.  
 
Based on the 2022/23 round of GLA school roll projections, the information in Table 3 and Chart 
1 below shows that the number of pupils in Reception to Year 6 are projected to continue 
decreasing over the period covered – 2022/23 to 2034/35. 
  
The data in the table below shows that the number of children in Harrow’s primary schools has 
dropped by 155 (-0.7%) children from 21,477 in 2020/21 to 21,322 in 2021/22.  Whilst Harrow’s 
primary schools have had a small deficit of school places in Reception to Year 6 in 2013/14 and 
2014/15, there has been a surplus of places that have continued increasing over the last six 
years, from 236 extra places in 2015/16 to 1,808 places in 2021/22.  The projections are 
suggesting a higher surplus of places, from 1,554 (Baseline) and 1,127 (+2%) in 2022/23 to 
3,404 (Baseline) and 3,0187 (+2%) by 2034/35.  The surplus places are calculated from the 
projected pupil numbers and the places available. 
 
Table 3: School roll projections for Year Reception (Baseline & +2%) to Year 6 in all schools in 
Harrow 

Primary projection area: All Schools (Includes VA) - BPO 2020 3/4 Scenario 2 
Years R to 6 only 

Year 
January 
actual 

number on 
roll 

Projected 
demand 

GLA 
(Baseline 

Reception) 

Projected 
demand 

GLA (+2%  
Reception) 

Places 
available 

Surplus/Deficit 
of places 
(Baseline 

Reception) 

Surplus/Deficit 
of places +2% 

Reception) 

09/10 16,927     18,155 1,228 
10/11 17,326     18,187 861 
11/12 17,860     18,439 579 
12/13 18,482     18,718 236 
13/14 19,325     19,278 -47 
14/15 20,158     20,152 -6 
15/16 20,760     20,996 236 
16/17 21,136     21,750 614 
17/18 21,346     22,395 1,049 
18/19 21,643     23,010 1,367 
19/20 21,707     23,460 1,753 
20/21 21,477     23,010 1,533 
21/22 21,322   23,130 1,808 
22/23   21336 21763 22,890 1554 1127 
23/24   21330 21757 22,830 1500 1073 
24/25   21163 21586 22,800 1637 1214 
25/26   21018 21438 22,770 1752 1332 
26/27   20699 21113 22,740 2041 1627 
27/28   20331 20738 22,680 2349 1942 
28/29   19992 20392 22,680 2688 2288 
29/30   19645 20038 22,680 3035 2642 
30/31   19373 19760 22,680 3307 2920 
31/32   19176 19560 22,680 3504 3120 
32/33   19117 19499 22,680 3563 3181 
33/34   19163 19546 22,680 3517 3134 
34/35   19276 19662 22,680 3404 3018 

Source: SRP_borough_Spring2022_3_4_BPO2020scenario2_WD22_1207221727 
 

207



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 10 October 2022 
 

The ‘Places available’ figure includes for 2009/10 to 2014/15 the actual increased Published 
Admission Numbers (PAN) and bulge classes and for 2015/16 and 2016/17 the planned 
permanent increases to PANs and new places at St Jérôme Bilingual School, which opened in 
September 2016; and the Hujjat Primary School, which opened in September 2020.  The PAN 
has also been reduced with the closure of The Moriah Jewish Day School. 
 
Chart 1: Current number on roll compared to roll projections and places available for Year 
Reception (Baseline) to Year 6 in all schools in Harrow 

 
Source: SRP_borough_Spring2022_3_4_BPO2020scenario2_WD22_1207221727 
 
3.4 Projections for Reception Pupils Only 
 
Reception numbers on roll increased from 2,224 in January 2006 to 3,251 in January 2015, 
which is a 46% increase.  However Reception numbers have continued to fluctuate since 
2015/16, dropping to 3,048 in January 2022.  The GLA Baseline and +2% projections are 
shown in Table 4 below, with the baseline projection of 3,120 pupils and the +2% adjusted 
projection of 3,182 in 2022/23.  The Reception projections are projected to continue dropping 
steadily from 2022/23 for the remainder of the period covered in this report, as can be seen in 
table 4 and the chart below. 
 
School Expansion Programme Phase 1 
The number of Harrow’s Reception permanent places increased by 240 places to 2,790 in 
September 2013 following implementation of Phase 1 of the Primary School Expansion 
Programme.  7 community schools were expanded permanently along with the expansion by 
one form of entry of Krishna Avanti Primary School to become a 2 form of entry academy 
school.  9 temporary Reception classes brought total places in 2013/14 to 3,060.   
 
School Expansion Programme Phase 2 
In September 2014, Harrow’s Reception permanent places were increased by 210 places to 
3,000 following implementation of the first group of Phase 2 of the Primary School Expansion 
Programme (this includes two forms of entry at Avanti House free school).  In order to meet the 
full increased demand for Reception places, 10 bulge classes (300 places) were opened at 
schools.  In September 2015, Harrow’s Reception permanent places were increased by 330 
permanent places in 11 schools following the full implementation of Phase 2 and the first 
permanent expansions in Phase 3. 
 

208



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 11 October 2022 
 

Table 4: School roll projections for Year Reception (Baseline & +2%) in all Primary schools in 
Harrow 

Primary projection area: All Schools (Includes Voluntary Aided) 
Year Reception 

School 
Year 

January 
actual 

number 
on roll 

GLA 
projected 
demand 
Baseline 

GLA 
projected 
demand  

+2% 

Reception 
Places 

available 
Permanent 

Places 
Calculated 

FE 
Baseline 

Calculated 
FE +2% 

Proposed 
Additional 

FE required  
Baseline & 

+2% 

Total 
Reception 

Places 
Proposed 
Baseline & 

+2% 
09/10 2,577     2,696 2,546         
10/11 2,637     2,700 2,550         
11/12 2,759     2,800 2,550         
12/13 2,879     2,910 2,550         
13/14 3,029     3,060 2,790         
14/15 3,251     3,300 3,000         
15/16 3,195     3,330 3,330         
16/17 3,154     3,450 3,450         
17/18 3,189     3,450 3,450         
18/19 3,043     3,450 3,450         
19/20 3,079     3,390 3,450         
20/21 3,089     3,360 3,510         
21/22 3,048   3,240 3,480      

22/23   3120 3182 3,240 3,480 4.00 1.92 0  3,240 
23/24   3080 3142 3,240 3,480 5.33 3.28 0  3,240 
24/25   3050 3111 3,240 3,480 6.33 4.30 0  3,240 
25/26   2941 3000 3,240 3,480 9.97 8.01 0  3,240 
26/27   2847 2904 3,240 3,480 13.10 11.20 0  3,240 
27/28   2803 2859 3,240 3,480 14.57 12.70 0  3,240 
28/29   2794 2850 3,240 3,480 14.87 13.00 0  3,240 
29/30   2802 2858 3,240 3,480 14.60 12.73 0  3,240 
30/31   2811 2867 3,240 3,480 14.30 12.43 0  3,240 
31/32   2826 2883 3,240 3,480 13.80 11.92 0  3,240 
32/33   2849 2906 3,240 3,480 13.03 11.13 0  3,240 
33/34   2870 2927 3,240 3,480 12.33 10.42 0  3,240 
34/35   2897 2955 3,240 3,480 11.43 9.50 0  3,240 

Source: SRP_borough_Spring2022_3_4_BPO2020scenario2_WD22_1207221727 
 
Places available 2009/10, 2010/11, 2011/12, 2012/13, 2013/14, 2014/15, 2015/16 and 2016/17 
include actual increased PANs and bulge classes, as well as St Jérôme’s bilingual school that 
opened in September 2016. 
 
There has been a formal reduction in the PANs of Cedars Manor & Welldon Park Academy 
School’s,  from 3FE to 2FE from 2019/20.  Weald Rise Primary School’s PAN has been reduced 
from 4FE to 2FE from 2020/21.  
 
An additonal 60 permanent new places were created at Hujjat Primary from September 2020, 
these have been included in both the Reception places available and the Permanent places 
columns of the table above. 
 
A formal reduction of places for 2021/22 has been agreed for the following schools:  Cannon 
Lane (4FE to 3FE), Kenmore Park (4FE to 3FE); Longfield Primary (4FE to 3FE) and 
Roxbourne Primary (3FE to 2FE), and a reduction in the Year 1 places of Stanburn Primary.  
Additionally, The Moriah Jewish Day School formally closed in September 2021. 
 
A formal reduction of places for 2022/23 has been agreed for Stanburn Primary (4FE to 3FE). 
 

209



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 12 October 2022 
 

It should be noted that although a some of the primary planning areas in section 3.5 below are 
projecting a deficit in Reception places, Table 4 above clearly indicates that Harrow overall has 
a sufficient number of places available to meet the demand for Reception children across the 
whole of Harrow in line with the baseline projections over the 2022/23 to 2034/35 period.  
 
Chart 2: Current numbers on roll, places available, GLA Baseline & +2% projections for 
Reception Year in all Primary schools in Harrow 

 
Source: SRP_borough_Spring2022_3_4_BPO2020scenario2_WD22_1207221727 
 
School Expansion Programme Phase 3 
In addition to the three Phase 3 schools that were expanded in September 2015, a further two 
schools were expanded in September 2016.  Additionally the new free school – St Jérôme 
opened in September 2016 with 60 permanent places. 
 
Free Schools 
The Hujjat Primary School opened in September 2020 with 60 permanent places, 50:50 faith 
based & community. This brings the total of permanent places in September 2020 to 3,510. 
However, the closure of The Moriah Jewish Day School from September 2021 has reduced the 
number of permanent places to 3,480.   
 
A further primary free school – Harrow View Primary (+90) is also planned to open in Harrow.  If 
this school is delivered, it would provide an additional 3 permanent forms of entry.  The opening 
of the Harrow View Primary School will be timed to align with the development on Kodak West 
site and occupation of housing.  There is an on-going dialogue with the Harrow Schools Trust 
about the development and opening. 
 
Once there is confirmation that Harrow View Primary will open the places will be included in the 
tables,charts and projections of this report 
 

210



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 13 October 2022 
 

3.5 Primary Schools Projections by Planning Area 
 
North East Planning Area (GLA Planning Area 1): 
 
Projections for the North East Planning Area are based on data from the following schools and 
population data for part or all of these wards. The published admission number (PAN) for each 
school in September 2022 is shown below.  The number of temporary (bulge) Reception 
classes and permanent expansion classes from 2009/10 to 2016/17 are also shown below. 
 
Note: Weald Rise was approved for permanent expansion from 2016-17 and these additional 
places are included in Table 5 and Table 6 below. 
 

Schools: PAN 
 

Main Wards: 
Avanti House – VA 60 

 
Harrow Weald 

Cedars Manor (moved from NW PPA)* 60 
 

Stanmore 
Hujjat Primary- VA 60 

  

St John's CofE – VA 60 
 

 
St Teresa's – VA 60 

 
 

Weald Rise* 60 
 

 
Total 360   
*Cedars Manor formal PAN reduction from 3FE to 2FE from 2019/20; **Weald Rise formal PAN reduction 
from 4FE to 2FE (120 to 60) from 2020/21 
 

Table 5: Primary projections for the North East Planning Area 
Primary projection area: North East (Community Schools only) 
Years R to 6 only 

Year 
January 
actual 

number 
on roll 

Projected 
demand 

GLA 
(Baseline) 

Projected 
demand GLA 
(R+2% - Yr6) 

Places 
available 

Surplus 
/Deficit of 

places 
(Baseline) 

Surplus /Deficit 
of places 

(R+2% - Yr6) 

15/16 2,313           
16/17 2,294           
17/18 2,247           
18/19 2,201           
19/20 2,103           
20/21 2,015           
21/22 2,007           
22/23   1,995 2,035 2,280 285 245 
23/24   1,990 2,030 2,340 350 310 
24/25   1,984 2,024 2,400 416 376 
25/26   1,988 2,028 2,460 472 432 
26/27   1,986 2,026 2,520 534 494 
27/28   1,947 1,986 2,520 573 534 
28/29   1,883 1,921 2,520 637 599 
29/30   1,844 1,881 2,520 676 639 
30/31   1,815 1,851 2,520 705 669 
31/32   1,796 1,832 2,520 724 688 
32/33   1,785 1,821 2,520 735 699 
33/34   1,781 1,817 2,520 739 703 
34/35   1,788 1,824 2,520 732 696 

Source: SRP_borough_Spring2022_3_4_BPO2020scenario2_WD22_1207221727 
 
 

211



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 14 October 2022 
 

Table 5 above shows the Reception (Baseline & +2%) to Year 6 GLA roll projections for the 
North East Planning Area. The actual number of pupils has been decreasing from 2,313 in 
2015/16 to 2,007 pupils in 2021/22.  The projections for this area start at 1,995 (Baseline) and 
2,035 (+2%) for 2022/23 and overall continue decreasing to 1,788 (Baseline) and 1,824 (+2%) 
in 2034/35.  A surplus of places is projected for the whole of the 2022/23 to 2034/35 period. 
 
Table 6: Reception projections for the North East Planning Area 

Primary Planning Area 1 - North East (Community Schools only) 
Year Reception 

School 
Year 

January 
actual 

number 
on roll 

Projected 
demand 

GLA 
(Baseline) 

Projected 
demand 

GLA 
(+2%) 

Reception 
Places 

available  

Calculated 
FE - 

baseline 
Calculated 

FE +2% 

Proposed 
Additional FE 

required  
Baseline & +2% 

15/16 343             
16/17 287             
17/18 292             
18/19 277             
19/20 271             
20/21 291             
21/22 314             
22/23   296 302 360 2.13 1.94 0  
23/24   280 286 360 2.67 2.48 0  
24/25   281 287 360 2.63 2.45 0  
25/26   269 274 360 3.03 2.85 0  
26/27   263 268 360 3.23 3.06 0  
27/28   258 263 360 3.40 3.23 0  
28/29   256 261 360 3.47 3.30 0  
29/30   256 261 360 3.47 3.30 0  
30/31   255 260 360 3.50 3.33 0  
31/32   256 261 360 3.47 3.30 0  
32/33   257 262 360 3.43 3.26 0  
33/34   258 263 360 3.40 3.23 0  
34/35   260 265 360 3.33 3.16 0  

Source: SRP_borough_Spring2022_3_4_BPO2020scenario2_WD22_1207221727  
*Weald Rise has had a formal reduction in it’s PAN by 2FE from 2020/21. 
 
Table 6 above and Chart 3 below show the GLA roll projections for the Reception year group for 
the North East Planning Area. The actual number on roll decreased by just under 2 forms of 
entry from 2015/16 to 2016/17 and then fluctuated over the next couple of years, but started to 
increase from 291 in 2020/21 to 314 in 2021/22.  Future numbers for the area are projected to 
drop slightly over the period covered, from 296 (Baseline) and 302 (+2%) in 2022/23 to 260 
(Baseline) and 265 (+2%) by 2034/35.  There is projected to be a surplus of between 2 to 3 
forms of entry in this area. 
 
 
 

212



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 15 October 2022 
 

Chart 3: Reception projections for the North East Planning Area 

 
Source: SRP_borough_Spring2022_3_4_BPO2020scenario2_WD22_1207221727  
 

213



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 16 October 2022 
 

North West Planning Area (GLA Planning Area 2):  
 
Projections for the North West Planning Area are based on data from the following schools and 
population data for part or all of these wards. The published admission number (PAN) for each 
school in September 2022 is shown below.  The number of temporary (bulge) Reception 
classes and permanent expansion classes from 2009/10 to 2016/17 are also shown below. 
 

Schools: PAN 
 

Main Wards: 
Cannon Lane 120 

 
Hatch End 

Grimsdyke 90 
 

Headstone 
Longfield 90 

 
Pinner 

Pinner Park (moved from Central PPA) 120 
 

Pinner South 
Pinner Wood 90 

 
North Harrow 

St John Fisher – VA 90 
  

Vaughan (moved from SW PPA) 90 
  

West Lodge 90 
  

Total 780   

Perm Exp – Permanent Expansions; *Grimsdyke also opened a Year 2 bulge class in September 2014; 
***A formal reduction of 1FE (120 to 90) has been agreed for Cannon Lane and Longfield Primary from 
2021/22. 

  
Table 7: Primary projections for the North West Planning Area 

Primary projection area: North West (Community Schools only) 
Years R to 6 only 

Year 
January 
actual 

number on 
roll 

Projected 
demand 

GLA 
(Baseline) 

Projected 
demand GLA 
(R+2% - Yr6) 

Places 
available 

Surplus /Deficit 
of places 
(Baseline) 

Surplus /Deficit 
of places 

(R+2% - Yr6) 

15/16 4,148           
16/17 4,290           
17/18 4,347           
18/19 4,549           
19/20 5,480           
20/21 5,533           
21/22 5,508           
22/23   5,462 5,571 5,580 118 9 
23/24   5,378 5,486 5,550 172 64 
24/25   5,265 5,370 5,520 255 150 
25/26   5,145 5,248 5,490 345 242 
26/27   4,994 5,094 5,460 466 366 
27/28   4,834 4,931 5,430 596 499 
28/29   4,738 4,833 5,460 722 627 
29/30   4,619 4,711 5,460 841 749 
30/31   4,539 4,630 5,460 921 830 
31/32   4,480 4,570 5,460 980 890 
32/33   4,456 4,545 5,460 1004 915 
33/34   4,448 4,537 5,460 1012 923 
34/35   4,461 4,550 5,460 999 910 

Source: SRP_borough_Spring2022_3_4_BPO2020scenario2_WD22_1207221727  
 
The Table 7 above shows that the Reception to Year 6 number on rolls for this planning area 
have continued to increase from 4,148 in 2015/16 to 5,533 in 2020/21 but dropped slightly to 
5,508 in 2021/22.  The Baseline and +2 projections decrease throughout the period shown in 
Table 7, dropping from 5,462 (Baseline) & 5,571 (+2%) to 4,461 (Baseline) & 4,550 (+2%) in 

214



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 17 October 2022 
 

2034/35.  There is a surplus of places projected for this area for the duration of the period 
covered. 
 
Table 8: Reception projections for the North West Planning Area 

Primary Planning Area 2 - North West (Community Schools only) 
Year Reception 

School 
Year 

January 
actual 

number 
on roll 

Projected 
demand 

GLA 
(Baseline) 

Projected 
demand 

GLA 
(+2%) 

Reception 
Places 

available  

Calculated 
FE - 

baseline 
Calculated 

FE +2% 

Proposed 
Additional 

FE 
required  
Baseline 
& +2% 

Total 
Reception 

Places 
Proposed 
- baseline 

& +2% 

15/16 681               
16/17 670               
17/18 661               
18/19 655               
19/20 797               
20/21 775               
21/22 735               
22/23   767 782 780 0.43 -0.08 0  780 
23/24   734 749 780 1.53 1.04 0  780 
24/25   721 735 780 1.97 1.49 0  780 
25/26   689 703 780 3.03 2.57 0  780 
26/27   674 687 780 3.53 3.08 0  780 
27/28   663 676 780 3.90 3.46 0  780 
28/29   659 672 780 4.03 3.59 0  780 
29/30   656 669 780 4.13 3.70 0  780 
30/31   653 666 780 4.23 3.80 0  780 
31/32   654 667 780 4.20 3.76 0  780 
32/33   656 669 780 4.13 3.70 0  780 
33/34   660 673 780 4.00 3.56 0  780 
34/35   665 678 780 3.83 3.39 0  780 

Source: SRP_borough_Spring2022_3_4_BPO2020scenario2_WD22_1207221727; Cedars Manor formal PAN 
reduction by 1FE from 2020/21; The 2021/22 places include the reduction of 1FE at Cannon Lane & Longfield 
Primary. 
 
Table 8 above and Chart 4 below show the GLA roll projections for the Reception year group for 
the North West Planning Area. The actual numbers on roll for this planning area have 
decreased between 2015/16 to 2018/19 and then increased to 797 in 2019/20, and then 
continued to fall to 735 in 2021/22.  The projections for this area gradually decrease from 767 
(Baseline) & 782 (+2%) in 2022/23 to 665 (Baseline) & 678 (+2%) in 2034/35.  There is a 
projected deficit of places in 2022/23 based on the +2% projection, followed by a surplus of 1 to 
just under 4 forms of entry for this area. 
 
 

215



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 18 October 2022 
 

Chart 4: Current number on roll compared to roll projections and places available for the North 
West Planning Area  

 
Source: SRP_borough_Spring2022_3_4_BPO2020scenario2_WD22_1207221727 

216



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 19 October 2022 
 

South East Planning Area (GLA Planning Area 3):  
 
Projections for the South East Planning Area are based on data from the following schools and 
population data for part or all of these wards. The published admission number (PAN) for each 
school in September 2022 is shown below.  The number of temporary (bulge) Reception 
classes and permanent expansion classes from 2009/10 to 2016/17 are also shown below. 
 

Schools: PAN 
 

Main Wards: 
Aylward (moved from NE PPA) 90 

 
Belmont 

Camrose 60 
 

Canons 
Glebe 90 

 
Centenary 

Kenmore Parks 90 
 

Edgware 
Krishna Avanti - VA 60 

 
Kenton East 

St Bernadette's – VA 60 
  

Stag Lane 120 
  

Stanburn (moved from NE PPA) 90 
  

Whitchurch (moved from NE PPA) 120 
  

Total 780   

Perm Exp – Permanent Expansions; *Camrose Primary also opened a Year 1 bulge class in October 2011 
and Glebe opened a Year 4 bulge class in September 2014. **A formal reduction of 1FE (120 to 90) has 
been agreed for Kenmore Park from 2021/22. Stag Lane was approved for permanent expansion from 
2016/17 and these additional places are included in Table 9 and Table 10 below. 

 
Table 9: Primary projections for the South East Planning Area 

Primary projection area: South East (Community Schools only) 
Years R to 6 only 

Year 
January 
actual 

number on 
roll 

Projected 
demand GLA 

(Baseline) 

Projected 
demand GLA 
(R+2% - Yr6) 

Places 
available 

Surplus /Deficit 
of places 
(Baseline) 

Surplus /Deficit 
of places 

(R+2% - Yr6) 

15/16 5,001           
16/17 5,181           
17/18 5,213           
18/19 5,279           
19/20 5,290           
20/21 5,203           
21/22 5,115           
22/23   5,111 5,213 5,760 649 547 
23/24   5,121 5,223 5,700 579 477 
24/25   5,112 5,214 5,640 528 426 
25/26   5,072 5,173 5,580 508 407 
26/27   4,990 5,090 5,520 530 430 
27/28   4,886 4,984 5,490 604 506 
28/29   4,760 4,855 5,460 700 605 
29/30   4,640 4,733 5,460 820 727 
30/31   4,536 4,627 5,460 924 833 
31/32   4,446 4,535 5,460 1014 925 
32/33   4,402 4,490 5,460 1058 970 
33/34   4,390 4,478 5,460 1070 982 
34/35   4,401 4,489 5,460 1059 971 

Source: SRP_borough_Spring2022_3_4_BPO2020scenario2_WD22_1207221727 

217



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 20 October 2022 
 

Table 9 above shows the actual number on roll and projection figures for the South East 
Planning Area for Reception to Year 6. The actual number of pupils continued increasing from 
5,001 in 2015/16 to 5,290 in 2019/20 but fell to 5,115 in 2021/22.  The projections for this area  
drop from 5,111 (Baseline) and 5,213 (+2%) in 2022/23 and drop to 4,401 (Baseline) and 4,489 
(+2%) in 2034/35.  There is a surplus of places in this planning area for the entire period 
covered. 
 
Table 10: Reception projections for the South East Planning Area 

Primary Planning Area 3 - South East (Community Schools only) 
Year Reception 

School 
Year 

January 
actual 

number 
on roll 

Projected 
demand 

GLA 
(Baseline) 

Projected 
demand 

GLA 
(+2%) 

Reception 
Places 

available  

Calculated 
FE - 

baseline 
Calculated 

FE +2% 

Proposed 
Additional 

FE 
required  
Baseline 
& +2% 

Total 
Reception 

Places 
Proposed 
- baseline 

& +2% 
15/16 762               
16/17 775               
17/18 801               
18/19 757               
19/20 733               
20/21 752               
21/22 756               
22/23   757 772 780 0.77 0.26 0  780 
23/24   757 772 780 0.77 0.26 0  780 
24/25   755 770 780 0.83 0.33 0  780 
25/26   710 724 780 2.33 1.86 0  780 
26/27   673 686 780 3.57 3.12 0  780 
27/28   652 665 780 4.27 3.83 0  780 
28/29   636 649 780 4.80 4.38 0  780 
29/30   627 640 780 5.10 4.68 0  780 
30/31   625 638 780 5.17 4.75 0  780 
31/32   625 638 780 5.17 4.75 0  780 
32/33   628 641 780 5.07 4.65 0  780 
33/34   631 644 780 4.97 4.55 0  780 
34/35   640 653 780 4.67 4.24 0  780 

Source: SRP_borough_Spring2022_3_4_BPO2020scenario2_WD22_1207221727; The 2021/22 places include 
the reduction of 1FE at Kenmore Park Infant. 
 
Table 10 above and Chart 5 below show that even though the Reception numbers on roll have 
fluctuated a little over the period shown, they have overall remained quite stable in the South 
East planning area, increasing from 762 in 2015/16 to 801 in 2017/18 but then dropping to 756 
in 2021/22.  The projections in this area start at 757 (Baseline) and 772 (+2%) in 2022/23 but 
steadily continue to fall over the period dropping to 640 (Baseline) and 653 (+2%) in 2034/35.  
There is a sufficient number of places available in this area, with the surplus increasing from just 
under 1 form of entry to just under 5 FE by the end of the period covered.  
 
 

218



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 21 October 2022 
 

Chart 5: Reception projections for the South East Planning Area 

 
Source: SRP_borough_Spring2022_3_4_BPO2020scenario2_WD22_1207221727 

219



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 22 October 2022 
 

South West Planning Area (GLA Planning Area 4): 
  
Projections for the South West Planning Area are based on data from the following schools and 
population data for part or all of these wards. The published admission number (PAN) for each 
school in September 2022 is shown below.  The number of temporary (bulge) Reception 
classes and permanent expansion classes from 2009/10 to 2016/17 are also shown below. 
 

Schools: PAN 
 

Main Wards: 
Earlsmead 60 

 
Harrow on the Hill 

Grange 90 
 

Rayners Lane 
Heathland 90 

 
Roxbourne 

Newton Farm 60 
 

Roxeth 
Roxbourne 60 

 
West Harrow 

Roxeth 60 
 

 
Welldon Park 60 

 
 

St Anselm's - VA 60 
 

 
St George's – VA 60   
Total 600   
Perm Exp – Permanent Expansions; *Grange also opened a Year 4 bulge class in September 2014; 
**Welldon Park School’s PAN has been reduced from 3FE to 2FE from 2019/20. ***A formal reduction of 
1FE (90 to 60) has been agreed for Roxbourne Primary from 2021/22. 

 
Table 11: Primary projections for the South West Planning Area 

Primary projection area: South West (Community Schools only) 
Years R to 6 only 

Year 
January 
actual 

number on 
roll 

Projected 
demand GLA 

(Baseline) 

Projected 
demand GLA 
(R+2% - Yr6) 

Places 
available 

Surplus /Deficit 
of places 
(Baseline) 

Surplus /Deficit 
of places 

(R+2% - Yr6) 

15/16 4,296           
16/17 4,157           
17/18 4,118           
18/19 4,129           
19/20 4,076           
20/21 3,959           
21/22 3,924           
22/23   3,898 3,976 4,230 332 254 
23/24   3,866 3,943 4,200 334 257 
24/25   3,796 3,872 4,200 404 328 
25/26   3,753 3,828 4,200 447 372 
26/27   3,664 3,737 4,200 536 463 
27/28   3,574 3,645 4,200 626 555 
28/29   3,505 3,575 4,200 695 625 
29/30   3,420 3,488 4,200 780 712 
30/31   3,355 3,422 4,200 845 778 
31/32   3,310 3,376 4,200 890 824 
32/33   3,292 3,358 4,200 908 842 
33/34   3,296 3,362 4,200 904 838 
34/35   3,311 3,377 4,200 889 823 

Source: SRP_borough_Spring2022_3_4_BPO2020scenario2_WD22_1207221727 
 

220



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 23 October 2022 
 

Table 11 above shows the number of Reception to Year 6 pupils in the South West Planning 
Area.  Pupil numbers in this area consistently increased from 4,296 in 2015/16 to 3,924 pupils in 
2021/22.  The projections for this area are projected to decline over the period covered from 
3,898 (Baseline) and 3,976 (+2%) in 2022/23 to 3,311 (Baseline) and 3,377 (+2%) by 2034/35.  
There is a significant surplus of places in this area from just over 300 places in 2022/23 to just 
under 900 places by 2034/35. 
 
Table 12: Reception projections for the South West Planning Area 

Primary Planning Area 4 - South West (Community Schools only) 
Year Reception 

School 
Year 

January 
actual 

number 
on roll 

Projected 
demand 

GLA 
(Baseline) 

Projected 
demand 

GLA 
(+2%) 

Reception 
Places 

available  

Calculated 
FE - 

baseline 
Calculated 

FE +2% 

Proposed 
Additional 

FE 
required  
Baseline 
& +2% 

Total 
Reception 

Places 
Proposed 
- baseline 

& +2% 
15/16 609               
16/17 567               
17/18 575               
18/19 550               
19/20 559               
20/21 558               
21/22 536               
22/23   565 576 600 1.17 0.79 0  600 
23/24   558 569 600 1.40 1.03 0  600 
24/25   545 556 600 1.83 1.47 0  600 
25/26   520 530 600 2.67 2.32 0  600 
26/27   496 506 600 3.47 3.14 0  600 
27/28   486 496 600 3.80 3.48 0  600 
28/29   486 496 600 3.80 3.48 0  600 
29/30   485 495 600 3.83 3.51 0  600 
30/31   484 494 600 3.87 3.54 0  600 
31/32   485 495 600 3.83 3.51 0  600 
32/33   489 499 600 3.70 3.37 0  600 
33/34   493 503 600 3.57 3.24 0  600 
34/35   495 505 600 3.50 3.17 0  600 

Source: SRP_borough_Spring2022_3_4_BPO2020scenario2_WD22_1207221727; ** the 21/22 places include the 
reduction of 1FE at Roxbourne Primary. 
 
Table 12 above and Chart 6 below show the Reception numbers and projections in the South 
West planning area.  The actual pupil numbers for this area have dropped from 609 in 2015/16 
to  536 in 2021/22.   The projections for this area are projected to fall over the period covered, 
falling from 565 (Baseline) and 576 (+2%) in 2022/23 to 495 (Baseline) and 505 (+2%) in 
2034/35.  There is a surplus of 1 to just over 3 forms of entry over the period covered in the 
table. 
 
 
 

221



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 24 October 2022 
 

Chart 6:  Current Reception NOR compared to roll projections and places available for the 
South West Planning Area 

 
Source: SRP_borough_Spring2022_3_4_BPO2020scenario2_WD22_1207221727 

222



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 25 October 2022 
 

Central Planning Area (GLA Planning Area 5):  
 
Projections for the Central Planning Area are based on data from the following schools and 
population data for part or all of these wards.  The published admission number (PAN) for each 
school in September 2022 is shown below.   
 
The number of temporary (bulge) Reception classes and permanent expansion classes from 
2009/10 to 2016/17 are also shown below. 
 
Perm Exp – Permanent Expansions; *Marlborough also opened a Year 3 bulge class in September 2014 and in  

Schools: PAN 
 

Main Wards: 
Belmont 90 

 
Greenhill 

Elmgrove 120 
 

Kenton West 
Marlborough 90 

 
Marlborough 

Norbury 90 
 

Wealdstone North 
Priestmead (moved from SE PPA) 120 

 
Wealdstone South 

Saint Jerome's - VA 60   
St Joseph's – VA 60   
Whitefriars 90   
Total 720   
September 2015 opened a Year 1 and vertical Year 4 & Year 5 (15 places each) bulge classes. 

 
The Central Planning area is an area of significant housing development as part of Harrow’s 
Opportunity Area and the demand for places will be monitored closely.  The Government free 
school (Saint Jérôme Bilingual School) opened in September 2016, providing 2 forms of entry, 
of which 12 places are allocated on foundation/faith basis, the remainder are offered to the 2 
founder’s children, siblings and open places within the catchment area. 
 
There is one further school in the Government’s Free School programme that would contribute 
to the provision of up to an additional 3 forms of entry in this Central Planning Area, Harrow 
View School.  In the context of the potential child yield impact across year groups of the housing 
development programme, which will not be factored fully into the projections until the types of 
housing units is known and approved, the projected deficit of places (R+2% to Y6) is a school 
place planning issue that will be monitored closely. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

223



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 26 October 2022 
 

Table 13: Primary projections for the Central Planning Area 
Primary projection area: Central (Community Schools) 
Years R to 6 only 

Year 
January 
actual 

number 
on roll 

Projected 
demand GLA 

(Baseline) 

Projected 
demand GLA 
(R+2% - Yr6) 

Places 
available 

Surplus /Deficit 
of places 
(Baseline) 

Surplus /Deficit 
of places (R+2% 

- Yr6) 

15/16 4,799           
16/17 5,019           
17/18 5,232           
18/19 5,316           
19/20 4,659           
20/21 4,749           
21/22 4,768           
22/23   4,872 4,969 5,040 168 71 
23/24   4,980 5,080 5,040 60 -40 
24/25   5,003 5,103 5,040 37 -63 
25/26   5,056 5,157 5,040 -16 -117 
26/27   5,069 5,170 5,040 -29 -130 
27/28   5,088 5,190 5,040 -48 -150 
28/29   5,106 5,208 5,040 -66 -168 
29/30   5,117 5,219 5,040 -77 -179 
30/31   5,126 5,229 5,040 -86 -189 
31/32   5,145 5,248 5,040 -105 -208 
32/33   5,184 5,288 5,040 -144 -248 
33/34   5,244 5,349 5,040 -204 -309 
34/35   5,317 5,423 5,040 -277 -383 

Source:SRP_borough_Spring2022_3_4_BPO2020scenario2_WD22_1207221727 
 
Table 13 above shows the projected Reception (Baseline & +2%) to Year 6 pupil numbers in the 
Central Planning Area up to 2034/35. The actual numbers on roll increased substantially in this 
area, from 4,799 in 2015/16 to 5,316 in 2018/19, after which point they dropped slightly to 4,659 
in 2019/20 and then have slowly increased to 4,768 in 2021/22.   
 
The projections for this area are projected to continue increasing, rising from 4,872 (Baseline) 
and 4,969 (+2%) in 2022/23 to 5,317 (Baseline) and 5,423 (+2%) by 2034/35.  There are 
sufficient places in this area until 2025/26, at which point there is a projected deficit of 16 
(Baseline) and 117 (+2%) places.  The deficit in places is set to increase substantially over the 
period covered in the table, with the projections suggesting a shortfall of up to 277 Baseline and 
383 places by 2034/35. 
 
 

224



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 27 October 2022 
 

Table 14: Reception projections for the Central Planning Area 
Primary Planning Area 5 - Central 
Year Reception 

School 
Year 

January 
actual 

number 
on roll 

Projected 
demand 

GLA 
(Baseline) 

Projected 
demand 

GLA (+2%) 

Reception 
Places 

available  

Calculated 
FE - 

baseline 
Calculated 

FE +2% 

Proposed 
Additional 

FE 
required  
Baseline 

/+2% 

Total 
Reception 

Places 
Proposed 
- baseline 

Total 
Reception 

Places 
Proposed 

- +2% 

15/16 774                 
16/17 830                 
17/18 834                 
18/19 791                 
19/20 714                 
20/21 713                 
21/22 707                 
22/23   735 750 720 -0.50 -0.99 1/1 765 780 
23/24   753 768 720 -1.10 -1.60 1/2 783 828 
24/25   747 762 720 -0.90 -1.40 1/1 777 792 
25/26   753 768 720 -1.10 -1.60 1/2 783 828 
26/27   741 756 720 -0.70 -1.19 1/1 771 786 
27/28   744 759 720 -0.80 -1.30 1/1 774 789 
28/29   756 771 720 -1.20 -1.70 1/2 786 831 
29/30   778 794 720 -1.93 -2.45 2/2 838 854 
30/31   794 810 720 -2.47 -3.00 2/3 854 900 
31/32   807 823 720 -2.90 -3.44 3/3 897 913 
32/33   819 835 720 -3.30 -3.85 3/4 909 955 
33/34   827 844 720 -3.57 -4.12 4/4 947 964 
34/35   836 853 720 -3.87 -4.42 4/4 956 973 
Source:SRP_borough_Spring2022_3_4_BPO2020scenario2_WD22_1207221727 
 
As can be seen by the deficit of places projected in the table above the Central Planning area is 
an area of significant housing development, which is a part of Harrow’s Opportunity Area.  The 
demand for places in this planning area are being closely monitored, with 3FE planned to meet 
the demand via the school proposed Harrow View Primary School. 
 
Table 14 above and Chart 7 below show that the number of Reception pupils in the Central 
planning area have significantly increased over the last few years.  The 2016/17 Reception 
number had a step increase to 830 pupils, from 774 in 2015/16, and the 2017/18 number on roll 
rose slightly to 834.  This increase is due to the inclusion of the school places available at the St 
Jérôme Bilingual School, which opened in September 2016.  However the numbers dropped by 
43 places to 791 in 2018/19 and have continued decreasing to 707 in 2021/22. 
 
The projections for this planning area are projected to increase, from 735 (Baseline) and 750 
(+2%) in 2022/23 to 836 (Baseline) and 853 (+2%) by 2034/35.  There is a projected deficit of 
under 1 form of entry in 2022/23, which increases to 2 FE (Baseline) from 2029/30 and 2 FE 
(+2%) from 2023/24 onwards.  The deficit is projected to continue up to the end of the period 
covered in the table.  However it should be noted that the neighbouring planning areas have 
sufficient places. 
 
 

225



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 28 October 2022 
 

Chart 7: Current NOR compared to roll projections and places available for the Central Planning 
Area  

 
Source:SRP_borough_Spring2022_3_4_BPO2020scenario2_WD22_1207221727 
 

226



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 29 October 2022 
 

3.6 Secondary Schools 
 
Secondary school roll projections are presented on the basis of Years 7 to 11 (11 to 15 year 
olds) and Year 7 in all Harrow schools.  Generally secondary school place planning has been 
undertaken on a whole borough level.  However, further analysis is being undertaken on three 
planning areas. 
 
Currently Harrow has capacity within the high school sector because opportunities have been 
taken when available to increase school places to meet future projected shortfalls through 
government funding, though this is ahead of the student demand. 
 
From September 2016, an additional 270 Year 7 places (Pinner High School 180 places, 
Whitefriars School and Canons High School increases of 60 places and 30 places respectively) 
were made available. 
 
From September 2017, a further additional 84 Year 7 places (Nower Hill High School increase 
of 24 places, Sacred Heart Language College and Whitefriars School increase of 30 places 
each) were made available. 
 
From September 2018, the Year 7 PAN increased by 22 additional places (Bentley Wood High 
School increase of 12 places and Park High School increase of 10 places). 
 
From September 2019, for the academic year 2019/20 the Year 7 PAN increased by 30 
additional places at Hatch End High School. 
 
From September 2022, for the academic year 2022/23 the Year 7 PAN increased by 16 places 
at Bentley Wood High School. 
 
There is a significant level of new housing development planned in Harrow over the next few 
years.  The types of housing units, and therefore the anticipated child yield, are not known at 
this stage.  Of the latest projections in this report and announced free school, there are 
expected to be sufficient primary school places in Harrow to meet a significant level of child 
yield.  New housing development can be expected to include students of secondary school age.  
Information for the early large housing developments will be clearer in the coming years. 
 

227



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 30 October 2022 
 

The secondary schools in Harrow with their planned admission number (PAN) for September 
2022 are shown in Table 18 below. 
 
Table 18: High School PAN 
Schools: PAN 
Bentley Wood High School 240 
Canons High School 210 
Harrow High School 180 
Hatch End High School 210 
Nower Hill High School 324 
Park High School 270 
Rooks Heath College 210 
Whitmore High School 270 
Salvatorian College 150* 
Sacred Heart Language College 150** 
Avanti House Secondary School 180 
Whitefriars (All-through school: secondary places) 150 
Pinner High 180 
Total Year 7 places in September 2022 2,724 

*the PAN for Salvatorian College was planned to increase to 180 from 150 in September 2019, this was not 
implemented; **the PAN for Sacred Heart Language College has been decreased to 150 from 180 in September 
2021. 
 
The ‘places available’ columns in Tables 19 and 20 and Charts 9 and 10 include the following 
secondary school places: 
 
Additional secondary school places 
 

• 180 Year 7 secondary school places at Avanti House since September 2012;   
• 30 additional Year 7 places at Bentley Wood High School since September 2014, and 14 

further places from September 2018; 
• Whitefriars School expanded in September 2015, and its age range extended to include 

secondary places.  The school is filling its Year 7 places on a phased basis from 2015: 
o Two forms of entry in September 2015;   
o Four forms of entry in September 2016;   
o Five forms of entry from September 2017 onwards. 

• 30 additional Year 7 places at Canons High School from September 2016; 
• Pinner High School opened in September 2016 with 180 Year 7 places; 
• 24 additional Year 7 places at Nower Hill High School from September 2017; 
• 30 additional Year 7 places at Sacred Heart Language College from September 2017; 
• 10 additional Year 7 places at Park High School from September 2018; 
• Salvatorian College has been rebuilt to an increased PAN of 30 places which would be 

available upon completion of the construction project.  These places were meant to be 
included in the tables and charts below from 2019/20 but the school have not increased 
their PAN and Officers are in discussions with High School heads to ensure we meet 
future demand; 

• 16 additional Year 7 places at Bentley Wood High from September 2022. 
 
Reduction in secondary school places 
 

• Hatch End High School is being partially rebuilt, and their PAN will reduce by 30 places 
to 210 permanently from September 2020. 

228



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 31 October 2022 
 

• The Sacred Heart Language College will be reducing it’s PAN from 180 to 150 from 
September 2021. 
 

Harrow’s age of transfer changed in September 2010, with 11+ year olds entering secondary 
school as Year 7 pupils. 
 
Table 19 and Chart 9 below show that the numbers on roll from Year 7 to Year 11 have 
continued increasing from 10,342 in 2013/14 to 13,061 in 2021/22. The GLA projects a 
continued increase in the number of pupils in Year 7 to Year 11 from 13,303 (Baseline) and 
13,569 (+2%) in 2022/23 to 13,377 (Baseline) and 13,645 (+2%) after which they start to drop to 
12,177 (Baseline) and 12,421 (+2%) by 2034/35.  There is a surplus of places projected over 
the period shown in the table below. 
 
Table 19: Secondary projections for Year 7 (Baseline & +2%) to Year 11 in all High Schools 

Secondary projections: All High Schools 
Years 7 (Baseline BPO 2020 3/4 Scenario 2 & +2%) to 11 only 

Year 
January 
actual 

number 
on roll 

Projected 
demand 

GLA (Yr 7 
Baseline) 

Projected 
demand 
GLA (Yr 
7 +2%) 

Places 
available 

Number 
of 

Surplus 
places 
(Yr 7 

Baseline) 

Number 
of 

Surplus 
places 
(Yr 7 
+2%) 

Forms of 
Entry 

surplus/deficit 
(Yr 7 

Baseline) 

Forms of 
Entry 

surplus/deficit 
(Yr 7 +2%) 

10/11 10,473     11,040 567     
11/12 10,556     11,130 574     
12/13 10,368     11,340 972     
13/14 10,342     11,510 1,168     
14/15 10,500     11,650 1,150     
15/16 10,686     11,730 1,044     
16/17 10,983     12,110 1,127     
17/18 11,234     12,474 1,240     
18/19 11,897     12,928 1,031     
19/20 12,453     13,276 823     
20/21 12,829     13,582 753     
21/22 13,061   13,648 587     
22/23   13,303 13,569 13,646 343 77 11 3 
23/24   13,377 13,645 13,632 255 -13 9 0 
24/25   13,319 13,585 13,618 299 33 10 1 
25/26   13,271 13,536 13,604 333 68 11 2 
26/27   13,183 13,447 13,620 437 173 15 6 
27/28   13,078 13,340 13,620 542 280 18 9 
28/29   12,994 13,254 13,620 626 366 21 12 
29/30   12,943 13,202 13,620 677 418 23 14 
30/31   12,905 13,163 13,620 715 457 24 15 
31/32   12,845 13,102 13,620 775 518 26 17 
32/33   12,672 12,925 13,620 948 695 32 23 
33/34   12,434 12,683 13,620 1186 937 40 31 
34/35   12,177 12,421 13,620 1443 1199 48 40 

Source:SRP_borough_Spring2022_3_4_BPO2020scenario2_WD22_1207221727; Salvatorian College planned to 
have 180 places from September 2019 but this is no longer the case, which has been factored into the table above 
from 2019/20 onwards and Hatch End High is being rebuilt to a decreased PAN of 30 places permanently from 
2020/21, which has been factored into the table above from 2020/21; The Sacred Heart Language College will be 
reducing its PAN from 180 to 150 from September 2021. Bentley Wood High has increased it’s PAN from 
September 2022, which has been factored in above. 
 
  

229



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 32 October 2022 
 

Chart 9: Current NOR compared to roll projections and places available for all High Schools, 
Years 7 to 11 

 
Source:SRP_borough_Spring2022_3_4_BPO2020scenario2_WD22_1207221727 
 

230



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 33 October 2022 
 

3.7 Year 7 Projections for High Schools 
 
Table 20 and Chart 10 below show that Year 7 numbers on roll consistently increased from 
1,932 in 2012/13 to 2,377 in 2016/17, but dropped slightly in 2017/18 to 2,347.  However the 
actual numbers increased again by 187 pupils in 2018/19 to 2,534 and by 136 pupils in 2019/20 
to 2,670, however they fell by just over 1 form of entry in 2020/21 to 2,623.   
 
The GLA projections are suggesting a continued increase in the number of pupils, with some 
fluctuation over the period shown in the table below.  They increase from 2,668 (Baseline) and 
2,721 (+2%) in 2021/22 to 2,705 (Baseline) and 2,759 (+2%) in 2022/23, but then are projected 
to drop to 2,576 (Baseline) and 2,628 (+2%) in 2025/26.  They rise and fall again after this 
period, falling to 2,517 (Baseline) and 2,567 (+2%) in 2033/34.   
 
Based on the baseline projections, a surplus of places is suggested for the whole of ther period 
shown in the table below.  However, a deficit of 1 FE is projected for 2022/23 and for 2028/29 
increasing to a 2 FE deficit in 2029/30. 
 
Table 20: Secondary projections for Year 7 in all High Schools 

Secondary projection area: All Schools (Includes VA) 
Year 7 

Year 
January 
actual 

number 
on roll 

GLA 
projected 
demand 
Baseline 

GLA 
projected 
demand 

+2% 

Year 7 
Places 

available 

Calculated 
FE 

Baseline 

Proposed 
Additional 

FE 
required 
Baseline 

Calculated 
FE +2% 

Proposed 
Additional 

FE 
required 

+2% 

Total 
Year 7 
Places 

Proposed 
Baseline 

Total 
Year 7 
Places 

Proposed 
+2% 

09/10 1,991                   
10/11 1,992                   
11/12 2,084                   
12/13 1,932                   
13/14 1,982                   
14/15 2,160                   
15/16 2,204                   
16/17 2,379                   

17/18 2,346                   

18/19 2,532                   

19/20 2,670                   

20/21 2,622                   

21/22 2,633          

22/23   2,681 2,735 2,724 1.43 0  -0.35 0  2,724 2,724 

23/24   2,641 2,694 2,724 2.77 0  1.01 0  2,724 2,724 

24/25   2,606 2,658 2,724 3.93 0  2.20 0  2,724 2,724 

25/26   2,549 2,600 2,724 5.83 0  4.13 0  2,724 2,724 

26/27   2,532 2,583 2,724 6.40 0  4.71 0  2,724 2,724 

27/28   2,571 2,622 2,724 5.10 0  3.39 0  2,724 2,724 

28/29   2,565 2,616 2,724 5.30 0  3.59 0  2,724 2,724 

29/30   2,573 2,624 2,724 5.03 0  3.32 0  2,724 2,724 

30/31   2,524 2,574 2,724 6.67 0  4.98 0  2,724 2,724 

31/32   2,488 2,538 2,724 7.87 0  6.21 0  2,724 2,724 

32/33   2,404 2,452 2,724 10.67 0  9.06 0  2,724 2,724 

33/34   2,333 2,380 2,724 13.03 0  11.48 0  2,724 2,724 

34/35   2,303 2,349 2,724 14.03 0  12.50 0  2,724 2,724 
Source:SRP_borough_Spring2022_3_4_BPO2020scenario2_WD22_1207221727; Salvatorian College planned to 
have 180 places from September 2019 but this is no longer the case, which has been factored into the table above 
from 2019/20 onwards and Hatch End High is being rebuilt to a decreased PAN of 30 places permanently from 
2020/21, which has been factored into the table above; The Sacred Heart Language College will be reducing its 
PAN from 180 to 150 from September 2021; Bentley Wood High has increased it’s PAN from September 2022, 
which has been factored in above. 
 

231



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 34 October 2022 
 

Chart 10: Current NOR compared to roll projections and places available for all High schools, 
Year 7 (Baseline & +2%) 

Source:SRP_borough_Spring2022_3_4_BPO2020scenario2_WD22_1207221727 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

232



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 35 October 2022 
 

Annexe 1- Child Population Projections 2022 
 
Section 1: Child Population Projections 
 
ONS Mid-Year Estimates (MYE) 
Mid-year population estimates relate to the usually resident population. They account for long-
term international migrants (people who change their country of usual residence for a period of 
12 months or more) but do not account for short-term migrants (people who come to or leave 
the country for a period of less than 12 months). 
 
Harrow’s 2020-MYE 
According to the 2020-MYE Harrow’s school age children are estimated to have increased from 
2019 to 2020, whilst the pre-school and post-school numbers have decreased, as can be seen 
in the table below. 
 
Age mid-2019 Mid-2020 # change % change 
0 to 4 17,842 17,832 -10 -0.06% 
5 to 9 17,137 17,429 292 1.70% 
10 to 14 15,333 15,552 219 1.43% 
15 to 19 13,644 13,951 307 2.25% 
20 to 24 13,039 12,889 -150 -1.15% 

Source: Population Estimates Table (2020) 
 
ONS Sub National Population Projections 
The ONS’s Population Projections (SNPP) provide statistics on potential future size and age 
structure of the population.  They are based on past trends and assumptions of future levels of 
births, deaths and migration.  They do not incorporate local development plans but instead 
provide a baseline, which can be combined with local knowledge. 
 
Harrow’s 2018-based SNPPs 
According to the ONS’s SNPPs Harrow’s primary age children from 0 to 4 and 5 to 9 are 
projected to decrease between 2018 and 2028.   

 
According to the ONS’s SNPPs Harrow’s secondary age children from 10 to 19 are projected to 
continue increasing; 
 
Age range 2018 2023 2028 # change 2018-2028 % change 2018-2028 
0-4 17,745 15,732 14,840 -2,905 -16.4% 
0-9 16,783 16,919 15,059 -1,724 -10.3% 
10-14 15,080 16,417 16,378 1,298 8.6% 
15-19 13,767 13981 15,142 1,375 10.0% 
20-24 13,528 11,880 11,710 -1,818 -13.4% 

Source: 2018 SNPP table2 
 
 

233



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 36 October 2022 
 

GLA Borough Preferred Option Population Projections 
 
The 2020-based BPO projections have been produced with a newly developed small area 
population model. This model has been developed to reduce reliance on 2011 census inputs in 
the modelling process. As a result, the model is able to run projections not only for census 
(2013) wards but also for updated wards including 2022 ward boundaries. 
 
The Borough Preferred Option (BPO) projections are a special set of housing-led population 
projections produced by the GLA for London local authorities and based on a housing 
development trajectory specified by each borough for this specific purpose.  The BPO 
projections use the GLA housing-led and small area models to produce ward-level population 
projections.  The model has two stages: 
 
Stage 1: Trend projection  
Ward populations are projected from a starting population in a given year by applied pre- 
calculated rates of fertility, mortality and migration. The resulting population change is added  
to the starting population to give projected population for that year.  
 
Stage 2: Housing-led projection  
For the same year, using the same starting population, a second projection is run. This  
projection takes inputs from the Stage 1 projection as well as development data provided in the  
form of a BPO development trajectory.  The model calculates a level of Average Household 
Size (AHS) which is consistent with the existing character of the ward, new development being 
built and projected trended population growth. The AHS value is applied to the input 
development to give a total population for the ward.  Births and deaths for the ward are taken 
from the Stage 1 projection. Net migration is calculated by differencing the population change 
for the year from the births and deaths. Gross flows are then estimated from the gross flow 
using the same ‘re-grossing’ process outlined above.  
 
The final population at the end of Stage 2 is the projected population for that year and  
becomes the starting population for the next year.  
 
Differences to previous rounds of projections 
The model used in the production of this set of GLA projections differs in approach from  
previous rounds of projections. In particular it makes use of recent trends in migration at the  
ward level as opposed to relying on census data. We believe that these changes produce more  
robust and consistent projections. In some wards the differences between previous projections  
and this set will be marked. There will be differences to overall population trajectories and also  
to age structures within wards. Where boroughs note particular differences between this round  
and previous rounds the GLA can offer guidance on reasons for those differences and in  
understanding their impacts. 
 
The 2020-based BPO projections have 2 variant projections: 
 

• Scenario 1 (using the 2020-based central lower projection as a constraint)  
Standard migration assumptions for the covid period; Higher domestic out-migration 
assumptions in the longer-term (5-year average). 
 

• Scenario 2 (using the 2020-based central upper projection as a constraint) 
Standard migration assumptions for the covid period; Lower domestic out-migration 
assumptions in the longer-term (10-year average). 
 

This year we have used the school roll projections that are based on the BPO Scenario 2 
variant, in-line with Demography and Planning areas of the Council. 

234



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 37 October 2022 
 

A summary of the GLA’s 2020 Borough Preferred Option population projections based on the 
scenario 2 variant for Harrow of 0 to 3 year olds, 4-10 year olds, 11-15 year olds and 16 to 25 
year olds is summarised in the chart below.   
 
Chart 1 below shows that between 2011 and 2019: 
 

• The number of 0 to 3 year olds has fluctuated over the 
years but overall increased from 13,252 in 2011 to 13,878 in 2020.   

• The number of 4 to 10 year olds have dipped slightly 
over the last couple of years but have overall continued to increase, from 20,328 in 2011 
to 23,268 in 2020.   

• The number of 11 to 15 year olds decreased between 
2011 and 2014, after which point they have continued increase to 15,994 in 2020. 

• The number of 16 to 25 year olds has overall continue 
to drop over the years, from 31,632 in 2011 to 27,865 in 2020. 

 
Age 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 
0 to 3 13,252 13,742 14,030 14,015 13,808 13,608 13,646 13,847 14,046 13,878 
4 to 10 20,328 20,646 21,726 22,597 23,213 23,257 23,386 23,550 23,481 23,268 
11 to 15 14,892 14,643 14,237 14,174 14,333 14,450 14,796 15,206 15,712 15,994 
16 to 25 31,632 31,082 29,563 28,598 28,175 28,835 28,009 27,720 27,332 27,865 
Source: GLA’s Harrow_scenario2_WD22 
 
Chart 1: Harrow’s 0 to 25 year old population 2011 to 2020 

 
Source: GLA’s Harrow_scenario2_WD22 
 
The chart below shows that the number of 0 to 3 year olds in Harrow has fluctutated over the 
last decade, increasing from from 13,252 in 2011 to 14,030 in 2013 and then falling to 13,608 in 
2016 but then increasing again to 14,046 in 2019.  The actual number dropped to 13,878 in 
2020 and is projected to continue decreasing to 12,863 in 2025.  However, the number of 0 to 3 
years are  projected to start increasing again from 12,866 in 2026 to 13,982 in 2035, with a 
continued upward trajectory. 
 
 

235



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 38 October 2022 
 

Chart 2: Harrow’s 0 to 3 year old population 

 
Source: GLA’s Harrow_scenario2_WD22 
 
Chart 3 below shows that the number of 4 to 10 year olds has increased from 20,328 in 2011 to 
23,481 in 2020, and are overall projected to decrease from 23,059 to in 2023 to 21,385 by 
2035.  
 
Chart 3: Harrow’s 4 to 10 year old population 

 
Source: GLA’s Harrow_scenario2_WD22 
 
Chart 4 below shows that the number of 11 to 15 year olds decreased from 14,892 in 2011 to 
14,174 in 2014, and then increased to 15,994 in 2020.  The projections are projected to 
continue increasing, peaking at 16,535 in 2024 and start to decline with a downward trajectory 
to 14,862 in 2035. 
 
 

236



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 39 October 2022 
 

Chart 4: Harrow’s 11 to 15 year old population 

 
Source: GLA’s Harrow_scenario2_WD22 
 
Chart 5 below shows that the number of 16 to 25 year olds has dropped from 31,632 in 2011 to 
27,332 in 2019, and then rose slightly to 27,865 in 2020.  The numbers are projected to initially 
drop to 26,422 in 2021 and then increase to 31,021 followed by a very slight decline to 30,865 
in 2035. 
 
Chart 5: Harrow’s 16 to 25 year old population 

 
Source: GLA’s Harrow_scenario2_WD22 

237



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 40 October 2022 
 

Primary Planning Areas 
The GLA projections for primary schools are area based, using the Planning Areas created in 
2004 by Harrow Council for school place planning when they were changed to reflect boundary 
changes. The projections for each Planning Area were based on a combination of ward-level 
child population projections and the historic pattern of subscription to schools. 
 
Historically a methodology was used where schools were placed in planning area based on the 
wards that majority of the pupils resided in, with the exception of Voluntary Aided Schools. 
Wards were grouped together geographically taking into account the schools attended by pupils 
living the ward. Where the percentage of pupils from wards was less than 40% the geographical 
location of the ward and schools were taken into account. It was decided that the Voluntary 
Aided primary schools would have a non-geographical planning area as their pupils resided 
across the borough. 
 
The recent review of the current planning areas is in line with DfE guidance and an analysis of 
where pupils went to school in May 2021, based on pupils’ postcodes, has been used. The new 
Primary Planning Areas were redefined using the new May 2022 wards retaining the current 
methodology as described above. The DfE’s current planning area guidance has strongly 
recommended not using non-geographical planning areas therefore a decision to not include 
the voluntary aided primary schools in the existing 5 geographical planning areas has been 
implemented.  This resulted in the deletion of the Volutary Aided primary planning area and  
Harrow currently has 5 geographical primary planning areas. 
 
Harrow’s Births and Reception Year Rolls 
Harrow’s observed births have continued to increase from 2,922 in 2005/06 to 3,620 in 2012/13, 
as can be seen in Chart 6 below.  Births fluctuated from 2013/14 onwards - dropping to 3,509 in 
2014/15, and then increasing to 3,655 in 2017/18 but then decreasing again to 3,506 in 
2019/20. 
 
In-line with this decline Harrow’s projected births are initially projected to drop from 3,488 in 
2020/21 to 3,270 in 2022/23.  However they are then projected to increase from 3,283 in 
2023/24 to 3,513 in 2029/30, as can be seen in Chart 6 below.  There is a continued upward 
trajectory suggested for Harrow’s births. 
 
Chart 6: Harrow’s Actual & Projected Births 

 
Source: GLA Births Harrow_scenario2_WD22 
 

238



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 41 October 2022 
 

In-line with the increase in Harrow’s births Harrow schools’ actual Reception numbers increased 
from 2,224 in 2005/06 to 3,251 in 2014/15.  However, the numbers fell in 2015/16 to 3,198 and 
then dropped again to 3,152 in 2016/17. Since 2017/18 the reception number have fluctuated, 
rising slightly to 3,191 but then dropped quite significantly to 3,044 in 2018/19.  The 2020/21 
Reception number on roll is 3,048.  This overall decline in the actual numbers is reflected in a 
lower trajectory of Harrow’s schools roll projections, as can be seen in chart 7 below.  Due to 
this change this report includes both the school roll projections as provided by the GLA (referred 
to as baseline) alongside our local adjustment of 2%. 
 
Chart 7: Harrow’s Actual & Projected Reception Year Rolls 

 
Source: GLA SRP_borough_Spring2022_3_4_BPO2020scenario2_WD22_1207221727 
 
Births to School Conversion 
Harrow’s birth to school pupil conversion rate has ranged from 89% in 2006/07 (representing 
2,310 children in Reception as at January 2007 from a total of 2,602 births in 2001/02) to 97% 
in 2014/15 (representing 3,251 children in Reception as at January 2015 from a total of 3,344 
births in 2009/10).  However the conversion rate has been dropping since and has fallen to 84% 
in 2021/22 (representing 3,048 children in Reception as at January 2021 from a total of 3,624 
births).  
 
As can be seen by the latest data above the increases in Harrow’s births have not inevitably 
translated into children accepting a place in Harrow’s schools Reception year group.  There are 
a range of variables that will affect the actual number of births converting into Harrow’s 
Reception school children, such as migration into and out of the borough, migration out of the 
country especially of European Citizens returning to their country of origin (likely to be due to 
both Brexit and or the Covid-19 pandemic),children living on the borders of Harrow could be 
attending neighbouring boroughs school’s (especially with new free school’s opening in 
Harrow’s neighbouring boroughs), or even selecting a grammar or an independent school. 
 
Chart 9 below shows Harrow’s 2009/10 to 2019/20 births to actual Reception numbers on roll 
conversion rate, which has been fluctuating, from 90% in the academic year 2009/10, peaking 
at 97% in 2014/15, falling to 85% in 2018/19 and increasing to 88% in 2019/20 and then falling 
again to the lowest retention rate ever – 84% for the last two years (2020/21 & 2021/22).  The 
chart also shows Harrow’s 2022/23 to 2034/35 projected conversion rate, which is in line with 
the recent fluctuations in the actual conversion rates, ranging between 85% and 82%. 
 

239



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 42 October 2022 
 

Chart 9 - Conversion rate of Harrow births into actual school Reception numbers on roll 

 
Source: GLA Births Harrow_scenario2_WD22 
 
 
 

240



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 43 October 2022 
 

Section 2: Local Factors Influencing Harrow’s Pupil Projections  
 
School Admissions Applications, Offers for Places and Take –Up 
 
Residents must apply to their home authority for a maintained school place, whether the school 
place is within the authority or out of borough. During the Admissions process, applications for a 
Harrow school from out borough residents are also considered and vice versa. Whilst residents 
do not apply for an independent school place via the Local Authority, they sometimes do let the 
authority know that they are sending their child to an independent school.   
 
Reception in-take 
The Admissions service has experienced an increasing trend until 2014 in the number of on-
time, late and in-year applications for Reception and all of the primary phase year groups.  
Applications for Reception places have fluctuated since 2015 to 2017 and have overall been 
declining.  
 
Harrow Residents 
The Admissions Service received 3,250 applications (as at 14 July 2022) from Harrow 
residents for a September 2022 Reception year school place; this includes applications for 
Harrow schools, out of borough schools etc.   
 
Applications and offers of Reception places 
Table 1 below shows the total number of applications over the last few years.  This table also 
illustrates the difference between the number of offers made and the take up of places as 
measured by the DfE School Census in January.  The take-up rate has reverted back to 
previous years, falling slightly from last year’s rate and this will be monitored. 
 
Table 1 – Admissions Reception Entry Applications of Harrow residents 

On-time 
Lates 
as at 

end of 
August 

Increase January 
Census Entry 

Year 

January* ** 

Total 

(Total) 

% 
Increase 

from 
previous 

year Reception 

January 
Take 

Up Rate 

Sep-12 2,796 318 3,114 - - 2,879 92.5% 
Sep-13 2,991 330 3,321 207 6.65% 3,029 91.2% 
Sep-14 3,210 238 3,448 127 3.82% 3,251 94.3% 
Sep-15 3,126 288 3,414 -34 -0.99% 3,195 93.6% 
Sep-16 3,175 264 3,439 25 0.73% 3,154 91.7% 
Sep-17 3,143 243 3,386 -53 -1.54% 3,189 94.2% 
Sep-18 2,969 205 3,174 -212 -6.26% 3,043 95.9% 
Sep-19 2,976 212 3,188 14 0.44% 3,079 96.6% 
Sep-20 3,043 184 3,227 39 1.22% 3,089 95.7% 
Sep-21 2,864 311 3,142 -52 -1.61% 3,048 96.0% 
Sep-22 2,972 278 3,250*** 75 2.36% 3,120 96.0% 

* On-time applications are the data from the DfE returns submitted on offer day. 
** Lates are the number of on-time applications subtracted from the total home (Harrow) applications on the Capita 
One system.  (Note: if the home address of the pupil has changed to an address outside Harrow since the 
application, this may deflate the total number of late applications) 
*** As at 14 July 2022 
 
 
 

241



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 44 October 2022 
 

Year 7 intake 
 
Harrow Residents 
Admissions received 3,011 applications (as at 14 July 2022) from Harrow residents for a 
September 2022 year 7 school place; this includes applications for Harrow schools, out of 
borough schools and grammar schools etc.   
 
Table 2 below shows the increase in the total number of applications over the last few years.  It 
also illustrates the difference between the number of offers made and the take up of places as 
measured by the DfE School Census in January.  The take-up rate remained at or just above 
81% a few years ago, however it increased to 84.4% in September 2016, dropping slightly to 
83.0% in September 2017.  The take-up rate has fluctuated since September 2017, increasing 
to 88.5% in September 2019 and dropping to 86.2% in September 2021. 
 
Table 2 – Admissions Year 7 Entry Applications of Harrow residents 

On-time Increase January 
Census 

Entry Year 

October 
(1) 

Lates as 
at end of 
August 

(2) 
Total 

(Total) 

% 
Increase 

from 
previous 

year Year 7 

January 
Take 

Up Rate 

Sep-13 2,329 129 2,458 - - 1,982 80.6% 
Sep-14 2,475 167 2,642 184 7.49% 2,160 81.8% 
Sep-15 2,557 167 2,724 82 3.10% 2,204 80.9% 
Sep-16 2,676 142 2,818 94 3.45% 2,377 84.4% 
Sep-17 2,753 75 2,828 10 0.35% 2,347 83.0% 
Sep-18 2,749 139 2,888 60 2.12% 2,534 87.7% 
Sep-19 2,914 104 3,018 130 4.50% 2,670 88.5% 
Sep-20 2,986 83 3,069 51 1.69% 2,623 85.5% 
Sep-21 2,931 122 3,053 -16 -0.52% 2,633 86.2% 
Sep-22 2,876 135 3,011(3) -42 -1.38% 2,681 89.0% 

(1) On-time applications are the data from the DfE returns submitted on offer day. 
(2) Lates are the number of on-time applications subtracted from the total home (Harrow) applications on EMS.  
(Note: if the home address of the pupil has changed to an address outside Harrow since the application, this may 
deflate the total number of late applications) 
(3) As at 14th July 2022 
 
Harrow primary schools’ pupils’ borough of residence 
The number of pupils in Reception to Year 6 in Harrow schools have consistently increased 
since 2005/06 (16,633) to 2019/20 (21,714). However the number dropped for the first time in  
January 2021 (21,480) and again in January 2022 to 21,322 pupils in Harrow’s 40 primary and 
1 all through school, a drop of 158 pupils. (Source: Harrow schools’ school census). 
 
The number of out of borough primary age pupils attending Harrow’s schools in previous years 
increased, from 2,031 in January 2016, to 2,125 in January 2017 to 2,200 in January 2018 and 
2,301 in January 2019, however they dropped to 2,299 in 2020, 2,261 in 2021 and 2,258 in 
2022.  
 
Table 3 below shows that as at January 2022 the majority of Harrow’s primary school pupils 
reside within the borough of Harrow.  Please note that due to the May 2022 change in Ward 
Boundaries the table no longer includes a comparison to the previous year. 
 
 

242



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 45 October 2022 
 

Table 3: Harrow schools’ Reception to Year 6 pupils Harrow ward of residence January 2022 
Ward Number of pupils Percentage of pupils 
Headstone 1,254 5.9% 
Centenary 1,233 5.8% 
Edgware 1,184 5.6% 
Pinner South 1,167 5.5% 
Roxeth 1,134 5.3% 
Kenton East 1,094 5.1% 
Harrow Weald 1,071 5.0% 
Marlborough 1,021 4.8% 
Wealdstone North 939 4.4% 
Greenhill 873 4.1% 
Rayners Lane 856 4.0% 
West Harrow 776 3.6% 
Pinner 767 3.6% 
Roxbourne 758 3.6% 
Belmont 718 3.4% 
North Harrow 687 3.2% 
Kenton West 680 3.2% 
Stanmore 652 3.1% 
Wealdstone South 650 3.0% 
Hatch End 581 2.7% 
Harrow on the Hill 554 2.6% 
Canons 415 1.9% 
Harrow Wards Total 19,064 89.4% 
Out of borough 2,258 10.6% 
Grand Total 21,322 100% 
Source – January 2022 School Census NB special schools not included 
 
Residence of Reception Pupils 
As at January 2022 there were 3,048 (3,089 in 2021) pupils in the Reception year group and 
10.3% (9.7% in 2021) of Harrow schools’ Reception pupils live outside the borough.  In January 
2021 outborough pupils mainly live in Harrow’s neighbouring boroughs: Brent 120 (111 in 
2021), Hertfordshire 61 (43 in 2021), Hillingdon 60 (67 in 2021), Ealing 36 (36 in 2021) and 
Barnet 34 (35 in 2021), Other LAs 3 (7 in 2021). 
 
DfE’s Primary Cross Border Movement 
In January 2021, 6.7%, 193 pupils, of Harrow’s resident Reception age children attended 
schools maintained by other local authorities (6.5% in January 2020).  In January 2021, 10.1%, 
302 of other local authorities children attended schools in Harrow, resulting in the net difference 
of 3.4% between imports and exports of the school population in Reception for Harrow in 
2020/21. 
 
The numbers of primary age pupils exported and imported into Harrow have remained similar 
and balanced over the last 4 years; however as at January 2021 Harrow imported 619 more 
children into its schools than it exported into other borough’s schools (541 in January 2020).   
 
Table 4 below shows where Harrow’s resident pupils attend primary schools outside of the 
borough over the last 4 years.  The number of pupils leaving Harrow to attend schools in other 
boroughs has continued dropping over the last five years, from 1,920 in January 2017 to 1,635 
in January 2021. 

243



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 46 October 2022 
 

Table 4: Harrow’s resident pupils attending primary schools in other boroughs 
Pupil residents of Harrow 

Primary School LA 
Jan-17 Jan-18 Jan-19 Jan-20 Jan-21 

Primary Schools in Brent 521 514 501 500 515 
Primary Schools in Hillingdon 659 621 567 538 462 
Primary Schools in Barnet 431 419 398 385 359 
Primary Schools in Ealing 155 147 164 160 171 
Primary Schools in Hertfordshire 110 124 114 85 92 
Other LAs 44 47 51 47 36 
Total Harrow resident pupils exported 1,920 1,872 1,795 1,715 1,635 
Source: DfE SFR Cross Border Movement 
 
Table 5 below shows the number of out of borough of residents attending Harrow’s primary 
schools.  The number of out of borough pupils attending Harrow’s schools increased from 2,060 
in January 2017 to 2,296 in January 2019 but has dropped since, to 2,254 in 2021. 
 
Table 5: Borough of residence of Harrow’s primary school pupils 

Primary School in Harrow 
LA Name Residence 

Jan-17 Jan-18 Jan-19 Jan-20 Jan-21 
Residents of Brent 711 743 789 786 788 
Residents of Hillingdon 418 441 499 498 512 
Residents of Hertfordshire 368 384 450 418 406 
Residents of Ealing 307 296 297 283 267 
Residents of Barnet 205 204 211 223 230 
Other LAs 42 36 48 48 48 
Unknown* 9 6 2 6 3 
Total out of borough pupils imported 2,060 2,110 2,296 2,256 2,254 
Source: DfE SFR Cross Border Movement 
* Includes pupils with invalid postcodes  
 
Harrow secondary schools’ pupils’ borough of residence 
As at January 2022, there were 13,061 pupils on roll (12,836 pupils in January 2021) in Years 7 
to 11 in Harrow’s 12 secondary and 1 all through schools.   
 
The number of out of borough secondary aged pupils attending Harrow schools continued to 
increase from 2,048 in January 2017 to 2,511 in January 2021, a 23% increase but dropped to 
2,485 in January 2022. 
 
January 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 
OoB pupils 2,048 2,134 2,335 2,468 2,511 2,485 
   
Table 6 below shows that a majority of Harrow’s high school pupils reside in the borough of 
Harrow.  Please note that due to the May 2022 change in Ward Boundaries the table no longer 
includes a comparison to the previous year.   
 
In Harrow the higher number of pupils live in following wards – Harrow Weald 758 (5.8%), 
Headstone 732 (5.6%) and Centenary 720 (5.5%) wards, whereas less than 300 pupils live in 
Pinner 283 (2.2%), Canons 248 (1.9%) and Hatch End 209 (1.6%). The highest number of 
pupils living outside the borough reside in Brent – 902, 6.9%. 
 
 

244



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 47 October 2022 
 

Table 6: Harrow schools’ Year 7 to Year 11 pupils Harrow ward of residence January 2022 
Ward Number of pupils Percentage of pupils 
Harrow Weald 758 5.8% 
Headstone 732 5.6% 
Centenary 720 5.5% 
Edgware 704 5.4% 
Roxeth 674 5.2% 
Wealdstone North 614 4.7% 
Pinner South 584 4.5% 
Kenton East 539 4.1% 
West Harrow 526 4.0% 
Marlborough 466 3.6% 
Belmont 440 3.4% 
Roxbourne 430 3.3% 
Wealdstone South 411 3.1% 
Rayners Lane 392 3.0% 
North Harrow 391 3.0% 
Stanmore 386 3.0% 
Kenton West 374 2.9% 
Greenhill 361 2.8% 
Harrow on the Hill 334 2.6% 
Pinner 283 2.2% 
Canons 248 1.9% 
Hatch End 209 1.6% 
Harrow wards total 10,576 81.0% 
Out of Borough 2,485 19.0% 
Grand Total 13,061 100.0% 
Source – January 2021 School Census. NB special schools not included. 
 
Residence of Year 7 pupils 
As at January 2022 there are 2,633 (2,623 in 2021) pupils on roll in Year 7, of these pupils 478 
and a majority of them live in Harrow’s neighbouring boroughs, 150 in Brent, 93 in Ealing, 83 in 
Hillingdon, 73 in Hertfordshire, 69 in Barnet and 10 in other LAs. 
 
DfE Secondary Cross Border Movement 
• As at January 2021 the number of secondary age pupils exported from Harrow was 3,648 

(January 2020 – 3,640). 
• The number imported into Harrow’s high schools was 2,512 (January 2020 – 2,468).  
• Resulting in a loss of 1,136 pupils (January 2020 – 1,169), which is lower than the loss in 

previous years, for example a loss of 1,554 pupils in January 2015.     
 
The table below shows where Harrow’s resident pupils have gone to high schools outside of the 
borough over the last five years. 
    
 
 
 
 

245



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 48 October 2022 
 

Table 7: Harrow’s resident pupils attending high schools in other boroughs 
Pupil residents of Harrow 

High School LA 
Jan-17 Jan-18 Jan-19 Jan-20 Jan-21 

High Schools in Brent 821 862 893 862 882 
High Schools in Hillingdon 836 836 868 868 877 
High Schools in Hertfordshire 759 824 841 828 819 
High Schools in Barnet 739 706 699 647 639 
High Schools in Ealing 86 110 92 94 108 
High Schools in Buckinghamshire 116 143 128 100 89 
High Schools in Slough 84 84 80 87 88 
High Schools in Hammersmith & Fulham 63 54 54 49 48 
Other LAs 77 88 92 105 98 
Total Harrow resident pupils exported 3,581 3,707 3,747 3,640 3,648 
Source: DfE SFR Cross Border Movement 
 
Table 8 below shows the number of out of borough residents attending Harrow’s high schools 
over the last 4 years.  This number has increased from 2,148 in January 2017 to 2,468 in 
January 2020, which represents a 14.9% (320 pupils) increase from January 2018 to January 
2019.   
  
Table 8: Borough of residence of Harrow’s high school pupils 

High Schools in Harrow 
LA Name Residence 

Jan-17 Jan-18 Jan-19 Jan-20 Jan-21 
Residents of Brent 976 972 935 911 871 
Residents of Ealing 384 419 492 542 584 
Residents of Barnet 377 393 427 413 389 
Residents of Hillingdon 172 197 254 306 344 
Residents of Hertfordshire 188 225 194 231 255 
Other LAs 49 54 51 60 69 
Unknown* 2 6 6 5 5 
Total out of borough pupils imported 2,148 2,266 2,359 2,468 2,512 
Source: DfE SFR Cross Border Movement 
* Includes pupils with invalid postcodes 
 
Transferral rate of Harrow primary school pupils to Harrow secondary schools 
The number of pupils in Year 6 has been increasing over the last few years, with latest numbers 
at 3,085 as at May 2021 (3,038 as at January 2020).  The percentage of Year 6 pupils that have 
transferred to Year 7 in Harrows’ high schools has stayed steady between 66% and 70% over 
the last 8 years, with this year’s rate at 66.6%.  The remainder of the year 6 pupils are likely to 
be leaving a Harrow primary school to attend an independent school or a state school in 
another borough including maintained, voluntary aided and grammar schools.   
 
Table 9 below shows the Year 6 to Year 7 transferral rates for the last 11 years. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

246



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 49 October 2022 
 

Table 9: Proportion of Harrow’s Primary School Year 6 pupils (as at the May school census) transferring across to 
Year 7 in Harrow’s High Schools (as at the October school census) 

School 
Census 

Total Yr 6* in 
Harrow primary 
schools as at 

School Census 

October 
School 
Census 

No. of Harrow primary school 
Yr 6 pupils transferring to Yr 7 
in Harrow's high schools as at 

October School Census* 

% 
transferring 

Yr 7 Number* 
on Roll as at 

October 
School 
Census 

May-10 2,394 Oct-10 1,709 71.4% 1,972 
May-11 2,408 Jan-12** 1,716 71.6% 2,088 
May-12 2,333 Oct-12 1,559 67.4% 1,861 
May-13 2,395 Oct-13 1,592 67.1% 1,980 
May-14 2,545 Oct-14 1,697 66.7% 2,172 
May-15 2,597 Oct-15 1,721 66.3% 2,198 
May-16 2,711 Oct-16 1,783 65.8% 2,371 
May-17 2,761 Oct-17 1,844 66.7% 2,348 
May-18 2,791 Oct-18 1,892 67.8% 2,512 
May-19 2,972 Oct-19 2,072 69.7% 2,659 

Jan-20*** 3,038 Oct-20 2,088 68.7% 2,618 
May 2021 3,085 Oct-21 2,056 66.6% 2,627 
*The numbers on roll do not include special school pupils; 
**The October 2011 data was not available for Academies, so the January 2012 school census was used instead. 
***The May 2020 school census did not occur due to the Covid-19 pandemic. 
 
Retention rate of Harrow secondary schools 
The number of pupils in Year 7 in Harrow’s secondary schools in October 2020 increased 
slightly to 2,627 from 2,618 in October 2020. The retention rate is calculated as percentage by 
comparing the number of pupils on roll in Year 7 in the October census to that of to the number 
of pupils on roll in Year 6 in the May census.  The retention rate of pupils that are on roll in Year 
7 compared to pupils who are on roll in Year 6 has been over 85% during the last 6 years. In 
October 2021 there were 2,627 pupils on roll which is 85.2% of the number of pupils on roll in 
May 2021 in Year 6.  Please see table 10 below. 
 
Table 10: Year 7 Retention Rates 
May School 

Census* Year 6 October School 
Census* Year 7 Yr 7 as % of 

previous Yr 6 
May-10 2,394 Oct-10 1,972 82.4% 
May-11 2,408 Jan-12** 2,088 86.7% 
May-12 2,333 Oct-12 1,861 79.8% 
May-13 2,395 Oct-13 1,980 82.7% 
May-14 2,545 Oct-14 2,172 85.3% 
May-15 2,597 Oct-15 2,198 84.6% 
May-16 2,711 Oct-16 2,371 87.5% 
May-17 2,761 Oct-17 2,348 85.0% 
May-18 2,791 Oct-18 2,512 90.0% 
May-19 2,972 Oct-19 2,659 89.5% 
Jan-20 3,038 Oct-20 2,618 86.2% 
May-21 3,085 Oct-21 2,627 85.2% 

*The numbers on roll do not include special school pupils; 
**The October 2011 data was not available for Academies, so the January 2012 school census was used instead. 
***The May 2020 school census was not collected due to the Covid-19 pandemic. 
 

247



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 50 October 2022 
 

If you compare the transfer rate in table 9 and the retention rate in table 10, this indicates that 
some of the 30% of pupils who did not transfer at the end of Year 6 from a Harrow Primary 
School into Year 7 of a Harrow secondary school are replaced by children from outside the 
borough. The retention rate will be monitored closely to identify any emerging trends arising as 
a result of changes to secondary school provision in Harrow with the opening of new and 
additional secondary places. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

248



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 51 October 2022 
 

Annexe 2- Overview of Harrow’s population and changes 2022 
 

Overview of Harrow’s population and changes 
Harrow’s main sources of population data are the Office for National Statistics (ONS) and the 
Greater London Authority (GLA).   
The ONS produce the National Census every decade, the Mid-Year Estimates (MYE) annually 
and the Sub-National Population Projections (SNPP) approximately every two years; these 
datasets include births and migration data.   
The GLA Demography Team produce a range of annually updated population projections at 
both borough and ward level for the 33 local authorities in the London region. The GLA’s 
Borough Preferred Option (BPO) round of projections are produced for London boroughs based 
on development data or the latest GLA ward level Strategic Housing Land Availability 
Assessment (SHLAA).   
 
Harrow uses the GLA’s Borough Preferred Option based on Harrow’s latest available housing 
trajectory, and they use this BPO to produce our School Roll Projections on.   
 
The 2020 BPO are available for two variants: 
 

• Scenario 1 - Standard migration assumptions for the covid period; Higher domestic out-
migration assumptions in the longer-term (5-year average). 

• Scenario 2 – Standard migration assumptions for the covid period; Lower domestic out-
migration assumptions in the longer-term (10-year average). 

 
Based on the recommendation of Harrow’s Demography Team we have used the School Roll 
Projections based on the Scenario 2 BPO. 
 
ONS 2021 National Census – First Release 
 
On 28 June 2022 ONS released the first results from the 2021 Census of England and Wales 
comprising for each local authority the estimated population at census day (21 March 2021), the 
number of households and population density. Population estimates are by five-year age band 
and sex. Estimates of responses rates for each local authority were also published. 
 
Data in the 2021 census first release are rounded to the nearest 100. Future releases will 
provide unit-level estimates. Estimates of Londoners’ characteristics including for small areas 
will be published from October 2022 onwards. 
 
Census Population  

 
• England’s population grew by 3.5 million (6.6% increase since 2011) to 56,489,800 million. 
• London grew by 626 thousand persons (7.6 percent) to 8.8 million in the decade since the 

last census.  
• London’s growth rate over the decade was higher than the national average (6.3 percent) 

but lower than that of East of England and the South West regions. 
 
The change in population is due to – Births, deaths, internal and international migration.  From 
April 2011 to end of March 2021 there have been: 

 
• 6.8 million live births 
• 5.3 million = deaths 
• Resulting in a natural increase = 1.5 million 
• The remainder change due is to positive net migration 
 

249



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 52 October 2022 
 

• Harrow’s population increased to 261,300 by 9.3% since the 2011 Census – see table and 
map below. 
 

Borough 2011 Census 2021 Census 
Change 2011-

2021 
Percentage 

change 
Harrow 239,100 261,300 22,200 9.3% 

 

 
 
Census Households 

 
• England’s number of households increased by 6.1% (1.4 million). 
• There are a  total of 3.42 million households in London, an increase of 158 thousand (4.6 

percent) since the 2011 census.  This data does not include empty dwellings so if a 
proportion of homes were vacant when the census was taken then these would not show in 
this data. 

• Harrow’s number of households increased to 89,600 in 2021, an increase of 6.3% from 
84,268 in 2011. 

 
Census Age Groups 
Population growth over the decade is concentrated in older ages. There were fewer 0-to-4 year-
olds and 20-to-29 year-olds in 2021 than in 2011.   
 
• Two-thirds of England’s population (64.1%) are between 15 and 64 years old, 17.4% (10.4 

million) are under 15. 

250



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 53 October 2022 
 

• There are less 4 and under, 15 to 19 year olds and 20 to 24 in 2021 than there was in 2011, 
with only an increase in the number of 5 to 9 year olds over the last decade.   

• London’s population is much younger than the rest of the country, 18.1% of it’s population 
is under 15 years old. 

• Harrow’s population is made up of 18.5% of under 15 years, 66.2% of 15 to 64 year olds 
and 15.4% of 65 & above years.  As can be seen in the table and chart below. 
 

Aged 4 years 
and under 

Aged 5 to 9 
years 

Aged 10 to 14 
years 

Aged 15 to 19 
years 

Aged 20 to 24 
years Area 

name 
# % # % # % # % # % 

Harrow 15,700 6.0% 16,100 6.2% 16,500 6.3% 15,100 5.8% 15,100 5.8% 
London 529,000 6.0% 531,500 6.0% 535,400 6.1% 489,400 5.6% 589,200 6.7% 
England 3,077,000 5.4% 3,348,600 5.9% 3,413,100 6.0% 3,218,900 5.7% 3,414,400 6.0% 

 

 
 

Economic migrants from within the UK and from overseas in their 20s and 30s give London its 
distinctive age structure.  The older population is comparatively much smaller in London as 
people migrate away from the capital as they begin to form families and then later again as they 
move into retirement. 
 
ONS Population Projections and Estimates 
Population Estimates (MYE) are the official source of estimated population size in between the 
censuses and inform a wide range of national statistics. 
Population Projections (SNPP) provide statistics on potential future size and age structure of the 
population.  They are based on past trends and assumptions of future levels of births, deaths 
and migration.  They do not incorporate local development plans but instead provide a baseline, 
which can be combined with local knowledge. 
The ONS’s Sub-National Population Projections project what the population of every local 
authority will look like over the next 25 years. It should be noted that all population projections 
become increasingly uncertain the further they are carried forward due to the inherent 
uncertainty of demographic behaviour. 
The 2018-based SNPPs take the 2018 Mid-Year Estimates (MYEs) as their starting point, then: 
the population is projected forward a year at a time to 2041; the population is aged on from the 

251



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 54 October 2022 
 

previous year; the projected number of births and deaths are added; and adjustments for net 
migration are included. Births, deaths and migration are based on the trends observed in each 
local authority over the period mid-2011 to 2014. Finally the SNPPs are constrained to be 
consistent with the national projections for England.  
GLA Borough Preferred Option Results for Harrow 
 
Population Change 
The population of Harrow is estimated to have grown by 10,661 persons (4.4 percent) between 
2011 and 2019. Over the decade to 2029 the population is projected to grow by 12,976 persons 
(4.9 percent). By 2041 the population is projected to reach 280,336 persons, a 14.2 percent 
increase on the 2011 population. 
 
Table 1 below outlines the total population of Harrow from the census base population of 
240,499 through five-year intervals to a projected 2041 population of 280,336. 
 
Table 1: Population of Harrow 
Year 2020 Population 
2011 240,499 
2016 248,697 
2021 250,162 
2026 259,783 
2031 265,949 
2036 272,743 
2041 280,336 

Source: harrow_scenario2_WD22 
 
Age structure 
The greatest growth in Harrow, between 2011 and 2031, is projected to be in the 65 and over 
age group where the population increases by 18,922 persons (56.1 percent). 
 
Table 2: Age structure of Harrow - 2020 

Age Group  Population 
2011 

Population 
2021 

Percentage 
Change  

(2011 to 2021) 
Population 

2031 
Percentage 

Change 
(2011 to 2031) 

0 to 3 13,252 13,742 3.7% 13,393 1.1% 
4 to 10 20,328 23,038 31.3% 21,082 3.7% 
11 to 15 14,892 16,142 8.4% 15,950 7.1% 
16 to 25 31,632 26,422 -16.5% 31,006 -2.0% 
26 to 64 126,509 129,221 2.1% 131,633 4.1% 
65 and over 33,886 41,598 22.8% 52,884 56.1% 

Source: harrow_scenario2_WD2 
 
ONS 2020 Mid Year Estimates (MYE) 
 
Harrow’s population 
Harrow’s population has increased from 240,499 in 2011 to 252,338 in 2020, increasing by 
1,178 from 2019 to 2020. 
 

Harrow mid-
2011 

mid-
2012 

mid-
2013 

mid-
2014 

mid-
2015 

mid-
2016 

mid-
2017 

mid-
2018 

mid-
2019 

mid-
2020 

Population 240,499 241,978 243,004 245,149 246,818 248,697 248,880 250,149 251,160 252,338 
 

252



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 55 October 2022 
 

Harrow’s population from mid-2011 to mid-2020 

 
Harrow’s population increase between 2019 and 2020 (1,178) is slightly lower than it’s 
neighbouring London boroughs; Barnet increased by 3,138 and Hillingdon by 2,144.  However, 
Brent and Ealing’s populations have dropped by 2,018 and 1,465 respectively. 
 
Harrow’s births 
Harrow’s births based on the ONS’s MYE have fluctuated between 2011 and 2018, peaking at 
3,661 in 2015, and increased again in 2017 to 3,655 but have continued to drop since, falling 
from 3,543 in 2018 to 3,506 in 2019.   
 

 
 
Harrow’s migration 
Harrow’s internal migration resulted in a net loss of 4k people in 2017, 3.5k in 2018 and 2.1k in 
2019.  International migration resulted in a net gain of 3.2k people in 2017, 2.4k in 2018 and 
1.7k in 2019.  Net impact of total migration was a 834 loss in 2017, 1k loss in 2018 and 420 loss 
in 2019. 
 
 

253



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 56 October 2022 
 

Harrow 2017-MYE 2018-MYE 2019-MYE Diff 2018-2019 Direction 
Internal in 15,919 16,911 15,499 -1,142 Loss 
Internal out 19,955 20,369 17,637 -2,732 Loss 
Internal net diff -4,036 -3,458 -2,138 1,320 Gain 
International in 4,631 4,345 4,022 -323 Loss 
International out 1,429 1,955 2,304 349 Gain 
International net diff 3,202 2,390 1,718 -672 Loss 
Overall net diff -834 -1,068 -420 - - 

 
ONS 2018-based Subnational Population Projections (SNPP) 
 
Published on 24th March 2020, the SNPP suggest that the populations of all regions within 
England are projected to grow by mid-2028.  All regions are projected to have a greater 
proportion of people aged 65 and over by mid-2028.  London is still the largest growing region 
but no longer the fastest growing as it was in the 2016 SNNPs, it has dropped to 5th place in 
2018. 
 
Local Authorities 
 
Population projections at local authority level are especially subject to annual local fluctuations 
in source data.  Also, the actual local population change will be influenced by local economic 
development and housing policies. 
 
Nearly all local authorities are projected to grow by mid-2028.  Of the LAs with the highest 
projected population growth from 2018 to 2028 the only London borough is Tower Hamlets.  Of 
the LAs with the highest projected population decline from 2018 to 2028 the only London 
borough is Ealing. 
 

254



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 57 October 2022 
 

Harrow’s 2018-based SNPPs 
Harrow’s population 
The table below shows Harrow’s population over the next 10 years – it shows there is a very 
slow and steady increase from 2018 to 2028. 
 
Year Harrow Population 
2018 250,149 
2019 250,419 
2020 250,751 
2021 251,095 
2022 251,350 
2023 251,462 
2024 251,467 
2025 251,389 
2026 251,371 
2027 251,313 
2028 251,337 

 

 
 
Harrow’s births 
Harrow’s births are projected to fall from 3,260 in 2019 to 3,116 in 2023 and 2,970 in 2028. 
 
Births Harrow 
2019 3,260 
2020 3,248 
2021 3,214 
2022 3,167 
2023 3,116 
2024 3,048 
2025 3,029 
2026 3,009 
2027 2,988 
2028 2,970 

 

255



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 58 October 2022 
 

 
 
Harrow’s age ranges 
The table below shows Harrow’s age ranges up to 90+.  There is a projected drop in the 0 to 9 
and 20 to 39 age ranges, with an increase for the remainder of the ages. 
 
AGE GROUP 2018 2021 2024 
0-4 17,745 16,603 15,518 
5-9 16,783 17,267 16,560 
10-14 15,080 15,729 16,579 
15-19 13,767 13,553 14,188 
20-24 13,528 12,561 11,656 
25-29 17,457 16,857 16,635 
30-34 19,119 18,214 17,132 
35-39 19,467 18,657 17,880 
40-44 17,210 18,266 18,254 
45-49 16,432 16,404 16,993 
50-54 15,926 15,865 15,808 
55-59 15,278 15,520 15,424 
60-64 13,155 13,874 14,609 
65-69 11,190 11,924 12,689 
70-74 9,598 10,148 10,314 
75-79 6,996 7,637 8,577 
80-84 5,740 5,737 5,878 
85-89 3,530 3,881 4,110 
90+ 2,148 2,400 2,663 
All ages 250,149 251,095 251,467 
 
Migration 
Harrow’s internal migration net loss of people has continued to drop over the last 4 years, as 
can be seen in the table below. 
 
Harrow 2016 MYE 2017 MYE 2018 MYE 2019 MYE 
Internal migration Net -4,988 -4,036 -3,458 -2,138 
 

256



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 59 October 2022 
 

 
In contrast, International migration has resulted in a net gain, which has been dropping over the 
last few years, as can be seen in the table below.  
 
Harrow 2016 MYE 2017 MYE 2018 MYE 2019 MYE 
International migration Net 3,035 3,202 2,390 1,718 
 
The net impact of total migration in Harrow over the last four years has resulted in a loss of 
people, as can be seen in the table below. 
 
Harrow 2016 MYE 2017 MYE 2018 MYE 2019 MYE 
International migration Net -1,953 -834 -1,068 -420 

 
The SNPP project a relatively steady picture regarding Harrow’s internal and international 
migration from 2018 to 2028 
 
Harrow 2018 2028 Difference 2018-2028 
All migration net -1,505 -1,257 248 
Internal migration in 15,469 15,420 -49 
Internal migration out 19,893 18,952 -941 
International migration in 4,900 4,094 -806 
International migration out 1,892 1,725 -167 
Cross border migration in 244 237 -7 
Cross border migration out 334 332 -2 

 
Migration by age 
The ONS SNPPs contain migration projections by age.  Harrow’s net internal migration is 
overall projecting a loss of children of the following age ranges 0 to 4, 5 to 9, 10 to 14 and 15 to 
19.  There is projected gain for young people of the age range 20 to 24.   
 
Internal net 2019 2023 2028 Direction 
0-4 -367 -310 -270 Decreasing loss 
5-9 -367 -383 -332 Decreasing loss 
10-14 -86 -89 -103 Increasing loss 
15-19 -1,556 -1,555 -1,628 Increasing loss 
20-24 611 930 1,078 Increasing gain 

 
Harrow’s net international migration projects an increasing number of children migrating into 
Harrow for all the age ranges, however the increase is declining from 2019 to 2028.   
 
International net 2019 2023 2028 Direction 
0-4 294 260 243 Decreasing gain 
5-9 193 171 159 Decreasing gain 
10-14 171 151 141 Decreasing gain 
15-19 263 231 215 Decreasing gain 
20-24 484 408 368 Decreasing gain 

 
 

257



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 60 October 2022 
 

 
Overall net migration – there is a projected loss from 2019 to 2028 of the age ranges 0 to 4 and 
5 to 9 and 15 to 19; and a projected gain of the age ranges 10 to 14 and 20 to 24. 
 
Net Migration 2019 2023 2028 Direction 
0-4 -73 -50 -27 Decreasing loss 
5-9 -174 -212 -173 Stable loss 
10-14 85 62 38 Decreasing gain 
15-19 -1,293 -1,324 -1,413 Increasing loss 
20-24 1,095 1,338 1,446 Increasing gain 

 
It should be noted that these projections are purely based on past trends, so any impacts that 
Brexit or the Covid-19 pandemic may have on future migration levels (or as a result of any other 
changes in government policies or economic circumstances) are not considered. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

258



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 61 October 2022 
 

Annexe 3 - School Roll Projections Methodology 
 
How the GLA’s school roll projections are produced 
 
There is no single accepted method for projecting school numbers and London boroughs have 
recently faced major challenges in providing places to meet a growing child population.  Harrow, 
along with the majority of other London boroughs, commission’s school roll projections from the 
Greater London Authority’s (GLA) School Roll Projections Service.  The GLA provides the 
baseline projections to which local knowledge is applied to make reasonable adjustments in line 
with pressure at Reception, Year 7 and other school year groups. 
 
Summary methodology 
 
The GLA school roll projection model creates a roll projection for each school based on the GLA 
population projections of the wards where its pupils live. 
  
For each ward of residence in London, National Curriculum (NC) year (R to 11) and sex, the 
proportion of children of the corresponding age attending each mainstream state school is 
calculated.  These proportions are carried forward as the pupils age through the school in the 
years being projected. 
 
For new pupils entering a school in future years, for example at reception, proportions are 
calculated as averages over the latest years of actuals, with 4 being the standard number of 
years used (2019, 2020, 2021 and 2022). The same approach is used at years 7 and 12, even if 
the school is an all through school as it is assumed that there will be significant changes in the 
cohort at this point. 
 
For the current round year (2022), the school level rolls submitted by London Boroughs to the 
GLA have no information on wards of residence of the pupils. For this year, the number of 
pupils from the roll attributed to each ward are estimated by averaging over the previous years’ 
patterns, with the default being 3 years (2019, 2020 and 2021), and scaling to ensure that the 
total numbers at each school for each age and sex match the submitted rolls. 
 
The rolled forward and calculated new intake proportions for future years are then applied to the 
population projections to give projections of the number of children on roll by school by age and 
sex.  Due to lower retention rates, sixth form projections are calculated using a survival ratio as 
the cohort ages through sixth form.  School level projections are then aggregated to planning 
areas and borough totals. 
 

259



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 62 October 2022 
 

Options for running the model  
 
Section A describes the SRP model and the methodology behind the numbers of years of data 
used for ward distribution of current roll and new intake options in more detail.  
 
In the 2022 round, 3/4, 3/1 and 1/1 roll projections are supplied as default. Other variations can 
be requested via srpservice@london.gov.uk  
 
The 3/4 option variant uses 3 years of back-data for both as well as the current 2022 roll for the 
new intake.  
 
The 3/4 option uses:  
 
• three years of past detailed flow data (2019-2021) to define relationships between ward of 
residence and school attended for the 2022 roll  
• four years of school-level rolls (2019-2022) to calculate the size of the new intake.  
 
This gives a result that incorporates several years of past data to smooth out fluctuations in the 
data in terms of wards pupils come from and number of pupils in the new intake, giving more 
stable results than fewer years data.  
 
The 3/1 option uses:  
 
• three years of past detailed flow data (2019-2021) to define relationships between ward of 
residence and school attended for the 2022 roll  
• one year of school-level rolls (2022) to calculate the size of the new intake.  
 
This setup aims to smooth fluctuations in the underlying patterns of pupil movement, while 
reflecting only the most recent data in terms of overall number of pupils on roll.  
 
The 1/1 option uses  
 
• one year of past detailed flow data (2021) to define relationships between ward of residence 
and school attended for the 2022 roll  
• one year of school-level rolls (2022) to calculate the size of the new intake.  
 
In some situations, there may be a case for using just one year of data to estimate both the 
ward-school relationships and the new intake (a 1/1 option projection). This can be when 
patterns have changed in the most recent year and you believe they will continue into the future. 
However, the benefits of using only the most recent patterns can be outweighed by the issues 
of ‘noisy’ data. For example, in the latest year there may be a ward where there is no intake 
from that year but there is normally. This will result in the school roll projections not 
incorporating future population changes in that ward. 
 
Which population projection to use?  
 
School roll projections can be run based on the following population projection variants:  
 
Development options  
 
• Borough Preferred Option (BPO). This is the default option but is dependent on boroughs 
providing development data to be incorporated into the projections.  
 

260

mailto:srpservice@london.gov.uk


   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 63 October 2022 
 

• Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) – This projection is not 
published and has been run specifically for use in the SRP process. The model assumptions 
are the same in the BPO projection, but the development used is adapted from the 2017 
SHLAA. The trajectory has been adjusted in the first 5 years to account for assumed lower 
housing delivery resulting from pandemic disruption to both supply and demand. If no BPO 
development trajectory is provided this projection will be used.  
 
Migration options  
 
The development trajectories (BPO or SHLAA) each have 2 migration variant projections. In 
both projections the ward-level assumptions are identical. The difference between the 2 
scenarios is in high-level constraint that is applied to the projection. The constraint passes 
assumptions from a trend-based projection at a higher geographic level through to the ward 
projections.  
 
• Scenario 1: Constrained to the GLA 2020-based Central Lower Trend projection. This is a 
higher out-migration, lower population trajectory in the medium to long-term. 
 
• Scenario 2: Constrained to the GLA 2020-based Central Upper Trend projection. This is a 
lower out-migration, higher population trajectory in the medium to long-term.  
 
Note that the impact on the ward and borough-level projections will differ depending on the 
specific demography of the areas in question. Boroughs are encouraged to review the 
population projections and identify which scenario represents their understanding of future 
change at the local level.  
 
Influences of population projections 
 
The biggest driver of projected future school rolls is the population projections for schools’ 
catchment areas. The underlying factors include:  
 
• Development  
The amount of development projected in a LA will affect that authority’s population projections 
and in turn its school roll projections. More development generally means that the LA will attract 
more people and its population will therefore rise. If population increases, there will 
consequently be more children and so school roll projections will also rise.  
LAs should assume that significant changes in assumed development will be accompanied by 
corresponding changes in projected rolls. If LAs are unsure what development assumptions 
have been used in the past, the GLA is able to provide this information.  
 
• Births  
The number of births in an area will have a direct effect on the number of children on roll four 
years later. 2012 saw the highest number of births in London with these children starting school 
in either academic year 2016/17 or 2017/18 depending on when in the year they were born. 
Many areas have seen a fall in birth numbers since and this has led to subsequent projections 
of future births and therefore rolls, being correspondingly lower.  
 
• Migration  
Migration, both from other areas within the UK and internationally, can significantly influence 
population projections. The BPO variants used in the 2022 SRP are constrained to projections 
based on different migration assumptions (see above).  
 
The GLA has created an Excel based dashboard that allows boroughs to see in-, out- and net 
flow of children to/from their LA from elsewhere in London. It is available to download from the 

261



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 64 October 2022 
 

London Datastore and will be updated annually: http://data.london.gov.uk/dataset/internal-
migration-flows-school-age-children-visualisation 
 
ONS releases both mid-year international and internal migration data by single year of age and 
sex at the end of June each year. The former is released as part of the mid-year components of 
change and the latter as part of the internal migration estimates series.  
 
Analysis of trends in the mid-year estimate series, and comparison to administrative sources, 
suggests that there has been an over estimation of the number of 0-14 year olds in London as a 
whole since 2011 in the official data. We believe that this is the result of underestimation of 
international out migration flows in the young population. Following this analysis, the GLA has 
taken the decision to revise the estimates of migration and population used as the basis for 
projections. The GLA considers the overall level of migration in ONS estimates to be robust and 
that the issues identified are with the distribution of outflows by age. Therefore, the GLA 
adjustment to outflows and total population is a redistribution of population with a reduction in 
ages 0-14 and a corresponding increase in ages 18-27 so that overall total population remains 
consistent. 
 
What the School Roll Projection Model does and does not take into account  
 
School closures  
There is currently no provision in the model to take account of planned school closures.  
 
New schools  
There is currently no provision in the model to include planned new schools that have yet to 
open. Where a school has recently opened, it will not have existed at the 2021 January census 
so we have no information on the wards from which the school draws its pupils. In this case, it is 
assumed to draw its intake from across the local authority as a whole.  
 
A new school is assumed if the DfE number given in the actual rolls (or its corresponding 
‘previous DfE number’) cannot be matched to a DfE number in the national pupil database 
extract that the model uses.  
 
Children who live outside London  
The base population projections for areas outside of London are at local authority level. 
Therefore, pupil flow data for children resident outside of London is aggregated to LA level 
rather than ward level.  
 
The City of London  
The City of London is treated by the model as one entity to match the population projections 
used by the model.  
 
Age to NC year  
Boroughs should provide all data by national curriculum year. However, the population 
projections refer to children’s age instead of year group. To line up the population projections 
with the school roll data, the model converts pupil age at beginning of academic year to year 
group (Reception <-> age four, Year 1 <-> age five, etc.).  
 
Cross border mobility  
The model takes cross border mobility into account explicitly as it uses information about pupils’ 
home wards from the national pupil database (NPD). The detailed flow data (i.e. assumed flows 
for the whole projection period for an authority’s schools) can be provided on request.  
 
 

262

http://data.london.gov.uk/dataset/internal-migration-flows-school-age-children-visualisation
http://data.london.gov.uk/dataset/internal-migration-flows-school-age-children-visualisation


   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 65 October 2022 
 

Child yield  
Child yields are not incorporated into the model in the same sense that many people think about 
them. The borough projection models contain assumptions about the age and gender 
characteristics of migration flows between locations. The difference in characteristics between 
in- and out-flows defines the resulting population age structure. These migration flows are 
influenced by assumed development in the model and new development tends to be associated 
with increased numbers of children in the population.  
 
Limitations and considerations  
 
The models are simplifications of complex real-world processes. They project forwards 
relationships taken from past data, so they are projections and not predictions. Many factors are 
not explicitly taken into account and LAs should be aware of the limitations of the models when 
interpreting results.  
 
Among the factors that the current models do not account for are:  
 
• Changes to future patterns of migration;  
• Changes to future planned development;  
• Changes to parental preferences for schools;  
• Constraints to the capacity of schools;  
• Schools opening/closing in neighbouring boroughs  
• Future changes to provision, e.g. schools opening or closing, or changes to the characteristics 
of schools; and  
• Future changes to the character of local areas, e.g. gentrification or the impact of welfare 
reform  
 

263



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 66 October 2022 
 

Section A. School Roll Projection Model 
 
Introduction 
Not all children attend school in their borough of residence.  This is particularly the case in 
London where the geographic size of local authorities is relatively small and transport networks 
enable children to travel beyond their borough boundary. Additionally, for children who live close 
to a borough boundary, their closest school may be in a neighbouring authority.  
 
To create school roll projections based on the ward level population projections it is necessary 
to know where pupils come from. The National Pupils Database (NPD), based on the School 
Census, provides home ward and school attended for all pupils attending state funded schools.    
 
As can be seen from the summary diagram at Section B, there are four key stages to the 
projections. 

• For the wards that the school draws pupils from, estimate the proportion of the ward 
attending the school in the current academic year by NC year and sex. (ward 
distribution of current roll). 

• By NC year and sex estimate the proportions from each ward moving forward (aging). 
• Estimate the proportions from each ward for future new intake (new intake). 
• Aggregate to obtain school, planning area and Borough projections (aggregating 

projections). 
 
Proportion of ward population attending a school 
For each ward in London, national curriculum (NC) year, and sex, the proportion of children 
attending each mainstream state school is calculated as follows:  Divide the number of pupils of 
that sex who attend the school in that NC year who live in the ward by the total number of 
children of the equivalent age group and sex who live in the ward (the base population). NC 
year is matched to age at the beginning of the school year.  For example, reception pupils are 
matched to children from the population projection who were 4 years old at 1st September 2021.  
 

 
 
Ward distribution of current roll 
For the 2022 cohort, boroughs provide the numbers on roll for each school by age and sex. As 
the NPD data is not available yet to obtain the home ward information for the new intake years 
in 2022, the average home ward patterns over a number of previous years are taken as a proxy. 
The default being three years (2019–2021) with options for a different number e.g. only the 
most recent year (2021). These averaged patterns are scaled to ensure that the numbers 
across all wards equal the number on roll for each school, NC year and sex as submitted in the 
2022 rolls. 
 
Aging 
There is no information on the proportion of pupils from each ward beyond the years for which 
we hold NPD and pupil on roll data. Beyond this point the proportion of pupils from a ward is 
carried forward as children age. Therefore, the proportion of year 3 pupils living in ward a and 
attending school z in 2022 is the same as the proportion of year 4 pupils living in ward a and 
attending school z in 2023. Figure 1 shows the aging of proportions through the projection 
period.  It can also be seen from Figure 1, as projections move further forward, proportions for 
new intake cohorts need to be estimated.  In the special case of aging from the NPD 2021 to 
the current roll year of 2022, the proportions are scaled after aging to ensure that the total 
numbers at each school for each age and sex match the submitted 2022 rolls. 

264



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 67 October 2022 
 

Figure 2 shows aging of proportions, with the proportion of the latest intake of reception pupils 
carried forward until, in this example, 2027 and beyond when this proportion is applied to all 
year groups from that ward.  
 
Figure 1. Aging of primary school pupils’ resident in one ward 

  NPD NPD NPD estimated Aging Aging Aging Aging Aging 
NC 
year 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 

R   3/5    2/5    1/3    1/4  ? ? ? ? ? 
1   3/5    3/5    2/3    1/2    1/4  ? ? ? ? 
2   2/5    4/5    4/5    3/4    1/2    1/4  ? ? ? 
3           3/4    1/2    1/4  ? ? 
4             3/4    1/2    1/4  ? 

    
Figure 2. Aging of primary school pupils’ resident in one ward 

  NPD NPD NPD estimated Aging Aging Aging Aging Aging 
NC 
year 2019 2020 2021 2022 2032 2024 2025 2026 2027 

R   3/5    2/5    1/3    1/4    1/4    1/4    1/4    1/4    1/4  
1   3/5    3/5    2/3    1/2    1/4    1/4    1/4    1/4    1/4  
2   2/5    4/5    4/5    3/4    1/2    1/4    1/4    1/4    1/4  
3           3/4    1/2    1/4    1/4    1/4  
4             3/4    1/2    1/4    1/4  

 
New intake 
We don’t have information on which wards pupils entering a school in its intake NC year 
(reception year in the above example) will come from in the future, and what proportion of each 
ward’s population will attend. To estimate this, the proportions of pupils in that NC year 
attending the school from each ward in previous years are averaged to give an estimated 
proportion to use for calculation of new intake in future years. The default number of years to 
average over is 4 (2019 - 2022); 3 years from the NPD and the estimated current year 
proportions. As noted below there is the option to use a different number of years. The same 
approach is used at NC years 7 and 12, even if the school is an all-through school as it is 
assumed that there will be significant changes in the cohort at this point.  
 
Where a school has opened recently, the proportion for its new intake is calculated by 
averaging over all years used for calculating new intake (default of four), even if it was only 
opened, for example, last year. This means that new schools will show lower projections going 
forward. The reverse is true for schools which closed within the back series – they will still 
provide a contribution to the projection going forward if they were open at any point during the 
back series. Consequently, results for individual schools that have opened or closed within the 
back-series period may now appear counterintuitive, but the results are expected to be more 
robust at borough or planning area level as they take into account all of the pupils who were, or 
were not, present in schools in those areas during the back-year period. 
 

265



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 68 October 2022 
 

 
Sixth form 
It was found that projecting the proportions forward in the sixth form years over-projected the 
numbers of pupils in NC years 13 and 14.  For this reason sixth form projections are calculated 
using a survival ratio as the cohort ages through sixth form.  For example, for each of the 
projection years, the number of year 13 pupils in a school in that year is a fixed proportion of 
year 12 pupils at the school the year before.  Year 12 pupils are always treated as new entry 
even if the school also includes younger years.  Projections for year 12 pupils are calculated 
using the methodology outlined in the New Intake passage above. 
 
Aggregating proportions 
For each NC year and sex, the proportions of each ward attending a school is projected, then 
multiplied by the ward population projection to obtain the number from that ward attending the 
school. This is summed across all wards that pupils are resident in to obtain the school 
projection for a particular NC year and sex. Schools are summed to planning area and Borough 
totals.  
 
Section B. School Roll Projection Model summary diagram 

Section C. Population projection model 
 
As noted above, the GLA’s ward level population projections drive the school roll projection 
model.  
 
The population projections incorporate annual population, death and migration data to mid-
2020, and birth data to mid-2020. Future birth trends in fertility and mortality are based on the 
principal assumptions from ONS’s 2018-based National Population Projections (NPP) for 
England.  
 
Household formation rates are calculated dynamically in the model using a combination of rates 
taken from the 2016-based DCLG (Department for Communities and Local Government) 
subnational household projections and implied rates based on projected populations calculated 
in the model. 
 
Past dwelling completions are taken from the London Development Database. Assumed future 
housing trajectories are adapted from the 2017 Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment 
or taken from a borough-provided BPO trajectory. 

266



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 69 October 2022 
 

Annexe 4- Special Education Needs and Early Years Data 
 
Special Education Needs and Disabilities (SEND) 
 
The growth of the pupil population is impacting on the demand for provision for pupils with 
special educational needs. Harrow’s SEND Strategy 2019-2024 outlines the current context for 
SEND nationally and locally, sets out the guiding principles and four strategic priorities. The four 
strategic priority areas are:   
 

Strategic Priority 1:  
Review in-borough specialist provision in the context of a changing demographic profile, 
pre-school, school and college organisational changes and other developments. 

 
Strategic Priority 2: 
Review current provision and need for children, young people and young adults with 
social, behaviour and mental health needs to ensure continuum of provision and support. 
(previously SEBD) 
 
Strategic Priority 3: 
Improve local education and social care opportunities for post-16 and post 18 provision 
working in partnership with other agencies including colleges and voluntary sector. 

 
Strategic Priority 4: 
Improve outcomes for children and young people (0-25) with SEND and ensure 
appropriate staff skilled and qualified in all provision. 

 
A high-level summary is provided in this report.  
 
The data on pupils and their needs is collated in two key respects: 
 

• Children and young people whose resident address is within the London Borough of 
Harrow.  These numbers will include children who attend provision outside the Harrow 
local authority area.  These are children and young people for whom the London 
Borough of Harrow has a direct responsibility. 

• Pupils and students attending provision in the Harrow local authority area.  These 
numbers will include some pupils and students whose resident address is in other local 
authority areas. 

 
Children and young people whose resident address is within the London Borough of 
Harrow 
 
The 2011 Census estimated that Harrow has approximately 75,257 children and young people 
from 0 to 24 years.  Of this cohort 2,667 (3.5%) have a long-term health problem or disability 
whose day to day activities are limited a lot or a little.  Table 1 below gives a further breakdown 
by age group. 
 
Table 1: Harrow’s children with a long-term health problem or disability 

Disability 
All categories: 

Long-term health 
problem or disability 

Day-to-day 
activities 

limited a lot 

Day-to-day 
activities 

limited a little 

Day-to-day 
activities not 

limited 
Age 0 to 15 47,712 653 801 46,258 
Age 16 to 24 27,545 502 711 26,332 

Source : http://www.nomisweb.co.uk/ 
 

267



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 70 October 2022 
 

Some children and young people,with a long term health problem or disabity, will be supported 
by Harrow with an Education, Health and Care Plan (ECHP).  Table 2 below presents the 
number of EHCPs maintained by Harrow.  There is an increasing trend in the total number of 
plans and as the Children and Families Act 2014 extended the eligibility age range beyond 19 
and up to 25 this has led to young people with an EHCP remaining in the education system. 
 
The number of EHCPs has continued to increase over the period shown in Table 2 below, with 
the highest increase of 12.9% from 1,183 in 2015 to 1,336 in 2016.  The increase continued 
over the next couple of years, with a 9.9% increase from 1,477 in 2017 to 1,623 in 2018, but 
was followed by a 1.4% (1,623 in 2018 to 1,645 in 2019).  The increase between years has 
continued falling from 9.4% between 2019 and 2020 to 5.4% between 2020 and 2021.  In 2022 
the number of EHCPs was recorded as 1,974, which is a 4.1% increase upon the previous year.   
 
Of the age groups shown in Table 2 below a majority of the children in Harrow are within the 5 
to 10-year-old group, their numbers have continued increasing from 503 in 2015-16 to 760 in 
2022.  The number of under 5-year olds has recently started to decline from 100 in 2020 to 76 
in 2022, along with a fall in the 20-25 year olds. 
 
Table 2: Total statements/plans maintained by Harrow in each calendar year 
Calendar 
Year 

Total 
statements/plans % Change Under 5 5-10yrs 11-15yrs 16-19yrs 20-25yrs 

2007 1,044 - 56 405 493 90 - 
2008 1,051 0.7% 76 416 495 64 - 
2009 1,061 1.0% 53 431 512 65 - 
2010 1,080 1.8% 65 446 504 65 - 
2011 1,120 3.7% 62 466 515 77 - 
2012 1,137 1.5% 58 475 500 104 - 
2013 1,158 1.8% 70 504 487 97 - 
2014 1,168 0.9% 78 500 489 101 - 
2015 1,183 1.3% 78 510 493 102 - 
2016 1,336 12.9% 75 503 518 227 13 
2017 1,477 10.6% 90 529 519 299 40 
2018 1,623 9.9% 104 562 543 322 92 
2019 1,645 1.4% 95 604 542 322 82 
2020 1,799 9.4% 100 652 575 351 121 
2021 1,896 5.4% 77 720 596 377 126 
2022 1,974 4.1% 76 760 631 391 116 

Source: DfE SEN2 return 
 
Table 3 below shows the number of new statements/plans issued since 2006 up until 2021.  
The numbers have fluctuated over the years ranging from 103 in 2011 to 240 in 2021.  The 
latter is the highest number of new plans over the last sixteen years.  The number of new plans 
issued to the under 5 year olds has increased from 50 in 2020 to 56 in 2021, and the number of 
5 to 10 year olds has increased from 96 in 2020 to 129 in 2021, whilst the number of 11 to 15, 
16 to 19 and 20 to 25 year olds has decreased. 

 

268



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 71 October 2022 
 

Table 3: New statements/plans issued by Harrow in each calendar year 
Calendar 
Year 

Total statements 
/ plans under 5 5-10yrs 11-15yrs 16-19yrs 20-25yrs 

2006 117 47 51 18 1 - 
2007 145 57 63 25 0 - 
2008 144 36 63 44 1 - 
2009 132 49 61 21 1 - 
2010 141 44 60 37 0 - 
2011 103 37 50 15 1 - 
2012 141 53 69 19 0 - 
2013 144 63 61 19 1 - 
2014 137 55 66 13 3 - 
2015 142 60 47 26 7 2 
2016 192 69 83 20 11 9 
2017 204 73 77 38 8 8 
2018 182 68 76 27 10 1 
2019 218 69 102 39 8 0 
2020 209 50 96 46 12 5 
2021 240 56 129 42 7 6 

Source: DfE SEN2 return 
 
Placement of children and young people with an EHC Plan by establishment type 
The tables below show the placement of Harrow’s children and young people with an EHC Plan.  
Whilst the number of children and young people across all establishment types has increased, 
the increase in the EHC Plans issued to those 16 years old and above has resulted in a 
substantial increase in the use of post 16 institutions, with the numbers rising from 111 in 2015-
16 to 328 in 2019-20, this is a 195% percentage change, as can be seen in Table 7. 

Table 4: Total statements/plans & Early Years placements 
 

Source: DfE SEN2 return 
 

Year Total statements / plans Non-maintained EY PVIs 
2010 1,080 14 
2011 1,120 10 
2012 1,137 8 
2013 1,158 16 
2014 1,168 34 
2015 1,183 18 
2016 1,336 30 
2017 1,477 44 
2018 1,610 48 
2019 1,645 38 
2020 1,799 46 
2021 1,896 22 
2022 1,974 30 

269



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 72 October 2022 
 

Table 5: Mainstream Schools placements by calendar year 
Mainstream Schools 

Year 
LA 

maintained Academy Free 
School 

LA maintained 
resourced 
provision 

Academy 
resourced 
provision 

Free school 
resourced 
provision 

Independent 
school 

2010 541 2 - 41 - - 3 
2011 547 3 - 57 - - 5 
2012 399 163 - 57 - - 5 
2013 374 165 1 70  - 6 
2014 355 167 2 67  - 9 
2015 328 205 3 69 - - 8 
2016 297 230 10 74 - - 7 
2017 303 218 10 60 26 0 7 
2018 299 233 11 71 35 7 8 
2019 305 243 18 57 38 8 6 
2020 311 303 30 48 48 10 17 
2021 332 323 45 62 49 12 17 
2022 370 335 57 61 56 14 18 

Source: DfE SEN2 return 
 
Table 6: Special School and Alternative Provision placements by calendar year 

Special School 
Calendar 
Year LA 

maintained 
Academy 

/ Free 
Non-

maintained 
Independent 

special 
schools 

Hospital 
School 

Alternative 
provision / Pupil 

Referral Unit – LA 
Maintained 

2010 360 - 35 61 0 6 
2011 387 - 32 57 0 7 
2012 383 - 34 67 0 8 
2013 399 2 35 71 0 8 
2014 329 87 34 67 0 13 
2015 330 95 36 74 0 4 
2016 355 99 30 78 0 6 
2017 369 106 29 84 0 4 
2018 380 117 32 76 0 3 
2019 394 122 28 82 2 7 
2020 396 127 22 93 2 5 
2021 393 137 19 114 0 3 
2022 405 131 19 114 1 9 

Source: DfE SEN2 return 
 
 

270



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 73 October 2022 
 

Table 7: Post 16 and Educated Elsewhere placements 
Post 16 

Calendar 
Year 

General 
FE & 

Tertiary 
colleges / 

HE 

Other FE Sixth Form 
College 

Specialist 
post-16 

institutions 

Educated 
Elsewhere 

Not in 
education, 

employment 
or training 

2010 - - - - 24 - 
2011 - - - - 20 - 
2012 - - - - 17 - 
2013 - - - - 19 - 
2014 - - - - 21 - 
2015 0 0 0 - 21 - 
2016 94 0 0 17 23 - 
2017 179 0 2 25 31 - 
2018 215 1 4 30 64 - 
2019 246 4 5 27 19 3 
2020 287 2 5 34 36 0 
2021 260 17 5 25 41 4 
2022 267 18 6 27 38 7 

Source: DfE SEN2 return 
 
Table 8: Other placements 

 

Source: DfE SEN2 return; Any students in Supported Internships sponsored by a FE college are counted under 
General FE.  

 
Pupils with Special Educational Needs – EHCPs in Harrow’s Schools 
 
In January 2022, of the school population attending Harrow’s schools (maintained and 
academies) there were 1,366 pupils (3.6% of the school population) with an EHCP (Education, 
Health and Care Plan) (1,273, 3.3% in January 2021).  It should be noted that in accordance 
with the SEND Reforms all Statements have been replaced by Education, Health and Care 
Plans in Harrow.  
 
Overall the trend has been a continued increase in the number of statements/EHC Plans from 
January 2016 to January 2022.  The actual number of statements/EHC Plans has risen from 
990 in January 2016 to 1,366 in January 2022, which is a 38% increase and there has been a 
7.3% increase between January 2021 and January 2022.  The percentage increase in the 
number of statements over the period covered in the table below was at one time in line with the 
percentage increase in the school population, however in recent years it is higher. 
 
 

Year Apprenticeships Traineeships Supported 
Internships 

2017 0 0 0 
2018 0 1 8 
2019 0 2 9 
2020 1 1 7 
2021 1 1 19 
2022 1 0 19 

271



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 74 October 2022 
 

Table 9: Total EHCP/Statements in Harrow  
 

Source: DfE SEN in England 
 
The gender split of Statement/EHC Plan and SEN support pupils at January 2022 was 72.5% 
boys and 27.5% girls. The overall gender split of the school cohort was 50.1% boys and 49.9% 
girls. 
 
Table 10 below shows the number and percentage of Harrow’s primary school pupil’s with 
statements or EHC plans over the last seven years.  The total pupils in this table have 
fluctuated over the years, as have the numbers attending resourced provision. 
 
Table 10: Primary School Pupils with SEN with statements or EHC plans 
Primary Schools Pupils with SEN with statements or EHC plans 

Harrow Total pupils Pupils placed in 
resourced provision 

% of pupils placed in 
resourced provision 

2015-16 320 57 17.8% 
2016-17 328 64 19.5% 
2017-18 366 61 16.7% 
2018-19 406 72 17.7% 
2019-20 429 73 17.0% 
2020-21 481 82 17.0% 
2021-22 527 78 14.8% 
Source: DfE SFR SEN Analysis  
 
The number of secondary pupils with statements/EHC plans placed in resourced provision has 
increased significantly from 24 in January 2016 to 48 in January 2022, as can be seen in Table 
11 below. 
 
Table 11: Secondary School pupils with SEN with statements or EHC plans  
Secondary schools Pupils with SEN with statements or EHC plans 

Harrow Total pupils Pupils placed in 
resourced provision 

% of pupils placed in 
resourced provision 

2015-16 252 24 9.5% 
2016-17 263 30 11.4% 
2017-18 262 35 13.4% 
2018-19 256 39 15.2% 
2019-20 297 47 15.8% 
2020-21 313 44 14.1% 
2021-22 348 48 13.8% 
Source: DfE SFR SEN Analysis  
 
 

Year Total EHCP/Statements % Increase 
2015-16 990 - 
2016-17 1,030 4.0% 
2017-18 1,074 4.3% 
2018-19 1,119 4.2% 
2019-20 1,190 6.3% 
2020-21 1,273 7.0% 
2021-22 1,366 7.3% 

272



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 75 October 2022 
 

Special Schools 
 
Table 12 below shows the number of pupils with a statement / EHC plan at Harrow’s special 
schools. The table shows the increase in the number of places available at Woodlands School 
due to planned expansion of the school site.  
 
Table 12: Special School pupils with a statement/EHC plan 
Harrow’s Special 
Schools 

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 

Alexandra School 75 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 
Woodlands School 105 120 122 136 136 132 135 135 
Kingsley High 80 80 76 75 85 98 104 126 
Shaftesbury High 155 160 168 170 163 172 173 175 
Source: 2015/16 to 2021/22 DfE SEN in England; 2022/23 Capita One 
 
Spaces at Kingsley High have been temporarily increased to manage a significant shortfall of 
places for three years from 2022/23.  This will allow the transfer of large numbers of pupils at 
Woodlands School into Kingsley High School.  A satellite provision has been created at Weald 
Rise Primary School to accommodate a maximum of 24 pupils.   
 
SEND Projections and modelling SEND places within Harrow Council 
 
Officers have carried out projection modelling for pupil planning purposes to identify 
requirements for SEND provision and the most cost effective provision model. Projections will 
be updated on an annual basis once the sequential September phase transfers are confirmed.  
   
Analysis of data on primary categories of need and projection modelling has shown that there 
are now greater numbers of children and young people (CYP) in Harrow with SEND who have 
increasing levels of need such that they will be identified as having severe learning difficulties 
(SLD), often alsongside a diagnosis of ASD. Based on actual pupil numbers of CYP who 
required SLD provision, between 2015 and 2019, and projections of pupil numbers and need, 
the projections show that, approximately 25 new children each year will require SLD special 
school provision.  
 
Table 13 - Projections, for pupil planning purposes have been modelled on new children 
entering the system in the Reception Year and rolling through actual pupil numbers in the 
primary and secondary phases of education. This does not include CYP moving into the 
borough or needing to move out of mainstream into special provision in other age groups. 
 
The projection modelling confirms that the immediate and significant pressure is for secondary 
phase SLD special school places from September 2020. To accommodate this immediate place 
pressure Harrow has expanded Kingsley High Special School, to its full capacity, from 96 to 102 
places from September 2021 and then a temporary increase to 126 places from September 
2022. The temporary increase is being accomodated at a statellite provision at Weald Rise 
Primary School. 
 
Table 13: Projections based on 25 new children entering the system in Reception (Sept 22- 
based on actuals in correct year group) 
Year  Sep-22 Sep-23 Sep-24 Sep-25 
Primary projections (Based on current capacity at 
Woodlands 135) 

180 182 188 177 

Secondary projections (Based on current capacity 
at Kingsley 126 from September 2022 and 102 
from September 2025) 

133 151 153 175 

Total cumulative Shortfall for SLD places  52 72 80 115 

273



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 76 October 2022 
 

Analysis of SEND data and trends indicate that there will continue to be growth in demand for 
primary SLD special school places. Prior to 2020, the growth in numbers has been largely 
accommodated through two expansions at a primary SLD special school (Woodlands School) 
and the development of a primary SLD resourced provision in a mainstream school (Belmont 
School). These developments have managed demand in the primary sector but as pupils roll 
through this will create pressure in the secondary sector. 
 
In line with the key priority, to reduce out of borough placements, Harrow is progressing 2 main 
strands of development: 
 

• A ‘Whole System Shift’ model 
• Further expansion of the additional resourced mainstream school (ARMS) provision 

 
A ‘Whole System Shift’ is a strategic and cultural approach across all Harrow’s special and 
mainstream schools to develop the education provision on offer in Harrow as a continuum of 
provision so that the finite numbers of special school places are prioritised for children and 
young people with the greatest complexity of need.  
 
Table 14 below shows the current number of places across the primary and secondary special 
schools in Harrow. 
 
Table 14: Special School Places 

School Designation Number of 
places 

Maximum 
capacity 

Primary –Alexandra (Academy) MLD 80 80 

Primary-Woodlands (Maintained) SLD 135 135 

Secondary-Kingsley (Maintained) SLD 126* 102 

Secondary-Shaftesbury (Maintained) MLD 180 180 
*Temporary increase accomodated by a satellite provision at Weald Rise Primary School 
 
The local authority is working collaboratively with Harrow’s four special schools, two of which 
are designated Moderate Learning Difficulties (MLD), to explore and progress how best SLD 
provision can be expanded across a ‘Whole System Shift’ model and subsequently how MLD 
provision can be expanded and developed within mainstream schools. 
 
The engagement and commitment of the MLD schools and mainstream schools to develop 
ARMS provision, to the ‘Whole System Shift’ model, is critical to the LA’s SEND Strategy and 
key priority to increase the number of SLD places. This approach will reduce the pressures on 
the High Needs Budget created by expensive out of borough placements, thus enabling spend 
to benefit the development of Harrow’s school provision for Harrow pupils. In addition, this 
approach will secure diversity in the provision of schools and increase choice for parental 
preference. 
 
Additionally Resourced Mainstream Schools (ARMS) 
 
For there to be an effective ‘Whole System Shift’ resulting in an increase in SLD provision 
across the 4 special schools, Harrow will work with it’s mainstream schools to further develop 
and upskill provision to meet the needs of CYP with MLD. This will be achieved through 
developing additional resourced provisions on mainstream school sites and further build on the 
additionally resourced mainstream school (ARMS) model in Harrow to ensure there is a 
pathway of specialist provision from primary through to secondary. 
 

274



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 77 October 2022 
 

With the establishment of a ‘Whole System Shift’ model, pathway projections determine that, 48 
secondary and 36 primary ARMS places will need to be developed by 2026 to meet capacity of 
demand for pupils who would have previously been offered a MLD special school place.  
 
In parallel to the ‘Whole System Shift’ Harrow is also working towards ensuring a continuum of 
provision for ASD in mainstream schools. Harrow currently has 5 mainstream schools with 
designated ASD additionally resourced provision. These provisions provide 42 places across 
the primary sector and 24 across the secondary sector. Analysis of NOR and roll through of 
actuals in schools evidence that to ensure there is sufficient pathway capacity for pupils with 
ASD Harrow will need to develop 2 new secondary school ASD ARMS to prevent children being 
placed in out borough provisions due to the lack of suitable local provision.  
 
The development of the ARMS model to provide the pathway of provision for MLD and ASD is a 
phased programme of work over a period of 6 years. The phased programme is focused on 
implementing a key strategic priority that will reduce expenditure on provision of special needs 
placements over the longer term.  
 
Engagement with Headteachers and Governing Bodies to develop inclusive resourced 
provision, within the context of the SEND Capital build programme and SEND Strategy, has 
been successful. Agreements with four schools have been reached and the aim is for new 
resourced provision to be in place for September 2023.   
 
Pupils subject to an EHC plan currently placed out of borough 
 
The projection modelling and ‘whole system shift’ approach aims to accommodate current 
numbers in the system and the projected growth of new pupils. The modelling does not include 
CYP who are currently placed in out of borough independent provision and the plans do not 
provide Harrow with sufficient capacity to bring those CYP back in borough and thus reduce the 
current ‘spend’ on out borough placements and the overall Dedicated Schools Grant deficit. 
 
Harrow’s need for a new Special School 
 
The 2019-24 SEND Strategy includes a need for a new special school for SLD and autism as 
part of priority 1. This school would provide for pupils with severe learning difficulties and 
complex needs, including autism. The school would complement the existing high quality 
provision in Harrow. The SLD / ASD designations reflect the growth of need, which has resulted 
in changing pupil profiles at Alexandra School and Shaftesbury High School and created greater 
pressure upon mainstream schools to meet the needs of pupils for whom a special school place 
would be most appropriate.  
 
A new school is required because Harrow's special schools are unable to expand sufficiently. 
The new school also addressses the existing imbalance between primary and secondary 
phases and helps reduce reliance upon non-maintained / independent placements towards 
national averages. Without the new school, Harrow would be reliant upon a quadrupling of non-
maintained / independent placements. The new school would avoid over £11m/year expenditure 
once full, supporting our DSG management plan.    
  
1) Projected need 
As detailed in Table 15 below, Harrow projects an increase in EHCPs from 1,876 in 2022 to 
2,300 in 2025 (424 increase, 23%), and to 2,704 in 2029 (further 404 increase). The increase 
from 2022 to 2029 is 828 EHCPs (44%).   
  
Harrow requires 180 additional special school places by 2025 and a total of 330 additional 
places by 2029.   

275



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 78 October 2022 
 

Harrow also requires capacity to provide:  
 
a) for the 66 pupils in mainstream for whom a special school place would be appropriate;  
 
b) special school places for the 12 pupils currently attending the SLD ARMS at Belmont School 
who will progress to secondary school in 2025 and 2026;  
 
c) 35 additional secondary places to provide progression for Woodlands pupils (not all can 
currently transfer to Kingsley due to lack of capacity and so would need to transfer to out-
borough / non-maintained / independent settings); and  
 
d) capacity to reduce reliance upon non-maintained / independent placements back towards the 
national average by accommodating 50% of pupils (85 pupils).   
  
Combined, this requires over 500 additional special school places by 2029.  A new special 
school is not expected to have any detrimental effect upon the four existing special schools, and 
instead expects the number of pupils placed in the non-maintained / independent sector to 
increase even if a new school is established.    
  
2) Reliance upon out-borough and non-maintained / independent places   
 
There is no ability to increase capacity at three of the existing special schools, of which two are 
PFI (Private Finance Initiative) schools. Up to 20 additional places are proposed at Shaftesbury 
High School and feasibility studies show that this is the last expansion that the school’s 
infrastructure could support. While Kingsley High School has established a temporary satellite 
provision of 3 classes at a primary school in surplus accommodation, no mainstream school has 
sufficient space for a permanent satellite of a financially viable size.    
  
The reliance upon out of borough / non-maintained / independent schools to meet rising 
demand has four implications:  
  
a) Risk of insufficient places. The ‘without a new school’ projections in Table 15 below show an 
increase of nearly 400 placements (quadrupling from 2022); there is no certainty that the sector 
could establish this many places. 
   
b) Location / travel time – on average, pupils attending out of borough or non-maintained / 
independent special schools travel further, have a longer overall school day, and are less 
connected to their local community.   
 
c) Cost avoidance (fees and transport) – such reliance will rapidly increase the high needs block 
deficit. On average, independent placements currently cost £33k/year more in fees, and 
£6k/year more in transport costs. Educating a pupil (from Reception to Y14) would cost £585k 
less at the new school compared to an independent placement. For a total of 292 pupils (once 
the new school is full) the cost avoidance would be over £11m/year.     
 
d) Quality of provision and effective partnership – the Council works closely with the four special 
schools. Our ability to quality assure provision is greatly improved by having the majority of our 
pupils in a relatively small number of schools.   
  
 
3) Support for a new school  
Headteachers of mainstream and special schools, have been involved in and are strongly 
supportive of Harrow’s application, along with Harrow’s Schools Forum which also supports the 

276



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 79 October 2022 
 

application. Engagement with Harrow’s parent forums in October 2022 also confirmed parental 
support for this application.  
  
Harrow’s neighbouring local authorities are also experiencing rising demand, and have also 
submitted applications and / or have been expanding special school provision. 
 
Table 15 Actual 2018 & 2025 Pupil Numbers and Projected 2025 & 2029 Demand 

Projected 
figures without 
a new school 

Projected 
figures with a 
new school Type of Provision 

Number of 
providers 

used 
2018 2022 

2025 2029 2025 2029 

Resourced provision and units 
inside local authority 

2018 - 12 
2022 - 14 113 126 200 236 200 236 

Resourced provision and units 
outside local authority 0 0 5 6 6 6 6 

Total - 113 131 206 242 206 242 
Special schools (either 
maintained or academies) 
inside local authority 

2018 - 4 
2022 - 4 417 451 541 517 541 757 

Special schools (either 
maintained or academies) 
outside local authority 

2018 - 19 
2022 - 17 79 85 40 40 40 40 

Total - 496 536 581 557 581 797 
Independent / non-maintained 
special schools inside local 
authority 

2018 - 0 
2022 - 2 0 5 20 38 20 38 

Independent / non-maintained 
special schools outside local 
authority 

2018 - 18 
2022 - 29 108 128 271 512 271 272 

Total - 108 133 291 550 291 310 
Mainstream schools inside local 
authority 

2018 - 55 
2022 - 54 452 636 665 794 665 794 

Mainstream schools outside 
local authority 

2018 - 45 
2022 - 56 91 126 222 200 222 200 

Total - 543 762 887 994 887 994 
General FE colleges (if relevant) 
inside local authority 

2018 - 4 
2022 - 4 136 180 181 203 181 203 

General FE colleges (if relevant) 
outside local authority 

2018 - 11 
2022 - 18 84 107 127 131 127 131 

Total - 220 287 308 334 308 334 
Specialist FE providers (if 
relevant) inside local authority 

2018 - 0 
2022 - 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Specialist FE providers (if 
relevant) outside local authority 

2018 - 5  
2022 - 14 30 27 27 27 27 27 

Total - 30 27 27 27 27 27 
  
 

277



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 80 October 2022 
 

Early Years 0-4 Year Olds 
 
The Local Authority has a statutory duty to secure enough early education places for eligible 2, 
3 and 4-year-old children, free at the point of access through settings that deliver the full Early 
Years Foundation Stage (EYFS). Data about this section of the population is provided because 
it helps inform the level of provision required but also because it impacts on the number of 
pupils entering reception classes. 
 
Using the Greater London Authority (GLA) 2020-based trend projections (published September 
2021), Harrow’s population of the 0-4 age group was 17,200. The GLA projections report that 
the early years population in Harrow has remained relatively stable over the last few years with 
only minor fluctuations, however it is expected to decline quite markedly over the next five 
years. A breakdown of the population of the 0-4 age group is shown in the table below.   
 
Table 16: GLA 2020 Population of 0-4-year olds in Harrow (figures are rounded to the nearest 
100). 
Harrow 2022 
Age 0 3,400 
Age 1 3,400 
Age 2 3,500 
Age 3 3,400 
Age 4 3,500 
Total 17,200 

 
Sufficiency of places for two, three- and four-year olds  
 
Using the available data provided by Harrow Families Information Service (FIS), below is an 
analysis of the supply of childcare in the London Borough of Harrow as of May 2022 (this does 
not include school nursery provision).  
 
Number of places and type of provision 
 
Harrow had a total of 5,944 childcare places for children aged 0-4 as of May 2022. These 
places are available through: 

• 76-day nurseries making available 4,026 places for children aged 0-4 years (67.7% of all 
places) and 28 playgroups/ pre-schools making available 862 places for children aged 0-
4 years (14.5% of all places). 

• 122 childminders making available 742 places for children aged 0-4 years (12.5% of all 
places). 

• 7 independent schools with under 5’s nurseries making available 314 places for children 
aged 0-4 years (5.3% of all places). 

 
The quality of the provision is good overall with 94.2% of inspected settings judged as good or 
above by Ofsted (this figure does not include childminders with ‘Met’ or ‘Not Met’ judgements as 
they were not looking after children at the time of Ofsted inspection). Broken down further 
94.7% of PVI settings are judged as good or above and 93.5% of childminders are judged as 
good or above. A full breakdown of inspection judgements is provided in Tables 17 and 18 
below. 
 
 
 
 
 

278



   
 

Education PerformanceTeam, BIU 81 October 2022 
 

Table 17: Private, Voluntary and funded Independent setting’s Ofsted judgements (Harrow FIS 
data May 2022 – settings with current Ofsted judgements) 
 

Ofsted Judgement Number of settings Percentage 
Outstanding/Excellent 27 28.7% 
Good 62 66% 
Requires Improvement 3 3.2% 
Inadequate 2 2.1% 

 
Table 18: Childminder Ofsted judgements (Harrow FIS data May 2022 – childminders with 
current Ofsted judgements)             

Ofsted Judgement Number of 
Childminders Percentage 

Outstanding 10 10.3% 
Good 62 63.9% 
Met 18 18.6% 
Not Met 2 2.1% 
Requires Improvement 5 5.1% 
Inadequate 0 0% 

*Met and Not Met are judgements given to registered childminders not looking after children at the time of 
inspection. 
 
Early years education funding entitlements comprise of 2-year-old funding which is means 
tested and universal funding for all 3- & 4-year olds from the school term following their third 
birthday (15 hours per week of free early education, over 38 weeks a year). In September 2017, 
the government introduced the 30 hours childcare scheme for 3- & 4-year olds of working 
parents who meet the relevant eligibility criteria. The past few years have seen an increase in 
the number of day nurseries (open through the day) and places available through this provider 
type, which may in part be a result of childcare providers wishing to accommodate 30 hours 
funded places.  
 
Assessing the occupancy of childcare places shows that 3,338 of the 5,944 childcare places in 
Harrow were occupied by funded children (2, 3- and 4-year olds) as of the Spring Term 2022. 
This represents 56% occupancy of funded children and suggests there are sufficient places 
available for all children eligible for funded entitlements. No data is currently available on the 
number of non-funded 0-4-year olds accessing childcare places, however considering the 
occupancy of funded children in the Spring Term 2022, 44% of all registered places were 
available to non-funded children. 
 
Impacts of the Covid-19 pandemic have led to fluctuating and generally lower levels of demand 
for childcare places. Although this may be a temporary factor, declining birth rates and an 
expected decrease in the early years age group in Harrow suggest that demand for provision 
may continue to fall. Therefore, over the next few years, sufficient childcare provision is likely to 
be maintained as long as there is no considerable reduction in existing levels of provision. 
However, planned regeneration and re-developments in the Heart of Harrow, may lead to 
enhanced demand on a more local scale, as it is expected that this will attract more families to 
these areas. Particular focus on ensuring sufficient childcare provision in these areas will be 
required. 

 

279



This page is intentionally left blank



Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA)  

 
 

 
 
You will need to produce an Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) if:  
 
 

• You are developing a new policy, strategy, or service 
• You are making changes that will affect front-line services 
• You are reducing budgets, which may affect front-line services 
• You are changing the way services are funded and this may impact the quality of the service and who can access it 
• You are making a decision that could have a different impact on different groups of people  
• You are making staff redundant or changing their roles  

 
Guidance notes on how to complete an EqIA and sign off process are available on the Hub under Equality and Diversity. 
You must read the guidance notes and ensure you have followed all stages of the EqIA approval process (outlined in appendix 1).  
Section 2 of the template requires you to undertake an assessment of the impact of your proposals on groups with protected 
characteristics.  Equalities and borough profile data, as well as other sources of statistical information can be found on the Harrow 
hub, within the section entitled: Equality Impact Assessment - sources of statistical information.   
 

281

https://harrowhub.harrow.gov.uk/downloads/file/9302/eqia_guidance_notes
https://harrowhub.harrow.gov.uk/info/200341/equality_impact_assessments/1604/data_guide_-_inequality_impact_assessment


 
Harrow Council Equality Impact Assessment Template - November 2018 
 

1 

Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) 
 

Type of Decision:  Cabinet Portfolio holder Other (state)  

Title of Proposal 
School Organisation Up-Date Provision for 
Special Educational Needs Date EqIA created 25/10/2022 

Name and job title of completing/lead 
Officer 

Rajeshree Parmar, Head of School Organisation, Admissions and Attendance 

Directorate/ Service responsible  People Services 
Organisational approval 
EqIA approved by EDI Team 
 

Name Jennifer Rock 
 
Assistant Policy Officer: Equality, Diversity 
and Inclusion  
 
 

Signature  

☒ 
Tick this box to indicate that you have 
approved this EqIA  
 
Date of approval: November 3rd 2022 
 

  

282



 
Harrow Council Equality Impact Assessment Template - November 2018 
 

2 

1. Summary of proposal, impact on groups with protected characteristics and mitigating actions 
(to be completed after you have completed sections 2 - 5) 
a) What is your proposal?  

To increase special school provision from September 2022 as an interim arrangement and the creation of permanent additional ARMs units in 
accordance with the SEND Strategy and the associated capital programme. 

b) Summarise the impact of your proposal on groups with protected characteristics  
The proposal should positively impact on groups with protected characteristics as we are creating additional SEND school places. 
 

c) Summarise any potential negative impact(s) identified and mitigating actions 
There are no potential negative impacts. 

  

283



 
Harrow Council Equality Impact Assessment Template - November 2018 
 

3 

2. Assessing impact  
You are required to undertake a detailed analysis of the impact of your proposals on groups with protected 
characteristics. You should refer to borough profile data, equalities data, service user information, consultation 
responses and any other relevant data/evidence to help you assess and explain what impact (if any) your 
proposal(s) will have on each group.  Where there are gaps in data, you should state this in the boxes below and 
what action (if any), you will take to address this in the future. 

What does the evidence tell you 
about the impact your proposal 
may have on groups with 
protected characteristics?  Click  
the  relevant box  to indicate 
whether your proposal will have a 
positive impact, negative (minor, 
major), or no impact 

Negative 
impact 

Protected 
characteristic 

For each protected characteristic, explain in detail what the evidence is suggesting and the impact 
of your proposal (if any). Click the appropriate box on the right to indicate the outcome of your 
analysis. 
 

Po
si

tiv
e 

im
pa

ct
 

 M
in

or
 

 M
aj

or
 

 N
o 

im
pa

ct
 

 
Age 

SEND provision is required to meet the needs of all young people from 0-25.  The demand on 
places for young people with SEND is increasing.  
 

Number of pupils in Harrow Primary Schools 2016-2022 
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 

22,017 22,461 22,542 22,842 22,851 22,554 22,460 
Source: Spring School Census Returns 2016-2022; Includes pupils who are sole or dual main 
registrations. 
 

Number of pupils in Harrow Secondary Schools 2016-2022 
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 

12,573 12,885 13,131 13,835 14,486 15,058 15,477 
Source: Spring School Census Returns 2016-2022; Includes pupils who are sole or dual main 
registrations. 
 

Number of pupils in Harrow Special Schools 2016-2022 
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 
421 441 447 462 464 482 492 

Source: Spring School Census Returns 2016-2022; Includes pupils who are sole or dual main 
registrations. 

☐ 
 

☐ 
 

☐ 
 

☒ 
 

284

https://harrowhub.harrow.gov.uk/info/200341/equality_impact_assessments/1604/data_guide_-_inequality_impact_assessment
http://www.harrow.gov.uk/info/200251/community_and_living/863/equalities_data


 
Harrow Council Equality Impact Assessment Template - November 2018 
 

4 

 
The tables below shows that the number of pupils attending the new ARMS Provisions and 
Special Schools referred to in the Cabinet Report. 
 
School 
Name 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 Last 7 years 

Difference 
Grange 
Primary 
School 

635 600 591 601 612 538 512 -123 -19.4% 

Pinner 
Wood 
School 

596 610 581 637 665 666 667 71 11.9% 

Stanburn 
Primary 
School 

774 798 812 797 783 753 755 -19 -2.5% 

Canons 
High School 1,085 1,197 1,221 1,250 1,262 1,266 1,276 191 17.6% 

Source: Spring School Census Returns 2016-2022; Includes pupils who are sole or dual main 
registrations. 
 
School 
Name 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 Last 7 years 

Difference 
Weald Rise 
Primary 
School 

694 675 558 464 434 373 375 -319 -46.0% 

Kingsley 
High School 79 78 76 75 85 98 104 25 31.6% 

Woodlands 
School 105 120 122 136 136 132 135 30 28.6% 

Alexandra 
School 77 79 80 80 80 80 80 3 3.9% 

Shaftesbury 
High School 160 162 169 171 163 172 173 13 8.1% 

Source: Spring School Census Returns 2016-2022; Includes pupils who are sole or dual main 
registrations. 
 

285



 
Harrow Council Equality Impact Assessment Template - November 2018 
 

5 

 
Disability  

We are creating additional SEND places in special schools and mainstream schools to allow 
residents the opportunity to send their child to a local provision. This is a positive step to allow 
young people to remain within their community and reduce travel times for young people who 
need specialist provision. 

SEND provision is required to meet the needs of all young people from 0-25.  The demand on 
places for young people with SEND is increasing.  
 

Primary Schools (Current and Main-Dual Enrolment Status) 
EHCP/Statement 

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 
325 331 371 409 436 488 533 

Source: Spring School Census Returns 2016-2022 
 

Secondary Schools (Current and Main-Dual Enrolment Status, Yr7-Yr13) 
EHCP/Statement 

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 
247 260 257 253 290 306 342 

Source: Spring School Census Returns 2016-2022 
 

Special Schools (All Enrolment Status) 
EHCP/Statement 

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 
418 439 446 457 464 479 491 

Source: Spring School Census Returns 2016-2022 
 

EHCP/ Statement 

School 
Name 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 

Last 7 
year 

Difference 
Grange 
Primary 
School 

2 5 5 10 9 12 20 18 

Pinner 
Wood 
School 

5 5 5 4 6 9 11 6 

☒ 
 

☐ 
 

☐ 
 

☐ 
 

286



 
Harrow Council Equality Impact Assessment Template - November 2018 
 

6 

Stanburn 
Primary 
School 

8 7 6 8 12 12 19 11 

Canons 
High School 19 23 21 22 21 22 19 0 

Source: Spring School Census Returns 2016-2022 
 

EHCP/ Statement 

School Name 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 Last 7 year 
Difference 

Weald Rise 
Primary School 4 5 4 6 6 5 7 3 

Kingsley High 
School 79 78 76 71 85 96 103 24 

Woodlands 
School 105 120 122 136 136 132 135 30 

Alexandra 
School 77 79 80 80 80 80 80 3 

Shaftesbury 
High School 157 162 168 170 163 171 173 16 

Source: Spring School Census Returns 2016-2022 
 
Gender  
reassignment This data is not held, and this data is not applicable in the context of this proposal.  ☐ 

 
☐ 

 
☐ 

 
☒ 

 
 

Marriage and 
Civil 
Partnership 

Not applicable in the context of this proposal. ☐ ☐ ☐ ☒ 

Pregnancy 
and Maternity Not applicable in the context of this proposal. ☐ 

 
☐ 

 
☐ 

 
☒ 

 

287



 
Harrow Council Equality Impact Assessment Template - November 2018 
 

7 

 
Race/ 
Ethnicity 

The positive implications of the inclusive approach to young people from all races are not 
impacted by the proposed change.  By creating additional local capacity will we secure diversity in 
the provision of schools and increase choice for parental preference.  Young people will be able to 
access the additional provision based on an assessment of their need.  Race and Ethnicity is not a 
criterion by which their needs are assessed.  School places at special schools are assessed by 
educational and health needs. 

Ethnic Origin 
Grange 
Primary 
School 

Pinner 
Wood 
School 

Stanburn 
Primary 
School 

Canons 
High 

School 

Any other ethnic group 28 
(5.5%) 

19 
(2.8%) 

58 
(7.7%) 

136 
(10.6%) 

Asian Other 189 
(36.9%) 

63 
(9.4%) 

120 
(15.9%) 

219 
(17.0%) 

Bangladeshi 7 
(1.4%) 

14 
(2.1%) 

10 
(1.3%) 

8 
(0.6%) 

Black African 29 
(5.7%) 

48 
(7.2%) 

15 
(2.0% 

149 
(11.6%) 

Black Caribbean 7 
(1.4%) 

7 
(1.0%) 

12 
(1.6%) 

31 
(2.4%) 

Black Other 11 
(2.1%) 

4 
(0.6%) 

1 
(0.1%) 

18 
(1.4%) 

Chinese 2 
(0.4%) 

3 
(0.4%) 

5 
(0.7%) 

4 
(0.3%) 

Indian 39 
(7.6%) 

217 
(32.5%) 

271 
(35.9%) 

136 
(10.6%) 

Information not obtained (0.0%) (0.0%) (0.0%) 3 
(0.2%) 

Mixed Other 15 
(2.9%) 

23 
(3.4%) 

43 
(5.7%) 

44 
(3.4%) 

Mixed White Asian 7 
(1.4%) 

14 
(2.1%) 

14 
(1.9%) 

23 
(1.8%) 

Mixed White Black African 7 
(1.4%) 

3 
(0.4%) 

3 
(0.4%) 

13 
(1.0% 

☐ 
 

☐ 
 

☐ 
 

☒ 
 

288



 
Harrow Council Equality Impact Assessment Template - November 2018 
 

8 

Mixed White Black Caribbean 11 
(2.1%) 

20 
(3.0%) 

3 
(0.4%) 

7 
(0.5%) 

Pakistani 29 
(5.7%) 

53 
(7.9%) 

52 
(6.9%) 

50 
(3.9%) 

Refused 14 
(2.7%) 

2 
(0.3%) 

11 
(1.5%) 

2 
(0.2%) 

White British 19 
(3.7%) 

113 
(16.9%) 

21 
(2.8%) 

45 
(3.5%) 

White Irish 1 
(0.2%) 

1 
(0.1%) 

1 
(0.1%) 

1 
(0.1%) 

White Irish Traveller 3 
(0.6%) (0.0%) 2 

(0.3%) (0.0%) 

White Other 94 
(18.4%) 

63 
(9.4%) 

113 
(15.0%) 

396 
(30.7%) 

White Roma (0.0%) (0.0%) (0.0%) 4 
(0.3%) 

Grand Total 512 667 755 1289 
Source – Spring School Census 2022 

Ethnic Origin 
Weald Rise 

Primary 
School 

Kingsley 
High School 

Woodlands 
School 

Alexandr
a School 

Shaftesbury 
High School 

Any other ethnic group 61 
(16.3%) 

3 
(2.9%) 

6 
(4.4%) 

5 
(6.3%) 

9 
(5.2%) 

Asian Other 111 
(29.6%) 

30 
(28.8%) 

31 
(23.0%) 

12 
(15.0%) 

27 
(15.6%) 

Bangladeshi 9 
(2.4%) 

1 
(1.0%) 

1 
(0.7%) 

2 
(2.5%) 

2 
(1.2%) 

Black African 24 
(6.4%) 

9 
(8.7%) 

15 
(11.1%) 

6 
(7.5%) 

19 
(11.0%) 

Black Caribbean 14 
(3.7%) 

1 
(1.0%) 

3 
(2.2%) 

1 
(1.3%) 

14 
(8.1%) 

Black Other 1 
(0.3%) 

1 
(1.0%) 

6 
(4.4%) 

1 
(1.3%) 

2 
(1.2%) 

289



 
Harrow Council Equality Impact Assessment Template - November 2018 
 

9 

Chinese (0.0%) 1 
(1.0%) (0.0%) 1 

(1.3%) 
2 

(1.2%) 

Indian 13 
(3.5%) 

17 
(16.3%) 

25 
(18.5%) 

14 
(17.5%) 

26 
(15.0%) 

Information not obtained (0.0%) (0.0%) (0.0%) (0.0%) (0.0%) 

Mixed Other 5 
(1.3%) 

3 
(2.9%) 

3 
(2.2%) 

5 
(6.3%) 

8 
(4.6%) 

Mixed White Asian 3 
0.8%) 

6 
(5.8%) 

2 
(1.5%) 

1 
(1.3%) 

3 
(1.7%) 

Mixed White Black African 4 
(1.1%) (0.0%) 2 

(1.5%) 
2 

(2.5%) 
1 

(0.6%) 

Mixed White Black Caribbean 2 
(0.5%) (0.0%) 1 

(0.7%) 
1 

(1.3%) 
3 

(1.7%) 

Pakistani 21 
(5.6%) 

4 
(3.8%) 

12 
(8.9%) 

3 
(3.8%) 

12 
(6.9%) 

Refused (0.0%) 2 
(1.9%) (0.0%) (0.0%) 1 

(0.6%) 

White British 27 
(7.2%) 

9 
(8.7%) 

8 
(5.9%) 

16 
(20.0%) 

28 
(16.2%) 

White Irish (0.0%) (0.0%) 1 
(0.7%) 

2 
(2.5%) 

1 
(0.6%) 

White Irish Traveller 1 
(0.3%) (0.0%) 1 

(0.7%) 
1 

(1.3%) (0.0%) 

White Other 79 
(21.1%) 

17 
(16.3%) 

18 
(13.3%) 

7 
(8.8%) 

15 
(8.7%) 

White Roma (0.0%) (0.0%) (0.0%) (0.0%) (0.0%) 
Grand Total 375 104 135 80 173 

Source – Spring School Census 2022 

There is no group that will be disproportionately impacted by the proposed changes.  
 

Religion or 
belief 

This proposal is inclusive of children from all religions and belief.  Schools draw pupils from their 
local area and the pupil profiles reflects the ethnicity of their areas. The positive implications of the ☐ ☐ ☐ ☒ 

290



 
Harrow Council Equality Impact Assessment Template - November 2018 
 

10 

inclusive approach to children from all religions and belief are not impacted by the proposed 
change. School places at special schools are assessed by educational and health needs. 

This data is not held. 

    

 
Gender 

The proposal for creating additional SEND school places is inclusive of young people of all 
genders.  School places at special schools are assessed by educational and health needs. 

 

Gender 
Grange 
Primary 
School 

Pinner 
Wood 

School 

Stanburn 
Primary 
School 

Canons 
High 

School 

Female 257 
(50.2%) 

323 
(48.4%) 

364 
(48.2%) 

562 
(43.6%) 

Male 255 
(49.8%) 

344 
(51.6%) 

391 
(51.8%) 

727 
(56.4%) 

Grand Total 512 667 755 1289 
Source – Spring School Census 2022 

Gender 
Weald Rise 

Primary 
School 

Kingsley 
High School 

Woodlands 
School 

Alexandra 
School 

Shaftesbury 
High School 

Female 194 
(51.7%) 

28 
(26.9%) 

44 
(32.6%) 

26 
(32.5%) 

59 
(34.1%) 

Male 181 
(48.3%) 

76 
(73.1%) 

91 
(67.4%) 

54 
67.5%) 

114 
(65.9%) 

Grand Total 375 104 135 80 173 
Source – Spring School Census 2022 

☐ 
 

☐ 
 

☐ 
 

☒ 
 

 
Sexual 
Orientation 
 

This data is not held, and this data is not applicable in the context of this proposal.  ☐ 
 

☐ 
 

☐ 
 

☒ 
 

291



 
Harrow Council Equality Impact Assessment Template - November 2018 
 

11 

 
2.1 Cumulative impact – considering what else is happening within the Council and Harrow as a whole, could your proposals 
have a cumulative impact on groups with protected characteristics?  

☐   Yes                         No    ☒         
 

If you clicked the Yes box, which groups with protected characteristics could be affected and what is the potential impact? Include details in the space 
below 
 
2.2 Any other impact  - considering  what else is happening nationally/locally (national/local/regional policies, socio-economic 
factors etc), could your proposals have an impact on individuals/service users, or other groups? 

 ☐   Yes                         No    ☒         
If you clicked the Yes box, Include details in the space below 
 
 

 
 

3. Actions to mitigate/remove negative impact 
Only complete this section if your assessment (in section 2) suggests that your proposals may have a negative impact on groups with 
protected characteristics. If you have not identified any negative impacts, please complete sections 4 and 5. 
 
In the table below, please state what these potential negative impact (s) are, mitigating actions and steps taken to ensure that these measures will 
address and remove any negative impacts identified and by when. Please also state how you will monitor the impact of your proposal once 
implemented. 
State what the negative 
impact(s) are for each group, 
identified in section 2. In addition, 
you should also consider and 
state potential risks associated 
with your proposal. 

Measures to mitigate negative impact (provide 
details, including details of and additional 
consultation undertaken/to be carried out in the 
future). If you are unable to identify measures 
to mitigate impact, please state so and provide 
a brief explanation.  

What action (s) will you take to assess whether 
these measures have addressed and removed 
any negative impacts identified in your analysis? 
Please provide details. If you have previously 
stated that you are unable to identify measures 
to mitigate impact please state below. 

Deadline 
date 

Lead Officer 

     

     

292



 
Harrow Council Equality Impact Assessment Template - November 2018 
 

12 

     

     

     
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4. Public Sector Equality Duty 
How does your proposal meet the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) to: 
1. Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct prohibited by the Equality Act 2010 
2. Advance equality of opportunity between people from different groups 
3.   Foster good relations between people from different groups 
 
Include details in the space below  
 
The Local Authority has a statutory responsibility to provide sufficient school places for its area.  The SEND Strategy is designed to improve 
outcomes for children and young people across Harrow.  It focuses on increasing opportunity for residents to send their children to local schools 
and appropriate and thorough provision mapping, with potential development of more local provision.  The projections for special educational needs 
provision are continuing to rise requiring additional places to be created. 
   

 
 

5. Outcome of the Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) click the box that applies 

☒ Outcome 1 

293



 
Harrow Council Equality Impact Assessment Template - November 2018 
 

13 

No change required: the EqIA has not identified any potential for unlawful conduct or disproportionate impact and all opportunities to 
advance equality of opportunity are being addressed  
 

☐ Outcome 2 
Adjustments to remove/mitigate negative impacts identified by the assessment, or to better advance equality, as stated in section 3&4 
 

☐ Outcome 3  
This EqIA has identified discrimination and/ or missed opportunities to advance equality and/or foster good relations.  However, it is still 
reasonable to continue with the activity. Outline the reasons for this and the information used to reach this decision in the space below. 
 
Include details here 
 
 

 

294



Document is Restricted

295

Agenda Item 15
Pages 295 to 418By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

419

Agenda Item 16
Pages 419 to 420By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	Cabinet  Agenda
	Useful Information
	Joining the Meeting virtually
	Attending the Meeting in person
	Filming / recording



	6 Key Decision Schedule December 2022 - January 2023
	London Borough of Harrow
	Key Decision Schedule ( December - January 2023 )
	A Key Decision is one which is likely to:
	Decisions which the Cabinet intends to make in private


	7 Progress on Scrutiny Projects
	8 Council Vision and Priorities
	Section 1 – Summary and Recommendations
	Section 2 – Report
	Introductory paragraph
	Following approval of the new Vision and Priorities a new Corporate Plan will be recommended to Cabinet and Council in February 2023.
	Options considered
	Performance Issues
	Environmental Implications
	Data Protection Implications

	Procurement Implications
	Legal Implications

	Section 3 - Statutory Officer Clearance
	Mandatory Checks
	Section 4 - Contact Details and Background Papers

	9 Harrow Strategic Development Partnership (HSDP) - Review and Progress
	Section 2 – Report
	2. Introductory paragraph
	2.1 Options considered
	For the HSDP sites as a whole the review has considered a wide range of options including do nothing. This last option would not meet the Council’s objectives of providing much needed housing including affordable housing for its residents and would leave the sites undeveloped and of limited value.

	2.2 Background
	2.8	Environmental Implications
	2.9	Risk Management Implications
	2.10 Procurement Implications
	2.12 Financial Implications
	2.13 Equalities implications / Public Sector Equality Duty

	Section 3 - Statutory Officer Clearance
	Mandatory Checks
	Ward Councillors notified:  YES – for Grange Farm
	EqIA carried out:  YES
	EqIA cleared by:  Dipti Patel

	Section 4 - Contact Details and Background Papers
	Appendix 2 - HSDP PhaseBusinessPlan GRANGE FARM 20221028-v3-withAppendices-PUBLIC
	Appendix 3 - Harrow Strategic Development Partnership letter  27-10-22
	65 Gresham StreetLondonEC2V 7NQT: +44 (0)20 7911 2468avisonyoung.co.uk

	Appendix 4 - Grange Farm EQIA Oct 2022[4274]

	10 Investment into Harrow's Tennis Infrastructure - Update
	Section 2 – Report
	1.	Introduction
	2.	Background
	6.	Risk Management Implications
	7.	Procurement Implications
	8.	Legal Implications
	9.	Financial Implications
	10.	Equalities implications / Public Sector Equality Duty

	Section 3 - Statutory Officer Clearance
	Mandatory Checks
	Ward Councillors notified:  NO - impacts on all Wards
	EqIA carried out:  Yes
	EqIA cleared by:  Jennifer Rock

	Section 4 - Contact Details and Background Papers
	Appendix 1 - Investment into Harrow Tennis Infrastructure Update EqIA Final
	Appendix 2 - Tennis Courts Consultation Questionnaire Results Final
	Appendix 3 - Tennis Courts Consultation Feedback

	11 Authority to Enter into High Value Leases
	Section 2 – Report
	Introductory paragraph
	Options considered
	Risk Management Implications
	Procurement Implications
	Legal Implications
	Financial Implications

	Section 3 - Statutory Officer Clearance
	Mandatory Checks
	Ward Councillors notified:  NO, as it impacts on all Wards
	EqIA carried out:  NO

	Section 4 - Contact Details and Background Papers

	12 School Organisation Update and School Capital Programme
	Section 2 – Report
	Options considered

	School Organisation
	Demographic School Roll Projections and Implications
	SEND Strategy
	Special Educational Needs Provision
	Performance Issues
	Environmental Implications
	Risk Management Implications
	Procurement Implications
	Financial Implications
	Equalities implications / Public Sector Equality Duty

	Section 3 - Statutory Officer Clearance
	Date: 4th November 2022
	Mandatory Checks
	Ward Councillors notified:  NO, as it impacts on all Wards
	EqIA carried out:  YES
	EqIA cleared by: Jennifer Rock

	Section 4 - Contact Details and Background Papers
	Appendix A - Demographic SRP Report
	Appendix A
	DEMOGRAPHIC INFORMATION AND SCHOOL ROLL PROJECTIONS
	2022-2023 to 2034-2035 REPORT
	Contents
	Section 1:	Harrow School Roll Projections
	Section 2:	Temporary (‘Bulge’) classes & Permanent Expansions
	Permanent expansions (shown in Table 2 below) have also been implemented, with 8 schools permanently expanding in September 2013, 6 schools from September 2014, 11 schools from September 2015 and 2 schools permanently expanding and 1 new free school opened in 2016. No additional reception classes have been opended since September 2016.
	3.1	Primary Schools
	Table 3: School roll projections for Year Reception (Baseline & +2%) to Year 6 in all schools in Harrow
	Table 4: School roll projections for Year Reception (Baseline & +2%) in all Primary schools in Harrow
	Table 5: Primary projections for the North East Planning Area
	Table 6: Reception projections for the North East Planning Area
	Table 7: Primary projections for the North West Planning Area
	Table 8: Reception projections for the North West Planning Area
	Chart 4: Current number on roll compared to roll projections and places available for the North West Planning Area
	Table 10: Reception projections for the South East Planning Area
	Harrow’s Births and Reception Year Rolls
	Year 7 intake
	Table 3 below shows that as at January 2022 the majority of Harrow’s primary school pupils reside within the borough of Harrow.  Please note that due to the May 2022 change in Ward Boundaries the table no longer includes a comparison to the previous year.
	Overview of Harrow’s population and changes



	Appendix B - Harrow_Council_Revised__EqIA_Template_November 2022 Cabinet

	15 Harrow Strategic Development Partnership (HSDP) - Review and Progress
	16 Authority to Enter into High Value Leases

